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PREFACE

The preservation of such facts, as will be useful to the future historian,

is of public importance. Those which depend on memory, or have been long
handed down by tradition, are liable either to be forgotten or misrepresented.
They should, therefore, be carefully collected from time to time and deposited
in such archives as are prepared for them. Since the invention of printing
the best mode of preserving historical facts is by the press. The record of
them is thereby multiplied, and the knowledge of them extensively com-
municated. Every one should be acquainted with the origin and progress
of the society to which he belongs. It is gratifying to the curiosity to learn

the events of former days in which our ancestors took an active part; to hear
of the hardships and perils which they encountered, and the fortitude with
which they endured them; to see the advances they made in obtaining the

comforts and conveniences of life, and the state of independence and ease,

in which they have placed their descendants. For the benefit of the present

generation, as well as to assist whomever may hereafter undertake to write

a more connected history, I have endeavored to collect the most authentic

documents relative to my native town. Fo'r this purpose I have carefully

examined ancient records and papers, within my control, which had any con-

nection with the subject. I have likewise examined the periodical publica-

tions which I could obtain. From these I have made many selections and
quotations.

The foregoing is as applicable in 19 14 as when it was written in 1824
by Nathaniel Adams as a preface to "Annals of Portsmouth, comprising a

period of 200 years from the first settlement of the town; with

biographical sketches of a few of the most respectable citizens." It has been

necessary to condense the material available relating to some of the places.

Several local historians have issued volumes that, if liberally quoted, would
make this book of the county too large and bulky. Many long lists of names
have been omitted, as the volumes containing the details are on the shelves

of the public libraries in nearly all the towns in the county, or they can be

drawn by the local librarians from the State Library at Concord. Excellent

histories of Exeter, Hampton, Harr-oton Falls and Newfields are available.

It has been my endeavor to trace the history of the development of this

section from that period when it was in the undisputed possession of the red

man to the present, and to place before the reader an authentic narrative of

its rise and progress.

That such an undertaking is attended with no little difficulty and vexation

none will deny. The aged pioneer relates events of the early settlements,

while his neighbor sketches the same events with totally different outlines.

Man's memory is ever at fault, while time paints a different picture upon
every mind.
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I have consulted and drawn liberally from the histories, addresses or

sketches by Jeremy Belknap, John Farmer, Nathaniel Adams, C. W. Brewster,

John McClintock, James DeNormandie, John S. Jenness, Frank B. Sanborn,

Charles H. Bell, N. P. Hood and numerous authorities in various towns to

whom credit is generally given.

I desire to acknowledge my sincere thanks to the editorial fraternity,

to the town and county and church officials, for much valuable information,

which has greatly lessened my labor in the preparation of this work; to each

and every one who has assisted me in the compilation, and would cheerfully

make personal mention of each, but it is impracticable.

Charles A. Hazlett.
Portsmouth, N. H., April 15, 19 14.



PUBLISHER'S PREFACE

The aim of the publishers of this volume and of the author of the history-

has been to secure for the historical portion thereof full and accurate data
respecting the history of the county from the time of its early settlement and
to condense it into a clear and interesting narrative. All topics and occur-
rences have been included that were essential to this subject.

The reviews of resolute and strenuous lives that make up the biographical

part of the volume are admirably calculated to foster local ties, to inculcate

patriotism and to emphasize the rewards of industry dominated by intelli-

gent purpose. They constitute a most appropriate medium for perpetuating

personal annals and will be of incalculable value to the descendants of those

commemorated. These sketches are replete with stirring incidents and in-

tense experiences and are flavored with a strong human interest that will

naturally prove to a large portion of the readers of the book one of its most
attractive features. In the aggregate of personal memoirs thus collated will be

found a vivid epitome of the growth of Rockingham County, which will fitly

supplement the historical statement, for its development is identical with that

of the men and women to whom it is attributable. Sketches not corrected by
subscribers when submitted to them are indicated by a small asterisk (*).

The publishers have avoided slighting any part of the work, and to the

best of their ability have supplemented the editor's labors by exercising care

over the minutest details of publication, in order to give the volume the three-

fold value of a readable narrative, a useful w ork of reference and a tasteful

ornament to the library.

Special prominence has been given to the portraits of many representative

citizens, which appear throughout the volume, and we believe that they will

prove not its least interesting feature. We have sought in this department to

illustrate the different spheres of industrial and professional achievement as

conspicuously as possible. To all who have kindly interested themselves in the

preparation of this work, and who have voluntarily contributed most useful

information and data, or rendered any other assistance, we hereby tender our

grateful acknowledgments.
The Publishers.

Chicago, III, January i, 1915.
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HISTORY OF

ROCKINGHAM COUNTY,
NEW HAMPSHIRE

CHAPTER I

GEOGRAPHICAL AND DESCRIPTIVE

Rockingham County lies in the southeastern part of New Hampshire, and
is bounded as follows : On the north by Strafford. County ; on- the east by
the Atlantic Ocean ; on the south by Essex County, Mass. ; arid on the west by
Hillsborough and Merrimac counties, N. H.

Rockingham is the only county in this state that borders on the Atlantic,

its coast being about seventeen miles in extent. The population by the United
States census of 1910 was 52,188.

As parts of Massachusetts Bay Colony (1641-3 to 1679) the towns of

Strawberry Bank (Portsmouth), Hampton and Exeter were comprised within

NorJtolk County, which was one of the four shires, viz. : Essex, Middlesex,

Suffolk and Norfolk into which the Bay Colony was separated from "3d
month, lath day, 1643." '

'

The name New Hampshire was first applied to these towns in- 1697, as

a province separate from Massachusetts Bay Colony,- but it remained under

the same governor, having a lieutenant-governor of its own until 1742, when
it was completely separated from Massfeichbsetts, and Benning Wentworth
was appointed governor and held the office until 1 767.

During Governor Wentworth's rule the -tferritory was all- one,- no counties;

in his quarter of a century he granted a great many townships in all parts

of the province and on both sides of the Connecticut -River. •
'

All the courts were held at Portsmouth during his term, so the itlhabitants

of these new towns had to travel long distances, over bad roads, to attend

courts and transact business with the governor and council and the assembly.

Of course this caused them much inconvenience and no little expense. As
early as January, 1755, a proposition to divide the Province of New Hamp-
shire into counties was entertained in the assembly.

The Merrimac River was to be the dividing line and there were to be

two counties—^Portsmouth and Cumberland. The council rejected the bill

1
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because it provided for a court at Exeter as well as Portsmouth, and they

"could by no means consent to that." The two branches of the assembly

continued to consider this question in various forms and failed to find grounds

of agreement as to details until 1769, when the government was under control

of the younger governor, John Wentworth, who had succeeded his uncle,

Benning Wentworth, in 1767. The agreement as finally reached, April 29,

1769, established five counties, subject to the crown's approval of the act,

which was done March 19, 1771. The county was named in honor of Charles

Watson Wentworth, Marquis of Rockingham, by Governor John Wentworth.
In 1776, while John Wentworth was in England, he was appointed governor

of New Hampshire and surveyor of the king's wood for the whole thirteen

colonies. He was paying court to the nobles Rockingham, Hillsborough and
Strafford, and their English friends, for whom he afterwards in gratitude
named five counties of his native province: Rockingham, Strafford, Grafton,
Hillsborough and Cheshire. To these five have been added as many more
by divisio'n of the older ones; Coos from Grafton in 1803; Merrimac from
Rockingham and Hillsborough in 1823; Sullivan from Cheshire in 1827;
Belknap and Carroll from Strafford and Grafton in 1842.

There are thirty-seven towns and one city in the- county, of which two
were incorporated in the reign of Charles I, one in the reign of Charles II,

two in the reign of William and Mary, two in the reign of Queen Anne,
George I, seven, George II, thirteen, George III, eight, and three by New
Hampshire.

The present civil sub-divisions and their populations by the United States
census of 1910 are as follows:

Atkinson 440 Newcastle 624
Auburn 637 Newfields 503
Brentwood 759 Newington *

296
Candia 993 Newmarket 3,348
Chester 818 Newton 962
Danville 517 North Hampton 783
Deerfield 917 Northwood 1,059
Derry 5,123 Nottingham '607
East Kingston 413 Plaistow 1,173
Epping 1,649 Portsmouth 1 1060
Exeter 4,897 Raymond I'zo'i
Fremont 622 Rye i'i04
Greenland 575 Salem 2,117
Hampton 1.215 Sandown 'ogo
Hampton Falls 552 Seabrook ...

''
ia-^c

Hampstead 796 South Hampton
"

'270
Kensmgton 417 Stratham 602
Kingston 1,015 Windham 6=;6
Londonderry i,533

Rockingham is a shire county, courts being held alternately at Exeter and
Portsrnouth.
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The principal rivers are the Piscataqua, Lamprey, Exeter or Squamscot
and Pawtuckaway.

The principal elevations are Pawtuckaway in Deerfield and Nottingham
and Saddleback in Northwood and Deerfield.

PISCATAQUA RIVER SYSTEM

The Piscataqua River is formed by the union of the Cocheco and Salmon
Ealls rivers at Dover. The second, in its whole length, with the Piscataqua,

constitutes a part of our eastern state boundary. The area of this basin in

New Hampshire, those towns on the coast which drain directly into the ocean
being also included in this measurement, is about eight hundred and twenty-
five square miles, or nearly one-eleventh of the state.

From East Pond, the source of Salmon Falls River, to the mouth of the

Piscataqua is nearly thirty-eight miles in a straight line, the course being
S 20° E. By the course of the river this distance is thirty-nine miles, the

length of the Salmon Falls River being twenty-eight miles, and of the Pis-

cataqua, from the junction of this river with the Cocheco, eleven miles. The
course of Salmon Falls River in the first twelve miles is nearly south. The
next thirteen miles to Salmon Falls is nearly southeast; thence the course

is south to the mouth of Great Bay, thence southeast about seven miles to

the ocean, three miles below Portsmouth. This river is affected by tide to

Dover and South Berwick.

Between the townships of Durham and those of Greenland and Newington
is a wide tidal basin, which receives the waters of several rivers.

Upon Exeter or Swamscot River, the largest of these, tide extends to

the Village of Exeter. The area of this estuary, southwest from Dover point,

including Little and Great Bays, is about nine square miles.

From Dover point to Portsmouth the Piscataqua is about half a mile wide.

Below this city it contains numerous islands, the largest of which constitutes

the Township of New Castle. The basin includes in New Hampshire nearly

all of Strafford and half of Rockingham counties, averaging about eighteen

miles in width and forty-five miles in length, measured from Wakefield to

East Kingston.

From the sources of the Lamprey River to the mouth of the Piscataqua

is thirty miles, from which point the width of this district diminishes north-

ward, being ten miles at Farmington.

East Pond in Wakefield that flows into the Piscataqua River is 499 feet

above the sea and Bow Lake, Strafford, 515 feet.

Lovell's Pond, Wakefield, flowing into Salmon Falls River is 550 feet,

Middleton reservoir supplying Cocheco River, 600 feet.

Jones' Pond, Raymond, 258 feet and Pawtuccaway Pond in Nottingham,

supplying Lamprey River, 258 feet and Phillips' Pond, Sandown, flowing

into Exeter River is 215 feet above the ocean.



CHAPTER II

CIVIL LIST

COUNTY COMMISSIONERS

1856, . William C. Patten, William S. Hadley, Portsmouth; Josiah W.
James, Deerfield; 1859, Isaac Woodbury; i860, Franklin Crombie; 1861,

Horace P. Watts; 1862, John Hodgdon (2d), Portsmouth; 1863, John J.

Leavitt; 1864, Caleb Moulton; 1865, John Rowe, Candia; 1866, James C.

Brown, Portsmouth; 1867, John J. Leavitt; 1868, Abbott Norris; 1869,
William S. Pillsbury; 1870, John W. F. Hobbs, North Hampton; 1871, Frank
D. Pollard, Plaistow; 1872, Frank W. Miller, Portsmouth; 1873, Woodbury
M. Ehirgin, Northwood; 1874, Nathaniel H. Brown, Derry; 1875, Frank P.

Cram, Hampton Falls; 1876, Sewall D. Tilton, Raymond; 1877, Newton
Johnston, Portsmouth; 1878, Frank P. Cram, Hampton Falls; 1879, Newton
Johnston, Portsmouth; Wells C. Underbill, Auburn; Joseph C. Burley,
Epping; 1881, Newton Johnston, Portsmouth; Joseph C. Burley, Epping;
Wells C. Underbill, Auburn; 1886, Newton Johnston, J. B. Clark, Moses B.
Dow; 1888, G. W. Sanborn, J. F Magraw, W. J. Dudley; 1893, W. D.
Cochran, C. P. Griffin, F. R. Garrett; 1^7, W. Colby, L. L. DeRochemont,
G. W. Paul; 1901, J. H. Griffin, Ceylon Spinney, J. R. Rowe; 1905, J. P.
Hardy, Ceylon Spinney, J. R. Rowe; 1906, J. P. Hardy, Ceylon Spinney,
A. Hilliard; 1909, J. P. Hardy, G. A. CarHsle, W. A. Hodgdon; 191 1 to 1914,
Norman H. Beane, G. A. Carlisle, W. A. Hodgdon.

SOLICITORS

Oliver Peabody, 1789-91; E. St. L. Livermore, 1791-93; John Hale
1793-96; Arthur Livermore,. 1796-98; William Hummer, 1798-1802- George
Sulhvan, 1802-6; Charles Walker, 1806-8; Daniel French, 1808-12 •' Samuel
Green, 1812-19; Ichabod Bartlett, 1819-21

;
Jonathan Steele, 182 1-2-? •

Samuel D. Bell, 1823-28; John Sullivan, 1828-38; Henry F. French 18^8-40'
Albert R. Hatch, 1849-56; Charles H. Bell, 1856-66; William B. Small'
1866-72; John S. H. Frink, 1872-76; William B. Small, 1876-79- Walter c'

l^^^^'
^^79-82; Edwin G. Eastman, 1883-87; Samuel W. Emery 1887-

91
;
William H. Paine, 1891-93; Louis G. Hoyt, 1893-1901

; John W. Kelley
1901-5; Charles W. Batchelder, 1906-11; Ernest L. Guptill, 1911-14.

28
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SHERIFFS

The list of sheriffs prior to 1 741 is necessarily incomplete. The following
list is from 1683 to 1883, covering a period of two hundred years: Richard
Jose, 1683; Thomas Phips; Theodore Atkinson, 1729; Richard Wibird,

1732; Eleazer Russell, 1733; Thomas Packer, 1741-71; John Parker, 1771-

91; George Reed, 1791-1805; Oliver Peabody, 1805-10; Josiah Butler,

1810-13; Silas Betten, 181 3-18; Clement Storer, 1818-23; John Bell, 1823-28;
Clement Storer, 1828-30; Benjamin Jenness, 1830-35; Joseph Towle, 1835-

40; Samuel Marshall, 1840-45; Stephen W. Dearborn, 1845; Nathan H.
Leavitt, 1850; Rufus Dow, 1855; John S. Brown, 1855; Joseph B. Adams,
i860; Joseph P. Morse, 1865; Caleb Moulton, 1870; Samuel Rowe, 1871;
James W. Odlin, 1872; Samuel Rowe, 1874; J. Horace Kent, 1876-87;
Edward D. Cofifin, 1887-95; George W.. Weston, 1895-98; John Pender, 1898-

1901; Marcus M. Collis, 1901-9; Ceylon Spinney, 1909-14.

JUDGES OF PROBATE

For many years after the settlement of the province the county court was
the court of probate; an appeal lying to the court of assessments. Subse-

guently the governors of the province exercised the powers of judges of pro-

bate either personally or by substitute. In 1693, Lieutenant-Governor Usher
acted as judge of probate, as did Lieutenant-Governor Partridge in 1699.

Prior to 1703, Thomas Packer and Nathaniel Fryer had at different times

appeared as judges of probate. After 1703 no governor appears to have acted

directly in that capacity.

The following is the list from 1693 tO' 1883: Thomas Packer, 1693-97;
Nathaniel Fryer, 1697-99; Joseph Smith, 1703-8; Richard Waldron, 1708-

30; Benjamin Gambling, 1737; Richard Waldron, 1737-42; Andrew Wiggin,

1742-56; Richard Wibird, 1756-95; John Wentworth, 1765-73; John Sher-

burne, 1773-76; Phillips White, 1776-90; Oliver Peabody, 1790-93; Samuel

Penney, 1793-80; Jeremiah Smith, 1800-2; Nathaniel Rogers, 1802-15;

Daniel Gookin, 1815-26; John Harvey, 1826-38; John Sullivan, 1838-48;

Ira St. Clair, 1848-57; William W. Stickney, 1857-72; Joseph F. Wiggin,

1872-76; Thomas Leavitt, 1876-1902; L. G. Hoyt, 1902-14.

REGISTERS OF PROBATE

The following is a list of registers of probate from 1693 to 1883: Wil-

liam' Redford, 1^3-97; Francis Tucker, 1697-99; Charles Story, 1699-1716;

Richard Gerrish, 17 16-17; Richard Gambling,: 1718-30; Richard Waldron,

1730-31; John Penhallow, 1731-35; William Parker, 1735-81; WilHam
Parker, 1781-1813; John J. Parker, 1813-31; John Kelly, 1831-32; David

A. Gregg, 1842-47; J. Hamilton Shapley,. 1847-52; William B. Morrill, 1852-

57; S. Dana Wingate, 1857-65; Thomas Leavitt, 1865-76; Woodbury M.
Durgin, 1876-87; A. J. Brown, 1887-93; I. M. Heath, 1893-1900; G. F.

Richards, 1900-9; Robt Scott, 1909-14.
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REGISTERS OF DEEDS

George Smyth, 1647-S3; Renald Fernald, 1654-56;. Henry Sherbune.

1657-59; Elias Stileraan, 1659-82; Richard Chamberlain, 1682-87; John

Pickering, 1690-92; Henry Penny, 1692-93; Thomas Davis, 1693; Wilham

Redford, 1693-96; WilHam Vailghan, 1697-1702; Samuel Penhallow 1702-6;

WiUiam Vaughan, 1705-17; Samuel Penhallow, 1719-22; Mark Hunking,

1722-28; Joshua Pierce, 1729-42; Daniel Pierce, 1743-73; Samuel Brooks,

1776-1801; Joshua Adams, 1801-9; Seth Walker, 1809-34; Francis D. Ran-

dall, 1834-40; John Woodbury, 1840-45; Josiah B. Wiggin, 1845; David

Murray, 1846-50; Josiah B. Wiggin, 1850-51 ; Nathaniel G. Gilmon, 1851-52;

J. Hamilton Shapley, 1852-54; Thomas Smith, 1854-55; William H. Hills,

1855-57; Thomas Smith, 1857-58; Benjamin D. Leighton, 1858-60; Alonzo

J. Fogg, 1860-63 ; Hiram Smart, Jr., 1863-65 ; William H. Belknap, 1865-72

;

George W. Weston, 1872-87; G. B. Hoyt, 1887-93; Wm. Morrill, 1893-97;

J. W. A. Green, 1897-1914.

CLERKS OF THE SUPREME COURT FROM 17OO

Theodore Atkinson, 1700; Clement Hughes, 171 7; John Penhallow, 1729-

37; Benjamin Gambling, 1737-44; George Jeffrey, 1744-66; George King,

1767-80; Samuel Sherburne, 1780-81; Nathaniel Adams, 1 781-1829; Peter

Chadwick, 1829-37; Ira B. Hoitt, 1837-53; Albert H. Hoyt, 1853-56; Charles

G. Connor, 1856-95; C. H. Knight, 1896-1901. Qerk of the Superior Court,

C. H. Knight, 1901-14.

REPRESENTATIVES, I9I3 ROCKINGHAM COUNTY

Atkinson. Not entitled. Hampstead, C. W. Bailey D
Auburn, E. T. Underbill R Hampton, Herbert Perkins R
Brentwood, John Lake D Hampton Falls, J. Weare R
Candia, G. E. Brown R Kensington, F. A. Mace D
Chester, J. M. Webster D Kingston, F. W. Whippen R
Danville, A. B. Sargent R Londonderry, F. E. Avery D
Deerfield, E. C. Hoague R Newcastle, C. C. Tarlton D
Derry, Wm. H. Benson R Newfields, H. W. Smith R

C. O. Butrick D Newington. Not entitled.

J. F. Cobum D Newmarket, M. B. Griffin D
Wm. Neller D G. M. Mathes D

E. Kingston, F. N. Tilton D C. A. Morse D
Epping, Daniel Slattery D Newton, G. S. Rowe R
Exeter, Dana Baker R N. Hampton, F. W. Berry D

E. G. Eastman R Northwood, C. A. Foss R
Rufus N. Elwell R Nottingham, C. A. Perkins .T>

G. W. Lamprey R Plaistow, J. W. Sleeper D
Fremont, A. R. Whittier R Portsmouth,
Greenland, W. P. Holt D
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Ward I, W. T. Entwistle R Rye, B. H. Rand .• R
E. P. Stoddard R Salem, A. J. Cowan R

Ward 2, L. W. Brewster R B. R. Wheeler R
F. J. Philbrick R Sandown, J. G. Goodwin D
A. J. Rutledge R Seabrook, L. S. Beckman R

Ward 3, W. H. Moran D S. Hampton. Not entitled.

S. M. Trueman D Stratham, C. J. Brewster D
Ward 4, W. J. Cater R Windham, F. S. Webster R
Ward 5, H. A. Clark R Republicans, 27.

Raymond, J. H. Fisk D Democrats, 24.

VOTE FOR GOVERNOR, NOVEMBER, 1912
ROCKINGHAM COUNTY

Towns Rep.

Atkinson 33
Auburn 72
Brentwood 65
Candia 112

Chester 86
Danville 92
Deerfield 121

Derry 328
E. Kingston 46
Epping TJ
Exeter 449
Fremont 82
Greenland 45
Hempstead 93
Hampton 158
Hampton Falls 67
Kensington 39
Kingston 84
Londonderry 143
Newcastle 33
Newfields 71

Newington 19

Newmarket 60

Newton 104

N. Hampton 78
Northwood 117

Nottingham 95
Plaistow 69
Portsmouth

—

Ward I 206

Ward 2 319
Ward 3 76
Ward 4 145

Ward 5 1 10

Dem. Prog.

33
48

20

23
55'

85

56
21

13

33
45
18

78 35
474
52

151

8
200

249
34
168

30

49
45

14
26
28

lOI 55
22

48
13
12

95
83
64

42

49
18

34 14

43 5

244 137

54 54
lOI 12

84 31

74 ID

35 72

186 115

247
195
124
82

257
. 81

62

44
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Rajmiond 88 165 53
Rye 94 120 49
Salem 137 58 126

Sandown 22 36 36
Seabrook 89 89 26

S. Hampton 28 27 9
Stratham 48 53 43
Windham 52 23 43

4,252 3,962 2,084

COUNTY OFFICERS—1914

COMMISSIONERS

George A. Carlisle, Exeter.

William A. Hodgdon, Pbrtsmouth.
Norman H. Beane, Portsmouth.

TREASURER

James L. Parker, Portsmouth.

SOLICITOR

Ernest L. Guptill, Portsmouth.

SHERIFF

Ceylon Spinney, Portsmouth.

CLERK OF SUPERIOR COURT
Charles H. Knight, Exeter.

JUDGE OF PROBATE

Louis G. Hoyt, Kingston.

REGISTER OF DEEDS

John W. A. Green, Exeter.
REGISTER of PROBATE

Robert Scott, Exeter.

AUDITORS

John W. Emery, Portsmouth.
Fred J. Shepard, Derry

JAILERS

Ceylon Spinney, Portsmouth.
Frank O. Tilton, Exeter.

SUPERINTENDENT OF COUNTY FARM
Albert J. Trottier, Brentwood.

CHAPLAIN

Rev. J. Dodd Matthews, Brentwood.

PHYSICIAN

Dr. Abram W. Mitchell, Epping.



CHAPTER III

MILITARY HISTORY

The First Regiment—The Second Regiment—The Third Regiment—The
Fourth Regiment—The Fifth Regiment—The Sixth Regiment—The
Seventh Regiment—The Eighth Regiment—The Ninth Regiment.

As histories of nearly all the New Hampshire regiments have been pub-
lished, we shall give only an outline of the battles in which the regiments

were engaged and a few details of the regiments in which men from Rock-
ingham County were prominent.

The lightning had scarcely flashed the inteUigence to the expectant North
that Major Anderson and his gallant band had surrendered as prisoners of

war to the Southern Confederacy, ere the patriotic sons of Rockingham
were rallying to the support of their imperiled country. Men, and money
were promptly raised, and the record of Rockingham County during the

whole struggle is one in which its citizens may justly feel a patriotic pride.

New Hampshire had no organized militia that could be called into active

service. The enrollment required by law had been so imperfect that no fair

and equal draft could be made upon her citizens liable to be called into active

service, in case of insurrection at home or invasion from abroad, and it only

remained for the governor to call for volunteers to fill the quota of the

state—one regiment of 780 officers and men—under the call of the presi-

dent for 75,000 troops for three months' service. Immediately upon

the receipt by telegraph of President Lincoln's Proclamation, Ichabod

Goodwin, of Portsmouth, then governor, issued the following order:

"State of New Hampshire^
Executive Department,

Concord, April 16, 1861.

"To Joseph C. Abbott, Adjutant and Inspector-General

of the New Hampshire Militia

:

"Sir—The President of the United States having, in pursuance of the

act of Congress approved February 28, 1795, called upon the State of New
Hampshire for a regiment of militia, consisting of ten companies of infan-

try, to be held in readiness to be mustered into the service of the United

States for the purpose of quelling insurrection and supporting the govern-

ment
;

"I, Ichabod Goodwin, governor of New Hampshire, command you to

33
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make proclamation, calling for volunteers from the enrolled militia of this

state, to the number required, and to issue from time to time all necessary

orders and instructions for enrolling and holding in readmess to be mus-

tered into the service of said volunteer corps, agreeably to the aforesaid

requisition.
"IcHABOD Goodwin^

"Governor and Commarider-in-Chief.

"By the command of the governor,

"Thomas L. Tullock, Secretary of State."

The Legislature was not in session and would not convene, except under

a special call, until the following June. There were no funds in the treas-

ury which could be devoted to the expense of the organization and equip-

ment of troops, as all the available funds were needed to meet the ordinary

state expenditures. The great confidence of the people of New Hamp-
shire in the wisdom and integrity of Mr. Goodwin found in this emergency

full expression. Without requiring time to convene the Legislature so as

to obtain the security of the state for the loan, the banking institutions and

citizens of the state tendered him the sum of $680,000 for the purpose of

enabling him to raise and equip for the field New Hampshire's quota of

troops. This offer he gladly accepted; and averting delay in the proceed-

ings by refraining from convening the Legislature, he, upon his own respon-

sibility, proceeded to organize and equip troops for the field; and in less

than two months he had dispatched to the army, near Washington, two
well equipped and well officered regiments. Of this sum of $680,000 only

about $100,000 was expended. On the assembling of the Legislature that

body unanimously passed the "Enabling Act," under which all his proceed-

ings as governor were ratified and the state made to assume the responsi-

bility.

The First New Hampshire Regiment was a three-months' regiment and
the men who began to arrive in camp at Concord on April 24th, were mus-
tered into the United States service May i, 1861, and left Concord May
25th under command of Col. Mason .W. Tappan. Although the First Regi-
ment did not have the privilege of inscribing any pitched battles upon their

banner, they yet rendered arduous and important service. Many re-enlisted

and served in other New Hampshire regiments with honor and distinction.

Only a few men were from Rockingham County. The regiment was mus-
tered out of service at Concord, August 12, 1861.

The Second Regiment was recruited under the first call for 75,000 troops.
The men were enlisted for three months, but before the organization of the
regiment was completed the call came for- 300,000 three-years' troops, and a
large majority of the men re-enlisted for the full term. The regiment went
into camp at Portsmouth, with Thomas P. Pierce, Esq., of Manchester, as
colonel. Upon the re-enlistment of the men as three-years' troops, Colonel
Pierce resigned, and Hon. Gilman Marstbn, of Exeter, was appointed colonel,
with Frank S. Fiske, of Keene, as lieutenant-colonel, and Josiah Stevens, Jr.,
of Concord, as major.

The regiment left Portsmouth June 20, 1861, and arrived at Washing-
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ton on the 23d, and went into camp on Seventh street. While here the regi-

ment was brigaded with the First and Second Rhode Island, the Seventy-
first New York, and the Second Rhode Island Battery, the whole under
command of Gen. A. E. Burnside.

July 16th the regiment started on its first campaign, and received its

baptism of fire on the disastrous battlefield of Bull Run. Here Colonel
Marston was wounded in the shoulder by a rifle ball. In this sanguinary
struggle the Second fought nobly, and was acknowledged to be one of the

best regiments on the field. Its loss was seven killed, fifty-six wounded, and
forty-six prisoners. Of the latter, however, many doubtless died on the

field.

We next find the regiment on the Peninsula, and in the battle of Wil-
liamsburg, where it lost eighteen killed, sixty-six wounded, and twenty-three
missing. It soon after participated in the battles of Fair Oaks, Mechanics-
ville, and Gaines' Mill,

At the close of the Peninsula campaign, in which the Second had ever

borne an active part, the regiment returned to Alexandria, and was immedi-
ately ordered to Warrenton Junction to reinforce General Pope.

The second battle of Bull Run, soon followed, and here the gallant Second
added fresh laurels to those already won on many a hard-contested field.

The regiment entered the battle with 332. Of these sixteen were killed,

eighty-seven wounded, and twenty-nine missing. Ten out of twenty-one
commissioned officers were killed or wounded.

Passing over many details in the history of the regiment, our record

comes to the ist of July, 1863, and the ever memorable battle of Gettysburg.

In this terrible contest, which has gone down in history as one of the most
sanguinary struggles of war, the Second New Hampshire played an impor-

tant part and suffered greater loss than in any of the numerous fights in

which it was engaged.

The carnage of those July days is too well known to need especial men-
tion in this connection. The thin and decimated ranks of the Second at

the close of the contest showed only too well the fierceness of the struggle.

Before the battle twenty-four officers and three hundred and thirty men had

responded to roll call. Of this number nineteen had been shot dead, 136
wounded, and thirty-eight missing. All the field officers were wounded;
Captains Metcalf and Roberts were killed, and Lieutenants Ballard, Dascomb,

Vickery, and Patch died of their wounds. Captain Hubbard was mortally

wounded, and was found within the enemy's lines, where he had been buried

by brother Masons. Lieutenants Perkins and Converse each lost an arm, and

eight other officers were wounded. Major Sayles was also wounded. The
total loss of the regiment was 193 out of 354.

We next find this battle-scarred regiment in the memorable battle of

Cold Harbor, where it lost seventy either killed or wounded. This was the

last battle of the original Second New Hampshire, and it was fierce and

bloody enough to fitly crown three years of active service.

December 19, 1865, the regiment was mustered out of the service, and

on the 23d reached Concord. The Second saw severe service, and its his-

tory is a record of many of the hardest fought battles of the war.
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The Third Regiment.—The Third Regiment was the second regiment

raised in the state under the call for three-years' troops. It was organized

in 1861, and mustered into the United States service between the 22A and
26tti of August, by Maj. Seth Eastman, of the regular army. It rendez-

voused at Camp Berry, Concord.

The regimental officers were as follows: Colonel, Hawkes Fearing, Jr.

He, however, resigned, and Enoch Q. Fellows was appointed his successor.

Lieutenant-colonel, John H. Jackson.
Major, John Bedell.

The regiment consisted of 1,047 officers and men, raised throughout the

state generally, Rockingham County furnishing a few, but no entire company.
September 3d the regiment left the Granite Hills and proceeded to Long
Island, where they went into camp.

From this time until the close of its term of service the history of this

regiment is a history of many of the severest battles of the war. It par-
ticipated in the following engagements : Port Royal, November 7, 1861

;

Elba Island, March 7, 1862; Bluffton, March 16, 1862; Jehosse, April 10,

14, and 17, 1862; James Island, June 8, 1862; Secessionville, June 16, 1862;
Pocotaligo, October 22, 1862; May River, January 7, 1863; Stone Inlet,
April 7, 1863; Morris Island, July 10, 1863; Fort Wagner, July 18, 1863;
siege of Wagner, July 18 to September 7, 1863 ; siege of Sumter, September
7, 1863, to March i, 1864; Pilatka, April 3, 1864; Chester Station, May
9, 1864; Drury's Bluff, May 13 to 16, 1864; Bermuda Hundred, May 18.
1864; Wier Bottom Church, June 2, 1864; Petersburg, June 9, 1864;
Hatcher's Run, June 16, 1864; Flussell's Mills, August 16, 1864; siege of
Petersburg, August 16, 1864; New Market Heights, September 29, 1864:
demonstration towards Richmond, September 29 and October i, 1864; New-
Market Road, October 7, 1864; Darbytown Road, October 13, 1864; Charles
City Road, October 2y, 1864; Fort Fisher, January 15, 1865; Sugar-Loaf
Hill, February 11, 1865; Wilmington, Smith's Creek, and Northeast Ferry.

Dunng its term of service the regiment had on its rolls 1,818 men. One
hundred and ninety were killed in battle or died of wounds, 137 died of
disease. Mustered out July 20, 1865.

The Fourth Regiment.—This regiment was mustered into the service
September 18, 1861, with Thomas J. Whipple, of Laconia, as colonel- Louis
Bell, of Farmmgton, lieutenant-colonel; and Jeremiah D. Drew of Salem
as major. Company H enlisted at Salem. Colonel Whipple resigned in
1862, and May 16, 1862, Lieutenant-Colonel Bell was commissioned colonel
and was killed at Fort Fisher, January 15, 1865. Jeremiah D. Drew of
Salem, was commissioned lieutenant-colonel December i, 1863. George F
Towle of Portsmouth was commissioned major January' 3 i86s

The Fourth left Manchester for Washington on the 27th of September
under command of Colonel Whipple, and on Monday, the 30th, they arrived
at the Federal capital, and encamped on the Bladensburg road about a mileand a half from the city, where they were armed with Belgian rifles and at
once put to drilling.

The regiment subsequently participated in the battles of Drury's Bluff,
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Cold Harbor, the battle of the Mine, and its last memorable battle, which has
gone down in history as the attack of Fort Fisher.

The second expedition against Fort Fisher was commanded by General
Terry, while General Ames, with forces selected from his old division, was
to do the hard fighting. The regiments chosen were among the best in the

army, of large experience and unchallenged bravery, prepared for the work
by such battles and assaults as Wagner, Morris Island, Drury's Bluff, Cold
Harbor, and the battle of the Mine. Every man of the Fourth capable of
doing duty was brought into the ranks, and the regiment was commanded
by Capt. John H. Roberts. It embarked on the good steamer Baltic, a

sad remnant of the full regiment which had filled the spacious saloons and
cabins of the same vessel on the expedition to Port Royal. Once more the

transports floated before the .long line of sandy mounds known as Fort
Fisher. Gallantly leading his brigade. Colonel Bell had almost gained the

bridge, when a shot struck him and he fell mortally wounded. A moment
later and the colors of hi^ own regiment, which he had loved so long and so

well, were planted on the first mound of the fort. Thus fell the colonel of

the Fourth New Hampshire, dearly beloved and deeply mourned by his

brigade. Dignified yet genial, brave yet cautious, never sacrificing lives use-

lessly, ever ready to share danger and hardship with his men, no influence

or peril could deter him from doing his duty, or shake a resolution once

formed. The regiment was inustered out, and arrived home August 27, 1865.

Fifth Regiment.—This regiment was organized in 1861. Edward E.

Cross, of Lancaster, was colonel ; Samuel G. Langley, lieutenant-colonel

;

Wm. W. Cook, of Derry, major. The regiment rendezvoused at Concord,

and October 29th left for the seat of war. The regiment saw severe service,

and participated in the following engagements : Fair Oaks, Malvern Hill,

Antietam, Charleston, Va., Snicker's Gap, Fredericksburg, Chancellorsville,

Brandy Station, Gettysburg, Cold Harbor, Deep Bottom, Hatcher's Run,

Five Forks, and Farmville. The regiment was mustered out, July 8, 1865.

No regiment in the service from any state fought better, and few, if any,

fought oftener.

The Sixth Regiment.—This regiment was organized at Keene, and mus-

tered into the service on the 27th, 28th, and 30th of November, 1861. Com-
pany C was from Rockingham County. December 25th the regiment left

for the seat of war, and upon arrival at Washington was assigned to Burn-

side's expedition.' The history of the Sixth is the history of many of the

severest battles of the war.

No regiment from the state and none in the army won a prouder name

or made a more honorable record than the gallant old veteran Sixth.

The following is a list of battles in which it was actively engaged
:
Cam-

den, N. C, April 19, 1862; Second Bull Run, Va., August 29, 1862; Chan-

tilly, Va., September i, 1862; South Mountain, Md., September 13,, 1862;

Antietam, Md., September 17,. 1862; Fredericksburg, Va., December 13,

1862; siege of Vicksburg, Miss.; Jackson, Miss.; Wilderness, Va., May 6,

1864; Spottsylvania Court House, Va., May 12, 1864; Spottsylvania Court

House, Va., May 18, 1864; North Anna River, Va., May 24, 1864; Tolo-

potomy Creek, Va., May 31, 1864; Bethesda Church, Va., June 2, 1864;
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Cold Harbor, Va., June 3, 1864; Petersburg, Va., June 16, 1864; Petersburg,

Va., June 17, 1864; Petersburg, Va., June 18, 1864; Weldon Railroad,

Va., July 30, 1864; Poplar Spring Church, Va., September 30, 1864;

Hatcher's Run, Va., October 27, 1864; Petersburg, Va., April 2, 1865.

Besides these the regiment was present at many skirmishes and recon-

noissances, which are not mentioned as it suffered no loss. In addition to

these there were many days during the campaign in the Wilderness and for

nine weeks before Petersburg when the regiment was '
constantly under fire,

and suffered heavy losses in the aggregate. The regiment was mustered out

in July, 1865.

The Seventh Regiment.—This regiment was raised by Joseph C. Abbot

in the fall of 1861, and December 14th san:ie year was mustered into the

service with the following officers

:

Colonel, H. S. Putnam, regular army.

Lieutenant-Colonel, Joseph C. Abbot, of Manchester.

Major, Daniel Smith, of Dover.

The first engagement in which the Seventh participated was the unsuc-

cessful assault on Fort Wagner. This was one of the memorable assaults

of the war, and during the hour and a half the engagement lasted the gal-

lant Seventh lost 218 killed, wounded, and missing, with Colonel Putnam
and four line-officers among the killed. The regiment subsequently partici-

pated in the battles of Olustee, Lempster Hill, Drury's Bluff, Petersburg,

I>eep Bottom (where Lieutenant-Colonel Henderson was killed). New
Market Heights, Laurel Hill, Darbytown Road, Fort Fisher.

The Eighth Regiment.—There were a few men from Rockingham County
in the regiment, but no organization. The regiment was mustered into the

service December 23, 1861, in Manchester. The regiment participated in

various engagements, the most memorable of which was the attack on Port
Hudson, where it suffered more than any other regiment in the army. In
December, 1863, the Eighth was changed to "Second New Hampshire Cav-
alry." It was mustered out in December, 1864.

Ninth Regiment.—There were a few men from Rockingham County in

this regiment, which was recruited in 1862, with E. Q. Fellows, of Sandwich,
as colonel. The regiment participated in the battles of South Mountain,
Antietam, Fredericksburg, Spottsylvania, the "Mine," Poplar Grove Church.
The Ninth saw hard service, and suffered severely.



CHAPTER IV

MILITARY HISTORY—(Concluded)

The Tenth Regwient—The Eleventh Regiment—The Thirteenth Regiment—
The Fourteenth Regiment—The Fifteenth Regiment—The Sixteenth
Regiment—The Eighteenth Regitnent—The First Heavy Artillery—The
SJwrpshooters.

Tenth Regiment.—This regiment was raised during the dark hours of

1862, when the glamour of military life had passed away, and grim-visaged

war stood out before the people in all its horrors. It was commanded by
Col. Michael P. Donohoe, 'who was subsequently breveted brigadier-gen-

eral. Rockingham "County had one company, "G," in this regiment, which
was raised in Portsmouth and Greenland. George W. Towle was captain.

The history of the Tenth Regiment contains nothing which need cause

any of its members to be ashamed of the organization in which they served,

while it is a record of brave deeds and heroic sacrifices of which any soldier

might well feel proud. Other regiments from the state may have been

through more battles and lost more men, but none ever fought more gallantly

or discharged whatever duty devolved upon them more faithfully. With the

Army of the Potomac at Fredericksburg and Cold Harbor, and the Army of

the James at Drury's Bluff, Fort Harrison, and all the bloody campaign of

1864, its history is inseparably connected, and as long as the war for the

Union and its heroes shall be gratefully remembered by the people in whose
behalf so much was risked, the story of the Tenth New Hampshire will never

cease to be of interest.

The regiment was mustered out June 21, 1865.

The Eleventh Regiment.—The Eleventh Regiment was recruited and mus-

tered into the service in August, 1862, with the following ofificers : Colonel,

Walter Harriman, of Warner; major, Moses A. Collins, of Exeter; and

chaplain, Frank K. Stratton, of Hampton.

There were three companies recruited from Rockingham County for the

regiment, A, B, and I. The Eleventh Regiment left Concord on the nth
of September, 1862, and arrived at Washington on the 14th.

The Eleventh Regiment joined in the grand review of the Second, Fifth,

and Ninth Corps, Sherman's entire army, and some other troops at Wash-
ington on the 23d and 24th of May. It was the grandest spectacle of the

kind ever witnessed in this country. Two hundred thousand armed veterans

passed the whole length of Pennsylvania avenue, the reviewing officers being

stationed in front of the president's house.

The Eleventh was mustered out of the United States service on the 4th

39
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of June, and immediately started for home, arriving at Concord on the after-

noon of the 7th, meeting with a hearty reception in the state house yard.

On the loth the regiment was paid off and formally discharged. By order

of the commanding general of the army, for meritorious conduct m battle,

the Eleventh Regiment inscribed upon its banner "Fredericksburg, Vicks-

burg, Jackson, East Tennessee, the Wilderness, Spottsylvania, North Anna,

Cold Harbor, Weldon Railroad, Poplar Grove Church, Hatcher's Run,

Petersburg."

Thirteenth Infantry.—This was the fifth regiment raised by the state,

in the fall of 1862, under the call of the president for 600,000 troops.

In its organization of ten companies seven counties were represented,

Rockingham furnishing two. The first company went into camp at Con-

cord on the nth of September. The whole were mustered into the United

States service on the i8th, 19th, and 20th of the same month, and on the 23d

the field officers were also mustered.

Aaron F. Stevens, Esq., of Nashua, who had served as major of the First

New Hampshire, was commissioned colonel; George Bowers, of the same

city, who had served in Mexico, was lieutenant-colonel; and Jacob I. Storer,

of Portsmouth, was major.

On the 5th of October, in the presence of a great assembly, the Thirteenth

received its colors, at the state house, and on the following day left the capitol

for Washington, fully armed and equipped.

The Thirteenth Regiment participated in the final movement upon Rich-

mond, on the 3d of April, 1865. General Devens, commanding the division,

in a complimentary letter to Governor Smyth, of this state, dated at Rich-

mond, June 22, 1865, speaking of the Tenth, Twelfth, and Thirteenth Regi-

ments, says, "On the formation of the Twenty-fourth Corps, all these regi-

ments formed a part of the Third Division, to which they have until now
belonged, and were of the first column that entered Richmond on the morn-
ing of April 3, 1865, the Thirteenth New Hampshire being the first regiment

of the army whose colors were brought into the city." The Thirteenth was
mustered out of the Unfted States service on the 22d of June, and came home
with the Tenth and Twelfth, under command of Brevet Brigadier-General

Donohoe. Arrived at Nashua, the officers of the brigade assembled at the

Indian Head House, and Capt. George A. Bruce, of the Thirteenth, upon
the staff of General Donohoe, in their behalf, presented General Aaron F.

Stevens, their old and esteemed commander, a sabre, sash, and belt, suitable

to his rank. The general accepted the gift in a handsome and feeling speech,
after which he reviewed the brigade, and it appeared so well as to receive
the warmest encomiums of thousands of spectators who witnessed it.

Authority was received from the general commanding the army for the
Thirteenth Regiment to inscribe upon its colors the names and dates of the
following engagements: Fredericksburg, December 13, 1862; siege of Suf-
folk, April and May, 1863; Walthal Road, May 7, 1864; Swift Creek, May
9 and 10, 1864; Kingsland Creek, May 12 and 13, 1864; Drury's Bluff, May
14 and 16, 1864; Cold Harbor, June i and 3, 1864; Battery 5, Petersburg,
June 15, 1864: Battery Harrison, September 29 and 30, 1864.

The regiment was paid off and finally discharged at Concord on the ist
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of July, 1865. Its record while in the service is a better commendation than
words.

The Fourteenth Regiment.—This was recruited principally from the west-
ern part of the state, although a few were furnished by Rockingham County.
It was mustered into the service in September, 1862, with Robert Wilson, of
Keene, as colonel. It participated in the battles of Winchester, Cedar Creek,
etc. It lost by death over two hundred men and officers, seventy of whom
fell in battle or died of their wounds.

The Fifteenth Regiment.—This was the first regiment raised in New
Hampshire under the president's call for 300,000 nine-months' troops.

There were a few men from Rockingham County, and John W. Kingman,
of Durham, was colonel, George W. Frost, of New Market, lieutenant-

colonel.

The regiment was mustered into the service November 12, 1862, and
upon arriving at the front was assigned to the division commanded by
General Sherman. Their first engagement was the assault on Port Hudson.

On the 26th of July the regiment turned over its camp and ordnance
stores and started on its way home. It reached Concord on the 8th of

August, and was mustered out, paid, and discharged on the 13th. When
the regiment was mustered out of service, though there were thirty-nine

officers and 702 enlisted men whose names were borne upon the rolls, less

than thirty officers and not four hundred and fifty enlisted men were fit

for duty. The siege of Port Hudson and the climate of Louisiana had
thus sadly thinned the ranks.

The Sixteenth Regiment.—This regiment was mustered into the service

in November, 1862, with James Pike, of Sanbomton, as colonel. One com-
pany (K) was recruited in Rockingham County. Though this regiment saw
but little hard fighting, it suffered as much from disease, induced by exposure

and the malaria of southern swamps, as any from New Hampshire had done

from all causes combined in the same length of time. It was mustered out

in August, 1863.

The Eighteenth Regiment.—On the 19th of July, 1864, the War Depart-

ment issued an order calling for 500,000 volunteers, and under this call

the state authorities commenced recruiting the Eighteenth Regiment. Charles

H. Bell, of Exeter, was commissioned colonel, and James W. Carr, of

Manchester, lieutenant-colonel, both of whom resigned before being mustered

into the United States service, and their places were filled by the appointment

of Thomas L. Livermore, of Milford, and Joseph M. Clough, of New
London. Company K was principally from Rockingham County. The
regiment participated in the following engagements: Fort Steadman,

March 25, 1865 ; attack on Petersburg, April 2, 1865 ; and capture of Peters-

burg, April 3, 1865. It was mustered out in July, 1865.

The First Heavy Artillery was raised in August, 1864, and was mustered

into the service with Charles H. Long, of Claremont, as colonel, and Ira

McL. Barton as lieutenant-colonel. The following is a list of the officers of

this company: Captain, George W. Colbath, of Dover; first lieutenant,

William S. Pillsbury, of Londonderry; second lieutenant, Joseph H. Flagg,

of Kingston.
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On the 2 1 St of November, 1864, Colonel Long was assigned T;o the com-

mand of Hardin's division, Twenty.second Army Corps, and the command

of the regiment devolved upon Lieutenant-Colonel Barton. On the 25th

Battery A was ordered to Portsmouth Harbor, and in February, 1865, Bat-

tery B was ordered for duty at the same place. During the winter and until

the muster out of the regiment it garrisoned a line of works ten miles in

extent and gained considerable proficiency in artillery drill.

On the 15th of June, 1865, the regiment was mustered out of service,

and arrived at Concord on the 19th, where it received final pay and discharge.

Sharpshooters.—New Hampshire furnished three companies of sharp-

shooters for the army. In the summer of 1861, Colonel Berdan procured

permission from the war department to raise a force of sharpshooters, and

a promise that 2,000 Sharpe's rifles should be manufactured for them.

The result was the First and Second Regiments of United States Sharp-

shooters, commonly known as Berdan's Sharpshooters, of which the three

companies from this state formed a part. Colonel Berdan asked the gov-

ernor first for one, and then for two more companies. They were mustered

into the United States service on the 9th of September, 1861.

These three companies of sharpshooters contained some of the best rifle

shots in the state. They participated in more battles and skirmishes than

the averages of regimenfs, and probably killed more rebels than the same
number of troops in any other arm of the service; while from their having
been seldom used in line of battle in dense masses, they suffered less loss in

comparison than many other regiments.

Rockingham County may justly feel proud of her soldiery as no section

of our country acted a more prominent or honorable role in the great tragedy.

Nearly a half century has now elapsed since the close of the Rebellion,

and we find our country a united and prosperous people. Sectional strife

is rapidly passing away, and the same hand strews flowers alike on the graves
of the Blue and the Gray.

"No more shall the war-cry sever,

Or the winding rivers be red;

They banish our anger forever
When they laurel the graves of our dead.

Under the sod and the dew.
Waiting the judgment-day;

Love and tears for the Blue,

Tears and love for the Gray."



CHAPTER V

BENCH AND BAR

Sketches of Rockingham County Lawyers and Judges

Among the prominent agencies which give shape and order in the early-

development of the civl and social condition of society, the pulpit, press, and
bar are perhaps the most potential in moulding the institutions of a new
community ; and where these are early planted, the school, academy, and col-

lege are not long in assuming their legitimate position, and the maintenance
of these institutions secures at the start a social and moral foundation upon
which we may safely rest the superstructure of the country, the state, and the

nation.

The establishment of courts and judicial tribunals^ where society is pro-

tected in all its civil rights under the sanction of law, and wrong finds a

ready redress in an enlightened and prompt administration of justice, is the

first necessity of every civilized community, and without which the forces

and press of society, in its changeable developments, even under the teach-

ings of the pulpit, the directions of the press, and the culture of the schools,

are exposed to peril and disaster from the turbulence of passion and conflicts

of interest; and hence the best and surest security that even the press, the

school, or the pulpit can find for the peaceful performance of its highest

functions is when protected by and intrenched behind the bulwarks of law,

administered by a pure, independent, and uncorrupted judiciary.

The Rockingham County bar has from its beginning numbered among
its members able jurists, talented advocates, and safe counselors. Here many
have lived, flourished, and died, while others still are upon the stage of action

who have been prominent in the advancement of the interests of the county

and figured conspicuously in the councils of the state.

PORTSMOUTH

for so many years the important town of the state, and noted for the extent

of its commerce, wealth, and political importance, naturally maintained an

able and influential bar, whose members had a large practice, and some of

whom were known throughout the country from their political as well as

their legal celebrity.

Matthew Livermore (son of Samuel) was bom in Watertown, Mass.,

January 14, 1703; graduated at Harvard College, 1722, and went to Ports-

mouth to keep school and study law. He was admitted to the bar in 1731,

at which time there was no regularly educated lawyer in Portsmouth. He
43
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practiced extensively in Maine and New Hampshire. He was attorney-

general of the province and king's advocate in the Admiralty Court. He

was afterwards judge of the Superior Court of New Hampshire, and died

August II, 1762.

William Parker was born in Portsmouth, December 9, 1703, and, after

being for a while at school, was apprenticed by his father to a tanner, but on

attaining his majority became master of one of the public schools. He then

studied law, and was admitted to the bar in 1732. He was clerk to the com-

missioners selected to settle the boundary line between New Hampshire and

Massachusetts; was register of probate, surrogate, and judge of admiralty.

He was a representative in the assembly for several years from 1765 to 1774.

In August, 177 1, he was appointed justice of the Supreme Court, and held

this office until the Revolutionary war. He was not only a well-read law-

yer, but an excellent scholar. He died April 21, 1781.

Wyseman Claggett was born in Bristol, England, in 1721, and came to

Portsmouth to serve as the king's attorney-general in 1758. He married

in Portsmouth, 1759, Miss Warner, and died at Litchfield in 1784. As
king's attorney he was faithful in the discharge of his ."duties," but when
the "Stamp Act" was promulgated he was one of the earliest to remonstrate.

His father was Wyseman Claggett, a barrister at law in Bristol. Mr. Clag-

gett was renowned as a classical scholar. In the war of the Revolution

he took sides with the people at the risk of very much of his property, then

within the power of the British government.

Samuel Livermore was born in Waltham, Mass., May 14, 1702 (O. S.).

He taught school in Chelsea Hall College, N. J., graduating in September,

1752. After teaching for a while he studied law with Judge Trowbridge,

and was admitted to the bar in June, 1756. Commencing practice at Walt-
ham, he removed to Portsmouth in 1757; thence, in 1764, he removed to

Londonderry, which town he represented in the Legislature in 1768. He
was commissioned attorney-general in 1769, then again living at Portsmouth.
In 1775 he removed to Holderness. In 1776 he was again made attorney-

general. In 1779 he was a delegate to the Continental Congress, and also in

1 781. June 21, 1782, he was appointed chief justice of the Supreme Court.

In 1790 he resigned his judgeship. In 1789 he was representative to Con-
gress. In 1793 he was chosen United States senator, and again in 1798. He
resigned the latter office in 1801. He died May, 1803, aged seventy-one.

John Samuel Sherburne, the son of John and Elizabeth (Moffat) Sher-
bune, was bom in Portsmouth in 1757, and died in that town August 2, 1830,
aged seventy-three. After reading law he began practice in Portsmouth. He
was a representative in Congress from 1793 to 1797; attorney for the United
States for the district of New Hampshire from 1801 to 1804; judge of the
District Court of the United States from May, 1804, to the date of his death.
In the war of the Revolution he served with distinction, and lost a leg in

battle. He married Submit, daughter of Hon. George Boyd, in October, 1791.
John Pickering was born in Newington in 1738; graduated at Harvard

College in 1761 ; was chosen United States senator in 1789. In August of
1789 he was appointed justice of the Supreme Court, and chief justice in
July following, serving until 1795. Was then appointed judge of the United
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States District Court, and served till 1804. He was noted for his strength
of character, learning, and personal excellence. He died April 11, 1805.

Charles Story was appointed judge of the Court of Admiralty for New
Hampshire in the fall of 1696. He sailed from England for Portsmouth late

in the same season, and reached that town in January, 1697. On the 19th
of January he presented his commission to the president and council, and it

was read, approved, and recorded. In 1699 he was appointed register of
probate, continuing in office till his death. His last record bears date
December 11, 171 4. Ini7i2he was attorney-general of the province, and
was engaged in many prominent suits. His residence was at New Castle.

Jonathan Mitchell Sewall was born in Salem, Mass., in 1748, and read
law with Judge John Pickering in Portsmouth. He began practice at Haver-
hill, N. H., and was register of probate for Grafton County in 1773. Pre-

vious to 1787 he removed to Portsmouth, where he was register of the Court
of Admiralty. He was admitted to the bar of the Circuit Court of the United
States, November 20, 1790, and held high rank as a counselor in the courts

of the states. His poetic writings have to some extent survived him. He
wrote an address presented to President Washington on his visit to Ports-

mouth, and an oration delivered July 4, 1788. He was the author of the

oft-quoted lines,

—

"No pent-up Utica contracts your powers;

But the whole boundless continent is yours."

Mr. Sewall died March 28, 1808, aged sixty years.

Daniel Humphreys was the son of Rev. David Humphreys, of Derby,

Conn., and graduated at Yale College in 1757. He became a lawyer and a

teacher of the Sandemanian doctrines. He came to Portsmouth in 1774,
and was United States district attorney from 1804 to 1828, and was a mem-
ber of the convention to frame a new constitution in 1791-92. He was in

considerable practice, and was a man of unblemished character.

Joseph Bartlett was noted for his eccentricities and wit. He was born

at Plymouth, Mass., June 10, 1762, and graduated at Harvard College in

1782 with a high rank in scholarship. He studied law first at Salem, Mass.,

then went to England. Returning, he was a captain of volunteers raised by

Massachusetts to put down Shay's rebellion. After this he resumed. his legal

studies and was admitted to the bar. He practiced at Woburn and Cambridge.

In 1803 he removed to Saco, Me., where he had a good practice. After

losing his influence and a large share of his business in Saco by the prose-

cution of a protracted libel suit, he for a while lived in Branch, and came to

Portsmouth in 1810. He died in Berlin, Oct. 27, 1827. He published an

edition of poems dedicated to John Quincy Adams, and while in Saco edited

a paper called the Freeman's Friend. July 4, 1805, he delivered an oration

at Biddeford. He was a fluent, and at times eloquent, speaker, abounded in

wit, which was at ready command, but his habits of life and a lack of firm-

ness of purpose prevented his attaining a position at the bar which he

otherwise might have filled. He married Ann Witherdl, of Kingston,

Mass., but left no children.
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Edward St. Loe Livermore was a son of Hon. Samuel Livermore,

and born in Portsmouth in 1762. He studied law and practiced his pro-

fession in Portsmouth, and was United States district attorney for the

District of New Hampshire from 1789 to 1797. Mr. Livermore was a

member of the convention chosen to revise the Constitution of the State

of New Hampshire, which assembled at Concord on the 7th of September,

1791. His father was president of the convention. He was justice of

the Superior Court of New Hampshire from 1797 to 1799, and subsequently-

removed to Massachusetts. He died, aged eighty years.

Jeremiah Mason, one of the -ablest members of the Rockingham County

bar, was born at Lebanon, Conn., April 27, 1768. He was a descendant of

John Mason, captain in Oliver Cromwell's army, and who came from England

in 1630, and settled at Dorchester, Mass. After graduating at Yale College,

Mr. Mason studied law in Connecticut, and was admitted to the bar in

New Hampshire in 1791. He began practice at Westmoreland, and removed

thence to Walpole, from which place he removed to Portsmouth in 1797.

He was appointed attorney-general in 1802, which office he resigned in

three years. In June, 1813, he was chosen a senator of the United States,

and served with distinction until his resignation in 181 7. He also served

in the Legislature of New Hampshire, and was president of the United

States Branch Bank at Portsmouth. His law practice was extensive, and
in his office were many.students-at-law. Mr. Webster has said of Mr. Mason
that "his great ability lay in the department of the common lawi In his

address to the court and jury he affected to despise all eloquence and
certainly disdained all ornament, but his efforts, whether addressed to one
tribunal or the other, were marked by a degree of clearness, directness,

and force not easy to be equaled." He was the most adroit and successful

in the cross-examination of witnesses of any lawyer ever seen at the bar
of the state.

In 1832, Mr. Mason removed to Boston, in which city he died October
14, 1848. While a resident of Portsmouth, Mr. Mason's practice extended
throughout the state, and he was retained in the most important cases upon
the dockets of the various counties of New Hampshire, and enjoyed a
reputation as one of the leading lawyers of the country.

Daniel Webster, whose fame is world-wide, lived the earlier half of
his life in New Hampshire. The son of a Revolutionary patriot, Capt.
Ebenezer Webster, and of New Hampshire descent for four generations,
he was born in Salisbury, January 18, 1782. A feeble constitution pointed
him out as fitter for education than for the sturdy labors of the farm, and
with self-denial on the part of his parents, and struggle on his own part,
he accomplished his wishes, and graduated at Dartmouth College in 1801
with honor. His legal studies he completed under the direction of Hon.
T. W. Thompson, of Salisbury, and Hon. Christopher Gore, of Boston,
where he was admitted an attorney in 1805. He took up his residence at
once in Boscawen, and remained two years a close student of his pro-
fession and of general literature. In 1807 he made Portsmouth his place
of abode, and lived there until 1816, when he removed to Boston. While
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a resident of New Hampshire he served two terms as representative in

Congress.

Mr. Webster acquired a high reputation as a lawyer and a statesman
(for he never was a politician) before he quitted his native state. When
he went to Portsmouth, at the age of only twenty-five years, he was a
mature man, armed at every point for the battle of life. Mr. Mason, then
in the prime of his unrivaled powers, describes his first encounter with
Webster. He had heard of him as a formidable antagonist, and found on
trial that he was not over-estimated. Young and inexperienced as he was,
Webster entered the arena with Mason and Sullivan and Bartlett, and bore
away his full share of the honors. And before he quitted his New Hamp-
shire home his reputation as a lawyer and as an advocate of eloquence
and power ranked with the very highest in the land.

Those who heard his addresses to the jury in his early prime testify

that none of his later great efforts surpassed them—if, indeed, they equaled
them—as examples of earnest, impassioned forensic, oratory. There was
a youthful brilliancy and bloom. about those earlier productions that is not
found in the stately works of his maturer years.

In those days, when practitioners made reputations by special pleading

and sharp practice, Mr. Webster relied little upon mere technicalities or

adroit management. He tried his causes upon their merits, and with his

logical power and eloquent tongue made short work of trumped-up claims

and dishonest defenses. Many traditions attest his commanding influence

over court and jury at this period of his career. Without being authentic

in all particulars, they all concur in demonstrating that on no legal prac-

titioner of his time was the popular confidence and admiration so universally

bestowed as on Webster.

The events in the life of Mr. Webster from the time he re-entered

Congress from Massachusetts are too familiar to require special repetition

here. He continued in public life, with the exception of very brief intervals,

up to the time of his decease in 1852. He was a senator in Congress for

seventeen years. He was twice Secretary of State, and died in possession

of that office. Every public position that he held he adorned and dignified

by eminent, patriotic services.

Now that nearly a generation has passed since Mr. Webster's death,

his character is beginning to be estimated more justly, and the value of

the work he did for the country has been tested. We see that his sagacity

and foresight were far beyond those of his time ; that his apprehensions for

the safety of the Union were well founded; that his exhortations to his

countrymen to stand by the flag were honest, necessary, and vitalizing to

the patriotism of the people.

The petty assaults that seerr;ed temporarily to obscure his fame have

had their brief day, and posterity will recognize the true grandeur of the

man, and value at their just worth the great deeds of his life-time. As a

statesman and a diplomatist, as a vindicator of the Constitution, as a lawyer

and an orator, and, most of all, as a patriot, the country will be fortunate

if the future shall furnish his peer.

Nathaniel A. Haven, Jr., was bom in Portsmouth, N. H., January 14,
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1790, and was a son of Hon. Nathaniel A. Haven, and a grandson of

Rev. Samuel Haven, D. D. He graduated at Harvard, and studied law

in the office of that eminent jurist, Hon. Jeremiah Mason. He was admitted

to the bar in 181 1, and commenced practice in his native town. High as

was Haven in his profession, he had not given to a single science a mind

that could compass the circle of them. He had a decided taste for literature,

and from 1821 to 1825 was connected editorially with the Portsmouth

Journal. He also contributed articles for the North American Review.

He was a member of the Legislature in 1823-24. He died June 3, 1826.

Peyton Randolph Freeman was the son of Hon. Jonathan Freeman,

of Hanover, and born November 14, 1775. He graduated at Dartmouth
College in 1796, and began the practice of the law in Hanover in 1801.

Previous to this he was principal of an academy at Amherst, N.. H. He
came to Portsmouth and established himself in practice in 1803. He was
deputy secretary of state in 181 6- 17, clerk of the United States Courts

from March, 1817, to May, 1820. Mr. Freeman's strong point was his

familiarity with the law concerning real property. He was of the old

school, and any departure by the courts from the ancient rules of law
.concerning real estate was a horror to him. He was severely painstaking

and careful in all business he undertook, such as the investigation of titles,

drafting of wills, creating trusts, life estates, etc. Indeed, he was so much
absorbed in following the intricate phases of cases and titles that his clients

after experience in this direction were apt to prefer a man of more practical

turn of mind. He was never rnarried. He died March 27, 1868, in the

ninety-third year of his age.

Edward Cutis, son of Edward Cutts, was born in Kittery, Me., and
was a descendant of Judge Edward Cutts. He graduated at Harvard College
in 1 801. He studied law with Jeremiah Mason, and after his admission
to the bar began practice in Portsmouth in 1807. At the May term, 1809,
he was admitted as an attorney and counselor of the Circuit Court of the
United States, at the same time with Daniel Webster, and continued in

large practice in the state and federal courts until his death, August 22,

1844, at the age of sixty years.

Mr. Cutts neither sought nor attained political honors. He was a safe
counselor, and devoted himself exclusively to the practice of his profession.
He was at one time president of the United States Branch Bank in Ports-
mouth, and afterwards a director in the Rockingham Bank. He married
Mary Huske Sheafe, daughter of Jacob Sheafe, a prominent merchant of
Portsmouth, but left no children. His widow is remembered for her munif-
icent legacy left to improve Richards Avenue, a fine street leading to the
South Cemetery in Portsmouth.

William Claggett was the son of Hon. Clifton Claggett, and grandson
of Wyseman Claggett. He was born at Litchfield, April 8, 1790; graduated
at Dartrnouth College in 1808; was admitted to the bar in Hillsborough
County in 181 1, and soon after began the practice of his profession in
Portsmouth. He was representative in the State Legislature in 1814, and
was several times re-elected to that office. He was clerk of the State Senate
in 1820; senator from District No. i in 1825; clerk of the United States
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Circuit and District Courts from 1820 to his resignation March 5, 18-25;
and nayal officer of the port of Portsmouth from 1830 to 1838. His first

wife was Sarah F., daughter of George Plumer, who died in 1818. His
second marriage was with Mary Thompson, daughter of Col. E. Thompson

;

she died in 1863.
Mr. Claggett at one time had a large practice in Portsmouth, but when

he too often became his own cHent his business diminished and finally dis-

appeared. In 1812 he gave a Fourth of July oration in Portsmouth, Daniel
Webster making one at the same time in another part of the town. He
was for many years an ardent democrat, and subsequently became a free

soiler, and wrote extensively for the press in Portsmouth and Concord
after that party's formation. He died on the 28th of December, 1870, at

Portsmouth, leaving one son, William C. Claggett, then a merchant in New
York City.

Ichabod Bartlett was born in Salisbury. ' He graduated at Dartmouth
College in 1808, and studied law in the office of Moses Eastman in his

native town. He practiced law after his admission to the bar at Salisbury

and at Durham, and in 1818 removed to Portsmouth. The same year he

was appointed solicitor for Rockingham County.

He was chosen clerk of the Senate for 1817 and 1818. He was a
representative to the General Court from Portsmouth in 1820 and 1821

(being speaker of the House of Representatives for 1821), and also served

as representative in the years 1830, 1838, 1851, and 1852. He was a

delegate to the Constitutional Convention in 1850, was representative in

Congress in 1823, 1825, and 1827, and was for many years engaged in

many of the most important lawsuits throughout the state. As a lawyer

he had few equals; in ready wit and keen satire he was unsurpassed; as

public speaker, as an advocate of the bar, and a legislator he maintained a

prominent position for very many years. He died at Portsmouth, October

17, 1853, aged seventy-seven, and was unmarried.

Charles W. Cutter^ son of Jacob Cutter, was born in Portsmouth, grad-

uated at Harvard College in 181 8, and studied law with Jeremiah Mason,

and commenced practice in his native town. He was admitted to the bar

of the Circuit Court of the United States in October, 1825, and appointed

clerk of the Circuit and District Courts March 13, 1826, positions he held

for fifteen years. In 1841 he was appointed naval storekeeper, and after-

wards was navy agent at Portsmouth. He for several years edited the

Portsmouth Journal, and was an effective public speaker in political cam-

paigns, but never devoted himself with much zeal to the practice of his

profession. He died August 6, 1856, aged fifty-six years, and unmarried.

Timothy Farrar practiced law in Portsmouth from 1814 to 1822, and

from 1834 to 1836. He was admitted to practice in the Circuit Court of the

United States, October term, 181 7, and subsequently removed to Exeter.

diaries B. Goodrich. This eminent lawyer was born at Hanover, N. H.,

in 1 81 2. He was graduated at Dartmouth College, and after a course of

study, it is believed, in his native town, he was admitted to the bar. Coming

to Portsmouth in 1826, he continued in practice for ten years, winning high

reputation in his profession. His talents found a wider field of action at
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Boston, whither he removed, and where he at once took rank as a leader.

Till his death, in the summer of 1878, Mr. Goodrich had few equals at

the Suffolk bar in all that constitutes a learned and skilled practitioner

His duties called him not infrequently to Washington, where he was regarded

as one of the ablest members of the bar from New England. In 1S53 he

published "The Science of Government as Exhibited in the Institutions of

the United States of America,"—a course of lectures delivered at the

Lowell Institute in Boston. In private life Mr. Goodrich was genial and

warm-hearted. He married, March 11, 1827', Miss Harriet N. Shattuck,

of Portsmouth, who survived him.

Levi Woodbury was the son of the Hon. Peter Woodbury, and born at

Francistown, on the 22d of December, 1789. He was of the oldest Massa-

chusetts stock, being descended from John Woodbury, who emigrated .from

Somersetshire in England in the year 1624, and was one of the original

settlers of Beverly, Mass. Peter Woodbury removed from Beverly to Fran-

cistown in 1-773. His son Levi entered Dartmouth College in October, 1805.

After his graduation with honor in 1809, in September of that year he

began the study of law. at Litchfield, Conn., pursuing it at Boston, Exeter,

and Francistown, and in September, 1812, commenced practice in his native

village. He soon attained a high rank at the bar, with an extensive business.

His first public service was upon his election as clerk of the Senate of

New Hampshire in June, 1816. In December of the same year he received

the appointment of judge of the Supreme Court of the State, and in the

discharge of the duties of this position were seen the inherent force of his

abilities, aided by his constant and never-ceasing habits of application.

In June, 181 9, he married Ehzabeth W. Clapp, of Portland, Me., and

removing to Portsmouth soon after, except when absent on public duties

resided in that" city. In March, 1823, he was chosen governor of New
Hampshire, and re-elected in 1824.

In 1825 he was chosen one of the representatives from Portsmouth in

the Legislature, and elected speaker upon the assembling of the House of

Representatives. -This was his first seat in any deliberative assembly; but

his knowledge of parliamentary law, aided by his dignity and urbanity of

manner, served to enable him to fill the office in a commendable manner.
At the same session he was elected a senator in the Congress of the

United States. His senatorial term was completed in March, 183 1, and
in that month he was chosen state senator from his district, but before
the Legislature assembled he was, in May, 183 1, appointed secretary of

the navy, and resigned the senatorship in June 4th of that year, and served
till June 30, 1834, in the secretaryship.

In July, 1834, Governor Woodbury was appointed secretary of the
treasury, and served until the election of General Harrison to the presidency.
He was again elected a senator in Congress for the term of six years, com-
mencing March 4, 1841. He served until November, 1845. Diiring that
year President Polk had tendered Governor Woodbury the embassy to the
Court of St. James, but the appointment, for domestic reasons, was declined.

Upon the death of Mr. Justice Story, Mr. Woodbury was commissioned
an associate justice of the Supreme Court of the United States, and after
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subsequently entering upon the duties of this high office continued therein
until his death, which occurred September 4, 1851.

Judge Woodbury, in the various public positions he was so constantly
called to fill, showed himself abundantly capable for the discharge of their
duties. As a legislator he was painstaking and industrious, as a judge
studious and indefatigable in his labors, and as a cabinet minister compre-
hensive and yet exact in his knowledge of details. His life was one of uninter-
rupted work, and his death at the age of sixty-one deprived the country
of an upright judge and an eminent pubhc man. Of his children, his only
son, Charles Levi Woodbury, was a prominent lawyer in practice in Boston.
One daughter was the wife of Hon. Montgomery Blair, who was postmaster-
general under President Lincoln, and another was the wife of Capt. Gustavus
V. Fox, formerly of the United States navy, who rendered to the country
such signal service by his practical knowledge as assistant secretary during
the late war.

William Henry Young Hackett.—One of the last survivors of a school
of lawyers who were at the bar when Jeremiah Mason .and Daniel Webster
appeared of counsel in important causes was William Henry Young Hackett,
who, at the ripe age of seventy-eight, died at Portsmouth, August 9, 1878,
after a continuous practice of more than fifty-two years in duration. Mr.
Hackett was born at Gilmanton, N. H., September 24, 1800. His ancestor

was Capt. William Hackett, of Salisbury, Mass. After receiving an educa-
tion at Gilmanton Academy, Mr. Hackett studied law in his native town
and at Sanbornton Square. In April, 1822, he came to Portsmouth, and
entered the office of Ichabod Bartlett. He was admitted to the bar in

January, 1826, and soon acquired a good practice, which he steadily main-
tained up to the time of his decease. He tried many cases to the jury, was
retained of counsel by corporations, and later in life was largely employed
in the management of trust estates. He had an instinctive knowledge of

how to apply legal principles, and a knowledge, too, of human nature. As
a counselor, though he warmly espoused the cause of his client, he was
prudent and inclined to discourage litigation. He had an excellent memory,
and knew what had been decided in the New Hampshire courts and in

those of the New England States generally; but he is not to be termed a

learned lawyer. He favored the extension of equity practice in New Hamp-
shire, and he lived long enough to see some of his views in this regard

adopted. In 1859 he de_clined a seat upon the bench of the Supreme

Judicial Court.

Portsmouth sent him repeatedly to the Legislature, where he rendered

important service as chairman of the judiciary and on other committees.

In 1861 he was chosen president of the Senate, of which body he had been

assistant clerk in 1824 and clerk in 1828. He was eminently successful in

the management of a bank. As early as 1827 he was made director of the

Piscataqua Bank. When the Piscataqua Exchange Bank was organized in

1845 he became president, and held that office till 1863, when the bank

became the First National Bank of Portsmouth, the presidency of which he

assumed and held till his death. He was also president of the Piscataqua

Savings-Bank, as well as a director in railroad and other corporations.
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Mr. Hackett had some literary accomplishments, and excelled in writing

brief biographies. A memoir of Andrew Halliburton, and a sketch of

Charles W. Brewster, author of "Rambles about Portsmouth" (the latter

being prefixed to the second series of that work), are from his pen. All his

life long Mr. Hackett was public-spirited and devoted to the interests of

the town. His name has thus been identified with the history of Portsmouth

for more than half a century. A memoir of Mr. Hackett (written by his

son Frank W.) was privately printed in 1879, and a copy sent to various

libraries in New England.

Albert Ruyter Hatch was born in Greenland on the loth day of October,

1817. He entered Bowdoin College when quite young, and graduated in

1837. The late Governor John A. Andrew, of Massachusetts, was one of

his classmates.

He immediately came to Portsmouth, and pursued the study of law

with the .late Ichabod Bartlett, who was then known all over the state as

a great lawyer. Here Mr. Hatch, under the direct oversight of Colonel

Bartlett, saw a great deal of practice and hard work, and here he laid the

foundation of those habits of industry and close attention to his chosen

profession which for the past quarter .of a century have made him one of the

foremost, lawyers of our state and a model practitioner.

In 1 84 1 he was admitted to the bar, and was soon in active practice.

In 1847 and 1848 he was a member of the House of Representatives

from Portsmouth, then a town, and in 1848 was appointed solicitor for

the county of Rockingham, and also clerk of the United States Court for

New Hampshire.
Mr. Hatch was in no sense a politician. He was a democrat from

principle, and could never yield his convictions of duty for the sake of
policy or of temporary advantage. He preferred to be right rather than
hold office. Had the democratic party been in power in this state he would
have been a governor and a senator, but though his party was unable to
bestow upon him the honors he deserved, it never ceased to respect and
esteem him, and his advice and counsel .were always heeded.

In 1864 he was a candidate for presidential elector, and in 1868 he was
a member of the Democratic National Convention.

In 1873 his extensive law practice, which had steadily increased, required
a^ll his attention, and he resigned his position as clerk of the United States
Court, having held it for twenty-five years. He then began to devote him-
self wholly to his profession, to which he was so firmly attached, but his
friends urged him to accept again an election to the Legislature, and
against his own judgment he was induced to yield to them, and that year
he was a member of the House, and being again a member in 1874 he was
elected speaker, which position he filled under very trying circumstances
to the general acceptance of all. He was again a member in 1875 ^^^ ^so
in 1876. At the same time he was a member of the Board of Aldermen
and of the High School Committee of this city, and taking a deep interest
in city and school afifairs he was scarcely ever absent from their meetings.
He was a hard worker everywhere he was placed. The various Masonic
bodies of which he was a member also received a share of his time and
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attention, and he soon found himself overwhelmed under the accumulating
burdens imposed upon him.

He was an active member of all the Masonic bodies, and to show the

esteem in which he was held among them it is only necessary to say that

he was elected and served as commander of DeWitt Clinton Commandery
of Knights Templar for twenty-five successive years.

He was a director of the Portsmouth and Dover Railroad, the 'Ports-

mouth Bridge Company, and the Athenseum, and was held in great esteem
by his associate directors. He was a vestryman and prominent member
of the Episcopal Church of this city, and one of the trustees of the new
Christ's Church, in the erection of which he was greatly interested, and
to which he gave much time.

In public life no man ever accused him of fraud, wrong, or dishonor.

As a lawyer he was learned, ready, fortified at every point, quick to perceive

and quick to apply, and of incomparable industry. He was ever true to

his client, and no man employed him who did not receive the benefit of

every faculty that he possessed as well as having, every point in his case

presented in the best shape.

As a scholar he was superior, and his knowledge of books and the best

literature was remarkable. He had a large miscellaneous library of the

choicest works, and his studious habits and retentive memory had made
him familiar with its contents.

In social life he was a gentleman in the truest sense of the word. Digni-

fied in his bearing, he may have appeared to those who did not know him
well cold and indifferent, but to those who really knew him he was a delight-

ful companion, a man to whom one could not fail to be attached, and

from whom one always parted with reluctance. He had many friends,

and those who could call him a friend had no need to go farther to find

the truest friend that ever drew breath. He died March 5, 1882.

Samuel Cushman was born in Hebron, Me., July 21, 1783. His father

was Job Cushman, a descendant from Robert Cushman, who joined the

Pl3nTiouth colony in 1612. After an academic education, he studied law

under the tuition of John Holmes, of Alford, Me., and was admitted to

the York County bar in 1807, and began practice of the law in Maine, vvhere

he was a postmaster during Madison's administration. In May, 1812,

Mr. Cushman was married to Maria J., daughter of John Salter, of Ports-

mouth, and in 1816 he removed to that place, where he resided up to the

time of his death. May 22, 185 1. He filled numerous municipal positions

in Portsmouth between the year 1824 and the time of his death. He was

for five years county treasurer, and for two years a member of the Executive

Council. He was a member of the Twenty-fourth and Twenty-fifth

Congresses from New Hampshire, in the years 1835 to 1839, was postmaster

under the Van Buren administration, and navy agent from 1845 to 1849.

In March, 1850, he was appointed police justice of the City of Portsmouth,

being the first magistrate under the new city charter. This office he held

up to the date of his death. Mr. Cushman was at one time associated in

the practice of the law with the late Charles B. Goodrich. He was con-

scientious in his profession. He discouraged litigation, and oftentimes filled



56 HISTORY OF ROCKINGHAM COUNTY

the position of pacificator rather than that of advocate. He was noted for

his urbanity of manner, his kindness of heart, and his undeviating integrity.

. The foregoing are sketches of lawyers who have been prominent in

profession or poHtical position. There were many of them of perhaps

less celebrity as lawyers, but of whom we can only make mention; of them

were R. Cutts Shannon, clerk of the Federal Courts from May i, 1804,

to 1814; Leverett Hubbard, at one time judge, who died in 1793; Samuel

Hale, Oliver Whipple, who at one time lived in Maine; George Pierce,

who died after a short practice; John Hale; Henry S. Langdon, afterwards

a bank cashier; George W. Prescott, clerk of the United States Courts from

1814 to March, 1817, and who died in 1817; Isaac Lyman, who also prac-

ticed in York; John P. Lord, in practice from 1809 to 181 9; Thomas L.

Elwyn, who practiced but little from 1813 to 1816; James Smith, Jr., who
lived in Portsmouth and Newington, and was more or less in practice from
1820 to 1869; Hampden Cutts, who removed to Hanland, Vt. ; Ichabod

Bartlett Claggett, son of William Claggett, who graduated at Dartmouth
College, read law with l^habod Bartlett, and died March 12, 1861 ; Horace
Webster, son of Hon. Samuel Webster, of Barnstead, who graduated at

Dartmouth College, read law with Albert R. Hatch, and died August 7, 1867,

and John Scrihner Jenness, son of Richard Jenness, who graduated at

Harvard College, was a student in the office of Ichabod Bartlett, practiced

a few years in Portsmouth, removed to New York, and died in Portsmouth,
August 10, 1879; John Hatch, S.W. Emery, and John W. Kelly.

ATKINSON

John Kelly.—Atkinson's only lawyer was John Kelly. He was a native

of the neighboring town of Plaistow, the son of Deacon Simeon Kelly, and
was bom July 22, 1796. He was educated at Atkinson and Exeter academies,
and at Amherst College, where he graduated in 1825. He began the prac-
tice of the law in Plaistow in 1829. In 1832 he took the charge of the Atkinson
Academy, and retained it till 1838; thence he removed to Derry, and was
principal of the Adams Female Academy for nearly four years. In 1841
he rfemoved to Qiester, and resumed the practice of his profession until

1845, when he returned to Atkinson, and there resided until his death, in

January, 1877.

Mr. Kelly was a lawyer of good capacity, but had none of the enthusiasm
for his profession that would have led him into the contests of the courts.
He preferred teaching, and was a good deal employed, especially in later
life, as a land surveyor, in which he greatly excelled. He was a genial
man, fond of social intercourse, and possessed a fund of entertaining anec-
dotes. He was also passionately fond of music, and entered into the spirit
of it with his whole soul. Honest and upright in all his dealings, he deserved
and won the sincere respect and trust of the community.

CHESTER

John Porter, a graduate of Dartmouth College in the class of 1787,
practiced law in Chester from 1790 to 1793, and then removed to Canada.
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Arthur Livermore was the second lawyer of Chester. He was the son
of Judge Samuel Livermore, and was born in Londonderry about the year
1766, came to Chester about 1793, and remained there not far from five

years. He was a representative from Chester in the General Court in

1794 and 1795, and was ai>pointed solicitor for the County of Rockingham
in 1796. In the latter part of 1798 he was made a justice of the Superior
Court, and about that time removed to Holderness, to which place his

subsequent history belongs. He held other important offices, civil and
judicial, and died July i, 1S53, at the age of eighty-seven.

Judge Livermore's mental endowments were of a high order, and must
have been so regarded by his contemporaries to have placed him in the

positions of trust and responsibility in which a large share of his active life

was spent. And this is the more apparent from the fact that his manriers
were not of a popular character, and he took little pains to ingratiate himself
with the people. He was a man of keen wit and quick temper, but he was
honest, and endeavored to discharge his official duties acceptably. He
belonged to a family which long took a distinguished part in public affairs

in the state.

Daniel French was born in Epping, February 22, 1769, a son of Gould
French, a farmer there. He received his education at Phillips' Exeter
Academy, and after studying law with Hon. W. K. Atkinson commenced
practice at Deerfield, but after two years removed to Chester, as successor

to Arthur Livermore on his appointment to the bench. In June, 1808, he

was appointed solicitor of the county, and in February, 181 2, was com-
missioned attorney-general of the state, which office he resigned in 181 5.

He held the office of postmaster thirty-two years, from 1807 to 1839. In

addition to his legal pursuits he took considerable interest in agriculture.

Mr. French was a man of talents and ample professional learning, and

manifested no small share of skill and tact in the management of his busi-

ness. He was faithful to the interest of his clients, even to the extent, as

was the fashion of his time, of being sometimes pretty sharp to his adver-

saries. He was the father of a large and most respectable family of children.

Amos Kent was born at Kent's Island, in Newbury, Mass., in October,

1774. He was fitted for college in part under the celebrated Master Moody,

of Byfield Academy, and graduated at Harvard College in 1795. He read

law with Hon. William Gordon, and was admitted to the bar in 1798. The

next year he opened an office in Chester, where he continued to reside until

his death in 1834.

Mr. Kent was gifted with a fine personal appearance and excellent powers

of mind. He is said to have been a good counselor, but was not successful

as an advocate. He was much fonder of active, outdoor employments than

of the practice of his profession. A born athlete, he was much given to

rough, boisterous sports, shooting matches, etc. He had some aptitude for

political life, and was chosen to the State Senate in the years 1814 and

181 5. But he gave much more time to his farm and to the promotion of

agriculture than was good for his law business or profitable to his pocket.

Samuel Bell was the son of Hon. John Bell, of Londonderry, where he

was born February 9, 1770. He was employed upon his father's farm until
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the age of eighteen, and then commenced his classical studies. Afterwards

he attended the academy at New Ipswich, under the tuition of Hon. John

Hubbard. From Dartmouth College he received his bachelor's degree in

1793, and then pursued his law studies under the direction of Hon. Samuel

Dana, of Amherst, whose daughter he subsequently married. He rose early

to distinction in his profession.

In 1796 he began practice in Francestown, and in 181 2 he removed to

Chester, which afterwards was his home. A large part of his life he passed

in public employment. In 1804 he became a representative in the State

Legislature, and the two following years was speaker of the House. In 1807

he received the appointment of attorney-general of the state, but the salary

attached to the office at that time was so inadequate that he declined it. In

i8d7 and 1808 he was a member of the State Senate, and both years president

of that body. In 1816 he was appointed a judge of the Superior Court,

and so continued till 181 9, when he resigned the place to accept the office

of governor of the state, which he held by successive elections until 1823.

So fully were the people satisfied of his ability and integrity that on his

fourth election to the gubernatorial chair he received in a vote of nearly

twenty-four thousand all but about one thousand of the whole number of

ballots cast. While he held the office of governor, Bowdoin College con-

ferred upon him the degree of Doctor of Laws.
Upon quitting the office of governor Mr. Bell was elected to the United

States Senate for six years, and upon the expiration of that term re-elected

for a like term. Upon leaving his seat in the Senate he retired from public

life, and passed his remaining years upon his farm in Chester, where he
died December 23, 1850.

Mr. Bell was a man of good natural powers, cultivated with diligence,

and accompanied by scrupulous integrity. The long-continued and honorable
public positions conferred upon him are the best proof of the confidence
reposed by his fellow-citizens in his honesty and capacity. He was a tall,

erect, and slender man, of a naturally delicate constitution, which he forti-

fied by exercise and temperance. His manners were dignified and impressive.
His professional learning was ample, and his judgment in public affairs

was regarded as peculiarly sound. It was he to whom Mr. Webster, just
before he delivered his celebrated reply to Hayne, applied to know if the
sentiments which he proposed to enunciate in that speech were in accord
with the views of his party at the North. Senator Bell assured him that
they were. "Then, by the blessing of God," replied Mr. Webster, "the
country shall know my views of the Constitution before this day is over."

Samuel Dana Bell was the son of Hon. Samuel Bell, and was born Octo-
ber 9, 1798. He graduated from Harvard College in the class of 181 6, read
law in the office of Hon. George Sullivan in Exeter, and commenced practice
in 1820. He lived in Chester from 1820 to 1830, and thence removed to
Exeter, where he held the office of cashier of the Exeter Bank till 1836, and
in 1839 he established himself in the growing town of Manchester, and there
remained until his decease, July 31, 1868.

While a resident in Chester he twice represented that town in the General
Court, and in 1823 was appointed solicitor for Rockingham County, which
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office he filled until 1828. In 1830 he was appointed one of the commis-
sioners to revise the statutes of the state, and afterwards received a similar
appointment in 1842, and again in 1867. He was commissioned a judge
of the Court of Common Pleas in 1848, and justice of the Superior Court
in 1849. He held the latter position till 1859, when he was elevated to the
chief justiceship, which office he resigned in 1864. In 1854 he received from
Dartmouth College the degree of Doctor of Laws.

Judge Bell possessed a sound understanding and unwearied patience and
industry. He acquired not merely the learning of his profession in a degree
rarely surpassed, but he made himself thoroughly conversant with every
branch of useful knowledge. It was difficult to broach a subject of prac-
tical importance which he had not studied and had not at his tongue's end;
It was a common remark of those who met with him that his information
was inexhaustible.

He was notably instrumental in promoting education, good order, and
good morals in Manchester, which he saw grow up from a village to a large

and populous city. He was the professional counsel and adviser of the great

companies that built up the place; his recommendations were always heeded
by them, and were productive of much advantage.

Judge Bell was deeply interested in historical studies, and contributed

some valuable papers on the early persons and events of New Hampshire.
He was a constant and stanch supporter of the New Hampshire Historical

Society, of which he held the office of president, and collected much material

for the work upon the history of the courts and bar of the province and
state.

David Pillsbury, son of Benjamin Pillsbury, was born at Raymond,
February 17, 1802, graduated from Dartmouth College in 1827, studied law

with Hon. Henry Hubbard and Hon. Samuel D. Bell, and began practice

in Chester in 1830, and remained there till 1854, when he removed to Con-

cord, where he died May 25, 1862. He was representative two years from
Chester in the Legislature of the state, and was police judge of Concord.

He had a taste for mihtary affairs, and rose to the rank of major-general

of the militia.

He was a man of fair talents, of industry, and of considerable learn-

ing in his profession, but lacked acquaintance with human nature, and

though he prepared his causes carefully, was very liable to be out-generaled

before a jury. He was a bachelor, and was sometimes made the butt of

waggery, as is not un frequently the case with those in like forlorn circum-

stances.

Moody Kent was born in Newbury, Mass., in the year 1779, graduated

at Harvard College in 1801, read law with Hon. William Gordon and

Hon. C. H. Atherton, of Ainherst, was admitted to the bar in 1804, and

the same year settled in practice in Deerfield. He remained there until

1809, when he removed to Concord, in which place and in Pembroke he

spent most of the remainder of his life. He died unmarried February i,

1866, leaving the bulk of his large fortune to the New Hampshire Asylum

for the Insane.

Mr. Kent acquired scholarship and great general information, and was



60 HISTORY OF ROCKINGHAM COUNTY

industrious, methodical, and sagacious. He was a sound lawyer, but did

not practice for many of the later years of his life, his time being occupied

by the care of his large property.

DEERFIELD

Phineas Howe was a native of Hopkinton and the son of Deacon Jotham

Howe. He was a graduate of Dartmouth College, in the class of 1798,

and afterwards was a teacher in Deerfield for five years, studied law, and

opened an office for a short time in Weare,. but returned to Deerfield in

1805, and continued in the practice of his profession there until 1809, when
he returned to Weare. He is believed to have lived afterwards in Maine,

and in the State of New York, where he died. He is understood to have

shown capacity and some literary taste.

Jesse Merrill was a native of Atkinson and a graduate of Dartmouth

College in 1806. He studied law and was admitted in 1812, and com-

menced practice in Deerfield immediately, but remained there but a short

time. He lived afterwards in Bradford, Vt., and died there in 1864, at

the age of seventy-five.

Josiah Butler was a son of Nehemiah Butler, of Pelham, and was born

there December 4, 1779. He graduated from Harvard College in 1803,

and pursued the study of the law under the direction of Hon. Clifton

Clagett, and afterwards in the State of Virginia, where he was admitted

to practice in 1807. He then returned to his native town and pursued his

profession there until 1809, when he removed to Deerfield. He began his

pf'litical life the same year as representative in the State Legislature from
Pelham. In 1810 he was appointed sheriff of Rockingham County, but in

1813, when the opposite political party attained the ascendency, he was
removed by address from the office. This loss was naturally well made
up to him by his political friends when they afterwards came into power.
He was appointed clerk of the Court of Common Pleas, in 181 5 and 1816
he was chosen a representative from Deerfield to the State Legislature,
and in 181 7 he was elected a representative in the Congress of the United
States, where he continued by successive re-elections until 1823. In 182=^

he was appointed an associate justice of the State Court of Common Pleas,
and held the office until 1833, when the courts were remodeled, and after-
wards he received the commission of postmaster of Deerfield, which he con-
tinued to hold until his death, October 29, 1854.

Judge Butler was possessed of superior abilities and of honest purposes;
he was true to his party, of unquestioned integrity and usefulness. As a
lawyer he was attentive to his business, faithful, industrious, and persever-
ing. As a citizen he is spoken of in terms of the highest commendation
by those who knew him best.

Frederic H. Davis was a native of Boston, and was said to have been
educated at the Roman Catholic College in Baltimore. He practiced in
Salem in 1815, and came to Deerfield the next year, but remained only a
year or two.

David Steele, Jr., was a native of Peterborough, and graduated from
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Dartmouth College in 1815. After reading law with Hon. James Wilson,
he commenced practice in Deerfield in 181 8, but remained only a short
time, removing to Gafifstown, where he passed the residue of his life.

Josiah Houghton studied law at the Connecticut Law School and in the

office of Hon. Boswell Stevens, of Pembroke, and on being admitted to the

bar in 1820 set up practice in Deerfield, where he died in 1833. He was
a respectable practitioner and an estimable citizen. His death was the
result of excitement and exposure, caused by the search for a child who had
strayed away from his home.

Ira St. Clair was born in New Hampton, August 9, 1796, read law with
Stephen Moody, Esq., of Gilmanton, and S. C. Lyford, Esq., of Gilford,

and began practice in his native town in 1824. The next year he changed
his residence to Deerfield, where he remained for the rest of his life. In

1848 he received the appointment of judge of probate for the county of

Rockingham, and held it until 1857. He was a lawyer of competent learn-

ing, with a good deal of old-fashioned prudence and caution, and was in

many ways well fitted for the responsible office which he held. His character

was excellent, and he was much respected by the community. He died

April 5, 1875.
Horatio Gates Cilley was a son of Hon. Horatio G. Cilley, of Deerfield,

and was born November 26, 1805. He graduated from Dartmouth College

in 1826, and pursued his law studies under the direction of Hon. George

Sullivan, commencing his professional life in Deerfield in 1830. He was
a lawyer of respectable learning and capacity, and was chosen a representa-

tive of Deerfield in the General Court for the years 185 1 and 1852. Not
long afterwards. he left the state and removed to Lewiston, Me., where he

passed the remainder of his life. His death occurred March 13, 1874.

DERRY

John Porter was born in Bridgewater, Mass., February 26, 1776. He
completed his college course at Dartmouth in 1803, and studied law with

Aaron Hutchinson, Esq., of Lebanon, and in 1806 began to practice in

Derry (then Londonderry). He represented that town in the State Legis-

lature for five years, and the town of Derry for ten years. He was also a

member of one of the commissions to revise the statutes of the state.

Mr. Porter's education and capacity were quite above the average, and

he was esteemed an able and learned counselor. He was engaged in many

contested causes in the courts, though he lacked confidence in his powers

as an advocate, and the most important of them were argued to the jury

by other counsel. He gained the confidence of the community in an unusual

degree, and there is no doubt that he conducted his legal business with

prudence and uncommon skill, and was faithful to the interests of his clients.

He was a tall, impressive-looking man, deliberate in movement and speech,

but with a thorough appreciation of all that was bright and humorous.

James Thorn was born in Londonderry, August 14, 1784, graduated from

Dartmouth College in 1805, studied his profession with Hon. George Sulli-

van and was admitted an attorney in 1808, making Exeter his first resi-
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dence. While there he edited a paper called The Constitutionalist, besides

attending to his law business. In 1815 he changed his residence to his

native town, and remained therb till his death, November 27, 1852. He
was a representative in the Legislature for several years, and took a lead-

ing part therein. About 1828 he was instrumental in obtaining the charter

of a bank in Derry, and became its cashier, after which he gave little time

to his profession.

He was a bright, ready man, of popular manners, and sang a good song
in the old-fashioned convivial assemblies of the bar. He was public-spirited

and took much interest in every movement for the benefit of his town. Few
men have passed through life with the more general esteem and regard of
all parties than Mr. Thom.

David Aiken Gregg, a native of Londonderry, was born March 12,

1788, and died at Derry, May 15, 1866. He was a graduate of Dartmouth
College in 181 1, and began the practice of law in Londonderry in 1814,
removed to Salem in 181 7, and returned to Londonderry in 1820. In 1832
he was representative in the State Legislature, and state senator in 1840
and 1841. He was also postmaster of Derry, and register of probate from
1842 lo 1847, during which time he resided in Exeter.

Mr. Gregg manifested no little of the sagacity and wit which character-
ized his Scotch-Irish ancestors. He was never largely engaged in the courts,
but conducted a quiet, useful business to the satisfaction of those who
employed him.

Thornton Betton, a son of Hon. Silas Betton, was born. in Salem in the
year 1800, and died there September i, 1841. He graduated from Dart-
mouth College in 1820, studied law with James Thom, Esq., and set up in
his profession in Salem, from which town he was sent as representative to
the General Court for two or three years. In 1830 he changed his resi-
dence to Derry, and that town also he represented in. the Legislature.

Mr. Betton possessed talents, and during his rather brief career made
something of a figure. It is believed, however, that his judgment and bal-
ance were not equal to his enterprise.

Edward Pinkerton Parker, son of Rev. Edward L. Parker, was born
in Londonderry, April 18, 181 6. Graduating from Dartmouth College in
1836, he taught in the Pinkerton Academy and studied law for two years,
and was admitted to practice in 1839, establishing himself in Derry. From
1843 to 1847 he was principal of the Adams Female Academy there, and
then removed to Merrimac, where he formed a connection in business' with
Hon. James U. Parker. In 1853 he bade adieu to the law and engaged in
manufacturmg. He died in Merrimac.

Joseph A. Gregg was the son of Hon. David A. Gregg, of Derry. He
studied law m his father's office, and commenced practice in Derry about
1842. In 1850 he was a member of the convention to revise the constitution
of the state, and the youngest of that body. He was a man of promising
Ulents, and had he been spared gave every indication of rising to eminenceHe died September 9, 1854, at the early age of thirty-one. An obituary
notice mentions the fact of his holding the office of postmaster, and being
one of the prominent and enterprising citizens of his town.
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John Porter, Jr., was a son of John Porter, Esq., of Londonderry. He
studied law under the direction of his father, and entered practice in 1837
at Bedford as the partner of Jonas B. Bowman, Esq. Two years after-

wards they removed to Manchester. Mr. Porter at a later date entered
into trade in Manchester. Afterwards, about 1858, he returned to Derry
and resumed his law practice. He was irregular in his habits, and his law
business dwindled, and at length, without notice to his friends, he went to
Enfield and joined himself to the Society of Shakers there. He became
a leading member of the sect, and was for several years engaged as their

business agent, acquitting himself quite to their satisfaction. He died among
them in 1875.

EPl'ING

William Plumer filled no small space in the legal and political history

of the state. His native place was Newbury, Mass., where he was born

June 25, 1859, but when he was but nine years of age his father, Samuel
Plumer, became a citizen of Epping, in this state, where his son ever after-

wards resided.

William attended the schools of the neighborhood while assisting his

father on the farm until he was seventeen, after which he had no instructor

except while acquiring his legal education. But he was a great reader, and
had an active mind and a retentive memory. His first essay in life was
as a preacher of the Baptist denomination when he was just reaching his

majority; but before long his opinions changed, and he resolved to study

law. His instructors were Hon. Joshua Atherton, of Amherst, and Hon.

John Prentice, of Londonderry, though he gave little credit to the latter.

Mr. Plumer was admitted to practice in 1787, having previously served

in the office of selectman of Epping and representative in the State Legis-

lature. The latter office he held for eight years, and was speaker in 1791

and 1797. In 1798 he received the commission of solicitor for Rocking-

ham County. In June, 1802, he was chosen to fill the vacancy in the Senate

of the United States caused by the resignation of James Sheafe, and held

his seat until March, 1807.

He was chosen a State Senator in 1810 and 181 1, and presided over the

Senate both of those years. He was elected governor of .the state in 1812,

and again in 1816, 1817, and 1818. This was the end of his public service,

though he survived until December 23, 1850. For the remainder of his

life he lived in retirement on his farm, surrounded by his family, and

deriving great enjoyment from his large and well-selected library and from

his literary labors. He wrote and published various essays of a historical,

practical character, and prepared and left in manuscriiDt a series of valuable

biographical sketches of Americans of note of his own and earlier times.

These would have been given to the public had not the various biographical

dictionaries and works of a similar character occupied so fully the field of

his labors.

As a lawyer Governor Plumer was dihgent, careful, and sagacious. He
won his laurels among no mean competitors, the bar of Rockingham and
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Stratford Counties during the period of his active practice containing some

of the foremost lawyers of their time in the country. In all the relations

of life he was respected, even by those whose sympathies were, by reason

of political disagreement, turned most widely in other directions.

William Plumer, Jr., son of the preceding, was born in Epping, Febru-

ary 9, 1789, was a student in Phillips' Exeter Academy and in Harvard

College, whose diploma he received in 1809. He completed his legal studies

under the tuition of his father in 1812, and was admitted to the bar, but

he never could be styled an active practitioner. He was essentially a student,

and was far more interested in literary work and in public questions than in

the pursuits of his profession.

In 1816 he was appointed United States commissioner of loans for the

State of New Hampshire, and as such resided in Portsmouth for above a

year, and until the office was abolished. In 181S he was chosen a repre-

sentative in the State Legislature, and the same year was elected a repre-

sentative in the Congress of the United States, where he remained by suc-

cessive re-elections for six years. In 1824 he was chosen, on the part of

the New Hampshire Senate, United States Senator, but the House failed

to concur. In 1827 and 1828 he was a member of the New Hampshire

Senate, and in 1827 he declined the appointment of United States district

attorney. After this Mr. Plumer appeared seldom in public, though he

occasionally took part in popular meetings and on occasions of unusual

interest. He lived in much domestic happiness at his home in Epping, and

employed himself in reading and in literary composition. Several poems of

his were published, and others privately' printed for distribution among his

many friends. He also prepared a valuable biography of his father. His
last public labors were in the State Constitutional Convention of 1850-51,

and he died three years later^ September 18, 1854.

Hiram Osgood was a native of Loudon, and commenced the law busi-

ness in Epping about 1823. After remaining there about a dozen years,

during which time he sustained a highly respectable character, he emigrated

to Michigan, where he died in 1840.

Enoch Bartlett was a son of Hon. Bradbury 'Bartlett, of Nottingham,
and commenced practice in Epping about 1845, but remained there only a

couple of years before he went to Lawrence, Mass., and opened an office.

He was quite a successful practitioner, and was elected mayor of the city,

but died in 1855.

James McMnrphy was a partner of the preceding, and continued in busi-

ness in Epping after Mr. Bartlett's departure until his death, about 1855.
Mr. McMurphy was a man of decided ability, had gained a respectable posi-

tion as a lawyer, and was a growing man at the time of his decease, which
occurred while he was only in middle age.

EXETER

Nicholas Ferryman. The first educated lawyer in Exeter was Nicholas
Ferryman, a native of Devonshire, England, born December 24, 1692. He
came to this country young, after the death of his parents, married Joanna,
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daughter of Stephen Dudley, about 1717, and was in practice in Exeter
between 1720 and 1730. His name appears pretty frequently in suits after

that date, and he did much of the conveyancing of his time. In 1744 and
1746 he appeared in behalf of Exeter in divers contested matters wherein
the town was interested. He was evidently a leading man, and took a promi-
nent part in the affairs of the community.

He had several children, only one of whom arrived at maturity, Joanna,
who married Noah Emery, Esq. Mr. Ferryman died August 9, 1757.

Noah Emery was a son of Daniel Emery, of Kittery, Me., and was born
December 23, 1725. He studied law with Nicholas Ferryman, Esq., whose
son-in-law he became, and was in practice in Exeter before 1769. Dur-
ing the Revolutionary war he occupied important and confidential positions

in the new government. He was repeatedly chosen delegate from Exeter to

the Provincial Congress, and was made clerk thereof, and acted on the

committee to draw up a form of government for the colony. He was
appointed clerk of the Court of Common Pleas in 1776, and continued to

hold the office till 1787, near the time of his death, and was succeeded in

the office by his son, who bore the same name.
William Parker, Jr., was the son of Hon. William Parker, of Ports-

mouth, an eminent judge of the Superior Court. He was born in 1731,

graduated frgm Harvard College in 1751, and was admitted to the bar in

1765. Commencing practice in Exeter, he succeeded his father as register

of probate in 1776, and discharged the duties of the office until his death

in 1813. He was also appointed a judge of the Court of Common Fleas

in 1790, and served in that capacity until 1807.

Judge Parker was respectably learned in his profession, and through

his long life did much business in it, but on account of constitutional diffi-

dence appeared little in the courts. It is said he never argued a cause to

the court or jury, but he was an excellent conveyancer and a safe and

judicious counselor, and found abundant professional occupation outside the

courts. He was a man of bright parts and unbending integrity, and though

he looked after his clients' interests faithfully, was very easy towards his

own debtors. He died June 5, 1813.

Oliver Peabody, eldest son of a farmer of the same name, was born in

Andover, Mass., September 2, 1753, graduated at Harvard College at the

age of twenty, studied law with Hon. Theophilus Parsons, of Newbury,

Mass., and settled in Exeter about 1781. He was soon brought into public

notice. He received the appointment of solicitor August 6, 1789, was

elected state senator in 1790, and the same year was constituted judge of

probate for the County of Rockingham, which office he filled until June,

1793. In 1793 and 1794 he was again a member of the State Senate, and

in the latter year president of that body. Being chosen state treasurer

he resigned the office of senator, and continued in the former office for nine

years. In 1805 he was appointed sheriff of the County of Rockingham,

and discharged the duties of the position for five years. In 181 3 he was

again chosen to the Senate, and was its presiding officer, and the same year

was made a justice of the Court of Common Pleas for the Eastern Circuit,

holding the position until 181 6. Three times he was chosen an elector of
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President of the United States, viz., in 1796, 1800, and 1808. He died

August 3, 183 1.
, J

Judge Peabody was gifted with excellent natural advantages, improved

by study and cultivation. In all the various official positions which he sus-

tained he exhibited the capacity and qualities needed for their satisfactory

administration. He was not a contentious lawyer, and rarely took part iri

the trial of causes in court, but he drew many writs and conducted a large

office business to the contentment of his clients. He was formed by nature

for popularity. Handsome in person, graceful in manner, with a mild

temper and a social disposition, he won the regard and conciliated the good

will of all. He could not have an enemy. His name naturally suggested

itself for new positions of trust, and while few objected, he attracted warm
friends and zealous partisans, who easily carried his election or appoint-

ment, so that a large portion of his active life was spent in the service of

the public. He was the father of an interesting and gifted family, on

whose education he spared no expense, and in whose society he enjoyed the

chief happiness of his later years.

Nathaniel Parker, son of Judge William Parker, Jr., was born in East

Kingston, October 22, 1760, and studied law in the office of his father,

settling in practice at Exeter. He represented that town in the Legislature,

and after performing the functions of deputy secretary of st^ate for some
years was then made secretary in 1809. He died in 1812, leaving no

descendants.

George Sullivan, a native of Durham, and a son of Gen. John Sullivan

of the Revolution, was born August 29, 1771, and was a graduate of

Harvard Cdlege, of the class of 1 791. He prepared himself for his pro-

fession under the tuition of his father, and made Exeter his home. He
was appointed solicitor for Rockingham County in 1802, and held the office

till 1805. In 181 1 he was elected a member of Congress for two years, and
in 1814 and 181 5 he was chosen to a seat in the New Hampshire Senate.

Before this time, in 1805, he had received the appointment to the state

attorney-generalship,—^which for three generations has been held long and
creditably in the Sullivan family,—and occupied it for two years. After-

wards, in 181 5, he was reappointed and administered the office for twenty
years more. He resigned the place in 1835, on the passage of a law increas-

ing the salary but prohibiting the incumbent from engaging in practice in

civil causes. Mr. Sullivan's services were in too much demand by suitors

to allow him to confine his attention solely to the criminal business. He
died April 14, 1838, highly respected throughout the state. His private,

professional, and public character were alike unblemished. His intellectual

capacity, his legal acquirements, and his honorable course of practice placed
him in the foremost rank of New Hampshire lawyers, while the charms of
his sweet voice, his graceful gesticulation, and his eloquent periods gave
him a great advantage over his less favored competitors. Though of ardent
temperament, and never shunning a contest, he was as ready to forgive as
to take offense; the only unpardonaible sin in his eyes was mean and under-
hand dealings. He was above all tricks and artifices. The traditions of
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his career that yet linger in the bar are all as creditable to his high sense
of professional honor as to his mental force and moving eloquence.

Solon Stevens, born in Charlestown, October 3, 1778, graduated from
Dartmouth College in 1798, read law with Hon. Benjamin West, and settled

in Exeter in 1804. He remained there but a few years, when he removed
to Boston, and soon returned to his native town, where he died August
29, 1809.

Jeremiah Smithy a son of William Smith, was born in Peterborough,
November 29, 1759. He entered Harvard College in 1777, and about the
same time served for two months in the army, being present and wounded
at the battle of Bennington. He afterwards migrated to Rutgers College,
in New Jersey, and graduated in 1780. He was for a time engaged in

teaching, and then studied law, entering the bar in 1786, and establishing

himself in his native town. He was sent as representative to the Legisla-
ture in 1788, 1789, and 1790, and as delegate to the State Constitutional

Convention in 1791-92. In 1790 he was chosen representative in the United
States Congress, and served until he resigned his seat to accept the appoint-

ment of United States district attorney for New Hampshire in 1797. The
same year he changed his residence to Exeter. In 1800 he was commis-
sioned judge of probate for Rockingham County, and discharged the duties

of the position about two years. In 1801 he received from President Adams
the appointment of United States circuit judge and entered upon its duties,

but in a few months the law which established the court was repealed and
his office terminated. In 1802 he was elevated to the dignity of chief

justice of the Superior Court of the State, and administered the office with

eminent ability until his resignation, on account of ill health, in 1809. The
next year he was elected governor of New Hampshire, and held the office

for one year. He was replaced as chief in 181 3 upon the bench of the

highest state court, and continued as such until 18 16, when a radical change

of the judicial system of the state resulted in the removal of all the judges.

For a few years after this Judge Smith returned to the bar, and then about

1820 retired from active practice. The honorary degree of Doctor of Laws
was conferred upon him by Dartmouth College in 1804, and by Harvard in

T807. He continued to live in Exeter till 1842, and then removed to Dover,

where he died September 21st in the same year.

Judge Smith's intellect was vigorous, his learning great, and his per-

ceptions keen. He was an admirable lawyer, and enjoyed a large and lucra-

tive practice in four counties for some years; but he studied and trained

himself for the judicial office, and there he shone conspicuous. He had

abundant professional learning, patience, and sound sense, besides fine dis-

crimination and a sense of justice that was rarely at fault. Some of his

opinions have been recently published in a volume, and, though mere skele-

tons and without revision, they constitute a valuable addition to the juridical

literature of the state.

Many anecdotes of Judge Smith's ready wit are told by those who
remember him. It was keen as an arrow, but left no sting behind. As a

citizen and a neighbor his society was greatly valued. He manifested an

interest in everything that made for the benefit and credit of his "town. He
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was a trustee and treasurer of the Phillips Academy for many years; he

was active in promoting the formation of a lyceum, and prepared lectures

for it; he delivered an interesting and valuable historical discourse on the

occasion, of the two hundredth anniversary of the settlement of Exeter.

Few men have left the record of a long life so unsullied.

Joseph Tilton was bom in East Kingston in August, 1774, and graduated

at Harvard College in the class of 1797. Studying law with Hon. Jeremiah

Smith, he commenced practice in Wakefield soon after 1800, and removed

to Rochester about 1805. In 1809 he opened on office in Exeter, where

he thenceforward resided. For nine years in succession, from 1815 to

1823, inclusive, he represented Exeter in the General Court, a fact which

is significant of the trust reposed in his ability and honesty by his fellow-

citizens. He practiced his profession in the days of Mason and Webster,

. Sullivan and Bartlett, and other men of mark in the law, and maintained

among them a creditable standing for learning and capacity. He was esteemed

and respected by all, and his social qualities were highly valued by those

who knew him best. Judge Richardson, who had a keen appreciation of

humor, maintained the pleasantest relations with Mr. Tilton, and enjoyed

many a hearty laugh at his quaint stories and bright repartees. Mr. Tilton

died March 28, 1856, at the advanced age of eighty-one years.

Jothani Lawrence was a son of David Lawrence, of Epping. He received

his early education at the Phillips Exeter Academy, which he entered in

1793, and prepared himself for admission to the bar. in the office of Hon.
George Sullivan. He Hved to be the oldest member of the Rockingham bar.

and died in Exeter, November 6, 1863, aged eighty-seven years.

Jeremiah Fellowes was a native of Exeter, and a graduate from Bow-
doin College in the class of 1810. He went through his preparatory studies

under the eye of Hon. George Sullivan, and opened an office in Exeter in

1813. He was a young man of talents, and was the author of a volume of

poems of some merit. He became in early life the victim of mental disease,

from which he never recovered.

George Lamson, a son of Gideon Lamson, of Exeter, was a graduate
from Bowdoin College in 1812, and began to practice in his native place

three years after. He became interested in the publication of a newspaper
and of some law books, and was the proprietor of the Exeter Watchman
from 1819 to 1821, He subsequently engaged in the business of a book-
seller in New York, and died there in 1826, aged thirty-two years.

William Smith was a son of Hon. Jeremiah Smith, and was born in

Exeter about 1800. He graduated from Harvard College in 1817, and com-
menced the practice of the law in Exeter in 1821. He was chosen a repre-
sentative of the town in the Legislatures of 1822, '23, '24, and 1825. He
was a young man of high promise, of fine literary taste, and of many
accomplishments. He was the author of two pamphlets of merit, one
"Remarks on the New Hampshire Toleration Act," the other "On the Assas-
sination of Julius Caesar." His health failed at an early age, and he sought
for relief in a milder climate, but in vain, for he died unmarried March
29, 1830. .

Oliver William Bourne Peabody was a son of Hon. Oliver Peabody, born
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in Exeter, July 7, 1799, and educated at the Phillips Exeter Academy and
Harvard College, from which he graduated in 181 6. He was for a while
a teacher in the academy in his native town, then studied law and entered
into practice there. He was a representative of the town in the Legisla-
ture from 1823 to 1830, eight years successively. In the latter year he took
up his residence in Boston. In 1835 he was one of the representatives of
that city in the General Court, and in 1836 was appointed register of pro-
bate for the County of Suffolk. He afterwards studied for the ministry,
and was settled over the Unitarian Society in Burlington, Vt., and died,
unmarried, July 5, 1848.

He was gifted with uncommon talents, and his literary acquirements
were of the highest character. He was the author of several poems and
addresses which were much admired. His character was singularly pure
and amiable, and attracted to him a wide circle of friends.

John Sullivan was a son of Hon. George Sullivan, of Exeter. He went
through the course of studies at the academy in his native town, and pur-
sued his law-reading under his father's direction. On being admitted to the
bar, about 1822, he chose Exeter as his place of business. In 1828 he received
his first appointment as county solicitor, and performed the duties of the

ofifice for two terms (ten years). He was then commissioned judge of
probate for the County of Rockingham, and so remained till 1848. In 1849
the appointment of attorney-general for the state was conferred on him,
and he retained that position as long as he lived. He died November 17,

1862, aged sixty-two years.

Judge Sullivan had a great share of the hereditary talent that character-

ized his family. He was a sound aod careful lawyer, but he was particularly

distinguished for his power as an advocate before the jury. He argued
questions of fact with force, and frequently with eloquence, his well-rounded

periods and musical voice reminding his elder hearers strikingly of his father.

His feelings were quick and impulsive, but he was honest, honorable, and high-

minded. The important and responsible offices which he filled for so large

a portion of his life were ably and impartially administered. No man ever

justly questioned his truthfulness or his integrity.

Samuel Taylor Gilman, a son of Hon. Nathaniel Gilman, of Exeter,

received his academical education at Harvard College, graduating in 181 9.

After studying law in the office of Hon. George Sullivan, he established

himself in practice in Exeter about 1826. He delivered a Fourth of July

address in his native town which gained him much credit; and he was a

representative in the General Court from Exeter in 1829. He was a young

man of fine capacity and amiable character, and the future seemed full of

promise to him, but death cut short his career when he had attained the age

of thirty-four years.

James Bell, a son of Hon. Samuel Bell, was born in Francestown on the

13th of November, 1804, and graduated at Bowdoin College in 1822. Halv-

ing prepared himself for his profession in the office of his brother, Hon.

Samuel D. Bell, and at the law school in Litchfield, Conn., he entered into

practice first at Gilmanton in 1825. After staying there about six years,

he selected Exeter as his residence, where he continued for fifteen years,
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enjoying a large, important, and lucrative practice in Rockingham and Straf-

ford counties. During this period he was engaged in nearly every cause

of magnitude which arose in that section of the state. His competitors at

the bar were strong and learned men, but perhaps none of them—certainly

none of his years—was his superior in all the qualities that go to make up

an accomplished and successful lawyer.

In 1846 he was a member of the Legislature, and in the same year received

a valuable appointment which caused him to remove to Gilford, of which

place he continued a resident until his decease. While living there he was

chosen a delegate to the State Constitutional Convention of 1850, and was

one of its most prominent and influential members. In March, 1855, he

was chosen a senator of the United States for six years, but he did not live

to complete the term. His death occurred May 26, 1857. He was a man
of unblemished character and of high and honorable attainments.

John Kelly, son of Rev. William Kelly, and bom at Warner, March 7,

1786, was a graduate of Dartmouth College in the class of 1804. After

studying law he was admitted to practice in 1808, and chose Northwood as

his home. He was a representative from that town in the General Court.

In 1 814 he resided for a year in Concord, and had editorial charge of the

Concord Gazette. In 1831 he went to Exeter to live, having accepted

the appointment of register of probate, which he held until 1842. In 1846
and 1847 he was a member of the Executive Council of the state. Mr. Kelly

was for many years the editor of the Exeter News-Letter, and contributed

to its columns a series of articles of much historical and genealogical value.

He was distinguished for his antiquarian tastes, and his reputation ranks
high among the New Hampshire scholars in that department of learning.

He was a witty writer, and contrived to lend an interest to subjects generally

to ordinary readers dry and forbidding. He died in Exeter, November 3, i860.

Amos Tuck was born in Parsonsfield, Me., August 2, 1810; pursued his

preparatory studies at the academies in Effingham and in Hampton, and in

1835 graduated from Dartmouth College. He then became an instructor

in Pembroke Academy, and subsequently the preceptor of the Hampton
.'\cademy, and at the same time devoted his leisure hours to law study,

which he completed in the office of Hon. James Bell at Exeter, and on
being admitted to the bar became his partner in business. The firm during
the entire period of its existence enjoyed a large and important business in

and out of the courts. Mr. Tuck began life as a democrat in politics, but
came out into the free-soil party in the movement which brought Hon. John
P. Hale into prominence. In 1847 he was elected to Congress by the whig
and free-soil voters of his district, and was twice re-elected, serving six
full years.

When Mr. Lincoln became president, he gave to Mr. Tuck, an old con-
gressional friend, the position of naval officer in Boston, and reappointed
him in 1865. It was an important and lucrative office. Mr. Tuck, after
Mr. Bell removed from Exeter, had formed a law partnership with Hon.
William W. Stickney, and subsequently with his son-in-law, Francis O.
French, Esq., but after holding the office of naval officer gave up his law
business and devoted his attention to other affairs. He received from the
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directors of the Atlantic and Pacific Railroad the appointment of selling
agent of their lands, and for some years passed most of his time in the west
in that employment; and he gave much attention to other enterprises away
from his home. He also traveled in Europe considerably.

He died in Exeter, December ii, 1879, of apoplexy. Mr. Tuck was of
an active temperament, and felt an interest in many things. In his town
he took a prominent part in every movement, religious, educational, and
political. He was concerned as president of the board of trustees in the
shaping of the Robinson Seminary, and he served many years as a trustee
of the Phillips Exeter Academy and of Dartmouth College. He was liberal

in his dealings, and kind and charitable to the poor and needy.
As a lawyer he was ready, adroit, and famihar with human nature. He

was faithful to his clients, and managed their business with sagacity and
success. In his addresses to the court and jury he spoke pointedly, per-

suasively, and with effect. From early life he assumed a leading position,

and throughout his three-score years and ten exerted a large influence about
him. His death deprived the county of one of its best known and most
important citizens.

Samuel Hubbard Stevens was born in East Kingston, November .20,

1802. He graduated from Dartmouth College in 1830, and after completing

his professional study began practice in Bristol, and afterwards removed
to Lawrence, and thence to Exeter, where he was cashier of the Granite

State Bank from 1849 to 1858. Subsequently he took up his residence in

Concord, having retired from active business, and made it his home for

the remainder of his life.

Timothy Farrwr, Jr., was born in New Ipswich, March 17, 1778, and

was the son of Hon. Timothy Farrar. Ii^ 1807 he took his bachelor's degree

at Dartmouth College, and entered the office of Hon. Daniel Webster as

a student-at-law. He began practice in Portsmouth about 181 3 as law

partner of his preceptor, and continued there after Mr. Webster's removal

to Boston until 1822, when he went to Hanover to reside. In . 1824 he

was appointed a judge of the Court of Common Pleas, and so continued

until the abolition of that court in 1833. He then resumed his residence in

Portsmouth till 1836, when he assumed the duties of cashier of a bank in

Exeter. There he remained till 1844, and then removed to Boston, of which

city he was a representative in the General Court of 1854. In 1867 he was

honored with the degree of Doctor of Laws from his Alma Mater. He died

in Boston, October 27, 1874.

It was said of Judge Farrar that he was "pre-eminently a safe adviser."

He was a man of much learning, general as well as professional. A number

of works were the product of his pen, chiefly upon legal and constitutional

subjects. He edited the "Report of the Dartmouth College Case" in 1819.

In later life he published a "Review of the Dred Scott Decision," and

several other minor essays, but his chief work was the "Manual of the

Constitutional," which has elicited the high commendation of some of our

most eminent scholars and constitutional lawyers.

Melburn F. Eldridge was in practice in Exeter as an attorney-at-law

from about 1845 to 1849, a part of that time having an office at Newmarket.
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He then removed to Nashua, and afterwards, it is believed, to Milford,

where he continued till his decease, about 1854.

John Sullivan Wells, a descendant of Gen. John Sullivan, of the Revolu-

tion, was born in Durham, and passed his early childhood there. He first

learned the trade of a cabinet-maker, and earned enough by it to enable

him to acquire a fair education. He studied law in Vermont and began
practice there, but removed to Lancaster, N. H., in 1837, where he at

once received the appointment of county solicitor and retained it for ten

years. From 1839 to 1842 he was a representative from Lancaster in the

Legislature, and in 1841 was chosen speaker of the House. About 1846 he
changed his residence to Exeter. In January, 1847, he was commissioned
attorney-general of the state, but resigned the position after a few months.
In 185 1 and 1852 he was a member of the State Senate, and president
thereof both years.' In January, 1855, he was appointed by the governor
United States senator to fill the vacancy occasioned by the death of Hon.
Moses Morris, and occupied his seat until March 4th. He was subsequently
a candidate for governor of the State and for senator in Congress. He died
August I, i860, at the age of fifty-six years.

Ml"- Wells was gifted with many of the essentials of a successful lawyer
and politician. He had a fine person, pleasing manners, readiness and
fluency of speech, and a most melodious voice. In many of these respects he
inherited the qualities which gave the Sullivans for several generations
their prominent standing at the bar. Mr. Wells had the confidence of his
party and of his clients in a remarkable degree. His professional business
was large and lucrative, and but for the change that took place in the
political complexion of the state at the period when his name was put
forward he would have probably enjoyed more of her highest honors.

Ehen Franklin Tucke was a native of Kensington, born February 16,
1822. He was a graduate of Dartmouth College in. 1843, and pursued his
professional studies with Messrs. Bell & Tuck in Exeter and at the Harvard
Law School, and began to practice in Exeter in 1846. His abilities were
excellent, and his social qualities rendered him a general favorite. The
later years of his life were shaded by illness, which put a period to his earthly
existence May 30, 1857.

Alva Wood was a native of Georgetown, Mass. He received an academ-
ical education, and came to Exeter about 1847 and made it his lifelong
home. He studied law in the office of Messrs. Bell & Tuck, and entered
into practice about 1849. He was active and assiduous, and gathered a
very considerable business, which continued up to about a year before his
decease, when his health began to fail. He died suddenly February 17
1878, aged fifty-seven years. He was a man of talents, who had made
his own way to respectability and competence ; was public-spirited and een-
erally esteemed. ^

Moses Morris Collins, a native of Brentwood, born in April 1820 com
pleted his law studies m the office of Gen. Gilman Marston, and was admittedm 1857. He had previously, in 1855, represented Brentwood in the General
Court He remained in the same office with General Marston. and subse-
quently became his partner. The considerable business of the office he
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managed successfully while General Marston was absent in Congress and
in the army. In 1861 and 1862 Mr. Collins was a representative from
Exeter to the Legislature, and in the summer of 1863 he was appointed
lieutenant-colonel of the Eleventh New Hampshire Volunteers, and proceeded
to the seat of war. He was shot dead in the battle of the Wilderness,
May 6, 1864.

Gilman Marston is a native of Oxford; his ancestors lived in Hampton.
He took his degree of A.B. at Dartmouth College in 1837; the same institu-

tion conferred the degree of LL.D. upon him in 1882. He began practice

in Exeter in 1841. In 1845, 1846, and 1847 he was a representative of
that town in the State Legislature, and has been so a number of years since.

He was a member of the Thirty-sixth, Thirty-seventh, and Thirty-ninth

Congresses of the United States. In 1861 he was commissioned colonel

of the Second New Hampshire Volunteers, and was severely wounded at

the battle of Bull Run. In 1862 he received the commission of brigadier-

general, and served nearly to the close of the war. He died July 3, 1890.

Hon. William Weir Stickney was born in Enfield, N. H., June 24, 1801.

He was the son of Daniel and Sarah (Morse) Stickney, and is a descendant

in the sixth generation of William Stickney, the emigrant, who came from
Frampton, Lincolnshire, England, about 1637, to Boston, Mass., and became
one of the first settlers of Bowley, Mass. Daniel Stickney was a farmer,

a soldier in the Revolution, enjoyed to a marked extent the confidence of

the community, and for years was justice of the peace.

William W. received his preparatory education for college at Kimball

Union Academy, and entered Dartmouth College in 1819, and was grad-

uated from that institution in 1823. He read law with Hon. Henry B.

Chase, of Warner, N. H., and was admitted to the bar at Concord, N. H.,

in 1826. After one year's practice of law in Concord, he removed to New
Market, N. H., and established himself there as an attorney in July, 1827.

Here he remained until October, 1847. when he moved to Exeter, N. H.,

and engaged in his profession in company with Hon. Amos Tuck. This

copartnership continued until 1856. Since then he has been alone in prac-

tice. In his profession no lawyer could have been more diligent, attentive,

or faithful. During his exceptionally long period of practice he has missed

attending but one term of court, and that was by reason of illness.

Mr. Stickney has served four terms as representative in the State Legis-

lature,—three from New Market (1839, 1840, 1841) and one from Exeter

( 1854). He was appointed United States district attorney for the district

of New Hampshire by President Taylor, June 21, 1849, and held that

position until the administration was changed by the election of Franklin

Pierce in 1853. In 1857 he was appointed judge of probate for Rockingham

County, and held that office until disqualified by age. He is president of the

Bar Association of Rockingham County, and has held that position for a

long term of years, being elected October 19, i860, and is the oldest prac-

ticing lawyer in this county, if not in the state. He has been connected with

many business enterprises, is now president of Exeter Machine-Works, was

chosen director of the Granite Bank in 1848, and was continued as such

in its successor, the National Granite Bank. He has been a member of
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the Masonic Order since 1829, and now holds membership in "Star in the

East" Lodge in Exeter.

Mr. Stickney married November 5, 1850, Frances A., daughter of Clark

Hough, of Lebanon, N. H. Of their three children two daughters now
survive.

In private life Judge Stickney is especially characterized by modest and

unassuming manners, strong social feeling, and warm friendship for a large

circle of devoted friends. In public life he has ever been the courteous

gentleman to all, and a faithful and devoted servant to public interests. As
a lawyer he is thorough and painstaking, his attainments being rather solid

than brilliant, and he is well regarded by, and enjoys the esteem of, the

members of the bar for both ability and thoroughness. In his judicial

office he was upright and conscientious, just in his decisions, and careful in

his investigations.

Charles Henry B'ell was the son of Governor John and Persis (Thom)
Bell, and the youngest of a family of ten children. He was born November
18, 1823, in Chester, Rockingham County. After acquiring the benefits

afforded by the schools of his native town he entered the academy at Pem-
broke, where, and at Phillips Exeter Academy, he fitted for college, and
graduated from Dartmouth in 1844. On leaving college he commenced
the study of law, first with Bell & Tuck in Exeter, and subsequently con-
tinued with his cousin, Hon. Samuel Dana Bell, one of the most eminent
lawyers in the state, and who for five years held the office of chief justice

of New Hampshire. On his admission to the bar young Bell commenced
practice in his native town of Chester, but the field of labor was far too
small for a young man at all ambitious, and he began to look about him for
an opening. He selected Great Falls, where he formed a partnership with
Nathaniel Wells, a sound lawyer and a successful business man. The firm
of Wells & Bell enjoyed a fair share of business, which was constantly
increasing, but after several years' practice at the Strafford bar Mr. Bell
removed to Exeter. Able lawyers were never scarce in Exeter, and to most
young men the prospects of success would have seemed discouraging. As
a student Mr. Bell had profited largely by association with the best lawyers
of the time. He entered actively into practice, and in 1856 he was appointed
solicitor of Rockingham County. For ten years he continued to discharge
the duties of this office, and to manage a large civil business besides.

Governor Bell first entered politics as a member of the House of Repre-
sentatives at Concord in 1858, and in his first term was made chairman of
the Judiciary Committee, an honor that is rarely conferred on new members.
He was re-elected to the Legislature in 1859, and again in i860, in which
latter year he was chosen speaker.

In 1863 and 1864 he was elected to the State Senate, and during the
latter year served as president of that body. In 1872 and i8,?'7, he was
agam chosen to the House. Mr. Bell was president of the Republican State
Convention of 1878, where his address proved the keynote to a successful
campaign. In 1879 he was appointed United States senator for the special
session of "that year by Governor Prescott, to take the place of Mr Wadleigh
whose term of office had expired. He was admitted to his seat April loth'
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after a long debate on the constitutional right of the governor to make the
appointment.

In the Republican State Convention of 1880 the delegates, with an
unanimity never before equaled, selected him as their candidate for governor.
Their opponents were preparing for an aggressive campaign with a most
popular nominee for the presidency, and their prospective candidate for

gubernatorial honors was regarded as simply invincible. After a canvass
probably never equaled for thoroughness on both sides, Mr. Bell was trium-

phantly elected, receiving the largest number of votes ever polled for any
candidate of any party at a New Hampshire state election.

Governor Bell devoted much time to historical research, and especially

to the history of the state from its settlement. He was the author of a

"Memoir of John Wheelwright," a work that is the only approach to a

complete biography of this sturdy old Pfuritan pioneer yet written, the

material being collected from every known source of information on the

subject in this country and England, also author of "The Wheelwright Deed
of 1629: Was It Spurious?" "Exeter in 1776," "Men and Things of

Exeter," and "Biographical History of the Bench and Bar of New Hamp-
shire."

In the spring of 1871, Mr. Bell assumed editorial charge of the Exeter

News-Letter, which he retained till 1875, about four years. He has occu-

pied the grand master's chair of the Masonic fraternity of this state. For

a dozen years or more he was president of the New Hampshire Historical

Society, which has been instrumental in interesting the public in the history

of the state, and has brought to light many important facts bearing on this

subject. Dartmouth College at the commencement in June, i88r, conferred

upon Governor Bell the degree of LL.D.
Edwin G. Eastman was born in Statham, N. H., November 22, 1847.

Graduate of Dartmouth College. Began practice of law at Exeter, N. H.,

in 1876, was associated with Gen. Gilman Marston and became his partner

in 1878.

A member of the New Hampshire Senate in 1889 and Constitutional

Convention in 1901. Solicitor of Rockingham County four years and

attorney-general of New Hampshire since 1902.

GREENLAND

John Samuel Hatch Frink was a resident of Greenland with office in

Portsmouth. Born at Newington, N. H., November 9, 183 1, the son of

Simes and Sarah Hatch Frink. He prepared for college at Hampton

Academy and graduated at Bowdoin College in 1851. He married Lucretia

Morse Frink in May, 1859. He was admitted to the bar in 1855, was

county solicitor of Rockingham County in 1874-75. He was appointed

judge of the Supreme Court in 1871 and again in 1878, but declined both

appointments. ,

He was United States district attorney for New Hampshire 1885-90

and president of Portsmouth Savings Bank in 1895-1905. He died August

31. 1905-
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At the January, 1906, term of the Supreme Court of Rockingham County

a lawyer, who was better acquainted with Mr. Frink than perhaps any other

man, said in part of him "You all know how extensive and varied his prac-

tice was; no lawyer ever loved his profession more than Mr. Frink. He
was wedded to it for better or worse and he never allowed any other busi-

ness to interfere with his practice. No lawyer ever loved his brother

lawyers better. His generosity was without ostentation and almost unbounded.

He was a man of many sides, to be judged by no one of them but taken

altogether, they made him one of the noblest of men, one of the most

delightful companions and one of the best lawyers, it has ever been my
good fortune to know.

William Pickering, a son of William Pickering, was born in Greenland,

and received his academical education at Phillips Exeter Academy and
Harvard College, from which he graduated in 1797. He pursued his legal

studies in the office of Hon. William K. Atkinson, of Dover, and com-
menced practice in his native place. He served for a time as deputy
secretary of state, and was in 181 6 chosen state treasurer, an office which
he retained until 1828, and again held in 1829. The next year he was
appointed collector of the United States revenue at Portsmouth, and removed
to his former home in Greenland. The office of collector he resigned in

1833, and continued to reside in Greenland until his decease in 1850. He
also represented that town in the Legislature of the state.

Isaiah P. Moody originated in York, Me., and in 1820, at the age of
fifteen, attended the Phillips Academy at Exeter. He took his degree at

Bowdoin College in 1827, and in 1834 set up practice as a lawyer in Hamp-
stead. He appears to have remained there until 1841.

Oliver Whipple practiced law in Hampton from about 1794 to 1806.
He had previously resided in Portsmouth for more than twenty years, and
his biography more properly belongs to that place. He went to Maine after
leaving Hampton, and an interesting account of him is to be found in
Willis' "Law and Lawyers of Maine."

HAMPTON

Edmund Toppan was the only son of Hon. Christopher Toppan, a man
of note in the history of Hampton. He was born September 25, 1777, and
graduated from Harvard College in 1796. He studied law under the direc-
tion of Hon. Theophilus Parsons, then of Newburyport, and after a short
stay at Portsmouth commenced business in Deerfield, his father having
built him a house there and presented him with an expensive library. He
practiced there till about 1804, when his house and library were accidentally
destroyed by fire, and then he returned to his native place, and there remained
until his death in 1849. His business in Hampton was necessarily somewhat
limited, but he was acceptable to the people, and represented the town in
the State Legislature.

Mr. Toppan is said to have possessed by nature rather a brilliant than
a logical mind. His learning in his profession and generally was consider-
able, he spoke readily and gracefully, and his manners were courteous and
attractive.
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KINGSTON

Francis Peter Smith, son of Rev. Isaac Smith, was born in Gilmanton,
August 22, 1795. He read law with Hon. Jeremiah H. Woodman and
others, and began practice in Boston in 181 9. He was in practice in King-
ston in 1822, and afterwards in Ossipee for ten years. He then studied
divinity and became a clergyman, having settlements successively in New
Hampshire, Maine, and Vermont.

John Edward Stanyan was a native of Pembroke; the time of his birth

was May 17, 1816. For two years or more after his graduation from
Dartmouth College in 1840 he was preceptor of an academy, and then
studied law. He practiced at Pembroke, Epping, and Kingston, in this

state, and at Haverhill and Ashby, in Massachusetts. He was emphatically

a rolling stone, and though a man of no little ability, was too irregular and
erratic to acquire and retain the respect of those whose good opinion is of

value.

William Colcord Patten was a Kingston man by birth, education, and
residence. He was gifted by nature with superior powers of mind and a

fine and pleasing address. He began 'life as a teacher and land surveyor,

but gradually acquired a taste for the law, and prepared himself for its

practice. His aptitude for political life gave him rather a remarkable succes-

sion of official positions. He was a i^epresentative in the Legislature of

1857, state senator in 1861 and 1862, councilor in 1867 and 1868, and
again representative in 1871 and 1872. He died in January, 1873, at the

age of about fifty years.

Mr. Patten entered upon the practice of the law rather late in life, but

from his experience brought with him much acquaintance with practical

afifairs and knowledge of human nature. His business was conducted with

promptness and sagacity, and he acquired much credit as a practitioner.

His ambition ran much in the line of politics, where his popularity was
such that he was repeatedly elected to office by his townsmen when the

majority was clearly against his party. Had he lived, there was every

reason for believing that he would have achieved higher political honors.

His death was sudden, and, occurring while he was in the prime of

life and apparently of sound constitution, caused a severe shock to the

community.

LONDONDERRY

John Prentice, born in Cambridge, Mass., and a graduate of Harvard

College in 1767, read law with Hon. Samuel Livermore, and established

himself in business in Londonderry, having purchased the place where his

instructor lived, and erected a large mansion thereon. His wife brought

him a handsome dowry, and he was thus enabled to live through the period

of the Revolution when the law business was at a standstill. Having been

an "addresser of Hutchinson" in Massachusetts, he was not intrusted with

public business by the friends of liberty, though at their instance or insistance

he published a complete recantation of his "loyal" sentiments, both in that

colony and in New Hampshire.
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But upon the return of peace and the revival of ordinary business Mr.

Prentice began to receive a fair share of professional employment. He
was by no means a learned lawyer; he was not a student, and his pro-

fessional library hardly contained fifty volumes; yet in those times an

accurate knowledge of the law was perhaps less valuable to the practitioner,

pecuniarily at least, than practical sense and abundant self-confidence. In

these qualities Mr. Prentice must have excelled, for he occupied for a

considerable period some of the highest positions in the state, and conducted

a large and lucrative law practice besides.

In 1785 he was elected a representative to the State Legislature, and was
often re-elected. In 1787 he received the appointment of attorney-general

of the state, and held the office until 1793. The next year he was chosen

speaker of the House of Representatives. In 1798 he was appointed a

justice of the Superior Court, but, perhaps conscious that his qualifications

were hardly equal to the position, he declined it. The same year he was
elected speaker of the House, and was annually replaced in that position

until 1805. While holding that place he was supported by his party for

election to the Senate of the United States, but failed to receive the honor.

Mr. Prentice had many of the qualities needed for a lawyer of eminence.
With more application and taste for the learning of his profession, he would
have led in important causes where he hesitated to trust his own knowledge
and judgment, and would have avoided many of the obstacles which beset
his path. But he had an aversion to the use of the pen, and no inclination

for book-learning so long as he found that his native powers enabled him
to sustain himself respectably. He was fonder of his farm than of his

office, and prided himself much on its products. It is a remarkable circum-
stance that the place where he lived was the home of Hons. Samuel Liver-
more, Arthur Livermore, . and Charles Doe, an extraordinary succession of
men prominent in the judicial annals of New Hampshire.

Mr. Prentice died May 18, 1808.

George Reid was a son of Col. George Reid, of the Revolution, born
at Londonderry, January 29, 1774, and educated at Dartmouth College,
graduating in 1797. He studied law, and opened an office in his native town,
but removed two years afterwards into Massachusetts. He died in Boston
at the age of seventy-four.

Frederick Parker was a native of Bedford, who graduated from Dart-
mouth College in 1828, and after the usual period of study of the law
established himself, about 1832, in Londonderry, but in a year or two
removed to Bangor, where it is understood that he became a teacher, and
died May 19, 1834, at the age of thirty-four years.

NEWMARKET

Edward Parsons, a son of Rev. Joseph Parsons, of Bradford, Mass.,
was born in 1747, and received a collegiate education. He had commenced
the practice of the law in Newmarket as early as 1773. He was a member
from that town of the Provincial Convention which met at Exeter May 17,
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I775» and afterwards became adjutant of Gen. Enoch Poor's regiment in
the Continental army. He died at Ticonderoga, it is beheved, in 1776.

Nathaniel Huntoon was a native of SaHsbury, and studied his profession
with Hon. Samuel Greene. About 1802 he started in life at Portsmouth, and
after remaining there about twelve years changed his residence to New-
market. But he did not live long enough to accomplish much there, for he
died about 181 6.

Amos A. Parker was a son of Hon. Nahum Parker, of Fitzwilliam. He
was a graduate of Vermont University in the class of 181 5. He has led a
varied and active life. He was settled as a lawyer for a time in Epping,
then at Newmarket, afterwards at Kingston, and finally in his native town.
For a year or two he resided in Exeter also. From 1823 to 1825 he was
the proprietor of the New Hampshire Statesman at Concord. In 1835 he
went on a tour to the West and Texas, and the next year published an
account of his trip in a duodecimo volume, which ran through two editions.

He also issued a volume of poems, and a thick pamphlet of reminiscences

of Lafayette's visit to New Hampshire in 1824.

William Tenney was the son of Capt. William Tenney, of HoUis, and
bom September 13, 1785. He attended the law school at Litchfield, Conn.,

and was admitted to the bar in Boston in 181 1. He first practiced in

Pepperell, Mass., then in Salem, N. H., and came to Newmarket in 181 5,

where he spent the remainder of his days. He is said to have been much
interested in political matters, and to have been more ambitious for prefer-

ment in that line than for professional advancement. In 1823 he was
assistant clerk of the Senate, and in 1829 he received the commission of

postmaster of the Lamprey River village. He died in 1838.

William B. Small was a native of Limington, Me., and was born May
17, 1 81 7. While he was a child his father removed to Ossipee, in this state,

where William passed his youth. He was a pupil of PhiUips Exeter Academy,
and a student-at-law in the offices of Messrs. Bell and Tuck, at Exeter.

During his education he taught school to eke out his narrow means, and

showed himself to be diligent, capable, and independent. He commenced
practice in Newmarket in 1846, and soon acquired a good position at the

bar.

In 1866 he was appointed solicitor of the County of Rockingham, and

was again placed in the same position in 1875, holding the office up to

the time of his decease.

In 1870 he was elected a member of the State Senate, and while such

received the nomination of representative to Congress, to which he was

chosen in 1873.

Mr. Small had little taste for political life, but loved his profession,

and devoted himself to its study and practice. He was industrious, studious,

and persistent, regarding his clients' interest far above his own convenience

or comfort. His character for honesty and perfect uprightness was never

questioned. He prepared his causes with conscientious care, and tried them

ably and vigorously, and took a high rank as a counselor and an advocate.

His death, while in the full tide of his usefulness and power, was regarded

as a real loss to the community. He died from the effects of a fall, April 7,

1878.
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NORTKWOOD

Abraham B. Story, bom in Dunbarton, March 22, 1777, was the son of

David Story, and graduated at Brown College in 1799. He studied his pro-

fession with Hon. Charles H. Atherton, of Amherst, and practiced in 1802

and 1803 in Northwood, but then removed to Washington, where he lived

till about 1830, in which year he died, in his native place.

Nathaniel Dearborn was a native of Chester, a son of Deacon John

Dearborn. He completed his legal studies with Hon. George Sullivan, and

set up in practice in Pembroke in 1806, remaining there till about 1820,

when he migrated to Deerfield, and afterwards in 1831 to Northwood,

where he lived ever after. He died September 12, i860. He was an honest,

painstaking man of fair abilities.

SALEM

Silas Betton, a son of James Betton, born at Windham, and a graduate

of Dartmouth College in the class of 1787, was admitted to the bar in 1793
and settled in Salem. That town was represented by him in the General

Court in the years 1797, 1798, and 1799, and in 1810 and 181 1. In the

years 1800, 1801, and 1802 he was a member of the Senate. In 1803 he
was elected a representative in Congress, and served two terms. In 181

3'

he received the appointment of sheriff of the County of Rockingham, which
he held until 1818. He died January 22, 1822, at the age of fifty-eight

years.

Mr. Betton married a daughter of Hon. Matthew Thornton, one of New
Hampshire's three signers of the Declaration of Independence. He was a

man of handsome talents, and much esteemed in the community. He was
gifted with some literary taste; many of the poems of Rt)bert Dinsmore,
the "Rustic Bard," were addressed to Mr. Betton, and some poetical epistles

of his own composition were included in the volume of Dinsmore's pub-
lished pieces.

David Woodburn Dickey was born in Londonderry, December 25, 1792,
and educated at Dartmouth College, graduating in 181 8. He entered upon
the practice of law in Londonderry about 1821, and remained there until

1833, when he removed to Salem, where he died January 26, 1837.

SEABROOK

Ebenezer French was born in Newton, April 10, 1802. He graduated
at Dartmouth College in 1824, studied his profession with Hon. Daniel
French, of Chester, commenced practice in Sutton in 1827, removed to
Seabrook in 1828, and there continued about twelve years. Thence he
went to Amesbufy and to Boston, and served in the custom-house eight
years.

WINDHAM

Isaac McGaw originated in Merrimac, his father's name being Jacob,
as was that of an older brother, who was a lawyer of distinction in Maine!
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Isaac was born May 25, 1785, and completed his college course at Dart-
mouth in 1807. He opened his law-office first in Bedford, where he con-
tmued from about 181 1 to 181 8, and then took up his residence in Wind-
ham. There he was chosen a representative in the Legislatures of 1829 to
1833, inclusive, and of 1838. After a long period of respectable practice
in his profession he removed to Merrimac, and passed his last years with
his son-in-law, Edward P. Parker, Esq., and there he died November 6,
1863.

William Merchant Richardson was born in Pelham, January 4, 1774,
and died in Chester, March 23, 1838. He was a graduate of Harvard
College in 1797. His father was Capt. Daniel Richardson, a soldier of
the Revolution and a farmer, and William would probably have been brought
up to the same employment but for an injury received to one of his hands,
which incapacitated him for severe manual labor. After leaving college
he was employed for a time as preceptor of Groton, Mass., academy, and
afterwards entered the office of Hon. Samuel Dana here as a student-at-

law. On being admitted to practice he settled in the same town. In 181

1

he was chosen representative in Congress, and two years after received a
re-election. But pohtical life was little to his taste, and in 1814 he resigned
his seat and removed to Portsmouth, N. H., and opened an office.

He was at once recognized as a leading lawyer, and upon the reorganiza-
tion of the courts in 1816 was appointed chief justice of the Superior Court.

The propriety and excellence of the appointment were at once admitted,

and never questioned during the twenty-two years of his service on the

bench. Through his agency the publication of the series of judicial reports

of New Hampshire was begun. He contributed very largely to many of

the volumes, and his opinions have always been regarded as admirable in

style and of high authority.

His professional learning was first-rate, his perceptions were rapid, and
his honesty and fairness above suspicion. By reason of his quickness of

apprehension, he was sometimes charged with jumping to conclusions, but

he had none of the pride of opinion v\/hich closes the mind to argument,

and was always ready, for cause shown, to retract a hasty impression.

In 1 819, Judge Richardson changed his residence permanently to

Chester. He was a good citizen, kind and public-spirited, and was greatly

esteemed by his townsmen. His intellectual powers were highly cultivated.

He was a great reader both in his own and in other tongues. He acquired

several of the modern European languages after his accession to the bench,

and the Spanish very late in life. Botany and mineralogy too he made

himself master of in theory and by practice. He had always a taste for

poetry. His graduation part at college was the English poem, and through-

out his life he was accustomed to throw off poetical effusions, some of

them of much merit. Dartmouth College conferred upon him the degree of

LL.D. in 1827.

New Hampshire has been fortunate in having secured for her highest

judicatory a succession of chief justices of extraordinary learning, ability,

and integrity, and among these Judge Richardson holds no secondary place.

The senior members of the bar of this county have many of them made
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up their records; those still left are soon to follow, and the juniors are

to assume their places at the bar and on the bench; to them will soon be

committed these great responsible trusts. The perpetuity of our free insti-

tutions is committed to the guardianship and keeping of the bar and judic-

iary of our free country, for the history of the world teaches, and all

free governments illustrate, this . truth, that to the profession of the law
civil government is indebted for all the safeguards and intrenchments with
which the liberties of the people are protected, that legislation is shaped,

constitutions enlarged, amended, and adopted by the enlightened adminis-
tration of the statesman, both of England and the United States, who have
been in both, and are in all free governments, educated for the bar, and,

ascending b)!- the inherent force of their disciplined professional life, they
become the directors of the destinies of states and nations.

Military chieftains may spring into power, tyrants may for the hour
dazzle with the glamour of military parade, the pomp of war, an oppressed
and frenzied people, but they turn as the cannonade dies away to the states-

manship of the country, and call to the parliaments and congressional halls

for final debate the arbitraments of the liberties of the people. From the
days of King John to the present hour the bar and the bench have furnished
the statesmen who have erected the bulwarks of constitutional law, and
extorted from tyrants the Magna Chartas which have secured to the
oppressed the guarantee of free institutions. Imbued with the historical
ti-aditions of their predecessors, and tracing the paths they have trod,
emulating theii: good example, it should become more and more the resolute
purpose of the Rockingham County bar to so walk in the light of their
professional teachings that when they are called to follow them to that
upper court and file their judgment-roll of the great trial of life with that
Supreme Judge from whose bar they can take no appeal,

—

"Then go not like quarry-slave at night
Scourged to his dungeon, but, sustained and soothed
By an unfaltered trust, approach thy grave
Like one who wraps the drapery of his couch
About him and lies down to pleasant dreams."

Sketches of the present members of the bench and bar are inserted in
the chaptei-s relating to city and towns. In the biographical section will
be found sketches of other eminent lawyers.



CHAPTER VI

THE COUNTY FARM—INTERNAL IMPROVEMENTS

Railroads—Previous to the establishment of the county farm system,
the selectmen or overseers of poor of each town had charge of all persons
needing assistance. At various times the Legislature enacted laws which
largely increased the number classed as county poor. The system of allow-

ing each town to care for the poor within its limits led to some evils, was
expensive, and made it necessary to locate buildings at some central point in

each county where this large class of unfortunates could be better provided
for. The county convention at its session in the month of June, 1868,

authorized the purchase of a farm and the erection of suitable buildings

to accommodate 250 inmates. The authority to purchase said farm was
committed to a joint board consisting of a building committee,—John R.

Reding, of Portsmouth; W. H. Robinson, of Exeter; H. P. Hood, of Derry;

and I. L. Robinson, of Fremont,—selected by the convention, and the com-
missioners, James C. Brown, John J. Leavitt, and Abbott Norris, who finally

selected the Thyng farm, so called, in the town of Brentwood. The farm

contains about one hundred and sixty acres, and is situated 2j^ miles from

Epping depot, on the Concord and Portsmouth Railroad. The Nashua and

Rochester Railroad now connects at said depot.

The first cost of the Thyng farm was $6,500, including thirty acres

adjoining land. The total first cost of the almshouse was $19,632.

The following year a building for the insane and a large barn was added

at an expense of $9,487. The same year the county convention authorized

the commissioners to purchase woodland and pasture, and the farm of

D. W. Ladd was bought, 160 acres, for $4,500. In 1873 additional build-

ings for storage were constructed, costing $2,500. In 1874 boiler-house,

laundry, etc., costing $8,150. In 1875 House of Correction and work-shops,

costing $12,000. In 1876 new brick asylum for insane, costing $9,000.

In 1910 a new stable was built costing $4,580; and in 1912 a new jail

costing $19,686.

A new courthouse and jail was built at Portsmouth in 1891, and a new

courthouse and record building at Exeter in 1893.

INVENTORY OF PROPERTY OF ROCKINGHAM COUNTY 1913

County farm and buildings at Brentwood $ 90,000.00

Personal property at farm, as per inventory 25,000.00

85
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Jail and courthouse lot at Portsmouth 17,500.00

Jail at Portsmouth 41,000.00

Courthouse at Portsmouth 39,000.00

Furniture in courthouse 2,200.00

Library and book cases in courthouse 1,000.00

Coal at courthouse 300.00

Personal property at jail, as per inventory 686.90

Jail at Exeter 10,000.00

Personal property at Exeter jail, per inventory. . . 3^3-00

Records building and lot 31,562.00

Furniture in Records building 6,100.00

Coal in Records building 130.00

Courthouse and lot at Exeter 50,000.00

Courthouse furniture 2,100.00

Coal in courthouse 275.00

Coal shed at Epping 300.00

$317,416.90
The net indebtedness of the county is $89,912.00.

The number of inmates at present i^ 200. This includes insane, poor,

children, idiotic, blind, and prisoners.

The farm constitutes a school district in itself, and three terms of school

are taught yearly. There is also a chapel-room, provided with organ, etc.,

for services on the Sabbath. Children of sound mind and without parents

or friends are furnished with good homes by the commissioners. The house
is heated by steam; comfortable rooms, clothing, and good and abundant
food is furnished to all, and few, if any, of the inrnates ever enjoyed a

better home. The farm is under the care of the county commissioners. They
appoint a superintendent and all necessary officers and help. The first super-

intendent, William L. Philbrick, of Portsmouth, was appointed 1869. The
farm always has an abundant supply of water drawn by steam-pump and
two wind-mills. The house is supplied with fire-escapes; also three fire-

extinguishers and a hydrant to the roof of the house, with plenty of hose
in case of fire.

Total expense of farm $28,237.90
Divided by number of weeks board, make a cost of

each one per week 2.74

STOCK AT COUNTY FARM

55 Breeding sows $ 750.00
4 Boars 50.00
27 Shoats 1 10.00

54 Small pigs 108.00
1 Bull 200.00
2 Bull calves 50.00
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8 2-year old heifers 400.00
9 i-year old heifers 315.00
18 Calves 540.00
48 Cows 3,600.00
8 Work horses 1,850.00
I Pair driving horses 350.00

299 Hens 299.00
23 Cockerels 23.00
3 Yoke of oxen 5330o

$9,178.00

CROPS FOR THE YEAR AS FOLLOWS

Ice 350 tons

Hay 172 tons

Ensilage 319 tons

Oat straw 5 tons

Rye straw 7 tons

Oat fodder (green) 28 tons

Oats 167 bushels

Potatoes 1)423 bushels

Turnips 225 bushels

Beets 132I bushels

Carrots 350 bushels

String beans 22^ bushels

Rye i37i tons

Shelled beans 36 bushels

Onions 30 bushels

Parsnips 5° bushels

Squash 2,500 pounds

Cabbage 800 heads

Lettuce io4 bushels

Peas 35 bushels

Beet green 36 bushels

Spinach '• 60 bushels

Tomatoes i,497 pounds

Apples 41 barrels

Sweet corn 1,219 dozen ears

Canning corn 2i tons

Strawberries 140 boxes

Cucumbers 12^ bushels

Rhubarb 155 pounds

Radishes 52 bunches

Asparagus i09 bunches

Onions, market bunches 093 bunches

Celery 80 heads
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Peppers 6 bushels

Pliuns 3 bushels

Cantaleups 3 dozen

Mangels 12 tons

Beef dressed and consumed on farm S>575 pounds

Pork 4,528
Poultry 1,205 pounds

Eggs produced 2,428 dozen

Pigs sold $1,527
Cream sold $2,864
Skimmed milk used on farm 31,690 gallons

Amount received for labor of prisoners $569

RAILROADS

The Boston & Maine Railroad Company controls and operates all the

steam railroads in Rockingham County. Originally it was a consolidation

of the Boston & Portland chartered March 15, 1833, the Boston & Maine
chartered June 27, 1835 and the Maine, New Hampshire and Massachusetts
chartered March 12, 1839. The road was opened through the county to South
Berwick, Maine, February 23, 1843.

On the Western Division it passes through the following towns

:

From Boston, Mass., to Miles From Boston, Mass., to Miles
Atkinson 37 Newfields 5—55
Plaistow 2—39 Rockingham Jet . i—56
Newton Jet 3—41 Newmarket 2—58
E. Kingston Depot 4—45 Durham 4—62
Exeter 6—5

1

The Eastern Railroad in New Hampshire, chartered June 18, 1836, and
opened November 9, 1840.

EASTERN DIVISION

From Boston, Mass., to Miles From Boston, Mass., to Miles
Salisbury 39 No. Hampton 2—^49
Seabrook 4—43 Greenland 3—52
Hampton Falls 2—45 Portsmouth 5—57
Hampton 2—47
Portsmouth & Dover Railroad, chartered July 7, 1866, opened February

I, 1872.

PORTSMOUTH & DOVER BRANCH

From Portsmouth to Miles From Portsmouth to Miles
Newington 5 Sawyer 2 10
Dover Point — 5 Dover i 1

1

Gushing 3— 8

The Nashua & Rochester Railroad, chartered June 24, 1868, and opened
November 24, 1874.
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WORCESTER, NASHUA & PORTLAND

From Worcester, Mass., to Miles From Worcester, Mass., to Miles
HoUis 40 Hubbard 4—61
Nashua 7—47 Hampstead 2—63
Hudson 2—49 Sandown 2—65
Anderson 4—53 Freemont 6—71
Windham Jet 4—57 Epping 4—75
The Manchester & Lazvrence Railroad, chartered June 3, 1847, and opened

November 13, 1849.

MANCHESTER & LAWRENCE BRANCH

From Manchester to Miles From Manchester to Miles
Londonderry 6 Canobie Lake 3—17
Wilson's 2— 8 Salem 2—19
Derry 3— 1

1

Hampshire Road 4—23
Windham 3— 14

The Concord and Portsmouth Railroad was chartered July i, 1845. Built
to Ramond, September 9, 1850; to Concord, 1852.

PORTSMOUTH BRANCH

From Concord to Miles From Concord to Miles
Suncook : 7 West Epping 3—39
Hooksett 2— 9 Epping 5—41
Manchester 9— 18 Hedding 3—44
Massabesic 5—23 Rockingham Jet 8—49
Auburn 3—26 Stratham i—50
E. Candia 2—28 Bayside 3—53
Candia 2—30 Greenland 6—55
Raymond 6—36 Portsmouth 4—59

ELECTRIC RAILROADS

The Boston and Maine operates the Portsmouth Electric Railway, which
opened June 28, 1899. The cars running in Portsmouth to Greenland, and
from Portsmouth through Rye, to North Hampton, connecting at the North
Hampton line with the Exeter, Hampton and Amesbury Railway electric

cars to Hampton Beach, Exeter and to the state line.

The other Electric roads in Rockingham County are : Haverhill Plaistow

and Newton Railway Company, organized 1901 ; Hudson, Pelham and Salem
Street Railway Company, organized July, 1907; Manchester and Derry Street

Railway, organized September 19, 1906; Chester and Derry Railroad Asso-

ciation, organized June 6, 1901 ; Seabrook and Hampton Beach Street Rail-

way Company, organized July, 1901 ; Amesbury Street Railway organized

April I, 1908.

Starting at the Ferry in Portsmouth, the Atlantic Shore Line runs to

Dover and York Beach.



CHAPTER VII

PORTSMOUTH

Motives of the Colonists—Early Voyagers—John Smith—The Piscataqua—
Thomson's Settlement at Little Harbor—Mason and the Laconia Patent—The Great House Portsmouth Named—Celebration in 1823.

The editor in the chapters relating to Portsmouth has condensed the prin-

cipal facts from articles on the early church history from the writings of

Rev. James DeNormandie, and the editor's sketch of the Congregational

meeting houses delivered at the semi-centennial of the North Church in 1905,
also from the historical address of Hon. Frank W. Hackett at the 250th
anniversary of the settlement of Portsmouth delivered May 28, 1903.

THE POPULATION OF PORTSMOUTH IN I9IO WAS 11,269

Several reasons may be assigned for persons leaving the comfort, order,

luxury, and associations of an old land and an old home. There is in every
community a class of adventurers of the type of John Smith, men fond of

the excitement of travel, of novelty, ready to undertake any strange enter-

prise for the sake of the hazard, for exploration, for science, for notoriety,

for profit, or for curiosity. The wildness of the new is more inviting than
the regularity of the old. In all old and wealthy states there is a large class

of persons, representatives of families of past prominence or departed splen-

dor or dilapidated fortunes, who in a new place can maintain a position on
cheaper terms, or follow with an easy grace employments they would not
undertake where they are known, or more sons than can be placed in the
ancestral neighborhood, or sons of wealth for whom many reasons conspire
to make it better to seek situations elsewhere, as on the continent one con-
stantly meets with English who in humble places or at low rates keep up an
appearance of respectability they could not have at home, and as many from
New England begin life at the west.

An old writer says, "If without offense it. may be spoken, the multitude
of patents granted to several gentlemen of broken fortunes hath provided
an honorable exile or confinement, whither many deserving persons of better
education than fortune were sent to shift for themselves in a foreign land
without being further troublesome to those nearer home, on whom they had
their hopes and dependence; yet it must not be denied but that some of the
undertakers were at vast expenses, casting their bread upon these waters,

90
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Y^^^^none of their friends and relatives have as yet had opportunity to find
it. And this class of far-seeing, shrewd business men is always ready to
send others or embark itself, and to bear any danger, delay, or loss in any
enterprise which promises satisfactory returns, and especially questions of
government and religion, of persecution and freedom, make it grateful for
many to endure any hardships or abandon any associations for a free rule
and a broader liberty of worship. It' is difficult to analyze all the motives
which enter into colonization

;
perhaps all we have named do in some degree

with every settlement, nevertheless each has its • prominent characteristics
easy to be traced; in the Plymouth Colony the prevaihng idea at first was
religious hberty for themselves, not for anybody else; in the Piscataqua
Colony it was the spirit of mercantile enterprise.

EARLY VOYAGES

Three hundred and ten years ago two small vessels came into the waters
of the Piscataqua from the eastward—the Speedwell, a ship of about fifty

tons, and the bark Discoverer, of twenty-six, or thereabouts. They were
from Bristol, under the command of Capt. Martin Pring, fitted out for
trade and discovery by the "chiefest merchants of that port."

Sailing along the coast the youthful navigator (he was but twenty-three)
had looked into other inlets—the Saco, the Kennebunk and the York. "The
fourth," he says, "and the most westerly was the best." In all these places
they "found no people but signs of fires where they had been." It was the
Englishman of 1603 "Pon the track of the Indian.

Stretched out in front is an irregular expanse of hill and valley. Further
over there greets him a mass of living green, sentinel to forest and tangled
undergrowth beyoftd. At his feet is juniper in profusion. The maple and
beech are here, and many a stately pine. Close at hand spruce and hemlock
tell of ledge, and its scanty covering of soil. The eager glance of the Eng-
lishman spies more than one sturdy oak, destined to give grateful shade to

coming generations.

'The party were searching for sassafras, thought in that day to be. pos-

sessed of wonderful medicinal qualities.

From an account of the voyage printed in "Piirchase His Pilgrimes,"

(London, 1625), we learn that thirty men and boys were on the Speedwell,

Edmund Jones (her mate) with Robert Salteme, whO' appears to have been

what we should call a supercargo. William Brown was the master of the

Discoverer, with Samuel Kirkland, thirteen men and a boy. They had all

manner of goods, including looking-glasses and beads, wherewith to^ trade

with the savages. They were delayed for a fortnight at Milford Haven,

whence they sailed on the loth of April, 1603, just after having heard the

Hews of the death of Queen Elizabeth. They got back to Bristol in October.

This is the first printed account so far as yet known of our river ; though

there is little reason to doubt that more than one English fishing vessel had

at an earlier date than this sailed into the harbor of the Piscataqua.

The editor quotes the following from the eccentric John Elwyn's book,

"Some Piscataway Things and a Good Deal Else," published in 1870, on

page 59.
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"The small de I'Isles atlas that showed the forgery is in my hut; Capt.

John Mason, our New Hampshire patentee, he knew the Bay Puritans

well. Since I wrote this too our cousins of Main have found things out to

the rage of our others of the bay that told the world there never was no
kind of Englishmen in New England till the Plymouth Pilgrims : wonderful

though that one of Gorges' Indian spoke to them in English when they got

here, and Christopher Levett in Twenty-three stayed a while on Witch (Saga-

more) Creek below where my hut is, and says nothing of ours being a new
plantation, and the Spaniard, Herrera, tells of a English cruiser of three

hundred tons a hundred years before the Pilgrims of her coming to Puerto

Rico by the banks of Newfoundland: all afishing already. Englishman was
coming to fill North America with Englishmen never no Puritan in the world."

John Smith.—By 1614 the knowledge of our coast had grown more
definite, and colonization began to assume larger and more permanent direc-

tions. The zeal for sudden wealth from the riches of mines led to a hasty

occupation of the South, of Peru and Mexico by the Spaniards and Portu-

guese, but the English and French came with a tardier pace to the fur and
fishing trade of the North, and yet found, as we have found in California,

that the vineyards and pasture lands and husbandry are a surer and greater

source of wealth than mines of gold or fields of diamonds. In March of this

year the remarkable adventurer, John Smith, sailed for North Virginia, seek-

ing a mine of gold and copper, or, failing in that, to fish and trade. He named
the shoals which had previously been sighted and described Smith's Islands,

spoke of our river, and on his return drew a quaint map of the coast and wrote
a history of his voyages, and left it for Prince Charles to christen the new
realm, so that in 1614 first appears the name of New England. The map
is printed in J. S. Tenness' "Isles of Shoals."

The Piscataqua.—It cannot but be interesting to notice the praises which
the Piscataqua has called forth from the early voyagers and historians. One
says "that westernmost and best river;" another, "the safe harbor and rocky
shore of the Piscataqua;" another, "that famous, brave, and navigable river
of note, which has been frequented ever since the country was first planted,
whose channel is very swift and spacious, fit for vessels of great burden."
And in an old deed, dated 1671, there is a will of one of the early merchants
which runs thus: "I, Richard Cutt, for y" love I bear unto W" Vaughan,
I do give unto him my stone warehouse, situate at Strawberry Bank and front-
ing upon the Create River Piscataqua." And one of the truest poets of Ports-
mouth, Albert Laighton, wrote

:

"Like an azure vein from the heart of the main.
Pulsing with joy forever.

By verduous isles, with dimpled smiles,

Floweth my native river.

"Singing a song as it flows along.

Hushed by the ice-king never;
For he strives in vain to clasp a chain

O'er thy fearless heart, brave river!
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"Singing to one as full and free
As it sang to the dusky daughters,

When the light canoe like a sea-bird flew
Over its peaceful waters."

Thomson's Settlement at Little Harbor.—In 1623 this spirit of enterprise
took for us a more definite form, and with results reaching to the present day.
Among a council of forty noblemen, knights, and gentlemen, to whom King
James granted a charter for the "planting, ruling, ordering, and governing
of New England in America," we find two persons conspicuous in energy
and adventure, Sir Ferdinand Gorges and Capt. John Mason. Gorges was
an officer of the English navy, intimate with Raleigh, and sharing his dar-
ing spirit. He had learned from some Indians many particulars of this part
of the country, its rivers, harbors, islands, fisheries, and products ; his enthu-
siasm to found a colony was not abated by many successive misfortunes, and
his faith in its final success never died out. "I doubt not," he writes, "it will
prove a very flourishing place, and be replenished with many fine homes and
cities, it being a province both fruitful and pleasant." Mason was a London
merchant, some time governor of Newfoundland, where he learned in a gen-
eral and indefinite way of these parts, and became as enthusiastic as Gorges
to plant a colony, an enthusiasm which appears never to have left him amidst
aU the discouragements and difficulties which beset his attempts. He was
also governor of Portsmouth, in Hampshire, England.

Mason and the Laconia Patent.—The tradition that the first settlement
at the Piscataqua was owing to the efforts of Gorges and Mason, or to the
Laconia Company, of which they were members, has no foundation. From
"An Indenture of David Thomson," recently discovered among the papers

of Hon. Robert C. Winthrop, with careful "Notes" in explanation by
Mr. Charles Deane, of the Massachusetts Historical Society, many of the

doubts and uncertain dates and confused traditions are dispelled, and it

appears that David Thomson and three merchants of Plymouth entered into

an agreement, in pursuance of which Thomson came over in the ship Jonathan
in the spring of 1623, and settled at Little Harbor, a name which first

appears in 1655, on the west side of the Piscatacjua.

These three merchants were Abraham Colmer, Nicholas Sherwill, and
Leonard Pomerie, and with Thomson they were to contribute to the expenses

and to share the profits. It is provided in the partnership that the colony

"shall and will use their best endeavors (by the direction of said David

Thomson), with as much convenience as maye be, to find out * * *

some fitt place to settle & Builde some houses or buildings for habitacons, on

which they are to begin with as muche expedicon as they maye ; to the lymits

& precincts of which habitacons or buildings soe intended to be there erected,

there shall be allotted of the lands next thereunto adjoininge. at or before

the end of five years next ensuing the date hereof, the full quantitie of six

hundred acres of land or neare thereabouts."

John S. Jenness referring to the landing at Little Harbor on page 6 in

"The First Planting of New Hampshire," says :

"The site selected for the settlement was chosen with excellent judgment.
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From the Little Harbor fronting the north side of the promontory a salt

water creek runs back so far towards the ocean as almost to convert the

inclosed point into an island of about six hundred acres area, which was the

precise amount of land required by the indenture to be allotted to the new
plantation. The soil is good, and among the rocks on the harbor shore is a

living spring of fresh water. The harbor is safe and accessible at all times

to vessels of light draught, and most commodiously situated for the prosecu-

tion of the fisheries as well as for the peltry traffic with the Indians of Saga-
more Creek and Piscataqua River. Above all other advantages in those peril-

ous times, the Point, rising on every side towards its center and almost sur-

rounded by water, was easily defensible against the assaults of savages. These
considerations probably determined Thomson in the selection of this site for

the new plantation, which he named, perhaps, from the Indian appellation

'Pannaway,' a name which seems, however, not to have survived the period
of Thomson's own occupation and ownership of the plantation."

In Winslow's "Good News," published in 1624, describing events appar-
ently of the preceding summer, we find reference to "on Mr. David Tomson,
a Scotchman, who also that spring began a plantation twenty-five leagues
northeast from us, near Smith's lies, at a place called Pascatoquack, where
he liketh well." Thomson most likely remained at the Piscataqua until 1626,
and deserves to receive the undivided praise as the founder of this settle-

ment, while Mason had nothing to do with its beginning. In a deposition
of several aged persons, including Edward Colcord, taken at Piscataqua
August 25, 1676, they make oath and affirm that "Capt. John Mason did
never settle any government nor any people upon any land called the prov-
ince of New Hampshire, on the south side of Piscataqua River, either by
himself or any of his agents to this day."

The earliest trace that we have of David Thompson is the record of his
marriage at St. Andrew's Church, Plymouth, England, July 13, 1613. His
wife was Amias Cole, daughter of a resident of Plymouth. According to
the late R. N. Worth, the historian of Plymouth, who discovered this entry,
Thompson probably was a stranger at Pl3miouth, for his name has not been
found elsewhere in their records. Morton describes him as "a Scottish
gentleman, a scholar and a traveller." From the wording of an early instru-
ment (Aspinwall papers), we infer that he either had been educated as a
doctor, or had at least some skill in medicine.

The Plymouth Council created for planting, ruling and governing New
England, was established in November, 1620. For a while they appear to
have employed Thompson as a messenger. Sir Ferdinando Gorges and
Capt. John Mason stand forth as the two commanding spirits of the asso-
ciates that formed the council. From a position where he must have made
hmiself useful, it is likely that Thompson secured the confidence of both these
great leaders in the settlement of New England. There is a memorandum
which shows that a patent was made out to Thompson of land in New
England, in November, 1622.

More or less speculation has sprung up as to the true character of Thomp-
son s enterprise. In a vague way it has been understood that he came in the
interest of Gorges and Mason. There is not space afforded here to pursue
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the inquiry. It is enough to say that everything points to the fact that the
venture had the hearty good will of the council. While independent, and
meant to be confined within a moderate area, it is reasonably well estab-
lished that Thompson's coming formed part of the larger enterprise of
Gorges and Mason and their associates in occupying and developing the
entire territory covered by their patents.

Odiorne's Point at Little Harbor was the spot selected for the site of the
first building erected on the grant. The first settlers were sent from England
by the company in 1623, "to found a plantation on Piscataqua River, to
cultivate the vine, discover mines, carry on the fisheries, and trade with the
natives." As the materials of many of the early houses were brought from
England, it is possible that in the liberal provision made for the plantation,

those of the Manor House were also. The house was a little north of the
hillock, which was between it and the ocean,—and on that elevation there was
a small fort built, to protect from savage incursions. Fishing being one of
the objects of the settlement, salt works were early erected in connection
with the establishment.

A few rods southwest of the fort at Odiorne's Point they erected their

fish flakes, which gave the name of Flake Hill to the knoll, which is still

retained. "During the first few years of the existence of the colony," remarks
Potter, "the people suffered every hardship, and not being acclimated many of

them were carried off by disease." The graves of such are still to be seen a

few rods north of the site of the fort, and is worthy of remark, that the

moss-covered cobble stones at the head and foot of the graves, still remain

as placed by mourners of two hundred and eighty years since, while a walnut

and a pear tree, each of immense size, and possibly of equal age with our state,

stand like sentinels, extending their ancient arms over the sleepers below.

Evidence is now apparent that a smith's shop was erected near the house.

There were between three and four thousand acres regarded as attached to

this branch of the plantation. The provisions of the grant were ample for

the carrying out of the idea of the proprietors, which was to establish a manor
here agreeably to the English custom—the occupants of the land to be held

as tenants by the proprietors of the soil.

A description (and it is the only one we have), of the building erected by

Thompson at Pannaway, for such was the Indian name of the locality, is

derived from a sketch written by Samuel Maverick, in 1660. The docu-

ment, "A brief Description of New England," was drawn up as a report to

be laid before the King of London after the restoration. It came to light

some thirty years ago. In 1902 Mr. Frank W. Hackett consulted and veri-

fied the original manuscript in the British Museum. Maverick, who was a

few years younger than Thompson, was a gentleman of good family, either

from Devon or Cornwall, a staunch churchman and a royalist. He came into

Boston Bay in 1624, where he built and fortified (it is said with Thompson's

help), a house at Winnesimmet, now Chelsea. The site, which was near the

river, is now comprised within the limits of the grounds of the United States

Naval Hospital.

Maverick tells us that Thompson built a "Stronge and Large house and

enclosecJ it in a large and high Palizardo and mounted gunns and being stored
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extraordinarily with shot and Ammunition was a terror to the Indians, who
at that time were insulting over the poor weake and unfurnished planters of

Plymouth. This house and Fforte he built on a point of land at the very

entrance of the Pascataway River."

Maverick and Thompson were more or less in each other's company.

Thompson, it seems, went into the bay to live about three years after he

had planted this settlement at Ordiome's Point. He selected an island in

Boston Harbor and built a house there, which island has ever since borne his

name.
We have good reason to believe that Maverick, though writing so long

after the event, retained a perfectly clear recollection of the original build-

ing that Thompson's men erected at Pannaway. Had it been built entirely,

of stone, it would seem as though Maverick would have mentioned the cir-

cumstance, since a building of this material was a very unusual object along

the coast. The palisade that he speaks of was not uncommon in those days

as a necessary protection against attack from hostile Indians. Maverick's

Qwn house was attacked at one time, he tells us, and the Indians were hand-
somely repulsed. *

The story of this settlement at Ordiorne's Point is told in a lively narra-

tive, yet with strict adherence to historical truth, by the late John Scribner

Jenness, a son of Portsmouth, in a volume, privately printed at Portsmouth
in 1878, entitled "The First Planting of New Hampshire." Few men had
a more extensive or accurate knowledge of the early history of this locality

than Mr. Jenness. His little book brings together every fact that had been
disclosed up to that time, bearing upon the object of Thompson's landing

and the step taken by him in beginning the settlement. The picture which
this pleasing and exact writer outlines is remarkable for its fullness of detail,

seeing that the material with which he worked was fragmentary and slight.

Had Mr. Jenness lived to see Maverick's narrative, it is possible that he
would have hesitated to say positively tliat the house was built of stone. His
authority is Hubbard (not always accurate), and a deposition made by Robert
Pike at the age of eighty-eight. Pike says that the house was commonly
known as "Captain John Mason's stone house." Perhaps the foundation had
been carried up higher than usual while the house itself was built of heavy
timber. At all events the question of whether the building was constructed
wholly of stone, may be considered as still unsettled.

The Council for New England, among other active agencies for promoting
the planting' of settlements, printed in 1622 a pamphlet of thirty-five pages
entitled "A Briefe Description of The Discoverie and Plantation of New Eng-
land." It praised the country, its resources and climate. We learn from it

that more than thirty vessels in 1622 sailed from the western port of Eng-
land for this coast for fishing and trade.

A circumstance that connects Thompson with the plans of Mason and
Gorges is, that late in the autumn of 1623 Capt. Robert Gorges came to
Pannaway, meeting here Capt. Christopher Levett and Capt. Francis West.
The object of their meeting was to carry out a plan of the Council for setting
up a general government in New England. We are told that Thompson was
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authorized to receive possession of the Province in the name of Gorges and
Mason from Captain Gorges.

Levett has left an account of his experience in 1623, in a little book pub-
lished in 1628, at London, and "sold by Edward Brewster at the sign of
the Bible in St. Paul's Church Yard." He arrived at the Isles of Shoals in

November and then came over and stayed a month with Thompson. The
weather being cold and the snow deep, our visitor did not gain any too favor-
able an impression of the neighborhood. "In these parts," he says, "I saw
much good timber, but the ground it seemed to me not to be good, being very
rocky and full of trees and brushwood. There is a great store of fowle of
diverse sorts whereof I fed very plentifully. About two English miles fur-
ther to the East I found a great river and a good harbor called Pascataway.
But for the ground I can say nothing, but by the relation of the Sagamore
or King of the place who told me there was much good ground up in the river

about seven or eight leagues."

Captain Levett was not the first sailor to speak a good word for the River
Pascataway. As early as 1614 Capt. John Smith had told his country-

men that this river furnished a safe harbor with a rocky shore. Indeed, that

anyone in any century can see this river and go away and not praise it, is

incredible.

Just how long Thompson stayed at Pannaway is not yet within our power
to determine. He was certainly there as late as 1626, and perhaps for a short

season after that date. An infant son was born to him, who in his man-
hood is, the John Thompson who petitioned the General Court at Boston in

regard to Thompson's Island. There is reason to believe that the date of

John Thompson's birth was 1626, so he most likely first saw the light of day

at Ordiorne's Point. If such be the fact, there may be claimed for him the

honor of having been the first white child born within the present limits of

New Hampshire.
In 1628 settlements along the coast were levied upon to meet the expense

of expelling Morton from Merry Mount in the bay for sundry offenses, the

chief of which was furnishing firearms to the Indians. Among the con-

tributors appears the name of Mrs. Thompson. That her name is used

instead of that of her husband is an indication that by 1628 David Thomp-

son had died. Not long after her husband's death the widow, as we know,

was married to Samuel Maverick. We find a letter written by Amias Maver-

ick to friends at Plymouth, England, in relation to her father; and thus, all

doubt is dispelled of the identity of the wife of Samuel Maverick with her

who was originally Amias Cole.

It was formerly supposed that Thompson had been sent out by an asso-

ciation called the Laconia Company. So Doctor Belknap wrote, and in his

statement he is followed by Mr. Adams, the author of the Annals. As a

matter of fact the Laconia Company did not come into existence until 1629,

six years later.

Mr. Hackett gives some more details in reference to the Laconia Patents,

for an error of so long standing should be corrected whenever opportunity

offers.

In 1626, England, already at war with Spain, became engaged in a war
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with France that lasted until 1629; An enterprise was set on foot by the

Canada Company in which Gorges and Mason were interested, to capture

Canada. This company of private persons—a procedure that seems strange

at this day—fitted out a naval expedition. David Kirke, in command of

three ships, succeeded in capturing Quebec, whereupon he brought Champlain

as a prisoner to England. Upon arrival Kirke learned to his chagrin that

peace had already been declared, and that by the terms of the treaty, whai

they had conquered was to be restored to France.

One result of this expedition was that Kirke and his men had gained

new and valuable information with regard to the fur trade in that region,

a trade which held out very alluring prospects of gain. Certain members of

the Canada Company stirred by the hope of turning this information to their

immediate advantage, resolved to launch out into a bold undertaking to this

end. They were convinced, it seems, that a shorter way could be opened for

getting to the fur country then by the river of Canada. What is now Lake
Champlain, then called the Lake of the Iroquois, they imagined could be

reached by a slight portage from the headwaters of the Pascataway.

Accordingly, within a few days after the return of Kirke's expedition

these adventurers obtained a grant from the Council of all \the lands border-

ing upon the lake and the rivers called the Iroquois, as well as the right to

select a thousand acres upon the sea coast, where the same had not already

been disposed of to other persons. The patent provided that the grantees

could associate others with them, to adventure in "plantations trafiques and
discouvryes." They who associated themselves in this undertaking adopted
the name of the Laconia Company. Gorges and Mason and seven London
merchants were thus associated. The scheme on hand was to send over

cargoes of goods to the Pascataway, thence to be taken up the river in canoes,

and carried to Champlain to convenient places, where they could be disposed

of in barter to the Indians, for peltries to be brought back to the mouth of

the Pascataway. The company, however, did not take up, as had been con-

templated, the thousand acres on the coast, as a site for their factory.

Like many gre'it speculations, this enterprise absorbed the capital and
taxed the energies of its promoters, but came to nothing. Captain Mason
said, in 1634, that he had never received a penny for all his outlay in his

plantations in the Pascataway. Had he come over in person, the result might
have "been different. He died in 1635. Though his investment yielded him
no return. Mason gained an honored name. One may visit today the ancient

church of Domus Dei, at Portsmouth, England, and behold four standards
and a tablet, raised in memory of Capt. John Mason, a "faithful church-
man, devoted patriot and gallant ofificer, * * * ^^g founder of New
Hampshire," a memorial gratefully put there in 1874 by five men and two
women of this Pascataway region, some of them his descendants.

We thus see not only that Thompson in 1625 had not been sent over by
the Laconia Company, but that his coming did not widen out to the extent
of the grand purposes just outlined. It should be mentioned in passing that
while the fur trade of Canada gave impetus to the movement in 1631. it

was the intention of Mason, as one of the company, that the building up and
developing of a plantation in this neighborhood engaged likewise in the
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fisheries and other pursuits, should go hand in hand with the carrying on
of the great trade that they expected would come here.

The ambitious design of the Laconia Company, as may well be imagined,
created a stir and bustle upon our river. In 1630, a bark, belonging to George
Griffith, one of the Laconia partners, the Warwick of eighty tons and carry-
ing ten pieces of ordnance, sailed from Plymouth for the mouth of the Pascat-
away. She brought over Capt. Walter Neale, a soldier who was to act as

governor, and Ambrose Gibbons, the factor of the company.
As soon as the Warwick arrived Neale took up his residence in the house

built by Thompson. About this time, through some means not as yet clearly

to be made out, this house appears to have become the property of Capt.

John Mason, or of the Laconia Company. Neale's orders were to start in

September to discover a route to the Iroquois country. But some cause
of delay ensued, and he wrote home that it was too late in the season for

him to make the attempt. Another ship, the Pied Cowe, came over that

year. Both vessels returned to England and were ready the next season to

sail for the plantation.

The Warwick arrived here in September, 163 1, bringing passengers, the

most distinguished of whom was Capt. Thomas Cammock, a nephew of

the Earl of Warwick. After a short stay, the bark sailed for Virginia, and
went some distance up the river Potomac. She came back to the Pascataway,

arriving in February, 1632. These details are to be gathered from a journal

kept by Henry Fleet, her factor, the MS. of which was discovered a few years

ago and printed.

In 1632 another ship, the John, was employed in bringing over goods.

In the years 1631 and 1632, a number of men, suited to the work of beginning

a plantation, came over in these vessels ; or, some may have taken passage in

other vessels of which we have no record. The incoming probably continued

for two years longer.

From the Belknap papers we obtain a list of names numbering between

fifty and sixty men, of the stewards and servants sent by Capt. John Mason
into New Hampshire. There were twenty-two women, showing that some

of the settlers brought their wives with them; no doubt there were children

not enumerated. A large proportion of this company, to judge from their

names, came from Devon and Cornwall. There was a sprinkling of foreigners

of the laboring class, styled Danes in one account, and spoken of in a later

record as Frenchmen. They were eight in number, but we do not know

the name of any one of them.

Of those that came over between the years 1631 and- 1634 (for such is

the period to which this list of names may be apphed), there were not a few

the descendants of whom, bearing the name, are yet to be found in this

neighborhood. We may mention, for instance, Vaughan, Femald, Johnson,

Rand, Sherburne, Canney, Goddard, Seavey, Berry, Brackett, Pickering. •

This period marks the beginning of a continuous and growing settlement

here upon the Pascataway.

I ought to have said that the Pascataway patent covering both sides of

the river was granted by the Council, on November 3, 1631, to Gorges and to

Mason. Mention is made in the patent of the "house and chief habitacion
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at Pascataway wherein Capt. Walter Neale and the colonie with him

now doth or lately did reside, together with the garden and corn grounds

occupied and planted by the said fcolonie and the salt works already begun."

Later, Mason divided the territory with his partner Gorges, the former

retaining the New Hampshire side of the river, while Gorges took that part

which is now in the State of Maine.

A portion of the force thus sent over by the Laconia Company went

up the river about fifteen miles, and settled at Newichewannock (Berwick

Falls). Others took up their abode on Great Island (New Castle), which

for many years continued to be the most important, as it was the most popu-

lous part of the settlement. Here they promptly occupied the northeastern

projection of the island, known to this day as Fort Point, where they planted

guns to command the river,—the forerunner of the Castle, of Fort William

and Mary and of Fort Constitution, as these works were successively named.

The settlers up the river built a house and surrounded it with palisades,

meaning that it should be an important post for the projected fur trade.

They set up a saw mill there, which was kept busy getting out lumber for

their buildings. They experimented with the planting of vines, but it did

not prove successful: A little later Mason sent over a stock of neat cattle.

They appear to have been kept at Pascataway. The company also furnished

shallops, fishing boats and skiffs for the carrying on of a fishery.

Of these newcomers Renald Fernald was a surgeon; William and Hum-
phrey Chadbourn were master builders. One of the Chadboums (I believe'

it to have been William) built at Straw Berry Banke, probably in 1631, the

Great House, at the southwest corner of what is now Water and Court
streets. A letter of instructions from London, dated 5th of December, 1632,

to Gibbons, who had become discouraged with his work at Newichewannock,
and who proposed to remove to Saunders Point near Sagamore Creek,

opposite Great Island, announces the fact that the company had written to

Mr. Wannerton "to take care of our house at Straw Berry Banke." The
pleasing name of Straw Berry Banke, as we all know, was derived from
the circumstance that the river bank commanding that beautiful view from
what is now Church Hill, was in those early days rich in wild strawberries.

Unfortunately, our early records were almost totally destroyed by the
action of the selectmen in 1652, who copied out a few entries from the old
book into a new book. What became of the old book nobody can tell, though
in all probability it was long ago destroyed. We do not know, therefore,
whether a street or lane was ever laid out to start with.

The sole memorial that remains to us of an ancient date is the grant
of the Glebe (May 25, 1640). Nor is this an original. It is an entry in

the town book made as late as 1664, the selectmen finding the original on
file nearly worn-out pieces by passing through so many hands. So, they
had it copied into the records.

Here is an appropriate place for a word or two upon the subject of the
term_ of "Great House," as found in our early records. Two structures
acquired this name, one the original building put up by Thompson, at Pan-
naway. This subsequently became known as Captain Mason's house. Being
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larger than any habitation built for a single family, it naturally took the

name of Great House, to distinguish it from other and smaller dwellings.

A like reason accounts for the name applied to the building at the Banke.
Both these houses were doubtless intended not only to accommodate at the

outset a large number of inmates but also to furnish a secure place for

the deposit of stores. Not far distant from the Great House in a westerly

direction there was a great white rock. It is spoken of, at one place in

the record, as standing in the field of John Cutt.

The existence of two buildings each called the Great House has led to

a little confusion. For instance, Mr. Adams, under the year 1644, after

reciting the fact that Sampson Dane succeeded to Warnerton in the possession

of the Great House, says of the house itself, "there were attached to it about

a thousand acres of land, consisting of marsh, meadow, planting and pasture

grounds and mostly under improvement." Brewster follows this authority,

and also tells us that Richard Cutt occupied the Great House, and that about

the year 1685 it had fallen down, and the ruins were then visible.

Evidently, the source of information for both these statements is the

deposition of George Walton, given at the age of seventy years, and used at

the famous case of Allen against Waldron.. It is printed in the appendix to

the Annals. Examine this deposition closely, and you will see that Walton
V draws a distinction between the Great House at Pascataway, meaning the

house that Thompson built, and the Great House at Strawberry Bank. Of
the former he says :

"To the great house at Pascataway aforesaid there were adjoining about

one thousand acres of improved lands, marsh, meadow and planting grounds,

which were divided and parcelled out by the servants of Captain Mason
and others, the select, or prudential men (of the town of Portsmouth) as

they were so-called who still enjoy the same or their heirs and assigns, whereof

William Vaughan and his brother-in-law have a large share given them by

their father-in-law, Richard Cutt, and the said Great House, by the means

aforesaid, came to decay and fell down the ruins being to be seen, out of

which several good farms are now made."

What this means, is that at Little Harbor a very large tract of land was

appurtenant to the Great House, and that the house itself, having been

deserted, had fallen down, and Walton had seen the ruins. Hubbard appears

to have learned of this fact, and his language has the same significance. The
deponent means also that out of the thousand acres or more several good

farms had been made.

On the other hand, the Great House, at the Banke had land appurtenant

to it, but there is no authority that we know of for saying that the planting

grounds were of the extent of "about a thousand acres.'" Moreover, it is

capable of demonstration that the house had not fallen in ruins in 1685.

It is two or three times referred to in records much later than that date.

In August, 1692, Samuel Penhallow conveys to John Snell a "lot near the

house in which John Partridge now dwelleth commonly called the Great House

in the town of Portsmouth" (Rockingham Records VI, p. 151). There is

no reason to believe that this structure, built as it undouJatedly was, of heavy

timber, was at any time ever deserted, or that it ever fell into ruin.
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It may have been burned, or because of its size the owner may have

thought fit to take it down rather than repair it. One who cares to search

the records might discover the date when it ceased to exist as the Great

House.
Walton's deposition, at its close, makes it perfectly clear that a large

part of what is now Portsmouth was originally planting grounds and pasture

belonging to the Great House on \A'ater street.

PORTSMOUTH NAMED

For thirty years from the first settlement, we might roam through forests

without leaving the present limits of the thickly settled part of Portsmouth.

The growth of the colony was slow, the Great Island portion being more

rapid than at the Bank. In 1653 there were but fifty or sixty families in

the limits of what now comprises Portsmouth, Newcastle, Greenland and

Newington. In May of that year the inhabitants petitioned the General Court

of Massachusetts for a definite township, and the privilege of taking the

name of Portsmouth. As this petition, obtained by Rev. Dr. Burroughs

from the file in the early documents in Massachusetts, has not been placed

in our town records or annals, we give it here, verbatim, for preservation

:

"To the hon'd Gen'l Court at Boston, this present month of May 1653.
,

The humble petition of the Inhab'ts of the Towne at present called Strabery

Banke, showeth. That whereas your petitioners petitioned to the last Gen'l

Court to grant to the P. Inhab'ts, a competent portion of land to make us

a township, whereby we may be enabled to subsist and be useful to the

church and Common'th. Our desire is, that this honor'd Court will be

pleased to show their favor and good will towards us, and willingness to

accommodate us to the uttermost. And for that purpose have desired the

honor'd Capt. Wiggins to bring his pattent to this present Court. Now it

may please this hon'd Court to take our case into consideration ; and to con-

sider of our extreme necessities, first in respect of the number of families,

which are between and 50 and 60, of W'ch some are constrained to remove
from what of land to accommodate them with their families stocks—secondly,

the qualities of the land wee live upon is soe badd, its incredible to beleeve
except those who have seen it—thirdly the place being settled a plantation,

the first of any in these parts, and our willingnesse in submitting to yr
government—fourthly, that all the neighboring plantations about us, w'ch
were settled since wee, have their townships settled and bounded; onely we
as yet have none—fifthly, that whereas there is much benefit by saw mills
in other townes in this river and adjacent townes there is none in this town
but onely one, w'ch was never perfected no likely to bee. We humbly intreat
his honor'd Court to take into theire view this necke of land w'ch we live
upon; w'ch nature itselfe hath bounded with the maine sea and river, as
may be scene by the draft of the river, w'ch was presented to the last Gen'l
Court, and now presented againe by our deputie, w'ch necke of land is farre
less than any neighboringe towne about us. The desire of yr humble petit'rs
is, that this hon'd Court would grant us the necke of land, beginning in the
great bay at a place called Cotterill's delight, soe runninge to the sea according
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to the former petition. And whereas the name of this plantation att present
being Strabery Banke, accidently soe called, by reason of a banke where
straberries was found in this place, now we humbly desire to have it called
Portsmouth, being a name most suitable for this place, it being the river's

mouth, and good as any in this land, and your petit'rs shall humbly pray.
"Brian Pendleton Richard Cutt and
Renald Fernald Samuel Haines,
John Sherebourn In behalf of the rest." '

On this petition it was first proposed to postpone "because of Mr. Mason's
claim on the land," afterwards granted 28 May, 1653, allowed to be called

Portsmouth, "and the line of this township of Portsmouth to reach from
the sea by Hampton lyne to Wynnacot river, leaving the propriet'rs to their

just right."

The people living here had, about ten years before, put themselves under
the control of the Massachusetts authorities. Those authorities, however,
did not create or incorporate our town. They had no power to do that. The
town had existed previously, with all the rights and privileges that grew out
of the association into a community, under a "Combination" some time
prior to 1640. The authorities of the Bay simply recognized that the free

and independent people here wanted to have the limits of their township
definitely marked out. Besides, they wanted a name that would take rank
with some of the great names of English towns. Straw Berry Banke was
pleasing, but Portsmouth was a little grander; and, as they argued in their

petition, more suitable since it was a safe port at the river's mouth.
But the other and our real birthday is identical with the date of the first

settlement of New Hampshire. As yet nobody can point to precisely what
day of what month this honor belongs. All that we know is that the fateful

event fell upon a day in the early spring. Let us hope that it was a bright,

clear, sunshiny morning, with the spring birds singing—when, in 1623, an

active energetic man, with his young wife and a handful of followers and
servants, landed upon what is now Odiorne's Point, for many years a part

of Portsmouth, but now in the town of Rye.

That day's doings was a plain, business-like procedure, though of great

moment from the standpoint of local history.

I have said that we do not know the precise date of Thompson's landing.

Ninety years ago, when the spring of 1823 was coming on, our fathers

cast about to determine what date should be assigned for a grand celebration.

They fixed upon the twenty-eighth of May as being that which in their

judgment approached nearest to the anniversary of the actual time. But

it having been found for some reason inconvenient to adopt the twenty-eighth,

they finally settled upon Wednesday, a week earlier, as the day for their

exercises.

The twenty-first of May, 1823, was a red-letter day in the history of

Portsmouth. The town was crowded with visitors.

The Oilman Blues led ofif as escort. Then came in full force the school

children, bringing their masters along for company. The Mechanic Associa-

tion and the Free Masons were also in line. Then followed the orator of the
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day, accompanied by the poet, and sundry distinguished personages. There

were the clergy, the judges and other civil officers, while the army and navy

were represented from the fort and navy yard. The procession passed

through some of the principal streets to the North Meeting House, where a

brilliant throng of ladies were filling the spacious galleries.

Nathaniel Appleton Haven, then in the prime of early manhood, delivered

the oration. One or two original odes, set to music, were finely rendered by

the Portsmouth Handel Society.

If the Hterary feast were ample, so was the dinner, which came off at

Jefferson Hall, at half-past 2 in the afternoon. More than two hundred

gentlemen partook of the fare, which, the record tells us, consisted "chiefly

of fish of all known names and cooked in all possible variety." Among the

guests of distinction one finds the names of Jeremiah Mason, Daniel Webster,

Joseph Story, George Ticknor, and John G. Palfrey. In response to a toast

Webster spoke of his love for his native state, and of his happy associations

of nine years with his former home in Portsmouth.

The festivities of the day were concluded by a briUiant ball in the evening,

in the hall of the Franklin House. Nearly four hundred were present. The
sides of the ballroom were covered with pictures of prominent persons who
had flourished at Portsmouth before the Revolution—the Wentworths,

Jaffreys, Waldrons, Wibirds, Pepperrells, Moffatts, Sherburnes, Sparhawks
and many another.

Altogether, it was a great day. Out of these memorable exercises sprang

into life the New Hampshire Historical Society, which with rare felicity

dates its organization in Portsmouth from May 21, 1823.

Every fact, no matter how trivial, which throws light upon the venture

begun on these shores, in 1623, is of value in the eyes of all who take an
interest in the early annals of Portsmouth. The sum of our information,

however, we are obliged to confess, is as yet small and insignificant. The
figure of the leader of the enterprise is but dimly outlined, though during the

last fifty years the veil has once or twice been lifted for a moment by tlie

discovery of a document or of a record entry thus affording a glimpse that

was denied to our fathers.

At the initiative stage of our local history nobody appears to have thought
it worth his while to write down an account of what was going on around
him in the hope that some day it might prove of interest to a descendant.
Here and there a stray paper has been preserved, a business letter, a bill of
goods or a memorandum of work done. A few depositions are still on file

in the court records used as they were in some suits brought many years after
the events which they mention had' occurred. But such a document is not
explicitly to be relied upon. An old man who is telling what he thinks that
he recalls as happening half a century earlier, may be pardoned for an occa-
sional want of precision.

To Dr. Jeremy Belknap, the historian of New Hampshire, a schoolmaster
at Portsmouth and minister at Dover from 1767 to 1786, we owe a debt
of gratitude for the pains with which he hunted up and saved every scrap of
ancient document that he could lay hands upon. He began none too soon.
Nathaniel Adams, the author of the "Annals of Portsmouth," relied almost
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wholly upon Belknap in collecting the events of the opening pages of his

admirable volume.
Portsmouth must ever hold Adams in grateful remembrance. For many

years he was clerk of the court, and in that capacity became familiar with
old records, a familiarity that suggested no doubt his taking the wise step
to prepare and publish the Annals in 1825, a brief history of the town
arranged under the heading of the respective years.

A like sentiment of obligation has been richly earned by the late Charles
W. Brewster, the author of two volumes of "Rambles About Portsmouth,"
first published in 1859. The dullest reader may not fail to note how large is

the proportion of interesting material that would have been lost forever had
it not been for the foresight of this lover of his native town.

A word of appreciative mention is likewise due to the "Portsmouth Guide
Book," by Miss Sarah H. Foster. The pages of this little book, unpretentious

but really valuable, breathe an air of refinement as not the least of its literary

charms.

The Rev. Charles Burroughs and the Rev. Andrew P. Peabody have
each left behind them contributions to the history of Portsmouth that I need
not say are of enduring worth.

A third historian who dealt with this early period of New England,
although touching to a slight extent only upon New Hampshire, 'was William
Hubbard, the minister of Ipswich, ordained there in 1658. When he died,

in 1704, he left a MS. history which was published in 181 5. Doctor Belknap
placed a greater degree of confidence in Hubbard's narrative than local

historians of the present day are willing to accord. Hubbard, of course,

labored under many and great disadvantages. Documents discovered since

show that not a few of his statements are incorrect. Still, his pages are

profitable when read in the light of our later knowledge.

On the 22d of April, 1635, Mason obtained for himself, after discourage-

ments and failures on the part of the previous company, a grant of the lands

"between Naumkeag and Piscataqua," which, "with the consent of the

Council, shall henceforth be called New Hampshire." It seems that after

this grant Mason had great hopes and plans; he calls his whole grant on

the Piscataqua "my country of New Hampshire, or Mannor of Mason Hall;"

he doubtless had large expectations of some manor hall, with its surrounding

estates, and of an inflowing fortune, but death put an end to all his dreams,

leaving to another generation only an inheritance of lawsuits, which, amidst

the perplexing grants to successive companies and individuals, given with little

geographical knowledge, disturbed, convulsed, and embittered the settlement

for many years. It was this high hope and this grand residence in the future

which formed the only reality of a Mason's or manor hall at Little Harbor.

There never was any such building. The settlers who came over in the

Warwick doubtless occupied the houses at Little Harbor which were built

by Thompson,
It may be well to advise one not familiar with the facts that much that

hitherto has been published of the settlement here, and of the character of the

early planters, should be taken with a grain of allowance. Until recent times

the early history of New England has been written almost exclusively by
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men who, though no doubt meaning to be fair-minded, were either Puritan

themselves, or strongly imbued with the Puritan prejudice.

No one knew more accurately or minutely the facts of our early history

than the late John Elwyn. The following extract, though caustic, is true

enough; and I quote it to emphasize the need of the caution just mentioned.

"The stream of the early history of New England," says Mr. Elwyn, in his

remarkable sketch entitled "Some Account of John Langdon," "has been
so corrupted by the subsequently predominant Puritan faction, who troubled

themselves about nothing that did not go to their own glory, in their phrase,

the glory of God, that one half the world think this coast was unvisited until

about the time it was honored by their presence. In all likelihood the English
came to the Pascataway for fifty years before. Cornish fishermen did not
print their voyages then more than Yankee fishermen do now." (XX N. H.
State Papers, 850.

)



CHAPTER VIII

I^ORTSMOUTU—(Continued)

The Church of England—Early Rectors and Governors—Settled Conclu-
sions—Death of Mason—Abandonment of the Settlement by his Widow—
Under the Jurisdiction of Massachusetts—Claim of the Mason Heirs—

•

The First Church—Richard Gibson—Pulpit Supplies—The Cutt Brothers—A New Meeting House—Pews and Seating—Early Laws and Rulers.

The Church of England.—It has been charged against the early settlers

here that they were fishermen, or that they came merely for business purposes.

Many of them doubtless found the fisheries the most profitable enterprise,

and Smith sets forth the importance of that occupation and says, "Honorable
and worthy countrymen let not the meanness of the word fish distaste you,

for it will afford as good gold as the mines of P'otassie or of Guiana, with

less hazard and charge, and more centainty and facility." They were fisher-

men, but there were some very humble fishermen on the shore of the sea of

Galilee who have played quite an important and respectable part in the history

of the world, and it is true that the reason for the settlement was chiefly

commercial; the colony, as most of the colonies is North America, except

Plymouth, were sent over by merchants or came themselves to trade, and

many of the troubles, the misfortunes, and want of prosperity in this settle-

ment was owing to the fact that the proprietors had so little personal super-

vision over the settlers. They did not come to establish religious liberty for

themselves, nor did they make a constant talk about their piety, but there is

every reason to suppose that their general character was as good as that

of their neighbors in the Bay Colony. They were, however, supporters of

the Church of England, and therefore bitterly denounced by the Massachusetts

Colony. In spite of the assertions which have been handed down generation

after generation and repeated without examination and without reflection, that

this was merely a business settlement, a worldly and ungodly colony, while

the saints were all at "the Bay," it is easy to show that the purpose of the

founders was to make this a branch of the Established Church of England,

and that this runs through all the charters. In the one to Gorges, in 1639, we

find granted to him "full power, license, and authority to build and erect or

cause to be built and erected soe many churches and chappelles there on to

the said Sir Ferdinando Gorges, his heirs and assigns shall seeme meete and

convenient, and to dedicate and consecrate the same according to all the

ecclesiastical laws of this our realmc of England," defining furthermore all

309
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his rights and privileges to be the same that the bishop of Durham had in

the kingdom of England. In the earliest efforts made by the city of Bristol,

the first inducement held out is "to plant the Christian religion," and that

"the one of trafific, be it never so profitable, ought not to be preferred before

the planting of Christian faith." One of the first expeditions under Gosnold

which reached our coast carried with it a chaplain. Royal orders and instruc-

tions were issued requiring religious worship to be conducted as in the Church

of England. Gorges' son Robert, who arrived in Massachusetts in 1624 to

take superintendence of the churches to the great dismay of the settlers there,

brought with him a clergyman of the English Church. One of the Puritan

writers, referring to a settlement on the coast of Maine, rejoices "that one

Episcopal colony is terminated, and its anticipated influence to advance the

interests of the national church on our soil is hastily prevented;" and speaking

of the settlement at. Exeter, "thus the Granite State commenced its existence

under the auspices of energetic and honorable proprietors, who proposed to

give it the durable impression of Episcopacy as the efficient handmaid of

royalty." In another place, referring to the efforts of Gorges at colonization,

we find "his great preferences to have it done by sons of Episcopacy rather

than by those withdrawn from its protection and rewards."

Gorges himself, in defending his company against various charges before

the House of Commons, says, "I have spent £20,000 of my estate and thirty

years, the whole flower of my life, in new discoveries and settlements upon
a remote continent, in the enlargement of my country's commerce and domin-
ions, and in carrying civilization and Christianity into regions of savages." ^

All these are testimonies that the aim of the proprietors and settlers was quite

as truly religious as usually characterizes such enterprises. But their religious

views were Episcopalian, and just at this period bitter strife reigned between
Puritans and Episcopalians, and the strife in the old country was transferred

to these shores. All the proprietors interested in the settlement were of the

Established Church, and it was only natural that all the settlers who came
out under them should be zealous in that faith. Gorges and Mason, Godfrie
and Neal, Gibbons and Chadbourne and Williams, and all the names which
appear on the colonial records were doubtless of this faith, and the colonies

at the Piscataqua and the Bay were carried on with the same spirit that two
rival and highly-excited parishes would be at the present time, only intensified

by the more bitter theological hatred of that day. The leader of the Massa-
chuse'tts colony even rejoiced at the death of Mason, as a proof of the
Almighty's retribution upon the Episcopal settlement at the Piscataqua and
his favor towards them. Governor Winthrop writes, "The last winter Capt.
Mason died. He was the chief mover in all attempts against us, and was to
have sent the General Governor, and for this end was providing ships; but
the Lord in mercy taking him away, all the business fell on sleep." Among
the earliest inventories of the colony's goods we find mention of service books,

1 In Mason's will we find instructions to convey one thousand acres of his estate
here^ for and towards the maintenance of an honest, godly, ajid religious preacher of
God's word, in some church or chapel or other public place appointed for divine
worship and service within the County of New Hampshire, and also provisions for
and towards the maintenance of a free grammar school for the education of youth.
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of a flagon, and of cloths for the communion-table, which show that pro-
visions for worship were not neglected, and of what form the worship was.

Early Factors, or Governors. Anecdote of Mather.—After the departure
of Thomson, and until the arrival of those sent out by the Laconia Company
in 1630, our information about this settlement is slight and indefinite. Then
came Neal as governor, after his departure Godfrie, with Warnerton at

Strawberry Bank, then Williams as governor in 1634. The colony began
to extend over Great Island and along the bank of the river. A rude fort

was built on the northeast point of Great Island, "about a bow-shot from the

water-side to a high rock, the site of the present Fort Constitution." Under
Williams, who is spoken of as a gentleman, a discreet, sensible man, accom-
plished in his manners and acceptable to the people, the first attempt at any
combination for order and defense was made. It is related that Neal went
on a journey of discovery to the White Mountains and the lakes, and gives

a somewhat glowing account of them : "The summit was far above the clouds,

and from hence they beheld a vapor like a vast pillar, drawn up by the sun-

beams out of a great lake into the air, where it was formed into a cloud,"

but their hopes of mines and precious stones were dimmed. At another time
Neal forbade a man who was about to begin a settlement at a point a short

distance up the river. The dispute which arose was about to be settled by
the sword, when a wiser thought suggested to each it would be braver not

to fight, and so the place, known to the present generation as Nancy Drew's,

was called Bloody Point, not on account of what actually happened, but

what might have occurred in the event of a duel. Just before Neal left some
trouble arose between him and the governor of the Massachusetts Colony.

It was charged against Neal that he did not call to see the governor in

Boston on his way to England, but Neal urged that he had not been well

entertained the first time that he was there; that letters he had written had
been opened in the Bay, and except he were invited he would not call. Win-
throp says the letters were opened "because they were directed to one who
was our prisoner, and had declared himself an ill wilier to our government."

But political honor was rather low at that day, and if, even at a later period.

England's prime minister confessed that he had no scruple in opening the

letters of a political rival, the conduct of Massachusetts' governor can be

excused. Yet the incident shows that no papal inquisition ever exceeded the

scrutiny of all persons or documents which came into the neighborhood of

the Puritans. Warnerton seems to have been a wild and dissolute character.

Winthrop says he lived very wickedly and kept the Piscataqua men under

awe of him, while Warnerton, trying to collect a debt from one of the Bay
Colony, called him rogue and knave, but added they were all so at the Bay,

and he hoped to see all their throats cut. Whether he ever did anything worse

than opening letters does not appear, but the incident reveals the general

feeling that the two settlements cherished towards each other. All the early

Puritan representation of this colony were in the same strain, and in return

the bitterness of the eastern settlement against the Massachusetts was quite

as great.

A Piscataqua man being in England in 1632 said of the Massachusetts

planters, "They would be a peculiar people to God, but all goe to the Devil;
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they are a people not worthy to Hve on God's earth ; fellows that keep hoggs

all the week preach there on the Sabbath; they count all men out of their

church as in a state of damnation."

John Josselyn, of Black Point, writes of the founders of Boston
:

"The

chief objects of discipline, religion and morality, they want. Some are of a

Linsie-woolsie disposition, of several professions in rehgion, all, like the

^thiopeans, white in the teeth only, fttll of ludifiication and injurious dealing

and cruelty, the extremist of all vices. Great Syndics or censors, or con-

trollers of other men's manners, and savagely factious among themselves."

Settled Conclusions.—It seems that at this day it will never be possible

to establish to the satisfaction of the careful historian several dates, and to

explain several events in the early settlement of the Piscataqua, on account

of the confusion arising from the first patents, which seriously complicated

the different ownerships, from the absence of sufficient trustworthy evidence,

and from statements of the first writers, made without investigation, and

repeated until they have been believed to have the authority of truth; but

enough appears determined from the recovery of the indenture of David
Thomson and careful research into the conflicting patents to regard it hence-

forth as settled that the credit of founding the Piscataqua colony belongs

entirely to Thomson, and that he had nothing to do with the Laconia Com-
pany; that this colony was permanent, and that the one at Dover was several

years later; that after the settlement by Thomson passed into the hands of the

Laconia Company, the efforts and interests of Mason really begin; that the

references to "Mason Hall," or "Mason's Manor Hall," which in so many
records give such a pretentious sound to this settlement, do not apply to any
building at Little Harbor, and if to any to a house called the "Great House,"
built by Chadbourne in 163 1 at Strawberry Bank, but belong rather to the
ambitious claims of his descendants at a much later date, and that the ani-

mosities , and invectives which disfigure all early intercourse between the
Massachusetts and the Piscataqua may be traced first to religious differences,

and next to the overlapping and conflicting demands of successive grants
given to different companies or individuals without any accurate knowledge
of the boundaries of this new realm.

Death ofMason.—Mason, however, evidently preserved his faith in the
ultimate profits from all investments at this place, and on the 22d of April,
1635-, obtained a grant by the Plymouth Council of a very large tract which
covered both his former charters and was to extend sixty miles from the
"first entrance of Pascataway Harbor," to take in "the South halfe of the
Isle of Shoulds," all which was to be called by the name of New Hampshire,
together with ten thousand acres on "the South East of the River of Sagade-
hock," to which was to be given the name of Masonia. In the midst of all
the expectations from the settlement of such vast possessions Mason died, as
we have seen, in the latter part of this same year, leaving for his heir' an
infant grandson.

Abandonment of the Settlement by His Widow.—For a time Mason's
widow attempted to carry out her husband's plan in regard to the colony and
evidently with as great a faith in its ultimate success. One Francis Norton
was sent out in 1638 to look after her interests, but she soon wearied of the
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large and constant expenditures and the deferred income; the settlers so far

away, and soon conscious that the authority and oversight of the former pro-
prietor were gone, began to take advantage of their situation to look out
chiefly for their own interests, to divide the property among themselves for
their wages, and Mrs. Mason, if she did not abandon her legal right, evidently

in despair gave up all hope of carrying on the plantation, and ceased to pro-
vide for its needs.

Under the Jurisdiction of the Massachusetts.—The only government which
appears in this colony from its settlement until the year 1640 was that of
the stewards, or as they received sometimes the more dignified title of
governor; such were Neale, Jocelyn, and Norton. There was no idea for a
long time of any self-governing state, or any rule apart from that of the home
sovereignty ; they went on as loyalists and members of the Established
Church, with perhaps as much quiet and order as other settlements, but as

their numbers increased, and the resolution to make a permanent colony
became more fixed, efforts appear towards the establishment of a more formal
and authoritative government. In this year a combination was entered into

with Francis Williams, governor, and Ambrose Gibbons and Thomas War-
nerton, assistants. But for some time previous to this the way had been
preparing for the Piscataqua to come under the jurisdiction of the Massa-
chusetts. The latter colony soon found that the charter of Massachusetts
Bay was not as extensive as they had supposed, and had hardly become estab-

lished before they began to reach out towards and covet the lands covered

by the patent to Mason ; the doubtful expressions in which these grants were
conveyed made it easier to force an interpretation in agreement with their

desires, and the more flourishing and powerful condition of the Massachusetts

would have accomplished the purpose even earlier were it not for the different

political and religious sentiments which prevailed at the Piscataqua. For
several years, amidst all kinds of plottings and quarrelings, ambitious schemes

and desire for greater protection, efforts at union were made and repelled,

until it was finally accomplished in 1641, and the Piscataqua passed under

the jurisdiction of the Massachusetts. Hugh Peters, an agent of the latter,

after spending some time here, in the spring of that year reported to Governor
Winthrop that the Piscataqua people were "ripe for our government; they

grone for government and Gospel all over that side of the country. Alas!

poore bleeding soules." From 1641 for a period of almost forty years, or

until the commission of Cutt, the first Provincial President of New Hamp-
shire, under whom the new government began on the 21st of January, 1679
or 1680, the sway of the Massachusetts over their settlement was complete.

But it was not harmonious. It was entered into out of the most selfish con-

siderations on each side, and preserved amidst constant contentions, opposi-

tions, and open revolts. In 165 1 the residents at Strawberry Bank openly

rebelled and attempted to escape from this jurisdiction, and again in 1664.

There was a constant detestation of the union, which for prudential reasons

they felt it necessary to abide by, and all the time they saw the influence of

a party whose faith they bitterly op'posed gaining ground among them.

Their indignation appears in their petitions to their sovereign. In July,

1665, we find.one headed by the distinguished Champemowne, and signed
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by the leading settlers, which sets forth among other grievances that "five

or six of the ritchest men of this parish [meaning of course those who had

become prominent under the power of the Massachusetts] have swaied &
ordered all offices both civill and mihtary at their pleasures; none of yor

Honos peticonrs, though Loyall subjects, & some of them well acquainted

with the Laws of England, durst make any opposition for feare of great

fines or long imprisonment, & for want of estates could riot peticon home to

his Matie for relief, which the contrary party well knoweth, have kept us

under hard servitude and dehye(i us in our publique "meeting the Common
prayer, Sacramts, and decent buriall of the dead, contrary to the Laws of

England." They also plead that they have been denied the benefit of free-

men, that their lands have been taken away from them, and their grants dis-

owned. Another petition about the same time asserts, "to theire great greife"

that the sway of the Massachusetts has kept them from the good they

expected, and so prays that they may be joined to the province of Maine,

so "that they may be goved by the knowne lawes of England, and enjoy the

use of both the sacramts wch they have been too deprived of," and they

particularly mention Joshua Moody, Richard and John Cutt, and a few others,

who were evidently leaders of the Puritan party and stanch upholders of the

Massachusetts. By the year 1677, however, the Puritan influence had so far

overcome the Church of England power that a petition with many names
and much weight appears against any change, saying that they • voluntarily

subjected themselves to the Massachusetts government, and have not repented

of it, that it has been a long-enjoyed and desired benefit which they fear to

lose. "Wee are men 3^ desire to fear ye Lord & ye King, & not to medle with
them yt are given to change, as well knowing what confusions, distractions,

& Damage changes of governmts are not unusually attended with."

The most effectual petition, however, was probably one from Mason
and Gorges, praying for a governor for the province of Maine and New
Hampshire, on account of the injustice of the Massachusetts, "their violent
intrusion and continued usurpation." This petition was received the 9th of
January, 1677, and, as we have seen, the commission of President Cutt was
sent out in December, 1679.

Claim of the Mason Heirs.—While all the intrigues and animosities in
regard to the rule of the province were going on, another element of dis-
turbance and angry feeling was thrown into this colony, the claim of the
Mason heirs. It was, perhaps, the shadow of this impending difficulty which
persuaded some to seek alliance with the Massachusetts, thinking thereby
to gain their favor in the courts. Mrs. Mason, soon after her husband's
death, was discouraged at the constant outlay required by the settlers, and
gave up the whole enterprise. It was but natural, as she heard of the colony's
growth and of a more stable government, to assert her claim to this region,
and to seek some return for the great outlays Mr. Mason had made. But
a few years of neglect would inevitably make vast changes in a new settle-
ment even with the most honorable stewards and laborers, and in the midst
of such conflicting grants there was easy opportunity for fraud of every kind,
while the very accumulation of unpaid wages would in a brief period make
the settlers feel they had earned all the possessions. As a matter of history
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it was fifteen years before we find any protest from the attorney of Mrs.
Mason against cutting timber on her lands along the Pascataway, and eighteen
years before the first petition of Joseph Mason to the magistrates and deputies
of the General Court in Boston, relating the expenses Mason had been at

under the Laconia patent, and praying for some redress against the encroach-
ments upon his property by the inhabitants of Strawberry Bank. Of course,

each year, as the prosperity of the settlement increased, the more determined
grew the heirs of Mason to recover their estate here, and in the lapse of time
the statements of his expenditures were greatly exaggerated, and the necessity

of maintaining their case led to the most bitter accusations and the most
intense feeling on all sides, and what was at first a simple claim was aggra-
vated by an appeal to all the political and religious interests which had been
aroused just at that period both in England and in this settlement. In March,
1674-75, Robert Mason, the grandson and heir of John Mason, asserts his

title to New Hampshire. He rehearses in a long petition the history of

the settlement, the expenses of Mason, the unfaithfulness of the agents, the

inability to recover anything through the General Court of Massachusetts,
and his own vain attempts and costs to recover his estates here. Then, again,

as the hope strengthened that his Majesty would appoint a president for

New Hampshire, the claims of Robert Mason are reasserted at great length,

with the added argument of a royal and church interest and fidelity from the

beginning, and rehearsing the unjust laws which had been passed to confirm

to the colonists the lands upon which they have been settled for years with-

out any attempt at alienation, and what he himself had expended. Of course

these claims were met by counter claims and charges, and all the fault was
surely not on one side. As early as 1676 we find the depositions of several

old settlers, whose testimony cannot all be worthless, and who on oath "doe
affirm that Capt. John Mason did never settle any government nor any people

upon any land called ye province of New Hampshire, on the south side of

Piscatqa River, either by himselfe or any of his agents to this day. And
whereas Mr. Robert Mason, his grandchild, by his petition to his maty charges

ye governors of ye Massachusetts or ye Bostoners, as he calls them : ffor tak-

ing away their govermt in a way of hostility; burning of their houses and

banishing their people out of their dwellings, they doe affirme the same to be

positively false." This fruitful source of discord embittered the whole colony

long after the appointment of the first president.

The First Church.—The early religious interests of the Piscataqua were

all centered in the Established Church of England. All those of any promi-

nence were of that faith, and of course the settlers they sent over were of

the same, and in the inventories of goods belonging to them we find provi-

sions for that worship which doubtless was observed at Little Harbor and

at the "Great House," which stood on what is now the corner of Court

and Water streets; but it was not until after the death of Mason that we
find them taking any steps for the erection of a church. On the 25th of

May, 1640, we find the grant of the glebe land in Portsmouth as follows:

"Divers and sundry of the inhabitants of the Lower end of Pascataquack,

whose names are hereunder written, of their free and voluntary mind, good

will and assents, without constraint or compulsion of any manner of person
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or persons, have granted, given, and contributed divers and several sums of

money towards the building, erecting, and founding of a parsonage house

with a chapel thereto united, as also fifty acres of glebe land which is annexed

and given to the said parsonage." We find in this same grant the names

of the first church wardens and that Mr. Richard Gibson has been chosen

to be the first pastor. This first church was erected near where the Universalist

Church now stands, and probably in the year 1638, for there is a tradition

that Gibson preached and baptized in it in the month of August of that year.

His salary was f6o and a house was to be built for him.

Richard Gibson.—Richard Gibson was educated at Magdalen College,

Cambridge, from which he took the degree of A. B. in 1636, and in that year

appears as the minister of a colony at the Saco River, to which he had been

brought by Mr. Trelawney. In seeking for some further information con-

cerning this clergyman. Rev. James DeNormandie was brought into corre-

spondence with an aged gentleman residing at Ham, Pl3miouth (England),

Mr. Collins Trelawney, a descendant of the one who had a grant of land

near Portland, and who cherishes a hope that it is not too late to recover the

estates which belong to his family in that region, including the whole city of

Portland, a far more gigantic scheme and forlorn hope than the attempt of

the Mason heirs.

The ministry of Gibson appears not to have been one of perfect peace, for

in the Maine "Records" we find him complaining against a man for calling

him a "base priest." and he says that he is much disparaged thereby in his

ministry; so that it is evident the Episcopal settlements here and along the

coast of Maine were not without some elements of Puritanism, as, on the

other hand, in the Massachusetts there constantly came to the surface some
elements of Episcopacy. Mr. Gibson, between the years 1638 and 1642,
preached at the Saco settlement, at the Shoals, and at Strawberry Bank.
In the latter year he was summoned by the General Court of Massachusetts
for the crime of marrying and baptizing at the Isle of Shoals according to
the ritual of the Church of England. Winthrop's account of the matter runs
thus

:
"At this General Court appeared one Richard Gibson, a scholar, sent

some three or four years since to Richmann's Island to be a minister to a
fishing plantation there belonging to one Mr. Trelawney, of Plimouth, in
England. He removed from thence to Pascataquack, and this year was
entertained by the fishermen of the Isle of Shoals to preach to them. He,
being wholly addicted to the hierarchy and discipline of England, did exercise
a ministerial function in the same way, and did marry and baptize at the
Isle of Shoals, which was soon found to be within our jurisdiction."

Gibson wrote to the minister at Dover, asking for help in opposition to the
jurisdiction of the Puritans; but they were stronger in the contest, and he
answered the demand of the marshal, and in 1642 appeared before the Genera]
Court. Either because the court recognized the fact that it had no authoritym the case, or because he submitted himself to the favor of the court with the
determination to leave the country, he was dismissed without fine or imprison-
ment, and soon after. This was one of the first fruits of the efforts of the
Puritans to settle a country where freedom to worship God as he pleased
should be every one's privilege.
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Gibson is everywhere spoken of as accomplished and scholarly, but no
gifts nor graces could count for anything while he was an open defender of
the England Established Church.

Pulpit Supplies.—Soon after the union with the Massachusetts we find

in those records this item : "It was ordered that the elders should be desired

to take the care of the inhabitants of Strawberry Bank into their considera-
tion and then help for providing a minister for them." One was soon found,
who, being a Puritan, it was easy for Winthrop to consider "a godly man
and a scholar,"—a Mr. Parker, of Plymouth,—but he was not an ordained
clergyman. After his departure we find one after another supplying for a

short time, the Episcopal element heartily and voluntarily contributing to their

support rather than have no services, and this continued until the year 1658,
when the long and eventful ministry of Joshua Moody begins.

The Cutt Brothers.—^Some time before 1646 there came from Wales three

brothers, Robert, Richard, and John Cutt, who were to have a large influence

in all the affairs of this colony. Major Cutt, a descendant, when at the siege

of Louisburg, met an English officer by the name of Cutts, and upon becom-
ing acquainted, they found they had sprung from the same family; so there-

after the major added an j to his name, as did all the descendants of the

family in Portsmouth. Robert settled at Great Island, and was a strong

Episcopalian and royalist. Richard settled first at the Shoals, and became
owner of most of Star Island in its day of greatest prosperity, and after

making his wealth removed to Portsmouth and was interested in all its

afifairs. John settled in Strawberry Bank, where he came into possession

of the Great House, and was a merchant of prominence, honor, and esteem.

At the time of his prosperous business course the principal part of the town
was built about the Point of Graves.

A New Meeting-House.—^On the 27th of August, 1757, John and Richard

Cutt, with Pendleton, Seavey, and Sherburne, were commissioned by the town
to build a new meeting-house, not now a chapel, but still the term warden

is employed. The settlement was so widely scattered and embraced such a

great reach of territory that it is not surprising there was even at this date

some difiference of opinion as to where the new church should be located.

After a long discussion and the appointment of referees to hear the reasons

of all parties, the following conclusion was reached : "Wee whose names

are under written, being deputed to consulte and determine the difference

betweene the inhabitants of Portsmouth concerning the placinge of theire

meeting-house, upon the arguments aledged on either side doe judge and

alsoe conclude all reasons weighed that it is upon all respects considered the

meatest and most commodious place to erect a meeting-house is the little hill

ajoyninge to Goodman Webster's poynt." The tradition has it that Good-

man Webster kept a place of entertainment, and in that day the location of

the meeting-house near by might be judged not altogether without its con-

veniences. Doubtless the importance of New Castle and the travel by that

road had something to do with determining the situation; at all events the

new meeting-house, the second place of worship in Portsmouth, was built on

that "little hill" just beyond the South Mill Bridge, on "the crotch of the

roads" (as an old record has it) leading to the pound and Frame Point, or
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what is now just by the parting of the roads leading to New "Castle and the

South Cemetery, while the old chapel was converted into a house for the

minister. Of this building there is a description minute enough to recon-

struct it, and to this came the inhabitants from the wide domain of the town

without any too tender regard for distances or for storms, from Rye, Green-

land, New Castle, and Warrington, to hear the word and tell the news.

Pews and Seating.—In the increasing prosperity of the settlement the

new meeting-house was soon filled to overflowing, and we find a record in

1660 that the selectmen, in order to regulate the confusion occasioned by

the crowd, "placed the women in their seats as commodiously as the room
will afford." From time to time leading parishioners were granted permis-

sion to build, at their own cost, seats or pews for themselves in various parts

of the house, seats and pews of varying length and breadth, so that the aisles,

or alleys as they were called, ran among the seats, and it was not until 1693
that the pews were made according to one regular order. We find the choice

of a sexton to ring the bell and make clean the meeting-house for £4
a year; and a man engaged by the town at 20 shillings per annum "for

to look after the demeanor of the boys at meeting" ; and a vote that five or

six persons should have liberty "to build a pair of stairs up to the west-

ward beame within the rheeting-house, and a pew upon the beam," for their

own use and at their own charge ; that "strangers are not to be discommodious
to the meeting-house" ; and that no boys should be suffered to sit on the

stairs or above stairs, and that no young men or young women offer to

crowd into any seat where either men or women are seated.

Ea^ly Laws and Riders.—After the erection of New Hampshire with a
royal province, under President Cutt, we trace the operations of an estab-
lished and authoritative government through the acts of a general assembly.
We find it framing a code of laws, comprising sixteen "capital," twenty-
seven "criminal," and forty-five "general laws." Here is what constituted
drunkenness in that day : "By drunkenness is to be understood one yt lisps

or falters in his speech by reason of overmuch drinke, or yt staggers in his
going, or yt vomits by reason of excessive drinking, or yt cannot, by reason
thereof, follow his calling." Here is the law against scandal or malicious
gossip, or the dealers in false news: "That wt p'rson soever, being 16 years
of age, or upwards, shall wittingly or willingly make or publish any lie wch
may be tending to ye damage or hurt of any p'ticular p'son, or wth intent to
deceive & abuse ye people with false news or reports, shall be fined for every
such default los., and if ye p'tie cannot or will not pay ye fine, then he shall
sit in ye stocks as long as ye court shall thinke meete ; & if' the offenders
shall come to any one of Councill & own his offense, it shall be in ye power
of any one of ye Council aforesd to execute ye law upon him where he liveth,
& spare his appearance at ye court; but in case when ye lie is greatly p'nicious
to ye Comon Weall, it shall be more severely punished, according to ye nature
of it." See Hoyt's "Notes on Laws of New Hampshire."

President Cutt died in 1682, and was succeeded temporarily by his deputy
Richard Waldron, a prominent and active man in the colony, and a zealous
friend of Massachusetts, until the appointment and arrival of Cranfield as
lieutenant-governor and commander-in-chief, and with powers greatly exceed-
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ing any of his predecessors. His commission begins thus, "Whereas our
colony of the Massachusetts (alias Massathusetts Bay), within our dominion
of New England, in America, hath taken upon themselves to exercise a govern-
ment and jurisdiction over the inhabitants and planters in the towns of

Portsmouth, Hampton, Dover, Exeter, and all others ye towns and lands in

our Province of New Hampshire, lying and extending itself from three miles

northward of Merrimack River into the province of Maine, not having any
legal right or authority so to do, the said jurisdiction and all farther exer-

cise thereof we have thought fit by the advice of our Privy Council to inhibit

and restrain for the future. * * * Now know ye, that we, reposing

especial trust and confidence in ye prudence, courage, and loyalty of you,

the said Edward Cranfield, Esq., out of our especial grace, certain knowledge,
mere motion, have thought fit to constitute and appoint you our lieutenant-

governor and commander-in-chief of all that part of our province of New
Hampshire," etc. His commission has also these words, "and above all

things we do by these presents will, recjuire, and command you to take all

possible care for the discountenance of vice and encouragement of virtue and
good living, that by such example the infidels may be incited and desire to

partake of the Christian religion ; and for the greater care and satisfaction

of our said loving subjects in matters of religion, we do here by will, require

and command that liberty of conscience shall be allowed unto all Protestants,

and that such especially as shall be conformable to the rites of the Church of

England shall particularly be countenanced and encouraged." This is the

exception which is always understood with liberty of conscience, especially

to favor our own, and such an exception gives unbounded liberty of perse-

cution to a narrow and bigoted official. In "liberty of conscience" and a

desire to establish it there is not anything to choose between Puritan and

Episcopahan in this period of excited controversy; neither knew what it

really meant, each claimed it only so far as it suited his own interest or

prejudices ; so history everywhere gives a partial and false impression by the

emphasis which the writer lays upon the injustice done to those with whom
he happens to sympathize. In the "Notes on the Laws of New Hampshire,"

above quoted from, we find (page lo) this passage: "The Rev. Mr. Moodey,

the only minister in Portsmouth during the administrations of Cutt and

Cranfield, refused to baptize the children of some of his parishioners accord-

ing to the ceremony of the English Church, though often and earnestly

requested." Liberty of conscience seems to have been interpreted by him

to mean intolerance of any conscience but his own. Yet no one who has

read the history of this period with any freedom from bigotry would venture

to say there was any less intolerance on the part of Cranfield, while, if

enlightenment of conscience by a pure and noble life could be counted upon,

Moodey was by far the more acceptable life.

Governor Cranfield left the province in May, 1685, and was succeeded

for a short time by Walter Barefoote, his deputy, until the commission of

Dudley in May, 1686, and he in turn was followed by Andros from Decem-

ber, 1686, to April, 1689. Then for a period of eleven months the province

was without any government until it was reannexed to the province of Massa-

chusetts on the 19th of March, 1690. During this period, as is shown by



120 HISTORY OF ROCKINGHAM COUNTY

the careful paper of Mr. Charles W. Tuttle on "New Hampshire without

Provincial Government," the attacks of Indians, especially the tragedy at

Dover, in which the venerable Richard Waldron, one of the most prominent

men in these settlements, and a number of the inhabitants were slain, and the

dangers from the French revealed the weakness and insecurity of these sepa-

rate colonies, and forced them for self-protection to join with the Massa-

chusetts, under whose rule the Piscataqua remained until Samuel Allen was

commissioned as governor of the province, August 13, 1692. His son-in-

law, Usher, was appointed with him as lieutenant-governor, a man, as we
shall see, particularly objectionable to the people on account of his arbitrary

interest and action in the Mason claims. Partridge, the Earl of Belmont,

Dudley, and WilHam Vaughan successively administered the .government

of this province, either as governors or lieutenant-governors, until the com-

mission of John Wentwprth as lieutenant-governor, signed by the distin-

guished Joseph Addison as secretary of state, was published to the province

on the 7th of December, 1717, and the more settled history, government,

and prosperity of the province begins, as well as the longer reigns of its

rulers.

John Wentworth was the son of Samuel Wentworth, the first of the name
in Portsmouth. He lived on the south side of what is called Puddle Dock. At
that time the vicinity of the Point of Graves was the business part of the

town, and in 1670 is the record that Samuel Wentworth was licensed with
"libertie to entertain strangers and sell and brew beare." In 1727 the town
granted permission to build a bridge over the cove or dock, now called Liberty

Bridge, but at that time the cove extended farther into the town, so that at

high tide boats passed over Pleasant Street to the South Creek or mill-pond
by the Universalist Church.



CHAPTER IX

PORTSMOUTH—fContimied)

The Mason Claims—Theological Movements—Early Clergymen—Cranfield
and Moodey—Imprisonment of Moodey—Mr. Moodey's Interest in Har-
vard College— His Death— The Ministry of Rogers— The Half-zvay
Covenant.

Mason Claims.—During all this period, to the government of which we
have briefly referred, and even to a much later date, the petitions and efforts

of the Mason heirs were fruitful of the most constant and serious disturb-

ance to the province, and of course with a legal if not an equity claim. In

1681 we find a petition, signed by most of the prominent settlers, setting forth

that "the great matter of difficulty now amongst us is referring to Mr. Mason's
pretensions to the propriety of the lands we possesse, some countenance to

his clayme whereunto he hath gotten in yor Majtys Commission under the

broad Seal, which we cannot but thinke has been by inderect meanes and
untrue informations (in wch he abounds) obtained. Wee are informed yt

he has no authority, Authentique, Originall, or Duplycate, of any grant for

the soyle, nor hath he in any measure attended the scope of such grant (if

any such had been made to him), viz. : the peopHng of the place and enlarg-

ing yor Majtys Dominions, both which have been vigorously attended by

the present Inhabitants. The vast expense of estate is mostly if not merely

a pretence. An house was built in this province, but the disbursements laid

out were chiefly in the Neighbouring Province of Meyn, on the other side

of the River, and for carrying on an Indian Trade in Laconia, in all wch
his grandfather was but a partner, however he would appear amongst us as

sole proprietor." The petition states at length how Mason has tried to

substantiate his claims by the signatures of persons of no influence or account

in the province, and adds, "These subscribers are the generality of the whole

province, yt are householders and men of any principles, port, or estate."

This is met by a counter petition from Mason, requesting all the acts of

the governor and company of the Massachusetts Bay to be declared void

and illegal, and that "the petitioner may not be any- longer kept out of his

inheritance by the continuance and practices of evill minded men."

After Cranfield assumed the government here and had looked into this

disturbing element, we find him writing that "Mr. Mason hath much mis-

represented ye whole matter, both as to ye place and people. * * * in-

stead of being ready to own Mr. Mason as their Proprietor, they are very

121
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slow to admit of any person except their Sovereign Lord, the King, to be

their Lord Proprietor." In the same paper he adds, "Touching Ecclesiastical

Matters, the attempting to settle ye way of ye Church of England, I per-

ceive willbe very grievous to the people, However, Mr. Mason asserted yt

their Inclinations were mch yt way. I have observed them to be very dili-

gent and devout in attending on yt mode of worship wch they have been

brought up- in, and hath been so long settled among them, and seem to be

very tenacious of it, and am very thankful for His Majties gracious In-

dulgence in those matters."

In 1691, Robert Tufton Mason, to whom the estate of his brother, John

Tufton Mason, had descended, sold his whole claim in the province of New
Hampshire to a merchant in London, Samuel Allen, for the sum of seven

hundred and fifty pounds, a paltry sum after the statements of expenditures

and the prosperity of the colony, or a proof that the confidence in his legal

claim or the hope of recovering anything had nearly vanished. One of the

chief reasons for Usher's unpopularity was his attempt immediately upon

arriving to secure into his own possession all the papers relating to the

Mason claims. For some time, through the determined opposition of

Pickering, a man very prominent in the early history of the settlement in

both church and state, he was prevented, and at last after succeeding, and

after many discussions and legal attempts, a peaceful solution of the long

standing' contention was about reached when Allen died and his son carried

on the strife. Again, in 1746, John Tufton Mason, still claiming a title to

the realm of New Hampshire, sold it in fifteen shares to twelve persons

prominent in the province, who at once released to all the towns the lands

which came under the old grants, and Mason's claim forever fell asleep.

Two or three conclusions are evident from a careful review of the whole
matter,—that Mason was not the original founder of this colony, but the

one who carried on the original settlement by Thomson to a successful issue

;

that he was one who by a long and generous interest showed his unwearied
faith in its final success ; that he doubtless spent large sums upon this colony
without any encouraging returns; that after the settlement was by his heirs

for a long time abandoned there is every reason to suppose the wages of his

colonists and their labors to build up the province fairly entitled them to

most of the possessions here, and that most of the claims made by succeed-

ing generations of heirs were manifestly exorbitant and unjust. But, on
the contrary, when in "Notes on an Indenture of David Thomson and
others," recently recovered among the papers of the Winthrop family, it is

said, "New Hampshire has but little cause to cherish his (Mason's) memory;
and he would probably have been forgotten but for the accidental revival

of his name by the claims of his heirs, who used them as an instrument to
annoy and perplex the' settlers on the soil, who had acquired a right to their

homesteads and farms by long undisturbed possession," .we think we find

here the old spirit of the Massachusetts to belittle the character of the
settlers at the Piscataqua, for there is no reason to suppose that Mason was
not an honorable, loyal, generous, and good man.

Theological Movements.—The change in the Piscataqua from Episco-
pacy to Puritanism, was made during one of the most excited ecclesiastical

periods in history.
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The turbulence and bitter personalities which filled all England, both
in church and state, are equaled but two or three times in history.

Now it was at the very culmination of these troubles that our settle-

ments were made, the Bay Colony by the Puritans, Maine and New Hamp-
shire, the Piscataqua by the adherents of the Established Churches. The
first chapel on Pleasant Street was built, and Richard Gibson, the first min-
ister of the Piscataqua parish, preached in it the very year (1638) that
Episcopacy was abolished in England, and the glebe with its chapel and
parsonage was given by the inhabitants to the wardens and their successors
forever, just on the eve of the civil war in England. Can anyone at all

acquainted with the bitterness of party feeling, either in politics or theology,
fail to see a sufficient explanation of the constantly repeated charges against
the Piscataqua settlement that it was begun and carried on simply in the

interests of trade, and by men who had no religion, for to the Puritans
Episcopacy was no religion? On the other hand, does not the same height
of party feeling lead us to suppose that the supporters of the Established

Church at this point did everything with reference to its perpetuity, if for

no other reason because it was, even though weak, an open testimony to their

cause in the very face of Puritanism? No one can wish to question the

purity of life or the praiseworthy sacrifices of many of the Puritans, or

that the first settlement of the Plymouth Colony was made singly in the

interests of religious liberty; but the spirit of colonization at that time per-

vaded all classes about alike, and the character of the various settlements

soon became much the same.

The settlements along the Maine coast and at Piscataqua were strictly

in the interests of the Established Church;. and without making any claims

for the special godliness of their members, the testimony is ample that

though the kind of religion was different from the Bay Colony, there was
just as much interest in the kind. When the expedition under Popham
reached the Maine coast in 1607, as soon as they land they listen to a

sermon from their preacher, Richard Seymour, and as soon as they dis-

embark they build a church.

It is easy to see, therefore, that all the heat of ecclesiastical troubles in

the old country was reproduced in these neighboring settlements. The ques-

tion then arises, How did the Episcopal parish here pass so rapidly and

completely under the control of the Puritans? The solution is not afar.

In the first place, as in the Bay Colony some elements of Episcopacy appear,

so there were doubtless some of Puritanism already here from the begin-

ning. Next, with the greater influence and fear of the Massachusetts colony,

all her efforts were directed towards hastening the supremacy of Puritanism.

We find a record that a merchant of London writes to John Winthrop, Jr.,

"there are honest men about to buye out the Bristoll men's plantations on

Piscataqua, and doe propose to plant there five hundred poor people;" and

a little later Bristol merchants who had bought the patents of Edward Hilton

sell them to purchasers by the encouragement of Massachusetts, "in respect

they feared some ill neighborhood from them;" whereupon one of the Puri-

tan historians writes, "As these new proprietors were of Puritan preferences

and principles, such a consideration must have been very welcome to the
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Bay authorities, who naturally wished to be surrounded by those who labored

for the same great cause of reformation."

To the ecclesiastical enmity which separated the colonies at the Bay and

at the Piscataqua there must be added a political animosity also, arising from

the feeling on the part of some that the Bay Colony had assumed here a

jurisdiction which never justly belonged to it, a feeling which seems to have

remained deep-seated and active even to the time of the appointment of the

first governor of the separate province of New Hampshire.

In 1664 the king appointed commissioners to visit all these colonies and

collect testimony in regard to the many complaints which had reached the

court. The appointment of it created great opposition by the Bay Colony,

and great consternation at the Piscataqua. The religious and political dif-

ferences ran so high that the commissioners found hard work and ill treat-

ment awaiting them. John and Richard Cutt, who seem to' be the leading

selectmen of Portsmouth, sent a messenger post-haste to Boston for advice,

saying that although "our people the five to one are in their hearts for the

Bay, yet they have fears that the king's commissioners will gradually take

advantage upon us by secret seducing the ignorant and ill affected, then will

openly prevail with the rest;" but when the commissioners came and held

their meeting at Portsmouth, one Henry Sherborne (the same who was a

church warden), when it was demanded who would be under the immediate
government of the king and renounce the Massachusetts, "the sayd Henry
Sherborn sayd, 'one and all for the King,' or in words to that effect."

Such are the incidents which reveal to an impartial consideration .the

true condition of the colony, its various divisions, its theological and political

excitement, and its personal animosities.

In the light of this historical sketch we find then a far safer and more
sufficient explanation of the early matters of our settlement than it has
been customary to give. All the charges that it was made only in the in-

terests of trade, and that it was wholly irreligious, or as Winthrop says,

that it was the usual manner (some of them) of the colonists here to coun-
tenance all such lewd persons as fled from the Bay here, as if our settlement
was composed of that class of persons, fall to the ground. The accusation
has the common sound and taint of the party feeling which ran at that
time so high. Many early settlers both at the Bay and here were of the
highest class of colonists who ever left a mother-country, and many were
of that restless nature moved by the numberless motives which fill all new
settlements. As human beings they were pretty much the same, as wor-
shipers they were widely apart and greatly embittered against each other,
but the settlement at the Piscataqua I have satisfactorily shown was planned
and supported enthusiastically in the interests of Episcopacy.

In the light of this historical review we find the only true explanation of
another point which has been as steadily misunderstood or misrepresented.
If the first parish and church were Episcopal, how is it that all the services
after the departure of Gibson were by Puritan ministers, and that the chapel,
parsonage, glebe land, and all the appointments for public worship were
transformed with seemingly so little public or long-continued opposition to
the Puritans?
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In the first place we must give up all those suggestions which, if they
did not show themselves as too partisan, would be too absurd, such as that
the forms of the deed were expressed according to the Church of England,
and appropriate church terms were used because no other were at hand;
that the deed was purposely drawn so as to leave the form of worship to
be decided from time to time. Would anybody have reasoned thus if a
Catholic priest had been chosen, or the glebe land come under the Romanists'
patronage, or that the adherents of the Established Church, in assenting to
the worship they were powerless to prevent, did ever see in the change any'
perversion of the original intention and employment of the gift? We all

well know that churches are never thus indifferently founded, and that the
denominational spirit is not so readily transferred, and does not so readily

die out. If we could ask Walford and Sherborne, the first wardens, or
any of the little congregation of churchmen who, in that little log chapel
on Pleasant Street, saw the Puritan minister, Parker, oflficiate in the winter
of 1642 without robes, and without the Book of Common Prayer, whether
there was in that any perversion of the provisions for the maintenance of a
church, can there be any doubt what their reply would be?

The parish had been gathered, the chapel and parsonage built, and the

glebe land set apart with no other thought than that the worship according
to the Established Church of England would be perpetual in the Piscataqua
settlement, but the proprietors and supporters of the settlement died, and
their estates came into new hands. Some of the leading churchmen of the

colony went elsewhere or died, and of course many of the settlers were as

willing to support the worship of one church as another, and some were
earnest for Puritanism. The Bay Colony, as we have seen, was far more
populous and prosperous, and even reached as far as England to see that

their neighboring settlers were of the same faith. The jurisdiction of

Massachusetts was established over the Piscataqua settlement just at that

time, and the very year the chapel was built Episcopacy was abolished in

England. If all the records which a sectarian zeal made way with were

extant, we should doubtless find more open opposition to the rule and wor-

ship of the Puritans than we do, but the Episcopalians could no longer

support public services, and their numbers were soon almost lost in the

rapid increase of Puritans. In secret, without a doubt, they trusted that

the Established Church would soon be triumphant, the combination with

Massachusetts be dissolved, and the king confirm to them all the rights of

their chapel and worship. That time never came. It remained for them to

worship in their own chapel under other forms or to have no pubHc worship

at all. They did the former, and even Sherborne himself became much
interested in subsequent ministrations of the South Parish, and in the build-

ing of the Second Church.

The Puritans, too, could not as I see have done or been expected to do

otherwise. There was the unused chapel and parsonage and glebe land;

perhaps no one thought of objecting to their worshiping in it. When Sunday

came round, as a company of travelers in distant lands and of divers faiths,

they were all glad of some kind of worship, and went to what they had. As
to their appropriating it as their own thereafter, that was what either side



128 HISTORY OF ROCKINGHAM COUNTY

was doing to the other whenever it could during that long period of eccle-

siastical anarchy, and justice from one bitterly excited sect towards another

is something which is still remanded to a Sunday's meditation rather than

to the consideration of a parish meeting.

I find not so much fault with what the Puritans did at the time as their

explanations of it afterwards, when a calmer survey of history, or a little

meditation upon the golden rule, ought to have taught them better, not so

much with what they did in the heat of theological warfare as what they

•attempted to justify in the calm of Christian worship.

With the departure of Gibson in 1642 the public services of Episcopacy

in the Piscataqua settlement came to an end. We shall find that it was

almost precisely a century before they were again opened, but not so as to

have any historical associations with the first parish and chapel of their

faith on Pleasant Street ; all the worshipers there had become a part of the

South Parish, and yet it is but a fair concession to the tenacity with which

we know persons hold to their inherited or adopted faith to regard it as

quite probable that during that century Episcopacy did not quite die out

among the descendants of the early worshipers.

The most important incidents in the recorded history of this settlement

now follow for a time the two or three principal pastorates. Joshua Moodey
began his ministrations in the year 1658, and the next year was regularly

settled as the minister of the town. He was bom in Wales in 1632, and
brought by his father to this country the following year. The family lived

for a time at Ipswich, and removed to Newbury in 1635. Mr. Moodey
graduated at Harvard in 1653, and began the study of theology. He preached

in the new meeting-house in Portsmouth with so much approval that a sub-

scription was taken for his maintenance for a year, and then he was called

to be the minister, yet such was the division of sentiment on account of

Puritanism and Episcopacy, preventing any permanent and hannonious
action, that he was minister of the town for twelve years before a church,

meaning thereby a body of communicants, was gathered. The Episcopal

element, though small, was so important and influential that in regard to

all matters pertaining to the minister's support it had to be regarded, and it

persistently opposed everything which tended to the strict organization of

Puritanism. The history of the formation of the church is still plainly pre-

served in Mr. Moodey's own handwriting in "A Book Containing Ye Min-
utes on Ye Church of Christ in Portsmouth, Anno., 1671."

"Portsmouth, N. E., Anno 1671.
"After many serious endeavors wch had been used by ye then minister of

ye place (since the pastor of ye Church there) in publig, & by severall of
ye Inhabitants in Private; ye Lord (without whose presence and Blessing
man builds but in vaine) was pleased at length to lay ye foundation of an
House for himself in this place, of ye Beginning and progress whereof here
follows a brief but true account. In ye winter of ye foregoing year [viz.,

1670] there were severall meetings together of ye minister with sev'll of
ye Inhabitants (who were members of other congregations) in ye country
& by providence settled Inhabitants in Portsmo', to discourse and confer
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about ye greate worke and necessary Duty of entering into Church Fellow-
ship, yt themselves might enjoy all- ye ordinances of ye Lord's House, &
theyr little ones also might be laid near God's Altars, and brought up under
ye Instruction & Discipline of his House. Nor could they yt were members
of other churches any longer satisfy themselves to live without ye enjoy-

ment of those edifying & strengthening ordinances yt theyr soules had in

some measure formerly tasted ye good of, tho' now for some yeares been
kept from ; others also, well affected to ye, worke, professed theyr longings
after those fatt and marrowed things in God's house, and theyr readiness

t joyne with yue in helping to build if they should be found fitt for ye
same.

"Hereupon sev'll assembled in Private & sought ye Lord by fasting &
prayer yt. hee would discover to us a right way (there being many feares

and discouragements before us) for ourselves and little ones (Ezra viii.

21, 22, 23), and wee hope wee may say hee was entreated of us, as ye Event
hath in some measure (blessed bee his name) made manifest."

Then follows an account of private meetings, which were continued

several days, to discuss the subject and arrange the conditions of church

membership; meetings of inquiry as to relations of one to another, so that

they could freely unite in the same society; of consent to several sermons
delivered by Mr. Moodey upon the subject in the latter part of 1670 and
beginning of 1671 ; of a committee appointed to "acquaint the Civill"

authority of their purpose; of an invitation sent to other churches; of their

attendance with the civil authority; of a sermon by the pastor, and the

ordination of the pastor by several of the elders, and of the ordination of a

deacon by imposition of hands and prayer.

The nine persons who were embodied and formed the first communicants
were Joshua Moodey, Mr. John Cutt, Mr. Richard Cutt, Elias Stileman,

Mr. R. Martyn, James Pendleton, Samuel Haines, Mr. John Fletcher, and

John Tucker. So widely were they scattered that Stileman was from New
Castle, and Haines from Great Bay, at Greenland.

CranHeld and Moodey.—-It seems from the language of Cranfield's com-

mission that one of the principal objects of his appointment was to settle

the serious difficulty constantly reappearing in the colony in regard to the

claims of the heirs of Mason. His descendants, under the lead of Robert

Mason, Esq., one of Cranfield's council, came to reassert their right to

most of the land here, which had been greatly improved, and the titles to

which having been derived from the government of Massachusetts Bay, the

judges in England had set aside. The most serious disturbances the colony

had yet known now began. Cranfield's residence was at Great Island, now
New Castle, where a number of the leading colonists lived. Of course,

Cranfield and Mason became at once objects of bitter hostility to all the

settlers, who, without any or with no good legal titles, began to fear the

loss of their possessions. The home government had decided that on account

of great expenses which the ancestors of this Robert Mason had incurred

upon their grant of land at the Piscataqua he had a claim upon the estates

here. Mason agreed with the home government to demand nothing for

the time past, nor molest any one in the time to come, provided the tenants'
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would pay him sixpence on the pound on a just and truly yearly value of

all their estates. If no settlement could be made upon these terms, the cases

were to be sent to England for decision. It is easy to see the tumult into

which the colony was thrown, it being determined almost unanimously that

the claims of Mason would not be satisfied. Each house became the seat of

a secret conspiracy. All conversation was about the claims of Mason and

the unpopular governor at Great Island. The result of it was that Cranfield

could not settle the difficulties, adjust the claims, nor resist the wide-spread

opposition, nor, as it has generally been represented, obtain any personal

advantages from the office. Complaints were made against him, and

listened to by the government, that he had attempted to settle himself cases

which ought to have been sent to England, and he left the province in 1685.

Whether it was because Cranfield was sincerely desirous to favor the Estab-

lished Church, or whether he used this plea to cover up plans for self-

aggrandizement, or whether it was because the Rev. Mr. Moodey, as one

of the most influential men of the settlement, was in the way of his success.

Governor Cranfield soon came to an open rupture with Mr. Moodey. A
ministry of twenty-four years at the time Governor Cranfield came, and
steadily increasing in favor and influence, had given to Mr. Moodey a sway
in all local as well as parish matters which could not easily or safely be

disputed, and that Mr. Moodey was not unwilling to use it appears from a

letter of one Chamberlain, secretary of the province and justice of the peace,

wherein it is stated that Mr. Moodey was "archbishop and chief justice too."

The occasion for an open rupture between the head of the state and
the head of the church came in 1684. In that year one of the leading charac-

ters of Great Island, George Jafifrey, a constable, and a prominent merchant,
was brought before the court for some evasion or infringement of the

revenue laws, but for some reason legal proceedings against him were stayed,

and he seemed about to escape. Mr. Jaffrey was, however, a member of the
church worshiping at the old South, and it came to the ears of Mr. Moodey
that there had been some false swearing in the matter, and when the state

let Mr. Jaffrey go the church took him up. Mr. Moodey brought Mr. Jaffrey
before the church for disciplne, against the command of the governor, and
in the end obtained from him an open confession of his wrong, a confession
so sincere that, instead of provoking him, it led Mr. Jaffrey to be aifterwards
an active, useful, and leading man in the church. Thereupon a short time
after Governor Cranfield issued an order that after the ist of January
ensuing all the ministers within the province should admit all persons of
suitable years and not vicious or scandalous in their lives to the blessed
sacrament of the Lord's Supper, and their children unto baptism ; and if any
persons desired the sacrament, or their children to be baptized according to
the liturgy of the Church of England, it be done accordingly under penalty
of imprisonment of the clergyman refusing and the loss of all the profit
of his spiritual benefices. This was in accordance with a statute of Oueen
Elizabeth, but it was also in conflict with a later statute granting Hberty of
conscience unto all Protestants,—a provision as we have seen plainly made
in Cranfield's commission, and' also in conflict with a provision of the church
in not permitting one who was not in holy orders to administer its sacra-
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ments, and Mr. Moodey had not been ordained to the Church of England
ritual. In spite of all this the arbitrary and enraged governor sent word to
Mr. Moodey. soon after that on a following-named Sunday he should attend
worship at his church and receive the sacrament according to the service
of the Established Church. The order reads very much like the reported
command of one of our colonels in the late war, ordering out a battalion of
men to be baptized, so as not to be surpassed by a revival in another regiment.
The governor sent also to Rev. Seaborn Cotton, of Hampton, saying that

when he had prepared his soul he would come and demand the sacrament
of him, as he had done at Portsmouth. Whether the governor ever pre-
pared his soul is not a matter of history, but without waiting for that the
minister of Hampton at once fled to Boston. It was not so with the more
courageous minister of Portsmouth. Mr. Moodey refused to obey the

governor, saying, "I told the marshall I durst not, could not, should not do
it," whereupon complaint was made against him of violating the statute of
Queen Elizabeth; "that the said Joshua Moodey, being the present minister

of the Town of Portsmouth, in the province of New Hampshire, . . .

by the duty of his place is by laws and statutes of the said realm of England
required and commanded to administer the sacrament of the Lord's Supper
in such manner and form as is set forth in the Book of Common Prayer
and administration of sacraments and other rites and ceremonies in the

Church of England, and shall use no other manner or form than is men-
tioned and set forth in the said book. Whereas the said Joshua Moodey
in contempt of the said laws and statutes hath wilfully and obstinately

refused to administer the sacrament of the Lord's supper, according to the

manner and form set forth in the said Book of Common Prayer unto the

Hon. Edward Cranfield, Gov. of his Maj. in the Province of N. H., and
others of his Maj". Council of the said Province, and doth wilfully and
obstinately use some other form than is by the said statutes ordained, Therer

fore, &c., doth pray that the said Joshua Moodey being thereof convicted

according to the Law, may suffer such penalties as by the said statutes are

made and provided." In another information against Mr. Moodey praying-

for judgment against him that he might suffer the penalties of the statute

we find this expression : "The said Moodey having for many years had the

appearance & reputation of a minister of God's word." It seems that the

justices were divided in their opinion, two holding that he was not liable

to the penalty on accourit of the liberty of conscience granted to all

Protestants here, and four holding that he was. Mr. Moodey himself, at

the quarter sessions the Sth of February, 1684, upon examination pleaded

"his not being ordained, having no maintenance according to the statute,

and therefore not obliged to do that work which the statute required.

Besides, these statutes were not made for these places; the known end of

their removal hither being that they might enjoy liberty in these foreign

plantations which they could not have by virtue of the statutes at home, and

were allowed to have here, especially our commission granting liberty of

conscience." But it was all to no purpose, for the governor had determined

upon his imprisonment, and to the prison at Great Island Mr. Moodey went.

There is preserved a letter of one WiUiam Vaughan, who was imprisoned
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about the time, containing a journal with comments of current events. He
writes, "Above all, our minister lies in prison, and a famine of the Word
of God is coming upon us. No public worship, no preaching of the word.

What ignorance, profaneness, and misery must needs come." Under date

of February lo, 1684:

"The Sabbath is come, but no preaching at the Bank nor any allowed

to come to us. . . . Motions have been made that Mr. Moodey may
go up and preach on the Lord's day, though he come down to prison at

night, or that neighbor ministers might be permitted to come and preach,

or that the people might come down to the prison and hear, as many as

could. But nothing will do; an tmparalleled example amongst Christians,

to have a minister put out and no other way found to supply his place by one

means or other. Good Mrs. Martin was buried, being not able to live above

one Sabbath after the shutting up of the doors of the Sanctuary."

How many would die for that reason now? Mr. Martyn, one of ' the

first seven members of the church, was also imprisoned, and this journal is

authority for the remark that the governor said to him, "I want money and
will have it." "But," said Martyn, "I have none." Then said the governor,

"I will take you home," adding also that Martyn was a church-member,
and he would watch him and all such and be sure to pay them off if he
could catch them. In April, after they had been "nine Lord's days without
a sermon," Mason, in absence of Cranfield, gave leave for any minister to

come and preach at the Bank, whereupon Rev. Samuel Phillips, of Rowley,
came for two Sundays, the 13th and 20th of April.

We find this item under date of September 12th: "Mr. Joshua Moodey,
being to take a journey out of the Province, was forced to give a recognizance
of £200 to return in three weeks, if alive and well."

Mr. Moodey underwent imprisonment with a courageous spirit, and
writes during his confinement

:

"I told the court that I should go to prison with much more peace than
they sent me thither, and particularly applied myself to Roby, a church-
member, and told him that I had done nothing but what he was by solemn
covenant engaged to maintain, and wished him to provide against the day
when these things should be overhauled. . . . But blessed be God for
Jesus Christ, I am quiet and at peace. Thus I have many things that are
matter of repentance and shame to me, yet in this matter I am' abundantly
satisfied in my lot, and hope shall be a gainer, and that the cause of Christ
will gain by my sufferings. Only methinks I find it a hard matter to suffer
in a right manner. Something of stoutness of spirit, some other sinister
ends are apt to creep in and spoil suffering work. The Lord grant that I
may have grace so to carry it as not to lost aught that I have done and do
now suffer! I beg your hearty prayers for me, that with integrity and
sincerity I may cheerfully and patiently bear my cross till the Lord shall
give me a discharge."

There is another letter dated "From the prison, 27th ist Mo!, 1684"
i. e., March 27, 1684, in which he writes to Rev. Mr. Phillips, of Rowley
urging him to come to Portsmouth and preach:

"Oh, consider that my poor flock have fasted about forty days, and
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must now be an hungered ! Have pity upon them, have pity upon them^,

and thou, my friend! And when you have taken your turn we shall hope
for some other. You will thereby not only visit me in prison, but feed a
great multitude of the hungry and thirsty little ones of Christ, which will

be accounted for at that day. Pray come early enough in the week to give
notice to the people. (I do also in behalf of my dear and tender wife, thank
you for yours to her.) Now pray for me, that I may have an humble heart,
and that my whole soul, body, and spirit may be sanctified and kept blame-
less to that day."

Mr. Moodey was once allowed to leave the prison and make a short visit

to his family. He was released after thirteen weeks' imprisonment under a
strict charge to preach no more within the province on penalty of further
imprisonment, whereupon he removed to Boston, and was at once called

to be assistant minister with Rev. John Allen at the First Church, and at

once occupied a prominent place, and was held in the highest regard during
the eight years of his ministry. Mr. Moodey seems to have followed the

course of the justices who condemned him with a keen vision, and he
interpreted the disasters which befell them as a divine retribution for his

imprisonment, and in the church records he writes of them as follows:

"Not long after Green repented, and made his acknowledgment to the pastor,

who frankly forgave him. Roby was excommunicated out of Hampton
Church for a common drunkard, and died excommunicated, and was by
his friends thrown into a hole near his house for fear of an arrest of his

carcass. Barefoot fell into a languishing distemper, whereof he died. Coffin

was taken by the Indians at Cochecho, 1689, his house and mill burnt, him-
self not being slain but dismissed. The Lord give him repentance, though
no signs of it have yet appeared."

While Mr. Moodey was at Boston he became a fellow of Harvard
College, and upon the death of Rev. John Roger, the president, the dis-

tinguished honor of that office was offered to him, but declined.

It had doubtless been greatly owing to Mr. Moodey's interest in educa-

tional matters that in May, 1669, the inhabitants of Portsmouth sent to

the General Court of the Massachusetts the following address, to. which

Mr. Moodey's name is appended

:

"To the much Hon** the General Court of the Massachusetts assembled at

Boston, 20 May, 1669:

"The humble address of the inhabitants of the town of Portsmouth

humbly sheweth that seeing by your means (under God) we enjoy much
peace and quietness, , and very worthy deeds are done to us by the favor-

able aspect of the Government of this Colony upon us we accept it always

and in all places with all thankfulness. And tho' we have articled with

yourselves for exemption from publique charges, yet we never articled with

God and our own consciences for exemption from gratitude which to demon-

strate while we were studying, the loud groans of the sinking College in

its present low estate came to our ears. The relieving of which we account

a good work for the house of our God, and needful for the perpetuating of

knowledge, both religious and civil, among us and our posterity after us,

and therefore grateful to yourselves, whose care and study is to seek the
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welfare of our Israel. The premises considered we have made a collection

in our town of £60 per annum (and hope to make it more), which said

sum is to be paid annually for these seven years ensuing, to be improved at

the discretion of the Hon" overseers of the College for the behoof of the

same and the advancement of good literature there, hoping witha that the

example of ourselves (which have been accounted no people) will provoke

the rest of the country to jealously (we mean an holy emulation to appear

in so good a work), and that this hon"* Court will in their wisdom all meet

vigorously to act for divesting the sad omen to poor New England; if a

College begun and comfortably upheld while we were little should since now

we are grown great, especially after so large and profitable an harvest, that

this country & other places have reaped from the same. Your acceptance

of our good meaning herein will further oblige us to endeavor the approving

ourselves to be your thankful and humble servants.

"John Cutt.
"Richard Cutt.

"Joshua Moodey.

"in the name and behalf of the rest of the subscribers in the towne of

Portsmouth."

This address from the inhabitants of the town of Portsmouth was pre-

sented by Mr. Richard Cutt and Joshua Moodey, May 20, 1669, and grate-

fully accepted; and the governor, in the name of the whole met together,

returned them the thanks of this court for their pious and liberal gift to the

college therein.

The town of Portsmouth had then become the richest town, and the

occasion of the subscription was a general collection for the purpose of

erecting a new brick building at Harvard College. Dover gave thirty-two

and Exeter ten pounds for the same purpose. This interest in Harvard

College and the recollection that besides the election of Mr. Moodey to its

presidency, Dr. Langdon, of the North Parish, was also called to the same

office at a later period, Dr. Peabody, of the South Parish, fulfilling the

same duties temporarily at a still later period, and that Dr. Stiles, of the

North Parish, was called to the same office at Yale College, show how
greatly the strength and substantial character of our parishes were due to

their appreciation of and demand for an able, cultivated, and learned minister,

and how greatly the congregations have departed from so general and deep

an interest in true scholarship.

Mr. Moodey and Witchcraft.—But the one thing for which Mr. Moodey
deserves the highest credit, and which shows a mind enlightened and liberal

beyond. the current opinions of his day, is the part he took in the witchcraft

delusion, a delusion which, as we shall see at another time, hardly found any
spread or reception in our settlement. While he was settled over the First

Church in Boston, Salem was very much excited upon the subject, and
Philip English, an eminent merchant of Salem, with his wife, were sent to

the Boston jail by reason that the one at Salem was crowded with the

victims of this terrible persecution. Mr. Moodey took an early occasion to

call upon them and invite them to his church (they having the liberty of
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the town by day, on condition of returning to the jail at night), and preached'
from the text, "When they persecute you in this city f^ee ye into another,"
in which he justified every attempt to escape from the forms of justice
when justice was violated in them. After service he visited the prisoners
and advised them to flee, and offered himself to assist Mrs. English to
escape. After much reasoning he induced them to go, and had provided,
with the consent of the governor, for their escape from the prison at mid-
night. They reached New York and remained until the danger was over,
and yet so universally was witchcraft beheved in, even by many of the
best, that Mr. Moodey was severely denounced for opposing it.

Death of Mr. Moodey.—The long ministry of Mr. Moodey over the
parish at Portsmouth created an attachment which is revealed by the words
of tenderest sympathy while he was ministering to the First Church at

Boston. He writes that during his residence there "the church were often
visited by the pastor, and kept up theyr private meetings, and so held
together, tho' some removed and others were taken away by death."

In a letter to Increase Mather, then in England, he writes, "If you can,
in all your opportunities of waiting on his Majty find a season to thrust in

a happy word for iX)or N. Hampshire, who are under' lamentable circum-
stances. Mason is dead, but his sons survive, and possibly may be worse
than hee. You know how the poor people have been unreasonably harassed,
and to raise one family on the ruins of half a dozen considerable Townes
looks hard. 'Tis my affection to my people that has drawn this hint fro.

mee. I leave it to your consideration and pray for God's presence to be
with you." And again he writes, "If something could be done for the poor
province of N. Hampshire & Mein, it would be a good work."

The year after Mr. Cranfield drove Mr. Moodey to Boston he was him-
self removed from his office here, and though the opportunity was offered,

and Mr. Moodey constantly expressed the deepest interest in the parish here,

it was not until 1693 that he returned. The explanation is very easy and
satisfactory, if only we keep in mind the Episcopal element, which has been

so steadily ignored, and which must have been brought to the surface, and
probably was more important and influential than it had been since the

ministry of Gibson. The want of harmony in the parish was doubtless

such as to make him question the usefulness of his ministry, although never

without the cordial, earnest support of a large portion of the parish. In

July, 1688, Mr. Moodey ^wrote to Mather upon the subject, "I need exceed-

ingly your advice about going to Portsmouth, which is vehemently urged by

my church and people, and the next week we are to take counsell about it.

The church is dear to mee, and I could bee glad to be with them, but the

circumstances of my removing hence and being there are tremendous to

mee. Pray for mee daily." At length he removed his pastorate here, and

continued it for four years, when a dangerous illness seizing him from his

wearying labors he went to Boston for medical advice, and died there on

Sunday, July 4, 1697. His funeral sermon was preached by Cotton Mather,,

from the text, "Looking steadfastly on him they saw his face as it had

been the face of an angel," in which for all the virtues and gifts of a clergy-

man he is placed among the foremost of his day. "The church of Ports-
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mouth," he says (a part of the country that very much owed its life unto

him), "crys out of a deadly wound in his death."

That Mr. Moodey had an impressive manner, which left an influence

upon his hearers, I should judge from a trifling incident, that during the

time of rebellion under Cranfield, one Waldron, talking by the road with

another of the subject, said he had been thinking of a sermon he heard that

Mr. Moodey preached at Dover, and his text was "in the time of adversity

consider." That he hesitated not to bring all the influences of religion upon

the politics of his day may be judged from the deposition during the Corbet

conspiracy of one who testified Corbet had said Mr. Moodey's prayers were

but babblings, but withal he must be regarded as a man of distinguished

abilities, ceaseless industry, fervent piety, and during a long ministry in

a difficult field resolute in his sense of right, full of kindness and sympathy,

foremost in every good work, devoted to his parish, and faithful unto the

end.

The Ministry of Rogers.—The long ministry of Moodey ended in 1697,

and after several attempts to settle a clergyman, on the 3d of May, 1699,

Nathaniel Rogers was ordained minister of the town of Portsmouth. He
was bom at Ipswich, February 22, 1669-70, and graduated at Harvard in

1687.

His work was quiet, faithful, and successful, but although repeatedly

solicited to publish some of his sermons he always refused, and we have
nothing by which to judge of the character of his writings; and the influence

of his ministry, which in all respects appears the best, was unhappily greatly

lessened by a serious disturbance in regard to building a new church, which
for a long time embittered the whole neighborhood, and even extended
throughout the province.

After being the minister of Portsmouth for fifteen years, preaching in

the old South, Mr. Rogers was directed, by a vote of the church-members,
to ofliciate in the new meeting-house which had just been completed on the
northeastern corner of the glebe land, the site of the present North Church.
Here he remained preaching with acceptance and success for nine years
until his death, on the 3d of October, 1723, making a total pastorate of
twenty-four years five months. He was buried at the "Point o.f Graves."

The Half-way Convenant.—It is somewhat remarkable that with a clergy-
man sO strictly of the Genevan school as was Mr. Rogers his church should
under his pastorate adopt what was termed the Halfway Covenant, but in
the church records under date of April 21, 1707, we find the following:
"At a church meeting legally convened it was voted that persons having a
competent knowledge, and making a serious profession of ye Xian Religion,
and being of a conversation void of scandal, upon ye owning ye covenant,
and subjecting themselves to ye government of Christ in this church, shall
be admitted to baptism, and have the like privilege for ye children." It
would seem that to be well informed of Christian truth, and to seriously
profess to obey its requirements, to be of a walk and conversation free
from all reproach, to confess the creed, and to be entirely subject to the
Head of the Church would be sufficient to admit one to the questionable
salvation by the form of baptism, but such was the severity of the Geneva
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school that all this was only half-way. A man might be of an upright walk

beyond question, a glory of example of goodness to- all the world, and yet,

being without the formal test of election, redemption, and faith, all his

goodness was unavailing, and even might make against him. Nevertheless

this Half-way Covenant was for a time quite popular in New England, and

was in use in the new parish in Portsmouth until it was discontinued by

Dr. Putnam.



CHAPTER X

PORTSMOUTH.— (Continued.

)

Temperance—Use of Tobacco—Church Pews and Customs—Observance

of Sunday-^Cost of Living—Early Laws—The Massacre at the Plains

Temperance.—In matters of temperance early settlers are not apt to be

the best examples. Yet there is nothing which shows so well as history

the progress the temperance cause has made. The convivial habits of one

hundred, two hundred years ago would not be endured for a moment any-

where. Any one who will take the trouble to look up the social life of the

English or Scotch, or of our own land, beyond the present or last century,

is amazed at the custom of intoxication or excessive drinking. While among
the greatest of the evils we have still to deal with, the change has been very
marked, and the excited and unfounded statements that we are intemperate

beyond all other people, or that, proportionately, the vice is greater in our
day than in the past, are made in utter ignorance and the extremest party

or fanatical zeal. All these settlements were well supplied with aqua vity,

as it is spelled (acqua vitoe, water of life), being the common name of brandy,

or the spirit of wine. It comes in all the inventories as a part of the goods,

and sack, the name of a Spanish wine now called sherry, is not infrequently

in the accounts.

In Londonderry, at the close of the last century, the evil was so great
that at the installation of a clergyman a hogshead of rum was drank, and in

one part of the house in which the minister lived was a tavern where spirits

was sold and drank on Sunday by members of the church, and so wide-
spread was the custom that on a fast-day, when the minister was supposed
to be free to indulge in some special topic, he was widely denounced for

preaching upon temperance.
Use of Tobacco.—The use of tobacco, then comparatively novel, but a

habit which has a tendency to make its subjects forget how disagreeable it

may be to others, early became subject to legal restrictions. In 1646 we
find, "Whereas there is great abuse in taking tobacco in a very uncivil
manner in the streets, if any person or persons shall be found or seen doing
so hereafter he shall be subject to punishment;" and, again, "any person or
persons who shall be found smoking tobacco on the Lord's day going to or
coming from the meeting within two miles of the meetinghouse, he shall be
fined." Within two miles was construed to have no bearing on such as had
a mind to smoke in the meeting-house, and so the loud snapping of tobacco-

138
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boxes after loading the pipes; the cHnking of flint and steel, followed by
curling wreaths of smoke, were not infrequent in the house of worship.

Church Pews and Customs.—\M& have referred to the old South Church
being for a long time without any pews. The church at Hampton had
at first but one pew, and that for the use of the minister's family, the rest
of the house being furnished with seats for the accommodation of the
people. Each man was obliged to build his own pew, keep it in repair, to
maintain all the glass against it, and he must build on the spot assigned him.
In the town of Stratham there was an exception, where by a vote of the
town "Mr. Andrew- Wiggin shall have liberty to set in what seat he pleaseth
in the meeting-house," while the general law was "that when the committee
have seated the meeting-house, every person that is seated shall sit in these
seats, or pay five shiUings per day for every day they set out of these seats
in a disorderly manner to advance themselves higher in the meeting-house.
Persons were seated in church according to their rank or station in life or
society, and Mr. was at that time a title of great distinction. The distance
persons walked for worship is almost incredible in our degenerate day.
They came on foot from Rye, New Castle, and Greenland to the Old South
Church over the bridge, and it was no uncommon thing for women to walk
six or eight miles, and sometimes carry an infant child. Before the town
of Bedford was set off its inhabitants for some time attended worship at

Londonderry. They performed the journey on foot, and generally carried
one or two children a distance of twelve miles.

There is an order of public worship in Boston as follows : "It begins by
ringing of a bell about nine of the clock or before." The pastor prays a
quarter of an hour. The teacher reads and explains a chapter. A psalm is

dictated by one of the ruling elders and sung. The pastor preaches a
sermon, and sometimes gives an exhortation without notes. The teacher

closes with prayer and benediction. Services begin at two in the afternoon,

and proceed in the same order.

When a minister exchanged, the ruling elder said to him publicly, after

the psalm was sung, "If this present brother hath any word of exhortation

for the people at this time, in the name of God say on." Before departing

in the afternoon one of the deacons said, "Brethren of the congregation, as

God hath prospered you, so freely offer;" then the magistrates and chief

gentlemen first, and then the elders and all the congregation of men, and
most of them that were not of the church, all single persons, widows, and
women in absence of their husbands, went up one after another one way,

and brought their offering of money or chattel to the deacon's seat, and
passed by another way to their seats. Persons were appointed to have

inspection of the audience during the public exercises, whose frequent rounds

kept the children in order. The badge of their office was a pole with a

knob on one end and a tuft of feathers on the other; with the one they

rapped on the men's heads, and with the other they brushed the ladies' faces

when they caught them napping. Music in these early days, as in the latter,

was deemed a necessary part of worship, and had its attendant criticisms

and disaffections. The custom was from the earliest days to deacon the

hymn, the precentor or leader of psalmody reading two lines and all singing
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them, and so on to the end ; but the singers wanted to break up the old habit

of "lining" or "deaconing" and have it all their own way. At Stratham

the matter was settled by a compromise, the deacon by vote of the town

to read half the time; but still he complained of the bass viol, saying "they

had got a fiddle into the church as big as a hog's trough;" while at London-

derry the precentor and choir both kept on at the same time, one reading

and the other singing, until the latter gained the victory and sang the reader

down.
Observance of Sunday.—The observance of Sunday was strict and gen-

eral, but hedged round by so minute and constant command of the law that

it is questionable if its true helpful,keeping was ever so great as now. Those

were good times for dull ministers, when every seat in the church was filled,

without regard to weather or the difficulty of traveling, by the tenor of the

magistrate more than the fear or love of the Lord, and they were pretty

serious times for such as some of you who would forsake the sanctuary for

a walk, a ride to the beach, or an excursion to the Shoals, or the enjoyment

of a cigar. ,

In 1682 it was enacted,

—

"For prevention of the prophanation of the Lord's day that whosoever

shall, on the Lord's day, be found to do unnecessary servile labor, travel,

sports, or frequent ordinaires in time of public worship, or idly straggle

abroad, the person so offending shall pay a fine of ten shillings, or be set in

the stocks an hour; and for discovery of such persons it is ordered that the

constable, with some other meet person whom he shall choose, shall in the

time. of public worship go forth to any suspected place within their precincts,

to find out any offender as above,"

The Plains Massacre.—The most murderous attack by the Indians that

our local history records occurred at the Plains two miles west of the river

on the morning of June 26, 1696. They burned five houses and nine barns,

and killed fourteen people; in the desperate struggle several others were
severely wounded, while a number were made prisoners and taken away in

their retreat through Great Swamp. The inhabitants, who were unaccom-
panied, were mostly killed or taken prisoners, but those who kept together,

in the main, succeeded in reaching the garrison house, the site of which is

on the little knoll of rocks 660 feet northerly from the old Sherburne house,

on the westerly side of Islington Road. As soon as the attack by the

Indians was known in the town, a train-band under Captain Shackford was
sent out to intercept them in their retreat. They overtook the savages while
breakfasting in the woods, at the junction of Lafayette and Greenland
Roads at what is known as Breakfast Hill. The soldiers fell upon them
and recovered the prisoners and the plunder, but the Indians made a hasty
escape.

Mrs. Mary Brewster was severely wounded and left for dead, her scalp
having been entirely removed from her helad, but she recovered . and after-
wards became the mother of seven children, from whom most of the Brewster
families in this vicinity have descended.
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Re-establishment of Episcopacy.—The persistency with which persons
for generations cling to their theological inheritances, even at- times without
being able to give any reason for them, is well illustrated in the re-establish-

ment of Episcopacy in Portsmouth. This element never entirely died out

here, but was cherished in a few families or individuals, ready tO' manifest

itself at any opportunity which promised to give it an organization and a

home. It was stronger in the Piscataqua than any of the historians have
yet acknowledged. It was clearly a part of the early settlers' plan to make
this a Church of England settlement, but the ascendency of the Massachusetts

soon put all the interest here in the hands of the Puritans. The first minister,

a strong defender of the Established Church, was banished simply for that

reason, and for a long time Episcopacy seemed entirely destroyed. In the

first quarter of the eighteenth century quite a serious trouble was brewing in

regard to the boundary line between the Provinces of the Massachusetts

Bay and New Hampshire. As early as 1730, Col. David Dunbar was chair-

man of a commission on the part of this province to meet a committee of

the bay on the adjusting of this line. He was a native of Ireland, and

appointed lieutenant-governor of this province in 1731, and also surveyor-

general of the woods.
While Dianbar had charge of the settlement of the boundary line, which

threatened to bring the provinces into open war, one Capt. John Thomlin-

son, a merchant of London well known in New Hampshire, was agent for

the matter of the boundary at the court of Great Britain ; and in this Thom-
linson, Dunbar found a zealous friend of the new church movement. Theo-

dore Atkinson, one of the rtiost prominent citizens, and whose name con-

stantly appears in all political matters, was also foremost in aiding it. It

was begun in 1732, and the church was finished in 1735. This church was

141
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a frame building, somewhat smaller than the present one, with a steeple

like that of the old South, and two entrances, one on the west, the other

on the south. On the north side the central of the wall pews was raised

above the rest, a heavy wooden canopy built over it bore the royal arms,

and red plush curtains were festooned around it. Previous to the Revolu-

tion this was called the governor's pew, and in 1789 was occupied by Wash-

ington when on a visit to Portsmouth. The most valuable of the many
reHcs and ornaments of the church, the font, a beautiful piece of porphyritic

marble of a brownish-yellow color, was plundered from a church in Senegal,

Africa, by Col. John Tupton Mason, and presented by his daughters to

Queen's Chapel.

Rev. rthur Brown.—On the i8th of August, 1735, and chiefly through

the earnest activity of his ardent admirer, Dunbar, an invitation to Rev.

Arthur Brown was extended and accepted, and he became rector of Queen's

Chapel, ti e salary being assured by the liberality of the English Society for

Propagating the Gospel in Foreign Parts. His ministry was popular and

successful and lasted until 1773, when, on a visit to Cambridge, he died,

at the age of seventy-four, and was interred in the Wentworth tomb of

Queen's Chapel graveyard. All the tributes offered to his memory show
that he mutt have been a man of real culture, of unpretentious goodness, of

eminent worth. It was not owing to his popular gifts and assiduous labors

only that his success was so marked. The times were propitious and help-

ful to second his own and the enthusiasm of a people gathered with all the

interest attendant upon the establishment of a new church. Every official

of the Government was expected to belong to the Established Church of

England; the officers of the army and navy were all really compelled to

choose til at faith. The Rev. Mr. Brown was as fortunate in his death as

in his labors, for it occurred just as the troubles Were gathering with Eng-
land, and the breaking out of the war promised for a time to crush every-

thing V hich related to English customs and English worship. The parish,

which had enjoyed great prosperity for nearly thirty years, suffered a sud-

den and almost entire overthrow and extinction, and Episcopacy was reduced
to a state almost as low as at the close of the ministry of Gibson, more than
a century before, and for almost twenty-five years after the death of Mr.
Brown the church was almost entirely neglected. After the Revolution, two
or three successive rectors were not very successful in their ministrations,

and in the winter of 1806 the church was destroyed by fire. At that time
the Soutli Parish was without a pastor, and the use of the church was
offered to Queen's Chapel, now changed to St. John's, and for some time
it was not unusual for the two societies to unite in public worship, the same
clergyman frequently officiating for both parishes, reading the Book of Com-
mon Prayer one part of the day, and following the simple congregational
order of ^^ervices for the other. The extremely feeble condition of this

sect in this part of New England at that period is shown by the fact that
there v as no Episcopal visitation of the Portsmouth parish from 1791 to
181 2. In this latter year we have the first record of the administration of
the rite of confirmation.

Dr. Burroughs.—Mr. Charles Burroughs, then in deacon's orders, had
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been the minister of the parish for three years, but never had the oppor-
tunity of being confirmed. The records show that on the day preceding
his ordination to the priesthood he received confirmation, together with 150
of his congregation, and in order to be ordained as deacon he had been
obliged to journey to Philadelphia.

,
With the establishment of peace and liberty of conscience, and under

the attractive ministrations of Dr. Burroughs, St. John's again took its place
arnong the flourishing churches of Portsmouth. Dr. Burroughs was born
in Boston on the 27th of December, 1787, and there his early boyhood was
passed. He enjoyed and improved the best opportunities of that day for a
classical education, in which he made great attainments, and all through
life enriched a mind of fair proportions with all the elegant literature of
ancient or modern times. He came to Portsmouth as a reader in 1809, and
such was his reputation for entering intO' and rendering the beauties of the

church service, and the entire satisfaction he gave as a writer, that many from
other parishes, being occasional listeners, confessed to a willingness to

remain permanently if Mr. Burroughs could be induced to take the care

of the parish. Among all the distinguished men of Portsmouth in his long

ministry. Dr. Burroughs was still eminent for his rare gifts of conversation,

for his ample culture, for his elegant hospitality at his beautiful home, for

his inborn and acquired grace of manner, for his unfailing liberality, for

his daily walk in harmony with his altar professions. He was rector until

the year 1857, a citizen of Portsmouth until the 5th of March, 1868, when
he became a fellow-citizen with the saints.

Rev. Mr. Burroughs was succeeded by Revs. Hitchcock, Armitage, Davies,

Bingham, Clark, Holbrook, Hovey and the present minister Rev. Harold
M. Folsom. The cornerstone of the present church was laid June 24, 1807,

by the grand master of the Masonic Fraternity of New Hampshire. Cast

in relief in the bell which hangs in the belfry is the following: "This bell

brought from Louisberg by Sir William Pepperrell, A. D. 1745. Recast

by Paul Revere, A. D. 1807; again recast 1896."

An interesting pamphlet has been written by Franklin W. Davis entitled

"Old St. John's Parish." The chapelon State Street was erected in 1832.

It contains the old Brattle organ made in 1709.

Rulers until the Revolution.—In 171 7, after a good deal of rivalry and

disturbance between the governor, the lieutenant-governor, and the assembly,

the king removed Vaughan from office, and John Wentworth was appointed

lieutenant-governor in his place.

John Wentworth.—^John Wentworth was the grandson of William Went-

worth, the first of the name in this country, whose son, Samuel Wentworth,

of Portsmouth, has been already referred to. William was an elder of the

church at Dover, and occasionally preached there. John was born in Ports-

mouth in 1 67 1. Under his rule the town had a period of peace and steady

prosperity until 1730, when again a disturbance arose from the appointment

of Belcher as governor of Massachusetts and New Hampshire, who from

some petty displeasure turned out of office the friends of Wentworth; but

the lieutenant-governor died in this same year and Dunbar was appointed

in his place, and retained the place under constantly-increasing opposition
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until 1741, when the great dissatisfaction against him as well as Governor

Belcher resulted in the erection of New Hampshire into a separate province,

with the appointment of Benning Wentworth as governor in 1741.

Benning Wentworth.—Governor Wentworth was a son of the former

Lieutenant-Governor John Wentworth, and was born in Portsmouth in

1696. He became a merchant of -prominence and a person of much influ-

ence in the colony, and his appointment was received with great satisfac-

tion by the people. He married for a second wife Martha Hilton, his house-

keeper, upon which incident is founded Longfellow's story of Lady Went-
worth. The expedition against Louisburg was the principal and exciting

event during his term of office, which ended in 1766, just as the Stamp Act

was arousing the indignation of the American people.

Sir John Wentworth.—Sir John Wentworth, a nephew of Benning, was
appointed as governor in 1766, and also as surveyor of all the king's woods
in North America. He was born in Portsmouth in 1736, and, while on a

visit to England, became a favorite of the Marquis of Rockingham, through

whose influence he received his important offices and entered upon them
in 1768, landing at Charlestpwn, and crossing from that port by land to

this town. But the times were growing troublesome for all the English

officials; the sense of oppression and the desire for liberty were rapidly

spreading, and in 1774, because of the aid the governor rendered to General

Gage, th^ excitement of the people was so great that he was compelled to

take refuge, first, in the fort at New Castle, and then upon an English

man-of-war in the harbor. He remained in England until peace was declared,

became lieutenant-governor of Nova Scotia, and died in 1820. He was a

friend to education, and gave 46,000 acres of land to Dartmouth College,

and also a grant to each member of the first graduating class. After he left

the country and the War of the Revolution secured the independence of the

United States, this settlement, whose history we have sketched in its most
important events, became, with New Hampshire, a part of the American
Union, and entered upon that marvelous prosperity which has won for this

country the admiration and envy of the world.

A FEW OF THE PRINCIPAL NAMES IN THE EARLY SETTLEMENT

Henry Sherburne:—Among those who were very prominent in the civil

and ecclesiastical affairs of this colony was Henry Sherburne, from the begin-
ning an active churchman and a warden of the first church of the Piscataqua
settlement. His associate warden, Walford, appears some years later as the
husband of the witch Goody Walford, and there may be some reason for
the supposition that the charge of witchcraft had a connection with the ani-
mosity existing between the Independents and church party. Sherburne
appears in this settlement as early as June, 1632, when the Bay Colony came
into rule here and it was evidently no longer possible to maintain Episcopacy.
Sherburne still took an interest in supporting public worship, as approved by
the majority, although by no means to his own mind. We find him appointed
by the town to go in search of a minister, and also engaging to entertain the
minister when he came. All this was in the faith that the re-establishment of
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Episcopacy might occur at an early day, and in this faith it doubtless was
that we find him in the first list of the subscribers to the support of Moodey
while ofificiating at the old South in 1658; but when his faith by force of
circurnstances grew less, and it was evidently the intention of the Bay to
establish their ecclesiastical system here, with all its vigor, then Sherburne
refused altogether to contribute towards the support of doctrines he did not
accept, for in a list of subscribers to the maintenance of Moodey in 1671 we
find annexed to the names of Henry Sherburne and Richard Sloper, his son-
in-law, the note "will not subscribe."

John Pickering.—In the list of inhabitants of Portsmouth who, in 1640,
made a grant of fifty acres for a glebe land for the use of the ministry we find

the name of John Pickering, who in himself and his descendants was to

play a conspicuous part in town matters, both civil and ecclesiastical.

The first John Pickering appears in Portsmouth as early as 1635, perhaps
as early as 1630. He came here from Massachusetts, and probably was the
same person spoken of as being at Cambridge soon after that town was settled.

He died on the i8th of January, 1668-69, leaving a large family. It was his

son John who became so prominent in church and town affairs. He was
born about 1640, and died about 1721. He first comes into notice as a

military man, for which his character and talents seem eminently to have
qualified him. As captain, he had a command in Portsmouth for a number
of years. When John Cutt was appointed first president of the separate

government of New Hampshire, in 1680, Capt. Pickering was a representative

for the town of Portsmouth, and he was also a member of the assembly called

by Cranfield and dissolved in great wrath because it would not raise the money
he desired.

It is mentioned in the early records that during the suspension of govern-

ment consequent on the imprisonment of Andros in 1689, Capt. John Picker-

ing, a man of "a rough and adventurous spirit and a lawyer," "went with a

company of armed men to the home of Richard Chamberlain (who wrote

the book called Lithobolia, or Stone-throwing Demon at Great Island), who
had been secretary of the province under Andros & clerk of the Superior

Court, & demanded the records & files wh. were in his possession, & upon

refusing to deliver them up without some warrant or security, Pickering seized

them by force, carried them off, and concealed them, and in turn was by force

compelled to deliver them to Lieutenant-Governor Usher." Voluntarily pr by

selection he seems to have been engaged in several such enterprises about

records of both church and state. He was a member of the convention which

in 1690 recommended a reunion with Massachusetts, and was chosen a member

of the assembly which met at Boston for a number of successive years, and was

several times chosen its speaker. As a lawyer he could not have been without

popularity and confidence, for in 1707, when the great cause of Allen vs.

Waldfon, involving Allen's title to the Province of New Hampshire, was tried

for the last time, and all the strength of each side was brought out, embracing

some of the first men in- the province. Captain Pickering was selected as one

of the counsel to defend the houses and lands of the inhabitants. In the affairs

of the church it was this Captain Pickering who was appointed to build the

stocks and pillories for the punishment of offenders, and on account of his
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remarkable strength, of which stories apparently fabulous were handed down,

was chosen at the time of Mr. Moodey's settlement to keep the congregation

in order, reserve seats for the distinguished guests ; but he let all in before the

time, on the theory that at church one person was just as good as another.

When the difficulties began in regard to the site for the new church, which

ended in the formation of a new parish and animosities which disturbed the

peace of the whole province for a generation. Captain Pickering was the

leading spirit in the old South Parish, who carried everything as he willed at

the town-meetings, either by persuasion or by force, strenuotisly opposed
building the new meeting-house so far up as the site of the North Church,

carried the matter again and again to the General Court, and generally with

success for his side; was foremost in all matters concerning the old parish,

and when at last the old chui-ch could be no longer repaired he devised to

the South Parish a lot of ground for a convenient site for another meeting-
house to be set off to the said parish, "on the highest part of his neck." He
was a large, real-estate owner at the south end of the town, and what was
called "Pickering's Neck" was a part of the land on which the fourth place of

worship for the Town of Portsmouth was built, being the church of the South
Parish until the present stone church was built in 1824.

Samuel Wentworth.—In the list of subscribers' to the support of Mr.
Moodey, and so, of course, among the worshipers at the old South, we find

the name of Samuel Wentworth. This is the first of the family, afterwards
so prominent in public affairs, who appears in our town. At that time the

vicinity of Point of Graves was the principal part of Portsmouth. For a
while Samuel Wentworth Hved at Great Island, and afterwards built by
Puddle Dock, on the south side of the dock, at the north end of Manning
Street, the first Wentworth house, still in good preservation. It was in this

house that the first lieutenant-governor, John Wentworth, his son, lived, and
here was married in 1693, a"d owned all that part of the town as far as the
South Church.

After the gathering of North Parish some of the family of Samuel Went-
worth are found in that, while to others belonged an active part in the forma-
tion of the Episcopal Parish.

When Great Island became a town, under the name of New Castle, in

1693, several of the prominent parishioners at the old South became identi-
fied with the' church at New Castle, and some still retained a nominal connec-
tion and even an active interest in the old parish, as well as in the North after
its establishment in 17 14. Among these were Cranfield and Barefoot, Robert
Cutt and Pendleton, Stileman and Fryer, Atkinson and Story, Sheafe and
Jaffrey.

Sir William Pepperell.—I have now to notice two persons who in a day
when titles of nobility or birth in the aristocratic families of Old England
conferred a real eminence upon men were conspicuous figures in our early
history. William Pepperell became a communicant at the old South, Novem-
ber 5, 1696; and his son, who was afterwards created a baronet for the taking
of Louisburg, was the last baptism recorded by Mr. Moodey, May 9, 1697.
I am indebted to a careful and valuable manuscript life of Sir William
Pepperell, by the Rev. Dr. Burroughs, which is far better than the printed
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life of the distinguished merchant by Parsons, for much of the following
biographical and historical matter.

William Pepperell was born in 1647, i" Cornwall, England, and became
a settler at the Shoals in 1670, attracted to the commercial advantages of
Appledore and the prominence of its fisheries. Here, about 1680, he married
a daughter of Mr. John Bray, one of the leading islanders, who had for
some time refused the offer of marriage from Pepperell, but, says Dr. Bur-
roughs, "relented in proportion to the increase of his property." As his

business increased the Shoals offered too small a field for his enterprise, and
he and his partner, a Mr. Gibbins, resolved to leave the weather-beaten islands,

and to resort to chance and determine their separate destination. The story
runs that they each set up a long pole and left it to fall as Providence should
direct. Pepperell's fell towards the northwest, Gibbins' towards the north-
east. Following with obedience and enthusiasm the plan they had adopted
and the course pointed out by the fallen sticks, Pepperell established himself
on the Kittery side of the mouth of the Piscataqua, and made large purchases
of land there, while Gibbins obtained that tract on the Penobscot afterwards
known as the Waldo patent. As early as the year 1681 we find the name of

Pepperell and his father-in-law, Bray, on the town records of Kittery, then a

province of Massachusetts, and here Pepperell spent the remainder of his

days. His business enterprises were so successful that in 1712 there were
but three persons in Kittery, then including Eliot & Berwick, whose property

was estimated to be of more value than his. In this year Pepperell interested

himself in organizing a church at Kittery, whose inhabitants attended worship
under serious inconveniences of distance, weather, and tide at Strawberry

Bank. He was chiefly instrumental in the settlement of the Rev. Mr. New-
march at Kittery, not far from his own mansion, in 1714, and was one of

the first signers of the covenant. Up to this time, William Pepperell, at age of

almost seventy, and his son, afterwards Sir William, at the age of eighteen,

had been constant worshipers at the old South. William Pepperell died in

Kittery, in 1734, leaving Sir William the principal heir, and with the care

and responsibility of a large property. But even before this he had mani-

fested remarkable enterprise and sagacity as a merchant, and his ships were

found in all parts of Europe and the West Indies. One of the first things

he did was to build the family tomb, still standing in that open field not far

from the old family mansion. In 1722, at the age of twenty-six, Sir William

married Miss Hirst, of Boston.

Sir WilHam had no opportunities for an education, except such as came

from a multipHcity of relations with men in all ranks of society; but Dr.

Stevens, his pastor, who preached a sermon upon his character soon after

his death, says, "Such were his abilities and virtues, so distinguished and

admirable his social qualities, that he soon drew the notice and engaged the

affections of all." "So elevated were his principles and disinterested his views,

and so active was his benevolence, that his fellow-citizens considered him as

their patron and friend, and bore towards him the sentiment of filial venera-

tion and affection." To the various duties and large responsibilities of one

of the greatest merchants of New England, Sir William had added a number
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of important civil offices, but it was reserved for his military success to give

to him his title of nobility.

Elizabeth, daughter of Sir William, was married to Nathaniel Sparhawk,

in 1742, and here is her father's letter ordering from England a part of

her wedding outfit

:

"PiscATAQUA^ in New England^ October' 14, 1741.

"Sir: Please send me by first opportunity, for this place or Boston,

silk to make a woman a full suit of clothes, the ground to be white paduroy

and flowered with all sorts of colours suitable for a young woman. Another

of white watered taby and gold lace for trimming of it ; twelve yards of green

paduroy ; thirteen yards of lace, for a woman's head dress, two inches wide,

as can be bought for 13s. per yard; a handsome fan, with leather mounting,

as good as can be bought for about 20 shillings ; two pairs of silk shoes, and
clogs a size bigger than ye shoe.

"Your servant to command,
"William Pepperell."

The Siege of Louisburg.—The siege and capture of Louisburg were the

great warlike achievements in our early history, and the command and success

of the whole enterprise belonged to Sir William. Upon his return he was
received at Portsmouth, entertained, and escorted to his boat, as it departed
from our shore to his mansion at Kittery, with an outburst of enthusiasm
from the inhabitants and an oration, both civil and military, even greater

than were paid to Washington. As in our late war, there were in this adventure
some rivalries and jealousies as to whom belonged the credit of the expedition,

and Col. William Vaughan, a grandson of Maj. William Vaughan, who came
to Portsmouth about 1650, is said to have first prepared a plan of the capture
and proposed it to the Government, and Governor Wentworth and others

were disappointed, not being given the charge of the enterprise; but all eyes
turned to Colonel Pepperell, as of well-known and eminent moral worth, of
acknowledged military skill, of tried statesmanship, of elevated rank in the
confidence of the community, and the best fitted to command the expedition.
If the success of an engagement might be always predicted from the char-
acter of the principal supporters, we might have foretold the capture of Louis-
burg, for the number of persons prominent in Portsmouth, under the command
of Pepperell, was certainly large.

While Pepperell had tiie matter under consideration, Whitefield, the cele-

brated Episcopal and itinerant clergyman, and founder of the Calvinistic

Methodists, was on a visit to Maine, and Pepperell became well acquainted
with him, and asked Whitefield's advice.

"Your scheme," said the great preacher, "I think not very full of encourage-
ment. The eyes of all will be upon you, and should you not meet with success
the widows and orphans will utter their complaint and reflection, and if it

be otherwise numbers will look upon you with envy and endeavor to eclipse
your glory. You ought, therefore, in my judgment, to go with a single eye,
and then you will receive strength proportioned to your necessities." White-
field furnished the motto for the flag of the expedition, "Nil desperandum
Christo."
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New Hampshire furnished 500 men, one-eighth of the whole land
force. Among these was the Rev. Mr. Langdon (once the grammar school
teacher, and then pastor of the North Church), as chaplain, and Jacob Sheafe,
son of Sampson Sheafe, of Great Island, as commissary. There was Nathaniel
Meserve as lieutenant-colonel; there was Samuel Hale with the rank of
major; there was John Storer, grandfather of George Storer, of this town;
there was Rev. Ammi R. Cutter, of the Massachusetts Regiment, whose eldest

son was Dr. Ammi R. Cutter, of Portsmouth ; there was Rev. Samuel Moodey,
of York, son of our Mr. Moodey, remarkable for his eccentricities, and private

chaplain to Sir William. The expedition was completely successful, and
Pepperell was rewarded with an English knighthood. One by one.he was
compelled to give up his duties and enterprises, and died at his mansion at

Kittery on the 6th of July, 1759.
Champernowne.—There remains for us to notice briefly still another

important character, whose life has been so carefully written by C. W. Tuttle,

Esq., of Boston, that beyond his thorough researches no one need desire to go.

In his sketches of this prominent person, printed in "The Historical and
Genealogical Register," may be found authority for most of the following.

Among the early settlers of our province more persons perhaps came from
Devon and Cornwall than from all other counties in England, and of all the

noble families in the west of England, few if any surpass in antiquity and
splendor of descent the family of Champernowne, being connected with the

Plantagenets, Sir Humphrey Gilbert, and Sir Walter Raleigh. Capt. Francis

Champernowne, one of that family, came to New England in 1636.

In 1636, Sir Ferdinando Gorges granted to Champernowne's father two
tracts of land bordering on the eastern shore of the Piscataqua and at the

mouth. One embraced what has been for the last hundred years and more

known as the Gerrish and the Cutts Islands, and the stream now known as

Chauncey's Creek for a long time bore the name of Champernowne. To this

grant came Capt. Francis Champernowne in 1636, at the age of twenty-two.

About 1640, and at the time of the granting of the glebe land, Champernowne

bought 400 acres in Greenland, where he built a house and lived for twenty

years. Afterwards he added three hundred acres more, including the farm

of Colonel Pierce, and seems to have lived in a baronial style. At a later date

he preferred his residence on Cutts Island, and went there to live. He was a

councillor in the government of Gorges, and for a few years, with his asso-

ciates, had the sole authority in Maine, and opposed strenuously the usurpa-

tion by the Massachusetts Bay. He was councillor to Cranfield, to Dudley,

and to Andros. Strange to say, when some examinations were made, a few

years since about this almost forgotten character, traditions in Greenland were

brought to light of the descent from royalty of one Champernowne who used

to live there, and in Kittery of one who was "the son of a nobleman." He

was a thorough royalist and churchman, and about ten years before his death

married the widow of Robert Cutt, of Kittery. He lived a retired and dig-

nified life, was reserved in disposition, and took little interest in matters

which tradition says that he forebade any monument to be erected in his

that day of prominence on account of his high birth, and altogether respected.

He was doubtless one of the most active supporters of Episcopacy, and from
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his residence at Greenland a constant worshiper at the first chapel, and there-

after, unless too strict a churchman to take any interest in the services of

Puritanism, at the old South for thirty years. He died on Cutts Island in

1687.

Nothing marks Champernowne's Island grave save a heap of stones,

which tradition says that he forebade any monument to be erected in his

memory. Among the writings of John L. Elwyn we found the following:

"Here rest the bones of Francis Champernowne

;

The blazonry of Norman kings he bore

;

His fathers builded many a tower and town,

And after Senlac England's lords. Now o'er

His island cairn the lonesome forests frown,

And sailless seas beat the untrodden shore."

A Church on the Plains.—^Quite a little village had grown up at and

about the Plains, of so much importance that in 1725 a meeting-house was
built on the rise of ground east of the training-field, and worship regularly

maintained for nearly two years, when, in 1727, it was voted "to free and

exonerate them from any tax or charge towards the support of the gospel

ministry (at the North Church), or any parish at the Bank for the future,

provided they have frequent preaching more for accommodation than at the

Bank." The meeting-house blew down in 1748.

Absence of the Spirit of Persecution.—It has often been remarked that our

early settlers were singularly free from religious bigotry, and in an epoch

fruitful of dogmatism and persecution but few instances of fanatical zeal

can be laid at their feet. Themselves strictly of the Church of England, when
they could not maintain their own form of worship, the Non-conformist
clergyman of the Bay found no hindrance here except when Cranfield instituted

proceedings against Moodey for refusing to administer the sacrament accord-

ing to the order of the Church of England. There has come down to us an
account of but a single instance of the infliction of violence in the province for

heterodoxy, and that was under the law of Massachusetts (for New Hamp-
shire as a separate government never authorized such a penalty), when in 1662
Richard Waldron ordered three Quaker women to be led at the cart's tail

through New Hampshire and Massachusetts out of the jurisdiction and
whipped in each town ; but Walter Barefoote, afterwards a royal governor of
New Hampshire, by a pious stratagem, obtained the custody of the women in

Salisbury, and saved them from further cruelty by sending them out of the
province. The refuge of Quakers and Anabaptists in these days was Rhode
Island, a state from the beginning to the present day remarkable for its

hospitality towards various opinions, but at that time regarded as the drain
or sink of New England for the shelter it gave the heretics, so that it has
been said of Rhode Island, "If any man had lost his religion he might find it

there among such a general muster of opinionists." We have, in 1656,
under rule of the Bay, the several enactments against "a cursed sect of here-
ticks lately arisen up in the world which are commonly called Quakers, who
took upon them to be immediately sent of God."
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Witchcraft.—There is also but little about the sad delusion of witchcraft,
which was then a common belief, and while only a score of miles away men
eminent for piety and learning were hurried into all kinds of errors, persecu-
tion, and bitterness, only a few instances occur where there were any accusa-
tions prosecuted for that offense here, and of these not one reached a tragical

conclusion. The only case in our town had a singular and triumphant ending.
It occurred in 1656, at Little Harbor, then a part of Portsmouth. The tes-

timony was that on Lord's day, 30th of March, at night, as Susannah Trim-
mings was going home with Goodwife Barton, she separated from her at

the freshet, next her house. On her return, between Goodmen Evens and
Robert Davis, she heard a rustling in the woods, which she at first thought
was occasioned by swine, and presently after there did appear to her a woman,
which she apprehended to be old Goodwife Walford. She asked me where
my consort was? I answered, "I had none." She said, "Thy consort is at

home by this time. Lend me a pound of cotton." I told her I had but two
pounds in the house, and I would not spare any to my mother. She said,

"I had better have done it, that my sorrow was great already, and it should

be greater, for I was going a great journey but should never come there."

She then left me, and I was struck as with a clap of fire on the back, and
she vanished towards the waterside in my apprehension in the shape of a cat.

She had on her head a white linen hood tied under her chin, and her waist-

coat and petticoat were red, with an old green apron, and a black hat upon
her head.

Her husband and others testified to strange things which apparently had

been brought about by the bewitching of Goody Walford ; but Goody Walford,

traduced as a witch, boldly brought her defamers into court to answer for the

slanderous words, and actually succeeded in recovering damages.

Clerical Anecdotes.—Some of the stories which are told of the contempo-

rary ministers, neighbors, and friends of Mr. ShurtlefT give us the only

glimpses of ministerial life among the scanty records which are preserved

to us. There was a clergyman at Newington, Rev. Joseph Adams, who lived,

I believe, to a greater age than any minister ever settled in New Hampshire.

He is described as a man of fair talents, but of great self-complacency. In

praying for a person dangerously sick, who had desired the prayers of the

congregation, he prayed very earnestly that the man might be prepared to die,

for, added he, "We, O Lord, who are skillful, know there is no possibility

of his recovery-."

The Rev. John Tucke, settled at the Shoals, was also a contemporary of

Mr. Shurtleff. The Shoals was at that time quite flourishing, and Mr. Tucke's

salary was one of the highest at that time paid in New England. He was a

scholarly and faithful pastor, and, as it reads on his tombstone at Star Island,

"a useful physician, both to the bodies and souls of his people." These islands

had before and after Mr. Shurtleff two or three quite eminent as well as

eccentric men. There was one Rev. Mr. Rooch, whose prayers were so touch-

ing and whose life was so pure that it was said of him, "He dwelt as near

heaven as any man on earth." His congregation were fishermen, and they

usually assembled one day in the month, besides the Sabbaths, for public

worship. On one of these days he was requested to postpone the meeting
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to a future time, as it was a fine season for their business, and they must go

out with their boats. He endeavored to persuade them, but in vain, and

then addressed them : "If you are resolved to neglect your duty to God, and

will go away, I say unto you, catch fish if you can; but as for you who will

tarry and worship the Lord Jesus Christ, I will pray unto him for you that

you may catch fish till you are weary." Thirty went, toiled all day, and caught

four fishes ; while the five who attended divine worship, and afterwards went

out, caught as many hundred. After that they all regularly attended any

meetings the pastor appointed.

After him came the eccentric Moodey, son of the minister of Portsmouth

of that name, of whom is told that familiar story, that once addressing the

congregation on the occasion of a shipwreck, he inquired, "Supposing, my
brethren, any of you should be taken short in the bay in a northeast storm,

your hearts trembling with fear, and nothing but death before you, whither

would your thoughts turn ? What would you do ?" He paused, and a sailor,

supposing he awaited an answer, and attracted by his description of the storm

at sea, replied, "Why, in that case, d'ye see, I should immediately hoist the

foresail and scud away for Squam."
Revival under WhiteHeld.—The most remarkable ecclesiastical event during

the ministry of Mr. Shurtleff was the great revival under Whttefield, of

which Mr. Shurtleff has left an extended account. It is interesting for the

description he gives of the townsmen, as well as of the revival. He says,

"You are doubtless in some measure acquainted with the character which
the People of this Town have heretofore generally sustained. They have, I

think, been remarkt by strangers for their Politeness in Dress and Behaviour

;

have been thought to go beyond most others in equal circumstances, if not
to excess themselves in their sumptuous and elegant Living, and Things of a

like nature; & while they have been justly in Repute for their generous and
hospitable Disposition, and for many social habits. Diversions of various
kinds have been much in Fashion, & the vices that have been usual in Sea
Port and trading Places have been common and prevalent among us. We
have, I trust, never been without a number of sincere and serious Christians

;

but even these wise virgins have slumbered and slept ; and as to the generality

of Professors, they have seemed for a great while to content themselves with
an empty Form, and there has been but little of the Life & Power of Religion
to be seen."

Mr. Whitefield came here and preached in the old South Church on the
25th of February, .1745, and while Mr. Shurtleff seems to have disapproved
of a good many excesses of the revival, he testifies that he thought "his travel-
ing this way was a favorable Providence, and his preaching was instrumental
in making many shake off their heavy slumbers."

As the result of the revival he gives us his opinion that there is not the
profane cursing and swearing that was formerly usual ; that the Sabbath was
more strictly observed; that family worship was set up; that many dishonest
dealers had made restitution

; that music and dancing were wholly laid aside.
North Meeting-House.—In 1657 there was some objection at the time

to building the old South Church beyond the milldam, at the fork of the
roads going to New Castle and the cemetery, and the matter was settled only
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by the appointment of a committee by the General Court, which finally located
it there. All the time there had been a small party wanting it farther up
Pleasant Street. Since the building of that first old South more than fifty

years had passed away, and from the building of the first chapel near the

Universalist Church nearly seventy-five. The population, which in 1657 was
not far from five hundred, had increased to at least twelve hundred in 1693,
and yet they were all included in one parish, and their only place of worship
was the old South Church beyond the mill bridge. From some old records

this number, according to the same calculation. Great Island had about two
hundred, when a separate parish was established there in 1693. There must
still have been in the old parish, wide as its limits still were, allowing for the

same rate of increase, although there is every reason to suppose it was much
more rapid, at least twelve hundred inhabitants, whose only home for worship
was the old South, and all the time the settlement had been growing away
from the church and towards the Bank, as this upper part of the town was
generally called. The old church was not only in constant need of repairs,

but was entirely too small to accommodate the large and rapidly increasing

parish.

The following vote is copied from the records

:

"At a generall town meeting held at Portsmouth this 24th day of Septem-

ber, 171 1, voted, that the new meeting-house be built on the corner of the

minister's fifield and that it be the stated meeting-house of ye town. Voters

for the meeting-house are sixty-five, against forty-five,—and the selectmen

were empowered to raise money by way of a town rate for said house.

"The minority deemed the parade too far north and continued to worship

in the old meeting-house ; when the house was completed it was voted January

7, 1 7 14, that Nathaniel Rogers, minister of this church, should come to the

new meeting-house erected at ye Bank, on ye next Sabbath, seven night, and

preach there, and continue preaching there as formerly at ye old Meeting

House, and perform all other offices which appertain to his function."

The people at the South End claimed that the vote for locating the house

in this place was obtained unfairly; and they were not willing to submit to it.

After Mr. Rogers began to preach in the new house, they obtained Rev.

John Emerson to preach in the old house. The controversy ran so high, that

it was referred to the Legislature ; and the following vote was passed by the

Council and General Assembly of the Province of New Hampshire, at Ports-

mouth, May II, 1714: "Upon the hearing of all parties referring to the

meetinghouses of this Town, and having seen the grants, agreements and

votes of the said Town of Portsmouth, referring to the settlements of the

Rev. Mr. Rogers, the present minister of the said Town or Parish,—voted the

said Mr. Rogers be established the minister of the said Town, and be con-

firmed in the possession of the Gleeb land or Parsonage Lands according to

the agreement with the Town." Provision is also made in the same act for

the support, by the town, of the minister at "the other Meeting House at the

Mill Damm."—Provincial Papers of N. H., iii-S59-

But this did not bring peace; for we find, that, two months later, there

are two sets of town-officers in Portsmouth,—one elected by a town-meeting
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at the old meeting-house, the other chosen at the new ; and the interposition

of the Legislature is again requested, with the following result

:

House of Representatives of New Hampshire, July 28, 1714, "Voted a

concurrence with the order of the Governor and Council, and considering the

Regularity of the Town Meeting at the New Meeting House the seventh of

June, confirm the Town clerk and all other officers then chosen, and the

votes then passed about the new Meeting House."

The majority retained the minister and removed the church records and

the plate, which included the silver flagons presented by Thomas Wibird in

1766 and six cups dated 1705, to the new meeting-house, calling themselves

the "North or First Parish."

The result of the whole trouble was that the two parishes were declared

to be the two parishes of the town, and went on with a prosperity which has

hardly known a pause. For a long time the history of the two parishes

was the same, that of the church of Portsmouth, and when it flowered into two
channels it was fortunately to witness a prosperity for each of which neither

need be jealous. The first difficulty was in regard to the location of the

church, the next was doctrinal.

Successive Ministers at the Old South Parish.—John Emerson, the fourth

minister of the South Parish, was the third minister of that name settled in

New England. The ministry of Mr. Emerson lasted from the 23d of March,
1714-15, to the 2ist of February, 1732-33, a pastorate of seventeen years,

and, after the settlement of the difficulties with the North Parish, of undis-

turbed tranquility and unexampled prosperity.

The ministry of the South Parish has been as follows : Rev. William
Shurtleff, installed February 21, 1733, died May 9, 1747; Rev. Job Strong,
ordained January 28, 1749, died September 30, 1751; Rev. Samuel Haven,
D. D., LL. D., ordained May 6, 1752, died March 3, 1806; Rev. Timothy
Alden (college), 1 799-1805; Rev. Nathan Parker, D. D., ordained Septem-
ber 14, 1808, died November 8, 1833 ; Rev. Andrew P- Peabody, D. D.,

ordained 1833, died March 10. 1893; Rev. James DeNormandie, ordained
1883; Rev. Alfred Gooding, ordained 1884, the present minister.

A New Church.—The old South Church was now falling into ruins. It

was deemed unfit for worship in 171 1, when the whole town had voted to

build a new one, but by reason of the separation the diminished numbers at
the Mill Dam continued their services there until 1731, when the parish built

a new church on a lot of land presented by Capt. John Pickering. This was
the South meeting-house, standing, on the site of the present South ward room,
which was so important a landmark for mariners coming into Piscataqua
Harbor, and which, after repairs and remodeling, was finally taken down in
1863. The stone church on State Street was built of Rockport granite in
1824-26. The Unitarian Chapel on Court Street was erected in 1857 on the
site of the old Paxson Walton meeting-house.



CHAPTER XII

PORTSMOUTH—(Continued)

The Four Meeting-Howes—The Glebe Lands—The 1670 Bible—The Brick
Church Building, 1854—The Successive Ministry of the North Parish

The Four Meeting-Houses.—The following sketch of the four meeting-
houses is condensed from an address delivered by C. A. HazletL at the semi-

centennial of the dedication of the North Church, November 5, 1905:
The first building was the log chapel on Pleasant Street, near the Uni-

versalist Church. The second was the meeting-house at the crotch of the

roads near the south mill bridge. The third was the three-decker meeting-

house on the parade. The fourth, the present brick church building.

Besides the four houses of worship, there were several separations and
divisions from the North Church. In 1 706, the Greenland parishioners formed
a new parish, dismission being granted on account of the long distance and
the danger from the Indians while travelling the five miles to and from the

Portsmouth meeting-house. In 1725, a meeting-house was built at the Plains

and stood for twenty-three years, when it was blown down and the parish

became united again with the North Church.

Then, in 1757, the Independent Congregational Society was formed, and,

under the pastorate of Samuel Drown and Joseph Walton, worshipped in their

building on the site of the present Unitarian Chapel on Court Street for

sixty-five years.

Another separation, or rather colonization, occurred from the then strong

Mother Church in 1828, when forty members were granted dismission and

formed a new parish, worshipping in their new brick building which they

erected at the corner of Pleasant and Livermore streets, until 1836, when they

united again with the old church.

The most serious division was the first one in 171 1, when there was a

separation into two parishes, one continuing to worship in the old meeting-

house at the south mill bridge until they built the new meeting-house called

the "South Congregational Church," in 1731, placing it on Meeting-house

Hill on the site of the present south ward room.

The first house of worship in Portsmouth was erected about 1638. It

stood near the Universalist Church, near the site of the Langdon house now

occupied by Mrs. Harris, the great-granddaughter of Rev. Samuel Langdon,

the fourth pastor of this church.

The Glebe Lands.—On the 25th of May, 1640, twenty of the inhabitants

157
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"of the lower end of Pascataquack" conveyed by deed to Thomas Walford

and Henry Sherburne, "Church-wardens of this Parish," and their successors,

the "parsonage house with a chappell thereto united, as alsoe fiftie acres of

glebe land." "And forasmuch," the deed continues, "as the said parishioners

have founded and built ye said parsonadge house, chaple with the appurti-

nances at their owne proper costs and charges, and have made choyse of Mr.

Richard Gibson to be ye first parson of ye said parsonadge, soe likewise

whensoever the said parsonage happen to be voyd by death of ye incumbent,

or his time agreed upon expired, that then the parsonage presently and nomina-

tion of ye parson to be vested and remane in ye power and election of ye said

parishioners or ye greater part of them forever." The glebe land conveyed

by this deed was in two parcels. Thirty-eight acres of it was "thus to be

taken, that is to say, ye full tenth part of ye fresh marsh lying at ye head of

Strawberry Banke Creeke, and that being meeted and bounded to take the

remainder of the thirty-eight acres next adjoyning to ye said marsh." Straw-

berry-Bank Creek is still known as "the Creek." The water tower and powder
house is in about the center of the upper glebe land.

In 1 791 this land was sold by the wardens at public auction to obtain

a means for building the parsonage house on Pleasant Street, now owned and
occupied by Mr. Fred S. Wendell.

The smaller and more valuable portion of the glebe was twelve acres in

what is now the central part of the city. It is thus described in the town
records : "The twelve ackers of land belonging unto the meeting house doth

take its beginning from the great pine by the sayd house, west and by south

towards Goodman Humpkins, his hous which he bought of Roger Knight, full

thirty polls : from the end of the sayd thirty polls, up the hill, north and by
west, fully fifty-six poll : from the sayd fifty-six polls end diu east forty-six,

unto a forked pine marked with three noches : from the said forked pine, south

and by east full forty-four polls, unto the before menshoned great pine." As
the great pine and the forked pine and Goodman Humpkins's house are no
longer available landmarks, the glebe may be described as a square lot of land,

of which the boundary ran from the east corner of the North Church, up
Congress Street, to a point a little beyond Chestnut Street, so as to include

the Kearsarge House ; thence southerly, parallel with Chestnut Street, to the

South Millpond ; thence easterly, passing this side the Universalist Church, to

Pleasant Street, and up Pleasant Street to the east corner of the North Church.
In 1705, at a public town meeting, it was "ordered tc be laid out into house

lots for peopling the town and that the advantage which arises thereby be for

the benefit of the ministry," reserving a conveniency for a meeting house,

courthouse, almshouse, and burying place. The rest was divided into fifty-one

lots of about fifty by eighty feet each, and leases were made for 999 years
at from seven to fifteen shillings per year. For many years the rents were
collected somewhat regularly, but in 1788 many lessees owed for from
twenty to thirty years' rent, amounting in all to £216. A compromise was
made and nearly all paid up. In 1823, nearly half the lots were still under
the leases with from $40 to $167 due for each lot. Suit was commenced
against the delinquents. This action resulted in the collection of the rents
due and also in the payments for the discharges of the leases. The writer,
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a few years ago, found some counterparts of the leases that enabled him to

draw the plan of the glebe lands showing the holders of the leases from 1709
to 1823 as printed in "Portsmouth Historic and Picturesque."

The first minister in the chapel was Rev. Richard Gibson. He was of the
Church of England and no doubt represented the religious views of the leading
inhabitants at that time. He officiated in August, 1638, and continued until

1640. It is recorded in the provincial papers of New Hampshire that an
inventory of goods at Piscataway, made July, 1635, consisted of "for religious

use, one great Bible, twelve service books, one pewter flagon, one communion
cup and cover of silver, two fine table-cloths, two napkins," all of which had
been sent over by John Mason from England. After Mr. Gibson left Ports-

mouth, the chapel seems to have been used, without any protest, in maintaining
such form of worship as the majority of the inhabitants—that is, if the parish

—saw fit ; and that was the Congregational form.

Then came James Parker, who was of the Congregational Church and
preached for three years, and he was succeeded by James Brown in 1654. He,
like Mr. Parker, was not an ordained minister. All the preachers in Ports-

mouth down to 1659 held service in the chapel.

Rev. Mr. Moodey and his bride began housekeeping in the remodeled
chapel-parsonage, and it was occupied after his death in 1697, by the second

minister, Rev. Nathaniel Rogers, until October, 1704, when it took fire and
burned to the ground. His infant child, his mother-in-law and a negro woman
perished in the flames.

Rev. Joshua Moodey came to Portsmouth in 1658. He preached for

thirty-nine year's, except while imprisoned by Governor Cranfield in New
Castle, and while absent for several years in Boston. He was a graduate of

Harvard, as were all the early ministers here, and was offered its presidency

but declined. The fourth minister, Rev. Samuel Sangdon, resigned to become

its president, and his successor, Rev. Ezra Stiles, became president of Yale.

Mr. Moodey wrote over four thousand sermons, and they were not brief ones,

for two-hour discourses .were not uncommon in his day. There were no

trolley cars to shorten the sermons or spoil the perorations, though probably

the half-frozen audiences stamped their feet as the live coals in their foot-stoves

ceased to burn. He was at first supported by the subscription of eighty-six

persons.

The change from Episcopacy to Puritanism in previous years was shown

by the use of the name "meeting-house"' instead of "chapel," while the term

"warden" was retained for the officers of the parish. The title was used in

1640, when the glebe lands were granted to the church wardens. And, as in

after years churches^in other sects were required in town, the North Congre-

gational Church, the Middle Street and Christian Baptist churches, the Unita-

rian and Universalist churches, retain the same name for their officers, and

annually—even to this year of Our Lord 1914, they have each and all chosen

wardens ; a peculiarity for which Portsmouth is noted, as it is for the celebra-

tion of Pope Night on the 5th of November.

The new meeting-house, authorized by vote of the town in 1657, is so

minutely described in the Rockingham county records at Exeter that the

vanished building could be drawn and illustrated as were the old State House
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and South Meeting-house in the recently issued book entitled "Portsmouth,

Historic & Picturesque."- The contract specified that the new structure should

be "forty ffeete square and sixteen ffeete wall plate high, a flat ruff &
substanciall turrett with a gallery about it, twelve windowes, three substanciall.

doers & a complete pulpit." It was on the front door that wolves heads were

nailed to secure the captor's bounty. As late as 1693 "i^ie were paid for.

A committee wa.s appointed who concluded that the "meatest and most

commodious place to erect the meeting-house is the little hill adjoyninge to

Goodman Webster's poynt on the crotch of the roads ;" that is, at the inter-

section of South and Marcy streets. The panes of the windows were about

four inches long and three wide, set in lead and strengthened by small oak

bars on the inside. For thirteen years the windows were unprotected by

shutters. Then the town agreed, in a very liberal manner, with the versatile

John Pickering, for thirty shillings, to make shutters "to draw backwards

and forwards, and in case it be too little, then the said Pickering shall have

something more."
A bell was placed in the tower of the meeting-house on April 18, 1664.

undoubtedly the first in the state. In 1692, "it was proposed to the town
whither William Wacker should pay for the bell whom he carlessly crackt.

It was voted in the negative because he was poor. It was voted that the

selectmen take care to provide a bell, and as for the hanging of him as they

may judge most convenient." Whether the "him" refers to the bell or to the

man who "crackt" it, the record does not plainly show. The bell the select-

men "sent for to England" was removed with a portion of the old meeting-

house to the south schoolhouse in 1732 and remained there until 1846, when
the new Haven schoolhoust was built, at which time it was sold to George
Raynes and hung over his office in his shipyard, remaining until 1870, when
being badly cracked, it was sold to Andrew Gerrish, the brass founder, and
melted down.

A new bell was purchased by the North Parish in 1720 and hung in the

1 713 meeting-house on the parade. In 1764, a century after the hanging of
the first bell, the new bell was reported "crackt." But its end was quite dif-

ferent, for it was "sent home to be run" and the vessel on which it was shipped
was lost at sea off Cape Ann on its passage to England.

The parish and subscribers bought a new one weighing eight hundred
pounds. It was inscribed: "For the First Parish of Portsmouth in New
Plampshire—Lester & Peck of London—fecit 1764."

In 1854, this bell was taken down and hung in the steeple of the present
church. Another century was just closing and the 1764 bell was cracked
in 1863 and recast in Troy, New York, the city paying $493.81 of the expense.
So for all the years from 1664, the curfew has, year after year, been heard
in this old town by the sea, for we find frequent mention in the records, of
the wardens being authorized "to allow the bell man for ringing at nine
o'clock."

At first there was no regularity in building the pews in the Mill Dam
Meeting-house, as from time to time the leading parishioners were granted
permission to build at their own cost seats for themselves in various parts
of the house, of varying length and breadth, so the aisles ran among the seats.
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and it was not till 1693 that the pews were made uniform, permission being
first obtained to cut off the corners of the pews of President Cutt and Major
Vaughan. In April of that year, at a general town meeting, a vote was
passed tu regulate the seating of the people, and a copy of the originl docu-
ment with the list of occupants and quaint location of the seats, can be read
in the "Rambles About Portsmouth." It designates who sat with the min-
ister in the pulpit, in the seat under the pulpit, and on which separate sides

of the floor and galleries the men and women should sit. The back seat was
left "for young people about fourteen years of age unmarried." Where the

married ones of about fourteen years sat, the report does not say.

"As for boys under that age (fourteen) they are to sit in the men's allyes

and the girls in the women's allyes." That boys were troublesome in those

good old days is evident from the frequent votes of twenty shillings and
upwards per annum to various men "for to look after the demeanor of the

boyes at meeting."

From 1750 to 1771, three different persons were appointed to be in charge

of the upper gallery in the Three Decker Meeting-house to keep the boys and
negroes in good order. At that time there were 187 negro slaves in Ports-

mouth. For more serious offences on the Sabbath day there were various

modes of punishment. On the 25th of September, 1662, at a general town
meeting it was "ordered that a kage be made for the unruly and those who
sleep in meeting or take tobacco on the Lord's day out of the meeting in the

time of public exercises." Not for nine years was the enactment put in

force. Then the selectmen employed John Pickering to build a cage "twelve

feet square and seven feet high ;" also "a substantial payer of stocks and place

the same in said kage, and build on the rough a firm pillory; all to be built

and raised in some convenient space from the westward of the meeting-house."

In 1669, there was "granted to Mr. Ffryer the town's right to twentie

foote square of land neere the meeting-house to sett up a house and keep

wood in to accommodate himself and family in winter time when he comes

to meeting."

It was customary in the early days of New England for small houses,

called "Sabba-day Houses" or "Noon Houses," to be built near the church,

with large fireplaces where the worshippers went before, between, and after

services, to warm themselves or to replenish their foot-stoves with coals.

It was not till Joshua Moodey had preached twelve years and gathered a

congregation which could hardly find room in the meeting-house at the mill

bridge, that steps were taken towards the formation of a church. The oft-

quoted "Account of the Gatherings & carrying on ye Church of Christ, in

Portsmouth, Anno 1671" can still be read in Mr. Moodey's own handwriting

in the first volume of the church records carefully preserved in the safe of

the First National Bank, together with his

Old Bible.—It was printed in London in 1670 and Rev. Joshua Moodey

wrote his name on the fly leaf 240 years ago. The leaves of the original

printed book measured 3^4 by 6>4 inches, and each leaf was bound between

two blank leaves measuring 7 by 9 inches, on which many comments and

references were annotated by Mr. Moodey and subsequent owners.

It was presented to Rev. Mr. Leverett by Mr. Moodey's son, Samuel, in
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1 71 7. Finally, after being owned by several ministers in other states it was

presented to the sixth minister, Rev. Mr. Putnam, in 1821 and handed down
by him to his successor.

The first meeting-house on the present site was ready for occupancy in

17 14. It was seventy feet long and three stories high, with two galleries

one above the other and three tiers of windows, hence the popular nautical

title of "Three Decker." The pulpit occupied the middle of the western

side and was surmounted by a large sounding-board. A belfry was added

in 1720, and in 1730 a spire was built 150 feet high.

We are indebted again to Charles W. Brewster for the minute word de-

scription in the "Rambles About Portsmouth" of the location and occupants

of the pews in the Three Decker. Among the prominent pew holders were
General William Whipple, a signer of the Declaration of Independence;

Governor John Langdon; and Daniel Webster, who took a prominent part

in parish work in 181 6. Town meetings were held in this meeting-house

imtil 1762, when the parish voted not to permit further public use of the

building. The doors were locked, but the selectmen's warning had been
issued ; and the citizens, considering the meeting legally warned, made forcible

entrance and transacted their business.

For over a century there were no means of heating this meeting-house.
Small square tin stoves filled with live coals were carried. In 1762, the

wardens voted that "whosoever leaves any stoves in the meeting-house shall

pay a fine of twenty shillings."

Mrs. Ichabod Goodwin informed the writer a few years ago that stoves

for heating the church were first put in in 1822, as we found afterward re-

corded in the parish book.

The next year the wardens paid John Knowlton $35.00 for an octave
violin and bow. The introduction of a "big godly fiddle," as a Scotchman
called it, was an innovation warmly opposed, and to some warranted the
sarcasm of Rev. Mr. Milton, of Newburyport, who announced "You will
now sing and fiddle hymn number" whatever the selection was. Whether.
the viol gave satisfaction or not the North Church records do not state, but
three years after, in 1827, an organ was bought for $800.00.

One of the most distinguished ministries this church has seen was that
of Rev. Dr. Joseph Buckminster, who served the parish with marked ability
for thirty-three years. He was justly regarded as one of the greatest and
most eloquent preachers of his day. When President Washington visited
Portsmouth in 1789, he attended service on Sunday afternoon at this church
dressed in a black velvet suit and heard Doctor Buckminster deliver a very
excellent and appropriate sermon. Another distinguished listener, who fre-
quently attended this church, was John Paul Jones while he was superin-
tending the building of the frigate "America" in 1779.

Many public meetings were held in this building during the exciting times
of the Revolution.

In 1 76 1, the house was enlarged by adding thirteen feet to the western
side, which gave the steeple a place, as Uncle Tobey wrote, "like a man's
nose being on one side of his face," but it was not very noticeable till the
old state house in the center of the parade was removed.
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In i8b6, the interior was furnished with a fine clock, a brass chandeUer
with three rows of candlesticks to compare with the old three-decker of a
house; the walls and ceilings tinted with indigo blue wash; the seats painted
green; and the high pulpit decorated with splendid crimson silk draperies.

And when the sexton let go of the halliards and lowered the curtain from
the great -arched pulpit window at the west side, then it was that Uncle
Tobey, to again quote him "thought that Solomon's temple might look as

well but had no idea that it could look better." Subsequent alteration re-

placed the chandelier by "a circlet of squash-like lamp glasses," which in

turn gave way to gas pipes.

In 1837, the house was remodeled at an expense of $5,800, and fur-

nished with a single tier of windows, three on each side of the church instead

of seventeen.

The Brick Church Building.—On the site of the old meeting-house, the

present brick church building was erected in 1854-55 at a cost of $30,000.
The name "meeting-house" had been changed to "church," notwithstanding

that Cotton Mather had written in Puritanical days that he found no just

ground in Scripture to apply such a trope as "church" to a house for pubhc
service.

THE SUCCESSIVE MINISTERS OF THE NORTH PARISH

After the death of Mr. Buckminster, Rev. Israel W. Putnam was in 1814
installed and had a successful ministry of twenty years. His successors

were: Edwin Holt, 1836-42; Rufus W. Clark, 1842-51; Henry W. Moore,

1853-55; Lyman Whiting, 1855-59; William L. Gage, 1860-63; George M.
Adams, 1863-71; Carlos Martyn, 1872-76; Rev. Mr. Hubbell, acting pastor,

1877-79; William A. McGinley, 1879-89; Rev. Lucius H. Thayer, 1891-1914.

The chapel on Middle Street was built in 1870 and the church has its

parsonage on State Street.

ROLL OF HONOR OF CONGREGATIONAL MINISTERS WHO HAVE SERVED THEIR

CHURCHES FOR A PERIOD OF TWENTY YEARS OR MORE IN
ROCKINGHAM COUNTY

Edward Robie, Greenland, ordained and installed February 25, 1852.

William A. Rand, South Seabrook, commenced service January 27, 1867;

ordained and installed July 9, 1875.

Lucius H. Thayer, Portsmouth, commenced service November i, 1890;

ordained and installed January 28, 1891.

James G. Robertson, Chester, commenced service July 6, 1889; ordained

and installed July 30, 1889.

Albert H. Thompson, Raymond, commenced service May 6, 1888; in-

stalled May 30, 1905.

John A. Ross, Pastor Emeritus, Hampton, commenced service July i,

1887; installed June 14, 1892.

Theodore C. Pratt, Pastor Emeritus, Candia, commenced service May
22, 1892.



CHAPTER XIII

PORTSMOUTH—(Continued)

CHURCHES AND PASTORS

Methodist Episcopal Church.—In the year 1790, Jesse Lee made his first

appearance in Portsmouth as a Methodist preacher. From that time there

was miscellaneous preaching until 1807.

In the year 1807, Martin Ruter was appointed to Portsmouth and

Nottingham.
In the year 1808 the church was permanently organized; the first class

was organized by George Pickering, in house No. 12 Washington Street,

then occupied by a Mr. Hutchins. Brothers Pickering, Metcalf, and Stevens

preached in the town, interchanging their labors on the circuit system. This

year they purchased a house previously occupied by the Universalists on

Vaughan Street, afterwards known as the Cameneum. Rev. George Pick-

ering was the active agent in securing the house of worship. The price paid

was $2,000. In the same year (1808) an act of incorporation as the First

Methodist Episcopal Church was obtained of the Legislature.

In the year 1809, Rev. John Brodhead and Alfred Metcalf chiefly sup-

plied the desk here.

In 1810, Rev. John Williamson and Asa Kent supplied the desk; the

latter preached from December to June, and received as salary $89.29.
In 181 1, Revs. John Brodhead and John Lindsey were appointed to New

Market, Durham, and Portsmouth, Deacon Lindsey preaching most of the

time in Portsmouth. Every Sabbath a collection was taken, and the amount
entered on the book of records. For lighting the house they used candles,

and this item amounted to $14.56.
,

In 1812 and 1813, Rev. John Rexford was pastor, and reported sixty

members.
In 1814 and 181 5, Rev. Thomas W. Tucker was preacher, and received

$129.22, including board.

In 1816, Rev. Josiah Chamberlain was pastor, and reported seventy-one
members.

In 1817 and 1818, Rev. Daniel Filmore was preacher in charge, and had
a universal reformation, and as the house became too small, permission was
obtained to use Jefferson Hall for the prayer-meetings, which was crowded
to its utmost capacity. This year (1818) the Sabbath-school was foraied
under his labors.

164
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In July, 1820, Josiah Serritt was appointed to Portsmouth.
In 1821 and 1822, Enoch Mudge; in 18^3 and 1824, Ephraim Wiley;

and in 1825, Jacob Sanborn were stationed here.
In 1826 and 1827, Shipley W. Wilson was stationed here, and during

his labors here the present house of worship (on State Street) was built,

at a cost, including land, of about nine thousand dollars. The vestry was
in the upper part of the house over the entry, n The old house was disposed
of in 1829.

The first minister of the State Street church was Rev. John Newland
Moffet, the noted revivalist stationed 1828-29, and who resided in the brick

house on the southerly corner of Daniel and Chapel streets, still standing.

His son, John Jr., was at that time about ten years old and in our Civil war
became noted as the commander of the Southern privateer Florida.

On June 10, 1829, the New England Conference met in Portsmouth, and
the New Hampshire Conference was formed.

In 1830, Stephen Lovell; 1831, George Storrs; 1832, Holmes Cushman;
1833, Reuben H. Deming; 1834, Eleazer Smith; 1835, Schuyler Chamber-
lain; 1837, Jared Perkins; 1838, James G. Smith; 1839, Daniel T. Robin-
son; 1841, Samuel Kelley; 1843, Jacob Stevens; 1844, Elisha Adams; 1846,

Daniel M. Rogers; 1848, James Thurston; 1849, Samuel Kelley (again);

185 1, Richard S. Rust; 1853, Justin Spaulding; 1855, Sullivan Holman;

1857, Jonathan Hall.

In 1859 and i860. Rev. D. P. Leavitt was stationed here. Under his

labors a new vestry, costing about fifteen hundred dollars (exclusive of land),

was built on Daniel Street.

In 1859, D. P. Leavitt; 1861, Richard W. Humphries; 1863, SuUivaft

Holman (again); 1865, James Pike; 1867, Silas G. Kellog; 1868, H. L.

Kelsey; 1870, C. M. Dinsmore; 1873, A. C. Hardy (afterwards became an

Episcopalian); 1875, N. M. Bailey; 1876, James Noyes; 1878, C. P. Pit-

blado; 1881, W. W. Smith.

The following pastors succeeded Rev. Mr. Smith: In 1882-84, Joseph

E. Robbins; 1885-86, O. H. Jasper; 1887-90, Oliver S. Baketel; 1891-95,

Otis S. Cole; 1896-99, William Warren; 1900-03, Thomas Whitesides;

1904-05, Joseph L. Felt; 1906-10, George W. Farmer; 1910-14, Lyle L.

Gaither.

The State Street building was sold September i, 19 12, to Jewish resi-

dents and is now their Temple of Worship.

The new stone church erected on Miller Avenue was begun July i, 191 2;

the cornerstone, which was the same used in the State Street Church in 1827,

was laid by the ritual of the church September 8, 1912.

The church building and lot cost $26,000 and when the dedication pledges

are collected, the society will be free of debt.

The New Hampshire Conference for the fifth time was held here April

1-7, 1914.

The Universalist Parish.—In the year 1784 we have to note another of

large importance and influence in the history of church matters in this town.

In that year a house of worship was built in Vaughan Street, afterwards

known as the Cameneum, where the stable now stands, and this should be,
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in historical accuracy, regarded as the beginning of the sect here instead of

the year 1773, from which date the centennial services were reckoned. It

is true, Mr. Murray had preached the doctrines of Universalism in Ports-

mouth as early as the commencement of the Revolutionary war, at the church

building of the Sandermanians and of the Independent Congregational So-
ciety, and meetings may have been held with some degree of regularity from
the year 1782; but the historical beginnings of the parish should with greater

correctness begin with the ministrations of Mr. Parker, a layman of their

own number in 1784. Then for ten years the society had only occasional

supplies until Rev. George Richards was invited to become the minister in

August, 1783, and was ordained in July, 1799. From that time until 1807
the parish had a prosperous life, and in the following year the beautiful

church edifice was dedicated.

It was destroyed by fire in 1896 and the present brick church erected on
the same site. The pastors from Rev. Mr. Richards have been: Hosea
Ballou, S. Streeter, Edward Turner, Thomas Starr King, Moses Ballou,

George W. Montgomery, Moses Ballou (second pastorate), S. S. Fletcher,

W. A. P. Dillingham, Lemuel Willis, A. J. Patterson, Ambler, Bicknell,

Van Clot, E. M. Grant, 1876; W- E. Gaskin, 1882; Lee H. Fisher, 1886;
Henry R. Rose, 1891; Curtis H. Dickens, 1894; G. E. Laighton, 1899;
C. H. Emmons, 191 o; George C. Boom, 191 3.

The Christian Church was organized January i, 1803, by Elder Elias
Smith. How many united in the church organization the church record
does not say, but evidently it was very small, for the record says, "That so
great was the desire of Elder Smith to see such a church, that he thought
a labor of twenty years would be a pleasure, if in the end he might see
twenty united and walking according to the New Testament." This was
seen very soon, "for in March they numbered twenty-two, and obtained leave
to hold their meetings in the courthouse, and the first Sunday in April, 1803,
they held their first communion. The interest continued and baptisms were
frequent, not only on the Sabbath but on week-days, and in about one year
the little company of twenty-two had increased to about one hundred and
fifty. The membership of the 'church was not confined to Portsmouth, but
members were received from Newington, Hampton, Hampton Falls in New
Hampshire, Kittery in Maine, and as far as Haverhill and Bradford in
Massachusetts.

In 1807 and 1808 there was the greatest revival ever known in Ports-
mouth, and large numbers were added to the church. On the ist of Sep-
tember, 1808, Elder Smith commenced the publication of The Herald of
Gospel Liberty. This was the first religious newspaper ever published in
this country if not in the world, and is still the organ of the Christian denom-
ination, and is published at Dayton, Ohio. The records are rather imperfect
up to 1826. In that year Elder Moses How took the pastorate of the church,
their place of worship then being the old temple on Chestnut Street. During
the summer of 1834 Elder How baptized sixty-nine persons.

January, 1837, Elder Abner Jones took charge of the church as pastor.
Elder Jones did not continue as pastor long, for in 1838 we find an account
of baptism by Elder David Millard.
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In 1839 the brick meeting-house on Pleasant Street was purchased, at
which time a division took place and a second church organized.

Elder Millard's ministry was successful, and many were added to the
church. The record says nothing of his resignation, but November, 1840,
it speaks of Rev. E. N. Harris as pastor. Two years after he resigned.
Rev. George W. Kilton was his successor, who remained three years, and
was followed by Rev. A. M. Averill, who preached his farewell sermon
October 27, 1850. Rev. Thomas Holmes, D. D., was then called to the pas-
torate, which position he held until October i, 1853, when he resigned to
accept the professorship of the Greek language in Antioch College, at Yellow
Spring, Ohio. The church then engaged the services of Rev. Charles Bryant
for six months; the remainder of the year the pulpit was supplied by Revs.
O. P. Tuckerman and A. G. Comings. In 1855 Rev. B. S. Fanton settled

as pastor of the church. The church and society vacated the Pl^isant Street

meeting-house October 26, 1826, and for a while held services in a chapel

on Hanover Street. October 4, 1857, Rev. Thomas Holmes, D. D., was
again called to the pastorate of the church. Previous to this time Elder
Austin Damon, of New York, had supplied the pulpit. Brother Holmes
resigned in i860, and Elder Moses How was again invited to the pastorate.

He remained about one year, when Rev. I. F. Waterhouse, of Providence,

R. I., was called. Brother Waterhouse remained five years, during which
time the present place of worship was purchased and occupied January 8,

1882.

Rev. C. P. Smith was called to the pastorate early in 1868, which posi-

tion he occupied until July, 1872. October i, 1872, Rev. John A. Goss, of

Lynn, Mass., was called to the pastorate, and remained until 1885; he was
followed by Rev. Charles D. Hainer, 1885-87; Rev. John A. Hainer, 1887-90;

Rev. W. Rowland Spaid, 1890-91; Rev. John A. Goss, 1891-92; Rev. J. P.

Marvin, 1892-94; Rev. Myron Tyler, 1895-1900; Rev. Percy W. Caswell,

1913-14.

The Free Baptist Church was organized in 1823 by Rev. David Marks,

one of the leading men in the denomination in those days. Pastors, Revs.

Ezekiel True, J. B. Davis, Isaac G. Davis, William P. Merrill, Arthur Cav-

erns. In the year 1846 the church disbanded. The present church was

organized February 17, 1851. Pastors, Revs. John Pinkham, 1851; A. R.

Bradbury, 1851-53 ; the next two years the pulpit was supplied by Rev. S. P.

Fernald; 1855-56, Rev. P. Chesley; 1856-57, Rev. Lowell Parker; 1858-59,

Rev. Francis Reed; 1859-63, Rev. C. E. Haskell; 1863-66, Rev. L. L. Har-

mon; 1866-77, Rev. E. Owen; 1878-79, Rev. J. Herbert Yeoman, June 20,

1880, to March, 1883; Rev. S. J. Gould, May, 1883, to September, 1883;

Rev. John D. Waldron, April, 1884, to June, 1887; Rev. John S. Harring-

ton, April, 1888, to April, 1892; Rev. A. G. Hill, May, 1892, to November,

1892; Rev. Burton Minard (stated supply), April, 1893, to March, 1894;

Rev. L. E. Hall, April 15, 1894, to July 14, 1895; Rev. Robert L. Duston,

November 17, 1895, to August 4, 1901 ; Rev. Charles H. Tucker, November

24, 1901, to May 31, 1904; Rev. V. E. Bragdon, December 24, 1905, to

May 24, 1907; Rev. Edwin P. Moulton, September 5, 1909 to 1914.
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The meeting-house was built on Pearl Street in 1858, and was thoroughly

repaired during the pastorate of Mr. Harmon.

The Middle Street Baptist Society was established in 1826, eight mdi-

viduals meeting in "the old Assembly House" on Vaughan Street and con-

stituting themselves into a Calvin Baptist Church. The society afterwards

worshiped in what is now the Unitarian chapel, on Court Street, and in 1828

built and occupied their present brick edifice, on the corner of Middle and

State streets, when they assumed the above name. Rev. Duncan Dunbar,

who was active in the formation of the church, supplied the pulpit for

a while. The pastors have been as follows: 1827, Rev. Baron Stow; 1836,

Rev. John G. Naylor; 1839, Rev. Freeman G. Brown; 1843, Rev. Silas

Ilsley; 1848, Rev. William Lamson, D. D. ; i860. Rev. Edwin B. Eddy;

1864, Rev. Henry F. Lane; 1868, Rev.. William H. Alden, D. D.
; 1889,

Rev. Rush Rhees; 1893, Rev. W. E. Schliemann; 1894, Rev. M. V. McDufifie;

1898, Rev. George W. Gile; 1908, Rev. William E. Stanley, the present

pastor. In 1898 the church was renovated and memorial windows and elec-

tric lights were added.

During Rev. Geo. W. Gile's administration, the new annex, and addi-

tions to the chapel were made. In 1902 the parsonage on Middle Street

was purchased.

Christ Church (Episcopal) is situated on Madison Street, opposite the

west end of Austin Street. The stone of which it was constructed was

taken from Leach's or Murphy's Island in Little Harbor.

By the will of George M. Marsh, who died November 19, 1878, there

was left a bequest for the founding of this church. The cornerstone was

laid on St. John's Day, 1880. The church was dedicated July 3, 1883. The
seats, by will of the founder, are made free.

The following rectors have served: Rev. Henry E. Hovey, 1883 to

1894; Rev. Charles A. Morrill, 1894 to 1896; Rev. Charles leV. Brine, 1896

to 1914.

The Peace Thanksgiving Service held on September 5, 1905, was con-

ducted by the rector of Christ Church and the Very Rev. A. A. Hotovitzky,

dean of the Russian Cathedral of S. Nicholas, New York City. The serv-

ice consisted of the Evensong of the Episcopal Church and the Russian

Orthodox Te Deum. The music was rendered by the combined choirs of

Christ Church and the Russian Cathedral, New York, and Russian and
Angelican priests. A Peace Service similar to the original one is held each
year on or about the date—September 5th. In the year 1907 a handsome
tablet was placed upon the wall of the chancel commemorating the Peace
Thanksgiving Service.

The Advent Christian Church.—In 1840 William Miller of Low Hamp-
ton, N. Y., came to Portsmouth togive his course of lectures on the Second
Coming of Christ. He gave twenty-seven lectures in the brick church, cor-

ner of Pleasant and Livermore streets. Crowds flocked to hear Mr. Miller.

Before he concluded his lecture a large number came to the altar. From
60 to 80 would come forward for prayers on an evening. Frohi 700 to 800
confessed faith in Christ. But a great change came over the religious

people of Portsmouth after the time passed and Christ did not come. They
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gave it up and went back to their churches, but a few received the New
Light on the Prophetical part of the Bible and they could not give it up.
Ten of this class were members of the Free Baptist Church of this city.

They would keep on talking on the Prophecy in their social meetings. The
church could not endure it any longer so called a special church meeting and
notified those members to appear before the Church. The chairman of the
meeting said "The Church charges you as false prophets. You said Christ
was coming at a definite time. He did not come. But we would be pleased
to have you remain with us if you will leave out the coming of Christ." The
Church voted to drop their names from the Church and they came out and
congregated together on the street. They met in a shop on Hanover Street.

Elder Crowell, who heard Brother Miller's lectures, was greatly interested

in them. The brethren invited him to preach in the shop. The first Sunday
all the seats were taken and they saw they must have more room, so they
rented a hall on the corner of State and Penhallow streets. There was a
grocery store underneath. In those days they were called "Wet Groceries."

The people moved to their hall and they had preachings every Sunday and
two prayer meetings. Their "Amen's" and "Hallelujah's" were so loud

they disturbed the neighbors and the wet goods man and in about two years

they were warned out. Then they moved in a hall in the Academy.
, They

stayed there two years and were again warned out on account of their loud

"Amen's." They moved to Lord's Chapel on Hanover Street where they

disturbed the Spiritualists who occupied a portion of the building, and were
ordered out. Five brethren gave their joint note to a bank to raise money
to build a church; Joseph H. Berry, Oilman Dearborn, Daniel P. Brown,
William F. Ciurier and Robinson. F. Berry. They formed themselves into

a building committee and erected a small church on the lot where the present

church stands. Their first pastor was Brother Walter Pratt, followed by
Brother E. Owen and Brother William Israel. In 1883 Brother C. R.

Crossett accepted a call to this church and he was followed by Brother Bryant

McClellan, Brother W. H. Lannin, Brother A. E. Phelps and Brother C. M.
Seaman. Under Mr. Seaman's pastorate a total sum. of $4,400 was spent

on remodeling the building. Brother C. H. Shurtleff was then pastor for

two years and was followed by Brother C. O. Famham, Brother I. T. Barnes,

and Brother W. M. Adams. Brother J. T. Barnes returned to take up the

work for the second time, on March 16, 191 4.

The Immaculate Conception (Roman Catholic) Church.—The first serv-

ices of the Roman Catholics were held in the Peduzzi Building, on the cor-

ner of Congress and High streets. In 1852 a frame church was built on the

corner of Summer and Chatham streets, over the ledge in the old circus

field. This was during the pastorate of Rev. Charles McCallion, who was

the first resident priest. At that time the congregation numbered about three

hundred. The building was destroyed by fire in 1871. In 1873 the present

brick church was built at a cost of $50,000. - The beautiful memorial win-

dows were the recent gift of Rev. Father E. M. O'Callaghan, P. R., a former

pastor. The society numbers upwards of two thousand members, and is one

of the wealthiest in. the city, owning nearly the entire square bounded by

Summer, Austin, Winter and Chatham streets. On the corner of Austin
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and Winter streets is the large St. Patrick's Parochial School and on Austin

Street the Sacred Heart Convent of Mercy, both built in 1887.

The Parochial School was established in September, 1888. The building

is up-to-date in every respect. The public school curriculum is followed in

the dififerent grades with special attention paid to instruction in Christian

Doctrine. The average number of pupils throughout the year is 480. The
following are the successors of Rev. Mr. McCallion: Rev. P. Canavan;
Rev. William O'Donnell; Rev. D. W. Murphy; Rev. Thomas Canon Walsh;
Rev. E. M. O'Callaghan and Rev. P. J. Finnegan. The present pastor,

Rev. E. J. Walsh, began his work July 14, 1907. Rev. James E. White is

his assistant.

The Peoples Baptist Church was organized September 4, 1908, mainly
through the efforts of Deacon James F. Slaughter, and their services are

held in the building owned by the city on Meeting-house Hill. Their present

pastor is Rev. John L. Davis. The clerk is William T. Pattillo.

The Chapel of New Jerusalem on Little Harbor Road is open during
the summer season with services by Arthur A. Carey (pastor).

The Christian Science Society was organized in 1901. They hold their

meetings and have a reading room at No. 2 Market Street.

The Salvation Army have good rooms and a hall on State Street.



CHAPTER XIV

PORTSMOUTH— (Cow^mw^rf)

Stamp Act and a Tea Party—Association Test—The War of the Revolution—Military Record—War of 1812-14—Military Record, 1861-5—Ship
Building—Commerce—Privateering

Stam-p Act and Tea Party.—George Meserve, when in England in 1765,
at the time of the passage of the Stamp Act, was appointed agent for the

distribution of stamps in New Hampshire. Nowhere in the Colonies was a

more determined spirit of resistance to the oppression of the mother coun-
try manifested than in Portsmouth. The stamp master's commission arrived

in January, 1766. Meserve gave up the commission to the "Sons of Liberty,"

who took it and destroyed it at the swing bridge, where they erected a liberty

standard and the bridge has been called from that day "Liberty Bridge" and
a pole maintained with an appropriate inscription.

Previous to the attack on Fort William and Mary in December, 1774, a

Tea Party was held in the North Meeting House on December 16, 1773.
At that meeting of the inhabitants it was

Resolved: That whoever directly or indirectly promote or in any way
assist in the importation of East India Company's tea, or any tea subject to

payment of any duty here by an act of the British Parliament, shall be

deemed an enemy to America.

On June 25, 1774, twenty-seven chests of tea were consigned to Edward
Parry which caused almost as much excitement as did the tea-ship in Boston.

But he promptly reshipped them, untouched to Halifax. Another shipment

of thirty chests arrived in September. The populace broke in the windows
of the consignee and Parry applied to Governor Wentworth for protection,

which was given. The town assembled the next day and Parry publicly

declared he would not accept the consignment and it was also reshipped to

Halifax.

Association Test of 1776.—In the history of New Castle is detailed the

active part taken by citizens of Portsmouth, in the attacks on Fort William

and Mary in December, 1774.

The Declaration of the Independence of the United States was well

ascertained to be the voice of the people, before it was signed in the Congress

at Philadelphia on the 4th of July, 1776. On the recommendation made by

Congress, March 14, 1776, the signatures of the people were obtained to an

obligation to oppose the hostile proceedings of the British fleets and armies.

171
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The fullness of the retufns gave the signers of the Declaration assurance

that their acts would be sanctioned and sustained by the country. A docu-

ment in the Secretary of State's office shows all the names of the citizens of

Portsmouth in 1776, and the position in which they stood in regard to the

Revolution.

Four hundred and ninety-seven signed the Association Test, thirty-one

were either absent or refused to sign. Of the latter, fifteen were reported

as "being notoriously disaffected to the common cause." The Test list is

headed by the name of Meshech V/eare, and it reads as follows: "We the

Subscribers, do hereby solemnly engage, and promise, that we will to the

utmost of our Power, at the Risque of our Lives and Fortunes, with Armes,

oppose the Hostile Proceedings of the British Fleets and Armies, against

the United American Colonies."

WAR OF THE REVOLUTION, MILITARY RECORD
*

In place of the long Hsts of Portsmouth men serving on the land and

sea we insert the following as indicative of the large number of men the

town furnished:

The Continental Congress had discovered in 1776 the error of short

enlistments and temporary levies, and in the latter part of that year resolved

upon a permanent military establishment, to consist of 88 battalions, which
were subsequently augmented to 104. Each battalion of infantry to consist of

688 men, exclusive of the commissioned, officers, divided into 8 companies,

of 92 officers and enlisted men each, the enlistments in the new army to be
for a period of not less than three years or during the continuance of the

war with Great Britain. These battalions or regiments were to be raised

directly by the different states in proportion to their population, and desig-

nated in the army by the number and the name of the state in which they
were recruited. '

One brigade of three battalions of infantry was directed by Congress to

be raised in New Hampshire, and the state authorities immediately adopted
active measures to fill up these battalions by offer of bounties, etc., to secure
enlistments, and apportioned the number of men to be raised equitably among
all the towns in the state. The number assigned to the Town of Portsmouth
was 109, to which, in a pubHc meeting held March 25, 1777, a remonstrance
was unanimously voted in the following terms ;— State of New Hampshire

;

To the Honorable Council and House of Representatives for the State afore-
said, now in General Assembly convened at Exeter:

The Memorial and Remonstrance of the Freeholders and other Inhab-
itants of the Town of Portsmouth in the State aforesaid into your Honors
humbly shows;

That your Memorialists have been called upon in their corporate capacity
as a town by Joshua Wentworth, Esq., lieutenant colonel of the First
Regiment (militia) to furnish 109 men for the Continental (regular) army,
which demand, he informs us, is made by virtue of authority from your
Honors, E^ainst which demand we beg leave to remonstrate to your Honors
for the following interesting and weighty reasons

;
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In the orders from Major-General Folsom to Colonel Wentworth, the
proportion -of this town of males from i6 to 50 is said to be 873, but
by accurate returns of all the militia companies, including the Alarm List
and the companies commanded by Colonels Langdon and Sherburne, there
are but 590 males in the whole and of these more than two hundred are
enlisted and gone away into the Continental and State service and other
ways by permission of your honors, viz. : in Colonel Long's regiment at

Ticonderoga, on board the Raleigh ship of war, in Captains Salter and Daniels
companies and on board the twenty-gun privateer (Portsmouth), Captain
Parker, which was permitted to sail by your Honors, and all the ships

employed by the Continent, which reduces the number remaining to be only
about three hundred and fifty, of which 109 is now demanded, which was
from the presumption that there were 873 in the town; this we conceive to

be some error, and we doubt not your Honors, in justice to the town, will

inquire into and relieve under this grievance. We beg leave to assure your
Honors we ever were and ever will be ready to furnish our full proportion
to the support of the public cause, nor do we make our present applications

from any other views, but that we conceive some manifest error is made in

the proportion demanded, as we are called upon to furnish considerable more
than one-quarter part of the (arms-bearing) inhabitants in the town, includ-

ing the Alarm List and independent companies.

The memorial was not granted and the number was secured by the town
paying £9 bounty and later £27 to all soldiers enlisting for three years.

The distribution of troops for the defense of the Piscataqua Harbor in

November, 1775, was: Great Island, 269 men; at Fort Washington, 74
men; on Peirce's Island, 366 men; on Seavey's Island, 235 men; at Kittery

Point, 208 men; at Fort Sullivan, 20 men; in Portsmouth, 29 men; on the

Parade, I Battery of Light Artillery of three brass pieces, 37 men ; one com-

pany of carpenters, 12 men; total, 1,250 men.

WAR OF 1812-14

At the commencement of the War of 181 2, and for twenty years subse-

quently, the militia of New Hampshire was thoroughly organized and in a

most efficient condition for service. In the year 18 13 it consisted of thirty-

seven regiments, of two battalions each, and numbered about 35,000 men.

The Town of Portsmouth constituted the territorial limits of the First Regi-

ment, the field officers of which in 181 3 were: Gideon Walker, colonel com-

mandant; Samuel Larkin, major first battaHon; and Joseph Drown, major

second battalion. The regiment consisted of 754 officers and men and was

composed of the following companies, viz.

:

Portsmouth Artillery, organized June 17, 1775, designation changed in

1845 to Portsmouth Greys, commanded in 1813 by Capt. Robert F. Phipps;

Sea Fencibles, organized 1812 and drilled both as infantry and artillery,

commanded by Capt. John S. Davis ; First Light Infantry Company, organized

October i, 1794, designation changed July 4, 1823, to Rockingham Guards,

commanded by Capt. Samuel Shackford; Second Light Infantry Company

(Gilman Blues), organized October 30, 1799, commanded by Capt. Joshua
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W. Pierce and six line companies commanded by Captains Benjamin Floyd,

Thomas S. Bowles, Nathaniel Adams, Jr., Isaac Waildron, Joseph Sherburne

and William Miller.

The Artillery, Sea Fencibles, First Light Infantry and Oilman Blues

were uniformed volunteer organizations, armed and equipped by the State.

The line companies included all others not serving in the above, not by

law exempt from mihtary service, between the ages of eighteen and forty-

five years, residing within the six militia districts into which the Town of

Portsmouth was then divided. In addition to ths armed and organized force'

there were in Portsmouth 554 men of military age exempted from service,

and 117 belonging to the several fire companies who were also released by
law from military duty.

During the 1812-14 war, Portsmouth sent to the army and navy its

quota of men. In.1814 the reception of the news of the destruction of the

Capitol of the Nation caused the greatest excitement in the town. On Sep-

tember 3d, at a town meeting, a new committee of defence was appointed.

Among the twelve were Daniel Webster and Jeremiah Mason. In answer to

their application five regiments and a battalion of artillery and militia, num-
bering 4,581 men, assembled at Portsmouth. This force could be reinforced

by the Portsmouth Regiment of 800, and the Thirty-fifth Regiment of 600,

and if necessary the Newburyport Regiment, which, with the regulars and
state troops, there could be put in line of battle at least 7,000 men at the

alarm signal. That the British had made arrangements to destroy the navy
yard and town in 1814 there can be no doubt. A well appointed fleet lay off

the Piscataqua for several weeks.

MILITARY RECORD, 1861-65

The following roll of citizens comprise, so far as is known, all the per-
sons who have been in the service of the United States, either in the army or
navy, also all persons who enlisted as a part of the quota of this citv and
received the bounty, whether such persons were residents or not.

Company K, Second Regiment.—William O. Sides, captain; John S.
Sides, second lieutenant; Andrew J. Sides, George E. Sides, Charles W.
Patch, Oliver F. Maxwell, sergeants ; George R. Roitt, Beckford L. Rand,
Christopher J. Marshall, William W. Shaw, James Ricker, Daniel D. Wendell,
Rufus L. Beem, Charles E. Gleason, corporals; James W. Taylor, musician;
Benjamin J. Lake, wagoner. Privates: George A. Allon, Samuel Adams,
Charles N. Allen, John Avery, Oliver N. Allen, John W. Bell, Allen P.
Bell, Vanburen S. Bly, John R. Brockway, Hugh Boyle, Lewis E. Blaesdell,
James N. Chase, Nathaniel M. Danielson, Joseph A. Doe, John F. Dear-
born, Charles W. Downs, Horace L. Dearborn, Joseph Dame, Francis A.
Fifield, William H. Goodwin, Joseph E. Gordon, Clarence S. Gray, James
T. Gammon, Thomas Gannin, Charles E. Hantress, Jacob W. Hill, George
E. Hill, Harlen P. Hodgdon, John Harvey, John Haynes, Charles W. Hol-
brook, George E. Johnson, Joseph E. Janverin, William H. Kenniston, Wil-
liam S. King, Nathaniel M. Lear, Robert Lever, Edwin H. Leslie, Michael-
E. Long, James I. Locke, William Locke, William F. Lawson, Sedley A.
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Lowd, Alvah Manson, William H. Mix, Jeremiah Murphy, William C. Mc-
Intire, Jeremiah Mahoney, John S. McDonald, Morris F. McGraw, Joseph
Moulton, John Marr, Daniel Neligan, Henry C. Norton, W. F. Oxford,
John Pollock, Charles E. Plaisted, Nathaniel F. Palmer, Joseph W. Rogers,
Samuel E. Reynolds, James Rutledge, John Riley, Charles R. Roberts, Charles
Ridge, George Sawyer, Jr., Daniel F. Smith, James E. Seavey, Horace M.
Smith, William T. Spinney, Robert C. Sides, Jr., Thomas B. Seaver, Alex-
ander Steward, Joseph P. Sheppard, Freeman B. Teague, William H. Twi-
light, Samuel Taylor, William H. Tenney, George W. Trickey, Henry Walker,
Charles H. Warren, Joseph D. West, Andrew Willard.

"I certify that the rules and articles of war were read to the company
on the 8th day of June, 1861.

"William O. Sides."

"I certify on honor that I have carefully examined the men whose names
are borne on this roll, and have accepted them into the service of the United
States for the term of three years from this 8th day of June, 1861.

(Signed) "Seth Eastman,
"Major Third U. S. Infantry, Mustering OfUcer."

John S. Sides, promoted to first lieutenant August 15, 1861. Lieut.

Charles W. Patch, killed at Gettysburg. Christopher J. Marshall, taken

prisoner first Bull Run. Samuel Adams, deserted July 21, 1861.. Oliver

N. Allen, prisoner first Bull Run. William H. Kenniston, died August 3,

1 861, in hospital. William F. Oxford, wounded and taken prisoner first

Bull Run. Charles Ridge, taken prisoner first Bull Run. George Sawyer,

taken prisoner first Bull Run. James E. Seavey, drowned at Aquia Creek,

August 23, 1862. Henry Walker, killed in battle August 29, 1862.

Third Regiment.—John H. Jackson, lieutenant-colonel; Alfred J. Hill,

adjutant; William H. Cornelius, heutenant; Thomas M. Jackson, second

lieutenant. Company B : William J. Morrison. Company D : James Burk.

Thomas Entwestle, Warren G. Gates, George C. Harris, William Horrocks,

Charles E. Johnson, Harrison E. Johnson, Daniel Kimball, Joseph T. Moore,

James Neal, George W. Odiorne, William B. Parks, James W. Plaisted,

Ezekiel C. Rand, Thos. E. Stoodley, John H. Tredick, Leonard G. Wiggin.

Company B : W. J. Morrison. Company K : Charles W. Moulton, Richard

Thomas. Marched from Concord September 3, .1861.

Fourth Regiment N. H. V.—Company A: Harrison Hartford. Com-
pany B: George F. Towle, captain; Jacob Ambuster, Albert C. Berry, John

W. Brewster, Stephen Conner, Luther Harmon, John Henderson, Seth W.
Huntress, George H. Perkins. Company G: James Donavan. Fourth

Regiment marched from Manchester September 27, 1861.

Fifth Regiment, N. H. V.—-Company B: John H. Locke, Frank C.

Sweetser. Company D : Michael Brooks. Company K : Peter Brennan,

Charles W. Burleigh, Michael Harr, Walter M. Hatch, James Stearns, Robert

S. Dame. Fifth Regiment marched from Concord October 29, 1861.

Sixth Regiment N. H. V.—Company H : Andrew J. Sides, second lieu-

tenant; James Berry, Havillah F. Downing, Pierpont Hammond, Dennis
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Kane, Bickford L. Rand, Irving W. Rand, William H. Redden, Samuel S.

Sides, William G. Tripp, William Wilson, Edward McDonald, James Daley,

John S. Dora, Hiram Hayes, William A. Horton, William Kemp, Franklin

Jones, Edward Martin, Hiram Morrow, Richard Norton, John O'Brine,

Daniel Quinn, Charles H. Thompson, Reuben H. Ricker, Washington Sweet.

Sixth Regiment N. H. V. marched from Keen December 25, 1861. Lieut.

A. J. Sides was first sergeant of Company K when it left the city, but was
subsequently discharged and recruited the men of Company H.

Seventh Regiment.—Company D: George B. Parker. Company G:
John White. Seventh Regiment marched from Manchester January 14, 1862.

Ninth Regiment.—Company C: David Binch. Company E: Edward
F. Goodwin. Ninth Regiment marched from Concord August 25, 1862.

Tenth Regiment.—Company G: George W. Towle, captain; George E.

Hodgdon, first lieutenant; Lemon R. Marston, second lieutenant; Horace H.
Adams, Henry L. Adlington, Thomas Archibald, James S. Ayers, John O.
Ayers, Meschack Bell, Jr., Henry T. Brill, George Brown, Abram D. Burn-
ham, Joseph B. Burnham, John H. Custton, Hesam Cowen, Thomas Day,
William E. Dearborn, Benjamin F. Evans, John E. Fields, Richard Fitz-

gerald, John H. Flint, Franklin E. Gardner, Lucius' Gilmore, Michael GiUi-

gan, Thomas Haley, Michael Haire, Pierpont Hammond, Owen Henwood,
John Higgins, William Hill, George A. Hodgdon, John Hodgdon, Harlan
P Hodgdon, Charles L. Hoitt, James Howes, John E. Hoyt, Edward Jarvis,

Joseph F. Keen, George M. Kimball, George King, B. Stow Laskey, Charles
W. Lolley, John N. Marden, Michael Mason, Charles Mayes, Robert Miles,

John H. Moore, John H. Morrison, George O. Murray, Charles H. Much-
more, John S. Patterson, Edward B. Prime, Charles W. Pickering, Edward
O. Randall, John H. Ramsdell, Eugene Reistle, Thomas Rutter, J. Albert
Sanborn, Freeman F. Sanborn, Joseph S. Seavey, Michael Sheridan, Jr.,
Alfred S. Sweetser, Oliver F. Taylor, John Thompson, Andrew D. Walden,
Richard Walsh, Andrew W. Whidden, Sylvester Y. White, Henry J. Willey,
Thomas Williams, William H. WilHams, William Wingate, Aaron Sias,
Peter Sullivan, John H. Stringer, John S. Sheridan, Horace J. Willey. TentK
Regiment marched from Manchester September 22, 1862.

Eleventh Regiment.—Company A: Francis F. Butchelder. Eleventh
Regiment marched from Concord September 11, 1862.

Thirteenth Regiment.—Jacob Storer, major; William J.' Ladd, sergeant-
major. Company E: Charles F. Adams, Henry Nutter. Company F:
Edwin H. Leslie. Company K: Matthew T. Betton, captain; Enoch W.
Goss, first lieutenant; Nathaniel J. Coffee, second lieutenant; Samuel P.
Abbott, Henry Bean, Charles Braydon, John W. Brown, Ferdinand Barr^'
D. Webster Barnabee, Joseph B. Brown, Thomas Critchley, Jr., Joseph h!
Coche. Joseph N. Davidson, George Davids, Jam.es Danielson, Thomas Fair-
service. Nathaniel Gunnison, James Gilchrist, John V. A. Hanson, John
Harmon, Henry C. Hodgdon, Henry A. Haneyfield, Michael Hoy, Abel Jack-
son, Ephraim Jackson, Daniel M. Jellison, William H. Jellison, Francis R
Johnson, Martin Johnson, William H. Lean, James R. Morrison, John H
Mawbey, John Moore, Martin Moore, John Mottrane, John May 'john Mc-
Millan, William Mitchell, Jr., Jeremiah L. Mclntire, Peter Mitchell George



AND REPRESENTATIVE CITIZENS 179

Manning, Daniel H. Plaisted, William Peirce, Jr., Thomas B. Parks, Henry
S. Paul, Charles Powell, Isaac N. M. Pry, John L. Randall, Owen H. Roche,
Ezekiel C. Rand, Robert Rand, Charles W. Randall, Reuben S. Randall,
Moses Rowe, John C. Stevens, Storer E. Stiles, Daniel J. Spinney, George
Scott, Enoch F. Smith, Robert M. Spinney, Charles G. Smith, George L.
Sides, Edward W. Sides, Horace S. Spinney, Patrick SulHvan, Edwin A.
Tilton, Henry S. Thompson, Samuel Taylor, Benjamin F. Winn, Robert B.

Welch, William Warburton (2d), John F. Welch, Daniel H. Mclntire.
Thirteenth Regiment marched from Concord October 6,' 1862.

Sixteenth Regiment.—Company K : Joseph H. Thacher, captain
;
George

T. Wilde, first lieutenant; William A. Haven, second lieutenant; Henry B.

Adams, George E. Allen, James Anderson, Thomas Brackett, Jr., Samuel
Blatchforce, Henry M. Caster, James Cunningham, Daniel Danielson, Frank-
lin Dow, William Dutton, Charles E. Edny, Henry O. Ellinwood, James H.
Emery, HoUis W. Fairbanks, Israel G. Fletcher, John Flynn, Otto Franck,
Frederick Franz, Charles F. Goodwin, Thomas J. Goodwin, Charles E. Gray,

Jacob Haddock, Otis F. Haley, John Higgins, George W. Hill, Joseph E.

Holmes, Christopher J. Kellenbeck, Jacob F. Knight, Philip Krunz, John
Leary, Charles W. Levitt, Patrick Mahoney, William Mason, Angus Mc-
Cormick, John Mcintosh, James Mitchell, WiUiam J. Mills, John H. Mor-
rill, Joseph E. Nash, Franklin W. Neal, Timothy O'Leary, Albert A. Payne,
Charles A. Payson, John H. Pearson, WiUiam A. Rand, Samuel Ruvill,

Oren Seavey, Jarries Shaw, Jr., John Shaw, Robert Smart, James L. Smith,

Nathaniel Spinney, Charles Stewart, John Sullivan, John Taylor, Isaac

Thomas, Mark W. Tucker, Charles Wagner, Samuel W. Walden, James A.

Waterhouse, James E. Walker, Benjamin F. Watkins, Daniel Watkins, James
Webster, George A. Woodsun, John F. Woodsun. Sixteenth Regiment
marched from Concord August 14, 1863.

Seventeenth Regiment.—Company B : Isaac F. Jenness, captain ; Frank

D. Webster, first lieutenant; Joseph W. Ackerman, George Anderson, Wil-

liam J. Andrews, Charles H. Alvarez, John Barry, Thomas Brown, J. C.

Canney, William Carter, Daniel M. Clark, Warner Coggswell, Thomas Cook,

John Femald, Thomas H. Fisher, Joseph Fuller, Charles Davis, John F.

Gallagher, Hiram A. Grant, Clarence S. Gray, James Haley, Joseph A. Hane,

Christopher W. Harrold, Henry Harris, Charles H. Kimball, John H. Lam-
bert, Joseph Midgley, Thomas Mitchell, Charles E. Morse, John S. Perkins,

Ammi C. Rand, Louis H. Rand, James H. Roberts, Henry V. Rogers, Ed-

ward D. Stoodley, Robert W. Stoll, James Tangney, Richard Turner, John

W. Walker, John A. Walch, Henry A. Whitton, Thomas H. Wilson, Henry

Wingate.
Berdan's Regiment (Sharpshooters).—Company F: Henry L. Richards,

Tames H. Frost, Alvah H. Woodward; Paymaster Albert H. Hoyt.

First Regiment New England .Cavalry.—Robert E. Shillaber.

Fifth Maine Regiment.—John E. Moran.

Fifteenth Maine Regiment.—Samuel Blackford, Addison H. Beach.

First Massachusetts Regiment.—William H. Davidson, William H.,

Hunters.
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Second Massachusetts Regiment.—William Tate, wounded before Rich-

mond, and died August 2, 1862.

Tenth Massachusetts Regiment.—Wilher F. Lamb.

Eleventh Massachusetts Regiment.—Andrew H. Moran
, ^ , 1

Twelfth Massachusetts Regiment.^Wallace W. Gore, Joseph J. Locke.

Thirteenth Massachusetts Regiment.—Robert B. Henderson, John H.

Coswell. XT c •
t.

Fourteenth Massachusetts Regiment.—WiUiam H. bmith.

Sixteenth Massachusetts Regiment.—^avats W. Leverton.

Seventeenth Massachusetts Regiment.—Kzekitl Mann, Samuel A. Badger.

Nineteenth Massachusetts Regiment.—George- W. Moran, Samuel A.

Bridge.

Twenty-second Massachusetts Regiment.—Charles Drew, Joseph Drew,

Samuel A. Wiggin. ^^ t- o- c
Twenty-third Massachusetts Regiment.—Robert F. Foster, Simeon b.

Sweet.

Twenty-fourth Massachusetts Regiment.—Henry W. Paul.

Twenty-Hfth Massachusetts Regiment.—Samuel B. Shapleigh, Charles

W. Shannon. ,, t.

Forty-fourth Massachusetts Regiment.—Ezekiel Fitzgerald, Benjamin

Chandler, Albert L. Dodge, Frederick L. Dodge.

Forty-seventh Massachusetts Regiment.—Charles C. Haley.

Forty-eighth Massachusetts Regiment.—^Charles L. Tidd.

Fifth New York Artillery.'—John Swindells.

Fifty-seventh New York Regiment.—Daniel J. Vaughan.

Eighty-ninth New York Regiment.—George A. Edny.

Third Wisconsin Cavalry.—George W. Carr.

First Minnesota.—Oliver M. Knight.

First Regiment Massachusetts Cavalry.—Daniel B. Sawyer.

Second Regiment Massachusetts Cavalry.—Albert S. Leighton.

Heavy Artillery at Fort Constitution.—Stephen S. Blaisdell, Henry M.
Davis, Andrew Goldthwait, Joseph H. Graves, Clarence S. Gray, John Haley,

Samuel P. Halt, Charles E. Moore, Alanson Ordway, George B. Roofe,

Amos B. Smith, Stark Spinney, Jesse A. Tobey, Charles E. Young.

United States Navy.—George C. Abbott, John Q. Adams, Charles W.
Adams, Woodbury Adams, George E. Anderson, Joseph Barry, Joshua Bas-

tille, Andrew Bayne, Freeman Beale, Daniel F. Bean, Joel Bean, Charles E.

Beck, Charles E. Berry, William Black, William W. Black, George C. Board-

man, Elijah Brown, George W. Brown, Joseph Brown, William Brown,
William Brown, William Brown, Michael Buckley, James Burke, George
Butler, William Card, Joseph W. Carlton, Henry A. Carter, Josiah P. Car-

ter, Henry H. Cate, Joseph G. Cate, Albert Chamberlain, Horace A. Chase,

Walter Chesley, Charles W. Clark, Edmund Clark, Wallace W. Clark,

Thomas Collins, Kiesan Copley, James Courtney, George Cox, Michael Crow-
ley, William Currier, Charles Cummings, Frederick Danielson, Joseph David-
son, Francis Dema, James M. Devine, Michael Devine, John M. De Roch-
ment, Castine B. De Witt, Arthur Dorrity, John H. Downs, Frank M. Drake,
Nelson N. Downing, Franklin N. Ellison, Horace Ellison, William Ellison,



AND REPRESENTATIVE CITIZENS 181

William H. Emery, William Y. Evans, David Faulkner, William H. Fields,

Albert Fisher, Joseph Fitzgerald, Joseph Foster, Charles E. Freeman, Wil-
liam D. Freeman, Thomas B. Gammon, Thomas S. Gay, J. Nelson Good-
rich, Benjamin Gray, Charles A. C. Gray, Henry Gray, Samuel Gray, Frank
W. Hackett, William H. Haddock, Allison W. Hadley, Mark S. Ham, Ben-
jamin Harris, Thomas A. Harris, Lyman H. Hertford, John Hartnett, Frank
F. Hastings, Charles E. Hawkins, Henry Hayes, William C. Hazlett. Fred-
erick Henderson, George Herbert, Daniel Hennessey, James Hennessey, John
A. Holbrook, Charles W. Holmes, Alfred H. Hook, Andrew J. Hough,
William H. Howell, Hugh Hunter, James Hurley, Michael Hurley, Patrick
Hurley, William S. Jarvis, Henry Jenkins, John Jenkins, Abraham A. John-
son, Augustus Johnson, George N. Johnson, George W. Johnson, Charles

C. Jones, John Jones, Michael Jones, Charles K. Knox, John H. Knox,
Thomas Kehoe, Irving W. Laighton, William F. Laighton, William M.
Laighton, Henry S. Lambert, John L. Lambert, Edward D. Lane, Harvey
V. Lang, Thomas W. Lang, John T. Larrabee, Samuel Lear, Lafayette
Leary, John C. Lewis, Edwin W. Locke, Jeremiah S. Locke, Oliver H. Locke,
William W. Locke, James Lynch, John F. Lyons, William H. Manson,- Rob-
ert B. Marden, Albert S. Marston, George E. Martin, Gustavus W. Mason,
John McAwley, David McCliskey, Michael McCliskey, Daniel McDonald,
Robert McFadden, John McGraw, John McKenly, Alexander McLead, Cor-

nelius Mead, Henry Melvin, Oliver Messer; Thomas J. Mitchell, Thomas
Moore, Edward Moses, John F. Muchmore, Isaac C. Murch, James Mur-
wick, William Newick, Jeremiah Newman, Leverett W. Noyes, William

Nuckett, John E. Odwone, Andrew B. Paine, William Paine, John F. Parks,

William Parks, Enoch G. Parrott, John A. Payne, George F. Pearson, Albert

G. Pembell, Edward Pendexter, George W. Perry, William Pettigrew, Sam-
uel Phelbrech, Charles W. Pickering, Simeon S. Pickering, William P.

Pender, Alonzo K. Place, Charles L. Place, Leonard Place, Frank Plaisted,

James E. Plaisted, Patrick Quenland, Cornelius Quinn, John Quinn, Thomas
Quinn, Charles Ricker, Thomas W. Ridge, John M. Roberts, Joseph Rey-

nolds, Alexander Robinson, Richard Robinson, Charles H. Ross, Charles H.

Rowe, Jabez Rowe, John Rutlidge, Lewis Rutlidge, William Rutlidge, Frank

C. Sawyer, William O. Seawards, George E. Smart, Ivory Smart, Charles

J. Smith, James Smith, James H. Smith, John H. Smith, Stephen Smith,

William Smith, James A. Snow, Lyman G. Spalding, Chesley Spinney,

William T. Spinney, George E. Stackpole, William Stanley, George W.
Storer, William P. Storer, John W. Stott, Joseph W. Stringer, Dennis O.

Sullivan, Warren L. Sweet, Charles Tate, Andrew Tetterly, Samuel Thomas,

Henry Tucker, Thomas L. Tullock, Jr., Edwin Underbill, Joseph B. Upham,

Jr., Charles L. Varney, Frank A. Varney, John L. Venare, James Walch,

Daniel Walker, William Walker, Joseph Wallace, Edward L. Warburton,

Benjamin F. Watkins, Frank Watkins, Thomas Watkins, Richard Watkins,

William Watkins, Henry C. Webster, William Webster, Edward H. Weeks,

George W. Weeks, John Welch, Joshua Wetherell, Thomas Wetherell, Andrew

White, Joshua W. White, George F. Whitehouse, Samuel A. Whitehouse,

William H. Whitehouse, John W. Young.
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The Winfield Scott Schley Camp No. 4, United Spanish War Veterans,

located at Portsmouth, has a membership of eighty-nine comrades.

SHIP BUILDING AND PRIVATEERING

The principal industry of Portsmouth for half a century was ship build-

ing. From 1801 to 185a an average of nine vessels per year were built on
the Piscataqua River, and every decade the vessels were made larger and
more costly. Starting with an average of 200 tons in 1801, there was hardly

any increase until 1827, when thousands assembled to see the launching of

a full rigged ship, the Sarah Parker, of about 400 tons, that was built' for

Captain Ichabod Goodwin. In the '30s and '40s the average rose to 450
tons and in the '50s the eighty-four vessels launched averaged 900 tons, one,

The Sierra Nevada, being of 1,952 tons. The famous Typhoon that

made the record trip across the Atlantic in thirteen days, was built here in

185 1. In the Fourth of July procession in 1853, George Raynes had an
ox team decorated with fifty-three models of vessels that he had built. That
number was excelled by Master William Badger, for on his monument on
Badger's Island is the inscription that he built nearly one hundred vessels,

but the fact that he never saw one of them launched has not been published.

In 1800, 108 vessels were owned in this port besides those engaged in fish-

ing. In 1824, 182 vessels, including 38 ships, were owned here, employing
1,453 seamen. In 1834, 196 vessels, of which 40 were engaged in foreign
trade, 4 in whaling, 85 in fishing, 56 in coasting. In 1840, 201 vessels were
similarly employed." For years the wharves were lined with vessels export-
ing lumber, fish, beef, pork and live stock, and importing wines, molasses,
sugar, coffee, spices, iron and salt. The odd hours of Portsmouth youths
were spent in the numerous shipyards and on the wharves, and it is no won-
der so many went down to the sea in ships with the hopes of a captain's
berth, or learned one of the trades connected with ship building or commerce.

In 1844 Rev. Andrew P. Peabody stated to a lyceum audience in a lec-

ture on the industries of Portsmouth, that the yearly earnings from agri-
culture was $30,000, manufacturing—principally stocking factories—$100,-
000, and from commerce $500,000. In 1846 when the Portsmouth Steam
Factory and Sagamore Company started with about 500 employees, the main
producing population were engaged in commerce, fishing and ship building.
The prosperous years of Portsmouth ship building and commerce departed
during the Civil war. The high rates of insurance premiums for war risks,
on account of the confederate privateers and the chanCe to sell American
built ships for English gold at a high premium, left our ship yards and wharves
nearly vacant.

Of late years Portsmouth has been and is the coal port of the State of New
Hampshire and a good part of Maine and Vermont. More than half a million
tons are annually shipped by rail to the great mills of Manchester and other
inland places. The Piscataqua Navigation Company with its steam-boats and
barges carries the bricks from the yards on the upper Piscataqua to Massa-
chusetts. The Morley Button Company is the largest concern of its kind in
the world. Giving constant employment to 250 employees. The Gale Shoe
Company and the Widder Bros. Shoe Company employ hundreds of workmen.
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PRIVATEERING

In the latter part of the War of 1812-14 ten brigs and schooners were built

as armed privateers, and they captured as prizes British vessels and cargoes
amounting to millions of dollars. Only a partial account of the sixteen Ports-
mouth privateers has been written, for most of the records have been pur-

posely destroyed, but enough manuscripts and books have come into the

possession of the editor to indicate the large fortunes the owners made, from
which were erected our largest and finest houses of that and the following
decade. Four hundred and nineteen vessels were taken by sixteen Portsmouth
privateers. Four captured prizes which, with their contents, were valued
at two and one-half millions of dollars. Few people are acquainted with the

influence of privateering upon the seaport towns, and the successful issues

of the two wars with England. In the Revolutionary war the prizes captured

by the privateers amounted to $18,000,000. In the 181 2- 14 war alone the

value of British prizes taken by 517 privateers amounted to $39,000,000, and
by the twenty-three U. S. war vessels to $6,000,000. The numbers of

prisoners taken on the high seas, principally by privateers, amounted to 30,000,
while the army captured only 6,000. The Portsmouth schooner "Fox" in

1814 received from the U. S. Government $3,650, as bounty for the prisoners

captured from British vessels.



CHAPTER XV

PORTSMOUTB.—(Continued)

Banks—Newspapers—Fires—Architecture, Various Events—Famous Inhabi-

tants—Schools, Parks and Playgrounds

BANKS

Chronology.—New Hampshire Bank incorporated 1792, expired 1842.*

New Hampshire Union Banl<: incorporated 1802, expired 1842.*

Portsmouth Bank incorporated 1803, expired 1843.*

Rockingham Bank incorporated 181 3, succeeded by Rockingham National

Bank 1865, expired 1905.*

Branch Bank of the U. S. established 1816, closed 1835.*

Portsmouth Savings Bank incorporated 1823.

Piscataqua Bank incorporated 1824, succeeded by Piscataqua Exchange
Bank incorporated 1844, succeeded by First National Bank 1863.

Commercial Bank incorporated 1825, succeeded by Mechanics and Traders
Bank 1844, succeeded by National Mechanics and Traders Bank 1865.

New Hampshire Bank incorporated 1855, succeeded by New Hampshire
National Bank 1865.

Rockingham lO-Cent Savings Bank incorporated 1867, closed 1876.*
Portsmouth Trust & Guarantee Company incorporated 1871.
Piscataqua Savings Bank incorporated 1877.
The First National Bunk is a successor of the Piscataqua Bank of 1824

and the Piscataqua Exchange Bank of 1844. The First National Bank is

number i in the Treasury Department. The $30,000 U. S. 6% bonds to secure
circulating notes, sent to Washington on April 9, 1863, were the first received
from any bank in the United States and its bonds were kept in Box No. i,

by the United States treasurer during the term of the original charter. The
bank opened July 7, 1863, being number 19 on the Comptroller's books.

Presidents.—Samuel Hale, 1824-1844; William H. Y. Hackett, 1844-
1878; Ichabod Goodwin, 1879-1882; Edward P. Kimball, 1882-1910; John
K. Bates, 1910-1914.

Cashiers.—Samuel Lord, 1824-1871 ; Edward P. Kimball, 1872-1882;
Charles A. Hazlett, 1883-1914.

Long Services.—^The three cashiers were employed in the bank 53, 47

* No successor.

184
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and 41 years respectively. Five directors have acted on the board 53, 51, 49,
47 and 41 years respectively. For 80 years the bank messenger, his father

and grandfather, have faithfully served the banks in this city.

The officers elected January 13, 1914, were: J. K. Bates, president; C. A.
Hazlett, vice president; R. W. Junkins, cashier; J. M. McPhee, assistant

cashier; L. B. Wright, teller. Directors: John H. Broughton, Henry A.
Yeaton, Wallace Hackett^ Charles A. Hazlett, Joseph O. Hobbs, John K.
Bates and Edward T. Kimball.

The National Mech-anics' and Traders' Bank is a successor of the Com-
mercial Bank, which was chartered in July, 1825. Isaac Walton, president;

George Melcher, Jr., cashier; succeeded by Richard Jenness, president; James
T. Shores, cashier. This bank was succeeded by the Mechanics' and Traders'

Bank, chartered 1844. Richard Jenness, president; James T. Shores, cashier.

This was succeeded by the National Mechanics' and Traders' Bank, organized

May, 1864. George L. Treadwell, president; James T. Shores, cashier. Mr.
Shores died in 1871, and was succeeded by G. W. Butler, cashier. G. L.

Treadwell resigned in February, 1876, succeeded by John Sise. G. W. Butler

resigned in April, 1881 ; succeeded by John Laighton, who resigned in March,

1882, when James P. Bartlett was elected cashier, and resigned in 1895. He
was succeeded by C. F Shillaber in 1895. The present officers are: G. Ralph
Laighton, president; C. F. Shillaber, cashier. Directors: J. W. Peirce,

G. R. Laighton^ Gustave Peyser, C. F. Shillaber, Wm. E. Marvin, F. H.
Sise, John J. Berry.

The New Hampshire National Bank is a successor of the New Hamp-
shire Bank, incorporated in 1855. The present bank was organized as a

national bank in 1865. Peter Jenness was president from 1855 to 1866, when
he was succeeded by Mr. J. P. Bartlett, who remained until 1882, and was
succeeded by E. A. Peterson who served till 1890. Thomas A. Harris was
president from 1890 to 1893, and Calvin Page president from 1893 to 1914.

J. P. Bartlett was cashier from 1855 to 1866, L. S. Butler from 1866 to 1890,

and W. C. Walton from 1890 to 1914.

The present officers are: Calvin Page, president; W. C. Walton, cashier;

W. L. Conlon, assistant cashier. Directors : Calvin Page, H. Fisher Eldredge,

A. F. Howard, F. H. Ward, J. W. Emery, W. C. Walton.

Portsmouth Savings Bank.—May 26, 1818, some of the most prominent

citizens of the town met and organized an "Institution for the Deposit and

Investment of Monies," and applied for a charter, which, however, the Legis-

lature declined to grant. But in 1823 the charter of the "Portsmouth Savings

Bank" was obtained, and this bank is therefore among the oldest of such insti-

tutions in the United States. At first the bank was open for deposits and

withdrawals only on Wednesdays from 3 to 5 P. M. and occupied a chamber

of the building then on the site of their new building. The following is a list

of the presidents and treasurers of the bank

:

Presidents, Nathaniel A. Haven, 1823-31; Henry Ladd, 1831-39; James

Rundlett, 1839-40; Robert Rice, 1840-44; WiUiam M. Shackford, 1844-69;

William Simes, 1869-80; William H. Rollins, 1880-93; C. E. Batcheder, 1893-

95 ; J. S. H. Frink, 1895-1905 ; G. Ralph Laighton, 1905. Treasurers, Samuel

Lord, 1823-69; James F. Shores, Jr., 1869-77; Joseph H. Foster, 1877-85;
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Geo. Tompson, 1.885-89; G. Ralph Laighton, 1889-1905; Harry E. Boynton,

The present officers are: G. Ralph Laighton, president; H. E. Boynton,

treasurer. Trustees : Joseph W. Peirce, D. F. Borthwick, Gustave Peyser,

H. E. Boynton, Moses A. Safford, G. Ralph Laighton, William E. Marvin.

The Portsmouth Trust and Guarantee Company, a savings bank, incor-

porated in 1871. The presidents have been George L. Treadwell, Ezra H.

Winchester, Jeremiah F. Hall, Frank Jones and Calvin Page. Charles H.

Rollins was treasurer until December, 1876, when he was succeeded by G. L.

Treadwell, who officiated until April, 1879, when Mr. Rollins was re-ap-

pointed. Samuel J. Gerrish was treasurer from 1892 to 191 1 and was suc-

ceeded by Wm. C. Walton in 191 1. The present officers are: Calvin Page,

president; A. F. Howard, vice president; Wm. C. Walton, treasurer; Willis

E. Underbill, assistant treasurer; Percival C. Sides, clerk. Directors :
Calvin

Page, B. F. Webster, A. F. Howard, John H. Bartlett and W. C. Walton.

The Piscataqua Savings Bank was incorporated in 1877. The first presi-

dent was W. H. Y. Hackett, who was succeeded by Governor Ichabod Good-

win in 1878. E. P. Kimball served until 1910. The present president, p. A.

Hazlett, was elected in April, 1910. Robert C. Peirce was treasurer from

1878 to 1893, W. C. Eraser to 1906, and C. W. Brewster to 1913. The

present officers are: President and acting treasurer, Charles A. Hazlett;

assistant treasurer, E. Curtis Matthews, Jr. Trustees : John H. Broughton,

Alfred F. Howard, Henry A. Yeaton, Wallace Hackett, Joseph O. Hobbs

(North Hampton), Lewis E. Staples, Charles A. Hazlett and John K. Bates.

Portsmouth Building and Locm Association.—John W. Emery, president

;

John Pender, secretary and treasurer.

NEWSPAPERS

The New Hampshire Gazette.—This is the oldest continuously published

newspaper in the United States. The first number appeared October 7, 1756,

and the imprint reads, "Portsmouth, New Hampshire, Printed by Daniel

Fowle, where this paper may be had at one dollar per annum, or an equivalent

in Bills of Credit, computing a dollar this year at Four Pounds old Tenor."

Daniel Fowle, who was the first printer in New Hampshire, was born at

Charlestown, Mass., and began business near the head of King (now State)

Street, in Boston, in 1740. In 1754 he was arrested by order of the House of

Representatives, on suspicion of having printed a pamphlet entitled "The
Monster of Monsters, by Tom Thumb, Esq.," which contained severe animad-
versions on some of the members. He was cast into jail, but subsequently

suffered to depart without trial. Unable to obtain satisfaction for the illegal

imprisonment, and disgusted with the provincial government of Massachu-
setts, Fowle accepted an invitation from several prominent gentlemen of this

state to remove to Portsmouth, and the result was the issue of his first number
of the New Hampshire Gazette on the date above mentioned.

This number, of which a fac-simile was produced at the centennial anni-

versary of the introduction of the art of printing into New Hampshire, cele-

brated in Portsmouth, October 6, 1856, was 17x10 inches, and was published



AND REPRESENTATIVE CITIZENS 187

in this size until the beginning of the year 1757, when it was enlarged, and
in July of that year, and occasionally after, was doubled in size in its issue.

In 1797 it was permanently enlarged. But little is known of the location of

the office. The paper did not give that information. The first issues were
from an office in an old wooden building at the corner of Pleasant, Washing-
ton, and Howard streets, removed a few years since, to be succeeded by the

brick dwelling-house built on the site by Mr. John E. Colcord. In 1767 we
find it published by Daniel and Robert Fowle, "near State House, in the

Street leading to the Ferry," now Market Street, and perhaps this was the

first removal from the Pleasant Street location, which was until then near the

center of business of the town. An ancient deed of land at corner of Pleasant

and Richmond streets would lead us to infer that Fowle had this site as late

as 1772 for his office. In any event the office has been frequently removed,
having been in Congress Street, on the site of the present Franklin Building,

on Daniel Street, and on Pleasant Street opposite to the locality where for

the past twenty-one years it has been published. But the fact remains certain

that if the office of publication changed, the weekly appearance of the paper

has never, ceased for more than a century and a half of its existence.

Fowle published the Gazette, either alone or with his partner, until 1785,

when he sold the paper to two of his apprentices, John Melcher and George

Terry Osborne. Fowle died in 1787. The publication up to 1785 was as fol-

lows : By Daniel Fowle, from 1756 to 1764, when Robert Fdwle became

interested in the paper, and continued until 1773. Benjamin Dearborn was

publisher in 1 776, but two years after, Mr. Fowle resumed the publication, and

was succeeded by Mercher & Osborn, in 1785. Mr. Osborn shortly after

retired, but Mr. Melcher continued until 1802, when he sold to Nathaniel

S. and Washington Peirce, who changed the politics of the Gazette from

federal to republican. Mr. Melcher was the first state printer,—an office

continued to the publishers of the Gazette down to 1814. N. S. and W. Peirce,

in connection with Benjamin Hill and Samuel Gardner, published the paper

for little more than seven years, when it was sold to WilHam Weeks, who
came to Portsmouth from Rutland, Me., and conducted the paper up to 1813.

He was followed by Gideon Beck and David C. Foster, whose firm of Beck

& Foster was dissolved by the death of Mr. Foster in 1823. From this time

to 1834, Mr. Beck was the publisher. Then Albert Greenleaf was admitted

as partner, and in 1838 Mr. Beck retired. After this Thomas B. Laighton,

formerly a prominent politician of Portsmouth, but who afterwards spent his

declining years at Appledore, Isles of Shoals, was for a year or more interested

with Abner Greenleaf, Jr., as the imprint informs us, and subsequently from

late in 1839, and Mr. Greenleaf alone conducted the paper down to 1841.

Then Samuel W. Mores, a practical printer, with Joel C. Virgin acting as

editor, and George Greenleaf, published the paper until 1844, when Abner

Greenleaf (Sr.) is named as editor. Then appears "A. Greenleaf & Son."

For the succeeding two years the paper was owned and managed by certain

prominent democrats, who gave no sign of editorship or proprietorship. In

184-7, William Pickering Hill, a son of ex-Governor Isaac Hill, came from

Concord, where he had been interested in the Patriot, and purchased the

Gazette, and also an opposition democratic paper called the Republican Union,
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and the Gazette was then enlarged. He also started a daily Gazette, but his

efforts were not successful, and he retired after a loss of no little amount of

money during his management. Mr. Hill was succeeded by Gideon H.

Rundlett, who was an able and fearless writer, and as far as a political paper

was desired he supplied the need. He was followed by Edward N. Fuller,

formerly of Manchester, who took the paper in 1852, and remained until 1858,

when he removed to Newark, N. J. He attempted to publish a daily Gazette,

which was a reputable paper, but the enterprise was not appreciated, and it was

given up. In 1858, Mr. Fuller was succeeded by Amos S. Alexander, Esq.,

a lawyer from the interior of the state, who held an office under the administra-

tion, but was not always in the line of service acceptable to the party managers.

He gave way to Samuel Gray, a native of Portsmouth, and a practical printer,

in February, 1859. In September, 1861, Mr. Gray sold out to Frank W.
Miller, who had started with others the Daily Chronicle in 1852, and the

Gazette establishment became united with the Chronicle office. The New
Hampshire Gazette was then removed from the office in Daniel Street oppo-

site the old custom-house to its present location in Exchange Building in

Pleasant Street, and its time-honored name appeared at the head of the weekly

paper published at the Chronicle office. Many of its former subscribers

continued to take the paper, which now became transformed from a political

organ to a newspaper, and its circulation began to increase.

In 1868, Mr. George W. Marston became a partner with Mr. Miller, and

the paper was published by Frank W. Miller & Company. Mr. Miller sold

his interest in October, 1870, to Mr. Washington Freeman, who owned one-

half of the paper. Mr. Marston disposed of his interest in June, 1877, to

William H. Hackett, who, with Mr. Freeman, published the paper under the

name of the "Chronicle and Gazette Publishing Company." In June, 1882,

Mr. Hackett disposed of his interest to Mr. Charles W. Gardner, a practical

printer of Portsmouth. During the proprietorship of Mr. F. W. Miller and

his successors there have been in the editorial chair Messrs. Tobias Ham
Miller, Jacob H. Thompson (afterwards connected with the editorial

department of the New York Times), and Israel P. Miller. After

Mr. Marston purchased an interest in the paper it advocated the principles

of the republican party, but it. has of late aimed to excel in serving its readers

with general and local news rather than with abstract dissertion upon political

topics. During the lifetime of the Gazette many newspapers have come and
gone in Portsmouth, among the last to cease publication being Miller's Weekly,
a temperance journal, which stopped soon after the decease of its founder

and owner, the late Frank W. Miller, the American Ballot and Post.

The Daily Chronicle, which was started by Messrs. F. W. Miller, Thomas
M. Miller, and Samuel Gray in 1852, under the firm of Miller & Gray, has

been in turn owned by this firm, F. W. Miller & Company, Marston & Free-
man, by the Chronicle and Gazette Publishing Company and F. W. Hartford
since March i, 1898, who also publishes the Herald, an evening paper. Since

its establishment the local news of Portsmouth has been carefully produced by
the papers, a feature which is appreciated by the many natives of the "City
by the Sea," who go to live beyond its borders, and yet cherish a desire for

news from home.
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The States and Union.—The first number of the States and Union news-
paper was issued on January 2, 1863, by Mr. Joshua L. Foster, because (as
he announced in his salutatory) of "the indispensable necessity of a sound
and thoroughly democratic journal in this section of the state." The old
Gazette presses and material were purchased for the new enterprise, and the
paper was issued from the office which had for many years been occupied
by the Gazette, No. 31 Daniel Street. At the commencement of the second
volume Mr. George W. Guppy's name appeared as publisher fn connection
with Mr. Foster. The paper was decidedly outspoken and fearless, and
because of its views upon the conduct of the war it was mobbed on April
10, 1865, everything contained within the office—type, presses, material and
machinery of every description—being destroyed and thrown into the street.
After this the type was set and press-work for the paper done for a few weeks
in Manchester, until new material and presses could be procured and brought
to Portsmouth, when work was resumed in the office, and the paper has
been issued regularly ever since.

The paper is at present published by Col. True L. Norris as the weekly
edition of the Portsmouth Times and has a wide circulation throughout New
Hampshire and Western Maine.

The Daily Evening Times.—On March 16, 1868, the Daily Evening Times
began to be issued from the same establishment, with Joshua L. Foster as

editoi- and proprietor, George W. Guppy as publisher, and William M. Thayer
as local editor, and the paper has been regularly issued ever since. In May,
1870, Mr. Foster sold the establishment to Messrs. Thayer & Guppy, and their

connection continued till November, 1873, when Mr. Guppy bought his

partner's interest, and was sole editor and proprietor until December 15, 1879,
when he sold out to Mr. Alpheus A. Hanscom, who was formerly publisher of

the Maine Democrat, at Saco, Me., and for the fifteen years immediately

previous to his purchase of Mr. Guppy was one of the proprietors and editors

of the Union Democrat and Manchester Daily Union, at Manchester, N. H.
In the fall of 1877 Mr. Hanscom sold the Times to the late Charles A.

Sinclair who conducted it with True L. Norris as manager and editor until

March, 1893, when Mr. Norris bought the property and has remained the

owner up to the present time.

The Portsmouth Journal.—The original title of the "Journal" was "The
Oracle of the Day." It was estabhshed by Charles Pierce, June 3, 1793, and

published semi-weekly until January, 1798, when it was enlarged and became

a weekly, the editor giving as a reason for -the change that the public demand

was for "one very large paper per week in the room of two." The "very

large" paper measured 12x19 inches. The Oracle started and was conducted

in the interest of the federal republican party. January 4, 1800, on the week

that the paper was in deep mourning for the death of Washington, its name

was changed to The United States Oracle of the Day. Mr. Pierce sold out

July 4, 1 801, to William Treadwell & Co., on account of "the impaired state

of his' health" and "the excessive fatigue attendant in the pubHcation of a

newspaper." In October of that year the name of the paper became United

States Oracle and Portsmouth Advertiser. The publishing firm became Wil-

liam & Daniel Treadwell, December 11, 1802. The name Portsmouth Oracle
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was adopted October 22, 1803, and Daniel Treadwell left the firm just two
years afterwards. Charles Turell became the publisher September 25, 1813.

In January, 1821, the paper was purchased by Nathaniel A. Haven, Jr.,

who changed its name to The Portsmouth Journal of Literature and Ptalitics.

The name and the plain style of the heading was always retained. Charles

Turell published it until February 7, 1824, when the publication was assumed
by Harrison Gray & Co., Mr. Turell continuing to print it. It was made a
six-column paper in January, 1823. November 20, 1724, the publishers were
H. Gray and E. L. Childs.

Mr. Haven conducted the Journal four years. He was a gentleman of the

best literary ability and attainments, and gave to the paper a high standing

in the community.
Miller & Brewster purchased the Journal July 2, 1825, and thereafter

edited and published it at No. 3 Ladd Street, where it continued to be pub-
lished until January, 1870, when the office was removed to State Street.

October 20, 1827, the Journal absorbed the Rockingham Gazette, published

at Exeter by Francis Grant; and June i, ,1833, it also included the State

Herald, a Portsmouth paper, these names appearing at the head of the paper
until August 13, 1836. T. H. Miller retired from the firm April 26, 1834.
The paper was enlarged in June, 1838, again in January, 1853, and again
February 29, 1868.

Lewis W. Brewster became connected with the publication of the paper
in January, 1856, in the firm of Charles W. Brewster & Son. The senior
partner died August 4, 1868. The Journal ceased publication in May, 1903,

FIRES

As late as 1855 there were three independent fire societies: the United,
instituted in 1761 ; the Federal in 1789 and the Mechanics in 181 1. The last

two retain their organizations and hold regular meetings. Portsmouth has
suffered severely from fires. On December 24, 1802, 132 buildings were
destroyed; December 26, 1806, 14 buildings and on December 22, 1813, 241
buildings covering 15 acres with a loss of $300,000.

The present fire department consists of four steam fire engines, one auto
combination chemical, one hook and ladder truck, one supply wagon valued
with the buildings and fire alarm system at $60,000. The annual appropria-
tion is $20,000. Eighty officers and firemen including six permanent drivers
and engineers are on the roll of the fire department.

ARCHITECTURE

Like all our older seaboard towns, Portsmouth has a dual life and a
dual architecture. There is the old life, with its social and colonial importance,
its magnates, of more than local influence, and, as a consequence of this, there
is the old architecture in dwellings and churches, which represents the best
of a vigorous period. On the other hand there is the new life, with its

modern interests and activity.

It is customary to call the old work colonial. This is a wide-reaching term.
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which embraces every building erected between the days of the early settle-
ment and the first quarter of the present century. Grouped under one head,
we find the wide-spread one-story building with big pitched roof, the two-
storied house with gambrel roof, and the square house, two or three stories
high, with low pitched roof. All these dwellings, and the churches and public
buildings which accompanied them, are termed colonial. So the word
"colonial" is made to cover a multitude of architectural sins. Up to the
eighteenth century this country was in too primitive a condition to demand
any real architecture, and houses like the Jackson house or the New Castle
Jaffrey house have little claim to be classed as under any particular style.

This is by no means to say that these simple little homesteads have no archi-
tectural interest or value. They are frank, straightforward expressions of
needs met. They are sincere, unpretentious, honest, simple. Later, better

education and more means made houses on a larger scale possible; biit the
good taste and refinement, which seemed instinctively to avoid what was pre-
tentious and extravagant, still guided and guarded them. With the nine-

teenth century the fine appreciation of what was good began gradually to

disappear. Riches meant extravagance and display, ostentation took the place

of beauty, and for many years vulgarity seemed supreme. When they built

in wood, they showed architectural intelligence and skill in the way they

adapted the old examples to the new material. On the whole, however, they

but varied the harmony of the old tune.

The New Englander, having no ample farm lands, and neither occasion

nor wish to isolate himself, but having instead the distinct need of community
life, selected the compact square plan of the English townsman, suited for a

small lot rather than for a many-acred estate; and in doing this, he showed
great ability and taste in making the most of a small piece of land. Our
Portsmouth houses are the result of these aims. All are houses of town
people. Some belong to the civic authorities, some to ministers, some to

doctors, and some like the Ladd house, belonging to ship-owners, who built

so as to command their wharves and be in easy touch with their business.

The very early houses do not rank as exponents of any architectural

style; but they have more than an antiquarian interest. The rooms are well

proportioned, although low. The big kitchen with its wide fireplace and

crane and the oven adjoining, the sunny parlor with its outlook on garden

or on orchard, are not without a distinct architectural charm. Simple require-

ments, simply and directly met,—they have truth, which is, after all, the

keynote of good architecture.

Between 1730 and 1800 most of the best houses were built. Nearly all

of these were of the same general type,—^the square plan, two stories and a

gambrel roof.

One of the latest, as well as one of the best, is the Governor Langdon

house on Pleasant Street, a well-designed house, well placed on the land

and flanked in dignified manner by its small guard-houses. The Ladd house

on Market Street, to which reference has already been made, built in 1763,

differs from the others of this time in being three stories, the first of this

type, and is an unusually complete example ; for it has a well-designed exterior

with' good detail, a good setting on the street overlooking the harbor, and a
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well-laid-out garden, terraced up from the house, and filled with flowers,

shrubs and fruit trees, an exceeding spot.

Moreover, the hall is quite exceptional in size and in detail of stairs and

finish. One cannot well enumerate all the good houses of this prolific time.

Many are lost, some have fallen into evil hands or evil ways ; but the greater

number are still in existence, and in most cases occupied by those whose fami-

lies built them. With the nineteenth century we pass the days which can be

called colonial, but much of the work done in the first two decades is still

classed architecturally under that name. The work of this time is not as a

whole as good as that of the earlier period ; but it is still genuine, spontaneous

work.

The square three storied house is the typicalone; and the ornament, while

somewhat more delicate, is not as vigorous as that which enriched the former

work; but in many cases, as in the interior woodwork of the Pierce house,

shows the intelligence and artistic ability of the builder.

In these houses the ornament is almost exclusively such as can be pro-

duced with chisel and gouge,—simple mechanical patterns, within the ability

of any skilled carpenter. There is no carving and no ornament of papier-

mache. One questions whether it was a special providence or accident which
saved the academy (designed by Charles Bulfinch) from being quite ruined

when it was remodelled, and each one wonders whether the Athenaeum will

escape destruction or renovation.

Perhaps we may accept these as indications that a better time is coming,

and that those in power are beginning to appreciate that they have a true

treasure, which once destroyed, can never be replaced.

In 1758 a State-house was, by direction of the General Assembly, built in

this town ; there for a number of years Dr. Haven, of the South Parish, and
Dr. Langdon, of the North Parish, alternately officiated as chaplains. On the

20th of April, 1 761, Mr. John Stavers commenced running a stage from this

town to Boston, drawn by two horses and sufficiently wide to carry three pas-

sengers, leaving here on Monday and returning to this town on Friday, and
the fare about three dollars.

Independence and Peace.—In the year 1 783 the articles of peace were cele-

brated in this town with great enthusiasm and display. Bells were rung,
salutes fired, and the North Church crowded for a religious service, at which
Dr. Haven and Mr. Buckminster both offered prayers, which were spoken
of as most eloquent and pathetic, a prayer in those days not unfrequently
having all the preparation, characteristics, and effects of a most studied and
brilliant orator.

Visit of Washington.—In 1789 the President, George Washington, visited
Portsmouth, and was received most heartily by the whole population. Full
and glowing as our accounts are of this interesting event in our history, we
can still depend only upon the imagination to fill out the picture of the enthu-
siastic oration, and the spontaneous gratitude and respect which were paid to
this illustrious general and statesman.

In 1838 Edward Everett read to a Portsmouth audience from the diary of
President Washington, his own account of his visit to Portsmouth from
October 31 to November 4, 1789, as it appears printed in full in the first series
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of the Rambles. Washington wrote in detail of his attendance at the church
services; his fishing trip down the harbor; his calls on Governor Langdon
and Mrs. Lear, the mother of his secretary and comments on the ladies at
the ball. At the time of his visit, Portsmouth with its population of 4,720,
was one of the large towns of the country. A decade later by the census
of the United States of 1800 with a population of 5,339 it ranked the twelfth
town or city in the United States and practically among the first ten for Hart-
ford had only eight and Albany ten more inhabitants.

Visit of Lafayette.—On the 21st day of September, 1824, General
Lafayette was given a hearty reception by the inhabitants of Portsmouth.
He was escorted to the residence of Governor Langdon by a procession of
military, the trades and school children. He attended a reception and ball

in the evening. His autograph letter of acknowledgment of the invitation to

the town is framed and hung in the public library. Lafayette's first visit to

Portsmouth was in September, 1782.
In 181 7, President Monroe visited Portsmouth and in 1847 President

Polk.

The fore-runner of the "Old Home Week," was the return of the sons

and daughters of Portsmouth on July 4, 1853, and repeated in 1873, 1883 and

1910.

The dedication exercises of the Thomas Bailey Aldrich Memorial on

June 30, 1908, at Music Hall, brought a large gathering of authors and
friends to the city. Addresses were made by Mark Twain, Gov. Curtis

Guild, Hamilton W. Mabie, Thomas Wentworth Higginson, Richard Watson
Gilder, Thomas Nelson Page, William D. Howells and P. Dunn.

An average of 2,500 visitors pay admission fees to the memorial build-

ings each year since they were open to the public.

The public reception to Lieut. A. W. Greeley, U. S. A., and his comrades,

and the naval officers of the Arctic Relief Association, August i to 4, 1884,

was a notable occasion.

Shillings and Pence.—As recent as seventy years ago prices of goods in

stores were given in shillings and pence—seven and sixpence, two and four

pence, etc., and not in dollars and cents. The shilling of that date, in Ports-

mouth and throughout New England, was never represented by a coin; it

was an inconvenient nondescript, one-sixth of a dollar, or sixteen and two

thirds cents. That meant seventeen cents, when you paid a shilling in a

store, and sixteen cents when you received a shilling in change. In this

remarkable monetary system, too, an astonishing arithmetical feat was ac-

complished; four was exactly one-half of six. The four, pence was six and

one quarter cents; the six pence was twelve and one-half cents—not half

of a shilling, but exactly half of a quarter-dollar. There were plenty of four

pences and sixpences, or what were called and passed for such, in circulation,

but these were all Spanish or Mexican coins, the madeo being called a four

pence, and the real a sixpence. These coins were driven from circulation,

by the government, by the announcement that after a certain date they would

not be accepted at the postoffices and custom houses. First class mechanics

were paid nine shillings to "ten-and six" per day.
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FAMOUS INHABITANTS

Every town in New England stands by its claim to honorable mention;

points to its roll of good and useful sons—men of much repute in their day

and generation. One may be pardoned if he smile at the terms used by the

orator of an occasion, who boasts that the particular spot where he is speak-

ing has greater claim to honor than almost any other part of the country.

The truth is, the same thrift, the same force of character united to a strong

feeling of local attachment, is seen in all these New Englanders, so that the

merits of no town or village are suffered to go unheralded. All honor to

this genuine, wholesome, local pride!

Should any son of Portsmouth find himself in the least degree uncertain

as to events, or men who participated in them, that have surely done honor
to his birthplace, let us call the roll as did Rev. Dr. Burroughs at the recep-

tion of the Sons of Portsmouth resident abroad, who returned to their old

home July 4, 1853.

In the ministry, Joshua Moody, Dr. Stiles, afterward President of Yale;
Emerson, Fitch, Doctor Haven, Timothy Alden, Arthur Brown, of Trinity

College, Dublin; Dr. Samuel Langdon, afterward President of Harvard
College; Dr. Buckminister, Doctor Parker, Ballou, Stow, Burroughs him-
self, Davies, afterward Bishop of Michigan; Doctors Peabody, Lamson,
De Normandie and Starr King.

Of the eminent physicians we have the Jacksons, the Cutters, Brackett,

Pierrepont and Cheever.

At the bar were Pickering, Sherburne, Parker, Livermore, Mason, Cutts,

Webster, Woodbury, Bartlett, Hatch, Hackett and Frink.

Of our merchants and bankers, besides the Cutts, the Wibirds, and the
Wentworths, there may be named Rindge Long, Atkinson, the Penhallows,
Sherburne, the two Langdons, the Jaffreys, the Sheafes, Moffat, Warner,
Manning, Goddard, Gaines, the Peirces, Marsh, the Parrotts, the Rices, the
Ladds, the Havens, Goodwin, Toppan, the Tredicks, the brothers Jones,
Samuel Lord, Jenness, Pickerings, Capt.. WilHam Ladd, the "Apostle of
Peace" and Frank Jones, mayor, congressman, hotel proprietor and success-
ful brewer.

It can never be forgotten that at Portsmouth was displayed the first open
defiance of the king in the trying hours just preceding the Revolution. I
refer to the daring incursion made upon Fort William and Mary, the seizure
of powder under the leadership of Pickering and of Sullivan. (See New-
castle.) The name of Gov. John Langdon is indissolubly connected with
Portsmouth. So is that of Paul Jones, who sailed out of this port in the
Ranger, built and manned by Portsmouth men. Here too was launched the
first war ship ever built on this side of the Atlantic.

Among the many Revolutionary incidents of this town, it may be noted
that one winter morning in the dark days of the struggle a ship came to
anchor in our harbor, having on board a man whose heart beat warm in the
cause of American liberty. He landed at Portsmouth, and went straight-
way to his task of creating out of our army an efficient soldiery. He was
Baron Steuben.
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The War of 1812 saw many a busy scene along our wharves. When the
war for the Union came Portsmouth did her duty. We point to our war
Governor, Ichabod Goodwin, who personally raised the money to fit out the
First and Second N. H. regiments, to the many officers and soldiers who
marched from here, and to the gallant sailors that Portsmouth contributed
to our navy. Fitz John Porter was born here ; so was Craven, the Sidney
of the navy, whose last words are imperishable

—
"After you, Pilot." From

here sailed the ship, built here and manned by men of this neighborhood that
gained lasting honor, the Kearsage. Farragut died at the Navy Yard, and
Admiral Dewey married here a daughter of Governor Goodwin. Nowhere,
in the land do the associations of Memorial Day take on a deeper pathos
than upon this spot where were found plenty of strong and willing hands
in time of peril.

If we have a lasting record of what has been done here, we have no
reason to be ashamed of our rank in the field of literature. One of our
early poets is the author of the line "No pent up Utica, etc."—Jonathan
Mitchell Sewall. "Penhallow's Indian Wars" is a standard history. Of ser-

mons and essays few surpass the writings of Buckminster. It was when he
was a young lawyer of Portsmouth that Daniel Webster addressed that

memorable paper to President Madison in 1812. Dr. Samuel Haven wrote
the finest tribute ever paid to Washington. When there was some discus-

sion as to the terms with which the president should be addressed, upon the

occasion of his visit to Portsmouth, Doctor Haven wrote the following

impromptu lines

:

"Fame spread her wings, and with her trumpet blew

—

"Great Washington is near ! What praise is due ?

"What title shall he have? She paused and said : Not one,

"His name alone strikes every title dead."

In later days, not to mention Fields or Celia Thaxter, there are one or

two names whose place in American literature is secured. Thomas Bailey

Aldrich—who is more gratefully associated with Portsmouth, all over the

English speaking world, than he? Of the minor poets, no one can read the

verses of Albert Laighton or of Harriet McEwen Kimball and not be per-

vaded by a sense of the Divine goodness as interpreted in their song— pure,

sweet, yet well sustained—of life and its vicissitudes.

Sam Walter Foss wrote the class poem when he graduated at our high

school in 1877 and in after years came to address the graduates and read

his famous verses.

Then there is B. P. Shillaber, James T. Fields, Mrs. Whiton-Stone and a

score of others.

Of three Portsmouth authors Professor Barrett Wendell of Harvard

College, a native of Portsmouth, in his address on July 4, 1910, said:

When one asks where any place in this round world belongs in the history

of literature, one is brought to pause. There is hardly a spot anywhere

where human beings have not attempted expression ; there are few, one grows

to feel, where some expression has not been made true enough, sweet enough,



196 HISTORY OF ROCKINGHAM COUNTY

to give lasting pleasure to those who sympathetically know or discover it.

There must be not a few of us, who have pleasant memories of that whole-

some volume, The Poets of Portsmouth, which will still assure whoever
possesses it that Portsmouth folk, in those days when literature in New
England was alive, were moved to sing and sing melodiously. The America
of the mid-nineteenth century, and particularly New England between 1830
and 1880, produced literature recognized all over the English speaking world.

Of its comparative importance, in the full record of European expression,

this is not the time to reason. We should all agree that it beautifully and
purely expresses the traditional spirit of our native land, and that the records

of Enghsh speaking humanity would be the poorer without- the names of

Emerson, of Longfellow, of Lowell, of Whittier, of Holmes and of Haw-
thorne. Not of Portsmouth, any of these chief worthies in our American
literary history, though all of them, I think knew the old town, and some of

them have left verses which help keep alive its own sturdy traditions.

It is hardly too much, however, to say that no one of them could possibly

have been all he was and all he is but for the presence, beside them, among
them, of that son of Portsmouth, who seven and thirty years ago today spoke
in some such manner as that we are now concerned with.

The active life of Mr. Fields was passed not in Portsmouth, but in Boston.

In Boston, the while he never let them forget what he himself always
remembered that, he came from here, and that here grew towards its maturity
his wonderful power of friendly sympathy with literature and men of letters

which made his friendship so profoundly stimulating an influence in the

literary of nineteenth century New England. He was himself a man of let-

ters. His unique power was that, when New England was ready for its best

expression, it found in him at once the most faithful of publishers and the

most whole-hearted of friends. He knew how to evoke from others what
they could best accomplish. Had Portsmouth given to the literature of New
England no other figure than his, the place of Portsmouth in our literary

record would be happily secured. Yet Fields is so far from alone here that

his is hardly the name which would first come to one in search of our hterary
worthies. We should rather think first, I take it, of the poet and story teller

who is commemorated in Court Street, in the literary monument which is

now the most interesting in all New England. For the house where Aldrich
passed his "Bad boyhood" is not only restored to the state in which he knew
it almost seventy years ago, and thus stands today as the best example any-
where of the pleasant, simple gracious life of an old New England town-
ship

; but the museum beside the garden, containing the records and collections
of his long eager life is among the few real treasures of literary traditions
anywhere in this continent.

As one by one they passed, however, nothing grew more clear than that,
in the generation which followed them, Aldrich was easily the first. In
grace, in delicacy, he sometimes surpassed them all. In purity of spirit, in
wholesomeness of nature, he was the equal of any. It is a happy chance that
what seems his most familiarly enduring work preserved his memories of
boy life in his old town where he was his own bad boy, and where his career
is so beautifully commemorated. He lived here but little, but spent many
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summers here, indeed the greater part of the story of a Bad Boy was written
here. Like Fields, however, he never forgot, and never suffered any of us to
forget, that here was where he came from.

So just as Portsmouth contributed a great stimulating force to the chief
days of New England literature, so it contributed the one persistent and de-
lightful artist of the days when New England literature gently declined.
There is a third name, too, belonging to both periods friendly to both until

one hardly knows with which to place it.

Celia Thaxter, more than either of the others, she lived here or here-
abouts through so much of her brave, beautiful life that one hardly thinks
of her as ever elsewhere. It is not quite the old town which gathers about
the memory of her. The lingering traditions of its vanished vice-regal grace,

deeply characteristic as they are, seem somehow foreign to her immense
wholesome human nature. One thinks of her as the true child of the rocks,

and the seas, and the bright flowers of the Isles of Shoals as the Isles of
Shoals used to be. No utterance of New England ever came straighter than
hers from the heart of New England nature; none was more instinct with
the courageous, aspiring purity of spirit which animates the free breezes we
somehow know to be peculiarly our own.

MAYORS OF THE CITY OF PORTSMOUTH

(The original Charter of the City was adopted by the inhabitants August,

21, 1849.)
Abner Greenleaf, 1850; John Laighton, 1851; Christopher Toppan, 1852;

Horton D. Walker, 1853-54-55; Richard Jenness, 1856; Robert Morrisson,

1857-58-59; John R. Reding, i860; William Simes, 1861
;
Jonathan Dearborn,

1862-63
;
John H. Bailey, 1864-65-66; Jonathan Dearborn, 1867 ; Frank Jones,

1868-69; Joseph B. Adams, 1870-71; Horton D. Walker, 1872; Thomas E.

O. Marvin, 1873; Frank Miller, 1874; Moses H. Goodrich, 1874-75; John H.

Broughton, 1876-77; William H. Sise, 1878-81; John S. Treat, 1882-83;

Calvin Page, 1884; Marcellus Eldredge, 1885-86; George E. Hodgdon, 1887-

88; Edmund S. Fay, 1889-90; John J. Laskey, 1891-92; Charles P. Berry,

1893-94; William O. Junkins, 1895-96; John W. Emery, 1897; John S. Tilton,

1898; Calvin Page, 1899; Edward E. Mclntire, 1900-01
;
John Pender, 1902;

George D. Marcy, 1903-04; William E. Marvin, 1905-06; Wallace Hackett,

1907-08; Edward H. Adams, 1909-10; Daniel W. Badger, 1911-12-13; Harry

B. Yeaton, 1914.

CITY CLERKS

John Bennett, 1850-1862; Marcellus Bufford, 1862-1876; Mercer Good-

rich, 1876- 1878; Daniel J. Vaughan, 1878- 1884; Mercer Goodrich, 1884-1892;

Samuel R. Gardner, 1892-1895; C. Dwight Hanscom, 1895; William H.

Moore, 1896-1899; George D. Marcy, 1899; William H. Moore, 1900;

William E. Peirce, 1901-1905; W. E. Underbill, 1905; William H. Moran,

1906; Lamont Hilton, 1907-1911; Guy E. Corey, 1911-1913; Frederic E.

Drew, 1913-1914-
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PORTSMOUTH PHYSICIANS

J. J. Berry, J. D. Carty, E. S. Cowles, J. H. Dixon, E. B. Eastman, C. W.
Hannaford, A. C. Heffenger, M. A.Higgins, C. E. Johnston, W. O. Junkins,

S. T. Ladd, A. J. Lance, T. W. Luce, J. H. Neal, G. E. Pender, F. W. Pike,

A. B. Sherburne, H. L. Taylor, F. S. Towie, W. D. Walker, B. C Woodbury.

LAWYERS

C. Page, S. W. Emery, Jr., Wallace Hackett, Ernest L. Guptil, W. E.

Marvin, J. H. Bartlett, T. H. Simes, E. H. Adams, Charles H. Batchelder,

John L. Mitchell, H. W. Peyser, H. K. Torrey, N. O. Foust, A. R. Hatch,

A. W. Rundlett.

Joseph P. Conner, Postmaster.

I. H. Washburn, Asst. Postmaster.

Sherman Newton, Collector of Customs.
Seth W. Jones, Collector of Internal Revenue.

Silas H. Harding, Superintendent First District U. S. Life Saving
Service. Keepers: E. S. Hall, Harbor Station; S. F. Wells, Wallis Sands;
A. ,L. Remick, Straws Point; B. F. Smart, Hampton Beach.

THE PUBLIC SCHOOLS

The schools of the city are maintained at a high degree of efficiency, and
the schoolhouses will, as a rule, compare favorably with those of most other
cities of its size. The first town schoolhouse was built in conformity with a
vote of the town meeting of 1709, and was opened in 1713. It was a
wooden structure of one story, and stood nearly where the present Haven
schoolhouse stands, on South School Street.

There had previously been a town school, however, Thomas Phipps having
been appointed town schoolmaster in 1697, and taught a number of years in

a wooden building on what is now State Street, which was rented from
Ebenezer Wentworth, and in 1735 became the property of the town. The
"sellectt men" engaged him to teach the "readers, sypherers and Latterners."

The first school in the town to which girls were admitted was opened in

1 780 by Benjamin Dearborn, on Market Street. In 1700 Mrs. Grafifort gave
to the town the highway, now called Daniel Street, but which for more than
half a century after it was opened was called Graffort's Lane, and also "one
lot of land in my great field for erecting a schoolhouse," there being then no
schoolhouse owned by the town.

The Haven School.—On South School Street, at its junction with South
Street, was built in 1846, and has recently been extensively remodeled and
improved.

' The Farragut School.—On School and High streets was built in 1889.
' The Whipple School.—On State Street, near the top of Mason's Hill, was

built in the same year as the Farragut.

Cabot Street School.—The two-story wooden schoolhouse fronting on
Cabot Street, at its junction with State Street, was built in i860, on the site
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of an old two-story schoolhouse of brick, with a pitch roof, built previous
to 1815.

The Franklin School.—On Maplewood Avenue, popularly known as
Christian Shore, was built in 1847.

The High School is on Islington Street. The city issuing $100,000 bond
to pay for same in 1893. The school opened September 4, 1905.

There are three suburban schools, namely, the Plains School at the Plains,

the Lafayette School on Lafayette Road, and the Spalding School on Wood-
bury Avenue. A training school, kindergarten schools, evening school and
vacation school are maintained.

The total enrollment in the public schools in 191 3 was 2,052, which with
the pupils enrolled in the parochial school and under private instruction make
a total over 2,400 or about twenty-one per cent of the entire population as
reported by the 19 10 census.

The expenditures for schools in 1913 were $54,400. The valuation of
school buildings and equipments $253,000.

Superintendents.—Charles H. Morss, 1886-1892; J. Clifford Simpson,
1892-1899; Henry C. Morrison, 1899-1904; Ernest L. Silver, 1905-1909;
James A. MacDougall, 1909-1912; James N. Pringle, 1912.

Portsmouth Training School was established in 1887. Twenty-five of

the sixty-two teachers now employed in the Portsmouth elementary schools

are graduates of the trainng school.

Kindergartens.—(Haven and Cabot streets) were established in January,

1895. Manual training was established September, 1908. Sewing was in-

troduced into some of the schools in 1856 and has been continuously taught

since 1865.

PARKS AND PLAYGROUND

Langdon Park.—In 1867 John Langdon Elwyn gave about five acres of

land, lying on the south side of the South Mill Pond, to trustees for a public

park, to be laid out as such any time they deemed most expedient. The Lang-

don Park Association was formed in 1875 and reorganized in 1876 with

Frank W. Miller as chairman, who was energetic in securing and planting

over six hundred trees. The Park was opened May 25, 1876^ with addresses

by Rev. James DeNormandie, Ichabod Goodwin, Daniel Austin, Charles Levi

Woodbury, and Alfred Langdon Elwyn, a full account of which appears in a

pamphlet published by the chairman. The park was improved in 1907 by

Woodbury Langdon, Esq.

Haven Park.—Rev. Dr. Samuel Haven house formerly stood on the south

side of Pleasant Street, midway between Edward and Livermore streets. It

was built in 1751 by Dr. Samuel Haven, who, from 1752 to 1806, was pastor

of the South Parish. He died March 3, 1806, and his wife the following

day, and both were deposited at the same time in the tomb under the pulpit.

Under a provision of the will of the descendants of Doctor Haven, upon the

death of the last member of the family, the mansion was taken down, and

the grounds, with the* land of the Parry and Hatch estates adjoining, were

purchased and given to the city, in 1898, to be known as the "Haven Park"

;
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$18,000 were left for the purchase of land and buildings; $2,000 to put the

park in order, and $5,000 as a park fund. The Fitz John Porter monument
in the park was erected in accordance with the will of R. H. Eddy of Boston,

who left the svim of $30,000 for an equestrian statue.

Goodwin Park.—In 1887 the heirs of the late Ichabod Goodwin sold the

Goodwin field at a nominal price, conditional that it should always be kept

as. a public park. It was purchased by the Eldredge family and presented to

the city. The Soldiers and Sailors' Monument was erected in 1888, by popu-

lar subscription, the dedication taking place on July 4th of that year, the

orator of the occasion being the Hon. Charles Levi Woodbury.
The Hovey Fountain.—The marble and bronze drinking fountain on the

lawn south of the post office is inscribed as follows : "In Memory of Charles

Emerson Hovey, United States Navy, born in Portsmouth, N. H., January
10, 1885; killed in action, Phillipine Islands, September 23, 191 1; son of

Rev. Henry Hovey and Louise Folsom Hovey."
Ensign Hovey graduated from U. S. Naval Academy, 1907; ordered to

Phillipines, 1910; was commanding expedition against outlaw Moros when
he met his death. His last words were: "Get on the job, McGuire."

The Playground:—In May, 1907, an ordinance was passed creating a park
commission, and Mayor Hackett appointed C. A. Hazlett and Dr. F. S. Towle,
park commissioners. The marsh on the west side of the park had been used
as a dumping ground for ashes and refuse. The land surroimding the marsh
was secured mainly through the efforts of Councilman H. E. Boynton. The
volunteer receipts from base ball audiences have supplied seats and improved
the grounds. A shelter building has been erected and the city and citizens

have been liberal in maintaining the grounds, the outdoor gymnasium, tennis

courts and children's playground.
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CHAPTER XVI

FORTSMOUrra—(Continued)

Public Library—Cottage Hospital—Societies, Etc.—Corporations—Ports-
mouth Navy Yard—The Treaty of Portsmouth

The Public Library.—In 1869, Hon. Frank Jones placed in the hands of
trustees, the sum of $500, the amount of his salary as mayor, to be avail-

able, for a public library when the citizens should raise the sum to $5,000
for the same purpose.

In 187 1 Rev. James DeNormandie, in an address to the South Parish,

warmly advocated the establishment of a Young People's Union in Ports-
mouth as a place wherein young men and women might pass the evening more
profitably than in idly walking the streets. The Unitarian and Universalist

societies together secured three rooms on the corner of Congress and Vaughan
streets. Contributions of books came in liberally from people of the two
named parishes mainly, until there were, with purchases of current literature,

about one thousand volumes. The Young People's Union survived until

some time in 1874, when the rooms were closed, and the books stored in the

basement of the Unitarian Chapel on Court Street, where they remained until

1880, when Miss Mary A. Foster asked Mr. Rich, who had been librarian of

the old Union, to arrange and catalogue these books, with the object of loan-

ing them to the people of the city. The late Mrs. Anna B. Wilson, enthusiastic

and able, worked with Miss Foster, Miss Frances A. Mathes, and others in

preparing and covering the books. One small room in the upper west corner

of the custom-house was offered and accepted for temporary use. On Jan-

uary I, 1881, the Public Library began the issue of books. In the following

April, 1881, what was then an anteroom of Congress Hall was rented, and

the library moved thence. Removal was again made the following spring to

three rooms in Franklin Building, south of the entrance, where a reading

room was made part of the institution. While located there, in April, 1884,

the Portsmouth Mercantile Library Association through the efforts of Wil-

liam H. Sise, C. A. Hazlett, and W. G. Billings, presented to the library their

collection of 2,000 books that had been accumulating for thirty-three years.

The association- continues to be represented on the board of trustees, by two

representatives. At this period many new and valuable books were purchased

from the Jones Fund, which had accumulated to $S,ooo.

Among the large contributors to the fund were William H. Hill, William

Simes, Daniel H. Pierce, John H. Bailey, W. H. Y. Hackett, and Ichabod

203
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Goodwin. Numerous public entertainments were given to complete the bal-

ance of the .fund. This money was expended by its trustees, until all the

rooms, from the entrance to Vaughan Street, were filled with book-stacks,

compelling the removal of the library to the main Congress Hall. In March,

1896, the city leased the "Academy," with the. privilege of purchasing the

land and building in 1906. After an expenditure of $8,000 in remodeling,

the library began again the issue of books December 5, 1896. This building

was erected in 1809 from designs drawn by Charles Bulfinch, the architect of

the Massachusetts State House.
The city purchased the building in 1906 for $10,000. The library now

contains over 22,000 volumes and 1,000 pamphlets, classified by the Dewey
decimal system. It also maintains a reading-room, in which all the principal

magazines are open to the public daily from 10 A. M. to 9 P. M. and Sunday
afternoons; the city council making a liberal appropriation each year for

maintaining the library. The invested funds given by citizens and friends

amount td $20,000, the income from same is restricted to the purchase of new
books. The public has had access td the shelves since 1909. A children's

room was opened in 191 1.

Especial attention has been made to obtain books and newspapers relating

to Portsmouth. E. P. Kimball was the first treasurer and served to 1889
and was succeeded by C. A. Hazlett, who is completing his twenty-fifth year
as treasurer. Robert E. Rich was librarian until 1908, when Miss Hannah
G. Fernald, a trained librarian, was elected and continues to serve with three
assistants. The ciirculation is 80,000 yearly.

Cottage Hospital.—On the 23d of January, 1884, in a small house at the
lower end of Court Street, the Cottage Hospital was first opened. Created
in the hearts and fostered by the efforts of the ever-charitable ladies of the
St. John's Parish, it began its work under their immediate care. Then with
its first patient comfortably cared for, its beneficent work fairly inaugurated,
they turned to the public for sympathy and help. Nor were they disappointed

;

the city oppropriated $500 a year, individuals and such parishes as wert able
aided liberally. In five years the house had become too small for the demands
made upon it. In 1889 the directors decided to appeal again to their charitable
friends for money either to enlarge the hospital or to build a new one which
would be better adapted to their needs. The public interest again aroused,
money, in small amounts and large, flowed into the treasury, until the sum
of $30,798.43 had been received, and the new building was assured. It is
not altogether, or even in large part, a free hospital, although there are several
beds, supported by endowments and churches, available for the very poor;
and the city, by its $500 yearly appropriation, has the use of two. But
charitable it is in a broad sense, since the usual charges for many of the
patients do not by any .means cover the cost of their maintenance, 'in 1911
the invested funds amounted to $86,000.

SOCIETIES, ETC.

Masonic—The Masonic bodies are De Witt Clinton Commanderv of
Knights Templar, instituted 1826; New Hampshire Chapter of Rose Croix;
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Grand Council of P. of J.; Ineffable Grand Lodge of Perfection, No. i;

Davenport Council, No. 5, Royal and Select Masters ; Washington Chapter,
No. 3; St. John's Lodge, No. i, instituted 1736; St. Andrew's Lodge, No. 56;
Portsmouth RoSe Croix Chapter, No. i, E. M. R. M., organized 1881.

Odd Fellows.—Strawberry Bank Encampment, No. 5, instituted February
28; 1845; Piscataqua Lodge, No. 6, instituted May 24, 1844; New Hampshire
Lodge, No. 17, instituted February 11, 1846; Osgood Lodge, No. 48, in-

stituted August 27, 1868; Union Rebekah Degree Lodge, No. 3; Fannie A.
Gardiner Rebekah Lodge, No. 82, instituted May 4, 1900.

Knights of Honor.—Sagamore Lodge, No. 258, organized March 27,
1876.

Knights of Pythias.—Damon Lodge, No. 9, instituted January 31, 1871

;

Lucullus Commandery, No. 8.

United Order Pilgrim Fathers, No. 15, organized April 27, 1880.

Patrons of Husbandry.—Portsmouth Grange, No. 22, organized March
2. 1874.

Red Men.—Massasoit Tribe, organized 1888.

Royal Arcanum.—Alpha Council, No. 83, instituted May i, 1878.
Temperance.^—-Rockingham Lodge, No. 37, I. O. of G T. ; Strawberry.

Bank Lodge, No. 54, I. O. of G. T.

United Order of the Golden Cross.—Portsmouth Commandery, No. 47,
organized April 5, 1879.

Grand Army of the Republic.—Storer Post, No. i, reorganized August,
1878.

Federal Fire Society, organized 1789.

Portsmouth Athenaeum, incorporated June, 181 7. This institution is

owned in a hundred shares of $100 each, the institution having the right of

pre-emption at half the value of the shares. It has a valuable library of

20,000 volumes, and a large number of newspapers and periodicals are also

taken.

Portsmouth Board of Trade; Portsmouth Female Asylum.'—This institu-

tion was founded in 1804 by a few ladies, and incorporated in 1808.

Portsmouth Home for Aged Women was established June, 1876, and

chartered June, 1877; Portsmouth Howard Benevolent Society was instituted

in 1829, and incorporated in 1854. The funds of the society are derived

from the annual contributions of $1.00 from each member, and by private

donations. Its object is to assist the unfortunate poor, chiefly in the winter.

Portsmouth Society for the P. O. C. T. Children; Portsmouth Young
Men's Christian Association, organized 1852; reorganized 1888; St. Mary's

Catholic Benevolent Society, founded January, 1875, by the pastor. Very

Rev. Canon Walsh ; The Chase Home for Children, formerly the Children's

Home.
The Portsmouth Medical Association.—The Portsmouth Medical Asso-

ciation was organized April 23, 1874, with the following members : Jeremiah

F. Hall. Nicholas Leavitt Folsom, Benjamin W. Curtis, Samuel C. Whittier,

Daniel W. Jones, John W. Parsons. The first officers were as follows : Presi-

dent, J. F. Hall; secretary, D. W. Jones; treasurer, N. L. Folsom; business

committee, S. c' Whittier, B. F. Curtis, and J. W. Parsons.
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Portsmouth Improvement Association.—Organized 1902.

Society for the Care of the South Cemetery.—Incorporated 1897.

Freedom Council, I. O. U. A. M.
W. R. C.—Storer ReHef Corps, No. 6; reorganized 1892;

U. V. U.—General Gilman Marston Command, No. 6.

Harriet P. Dame W. V. R. U., No. 2.—(Auxiliary to General Gilman

Marston Command) ; organized February 2, 1893.

N. H. Sons of Revolution.—Founded 1893.

Besor Senate K. A. E. O.
Portsmouth Yacht Club.—Club house, 65 Mechanic Street; organized

April, 1898.

Portsmouth Country Club.—Organized 1899.

Warwick Club.—5 Market Street; organized December 16, 1892.

John Langdon Club.—Organized December, 1899.

Civic Association.

Graflfort Club.—Organized May 13, 1895.

Paul Jones Qub.
Ladies' Humane Society.—Instituted 18 16; incorporated 1874.

Macomi's Council, D. of L.

N. H. N. G.—First Company Coast Artillery Corps, -organized April 27,

1909; Frederic T. Harriman, captain, headquarters of First Battalion Coast

Artillery Corps, N. H. N. G, C B. Hoyt, major.

Winfield Scott Schley Camp, No. 4, Department of Nevv^ Hampshire.

United Spanish War Veterans.—Organized October 19, 1905, has a mem-
bership of 89 comrades. Commander, Frederick W. M. Poppe; adjutant,

Harry W. Foster.

Benevolent and Protective Order of Elks.—Portsmouth Lodge, No. 97;
instituted September 17, 1888.

U, O. of I. O. L.'—Star Lodge, organized November 13, 1893.

A. O. U. W.—Sagamore Lodge, No. 11 ; instituted December 10, 1884
Portsm.outh Athletic Club.—Organized September 10, 1885.

Knights of Columbus.—^Portsmouth Council, No. 140, organized August,

1895.

Central Labor Union.—Organized November 2, 1901.

A. O. H.—Division No. 2.

Foresters of America.—Court Rockingham, No. 6; instituted September,

1887.

Portsmouth Seamens' Friend Society.—Organized 1838.

N. H. Society for Protection of Cruelty to Animals.

N. H. Sons of the Revolution.—^Founded 1893.

District Nursing Association.—Organized 1906.

Piscataqua Pioneers.—Organized June 12, 1905.

Portsmouth Girls' Club.—Organized 191 1.

Governor Wentworth Associates, No. 6.

Haven W. C. T. U.
Rockingham Co. W. C. T. U.
N. E. O. P.—Kearsarge Lodge, No. 268; instituted 1896.

Fraternal Order of Eagles.—Mercedes Aerie, No. 682, organized 1902.
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Portsmouth Veteran Firemen's Association.
Portsmouth Firemen's Relief.
Franklin Pierce V. F. Association.—Organized 1885.
Order of United American Mechanics.—Portsmouth Council, No. 8, or-

ganized April II, 1892.
Knights of Golden Eagle, Grand Commandery, No. i.—Instituted Oc-

tober 22, 1897.
Ivy Temple Ladies of the Golden Eagle.—Oak Castle, No. 4; instituted

February 24, 1892.

United Order of Pilgrim Fathers.
Six of the foregoing associations and clubs own and occupy their build-

ings. The Y. M. C. A., Home for Aged Women, Athenaeum, Athletic Club,
the Elks and Knights of Columbus. The Wentworth Home for Incurables
on Pleasant Street and the Society of Colonial Dames in the Whipple-Ladd
House on Market Street were given their historic buildings by the former
owners.

CORPORATIONS^ ETC.

Granite State Fire Insurance Co.—Office, National Block, Congress; Cal-

vin Page, president; Joseph O. Hobbs, vice president; Alfred F. Howard,
secretary; J. W. Emery, assistant secretary.

Portsmouth Fire Association.

Piscataqua Fire Insurance Co.

Portsmouth Gas Co., 13 Congress; incorporated 1907.
Rockingham County Light and Power Co.

Morley Button Manufacturing Co.

Portsmouth Building and Loan Association.

Thomas Bailey Aldrich Memorial.—Incorporated July 5, 1907, 386 Court;

Wallace Hackett, president; Rev. Alfred Gooding, vice president; C. A. Haz-

lett, secretary; Wallis D. Walker, treasurer.

Portsmouth Bridge.—Incorporated 1819.

Newcastle Bridge Co.—Incorporated 1821.

Piscataqua Navigation Co.

Frank Jones Brewing Co.

Eldredge Brewing Co.

Portsmouth Brewing Co.

Gale Shoe Manufacturing Co.

Plymouth Business School.

Widder Bros. Shoe Co.

Portsmouth Tanning Co.

Portsmouth Foundry Co.

Consolidation Coal Co.

THE PORTSMOUTH NAVY YARD

It was because the early government of this settlement saw, on account of

the extensive and fine timber lands and the advantages of the deep and never-

closed harbor, an admirable location for ship building that Portsmouth was
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chosen as a place for building ships for the Royal Navy, and at a later date

by our Government for one of its yards. As early as 1650 there are records

of timber for masts marked with the king's "Broad Arrow" as belonging to

the crown.

T,he "Falkland."—The first war-ship built here was the "Falkland," of

fifty-four guns, in 1690, and in 1724 still in commission in the Royal Navy.

In 1749 a ship-of-war named the "America," of fifty guns was built for the

British government by Colonel Nathaniel Meserve. When the war of the

Revolution was seen to be inevitable this site at once recommended itself to

the Government. Governor Langdon, then the owner of Badger's Island, of-

fered its use to Continental Congress, and here, in March, 1755, was begun

work on the frigate "Raleigh," of thirty-two guns, and the following May
she was launched, and before four months had elapsed she was on the seas

and had engaged in attacking four English vessels of war acting as convoy

of a large fleet of merchantmen. It was one of the earliest engagements

which gave promise of that brilliant bravery which surprised the world as it

gained one success after another upon the seas, and over the ships of the

greatest naval power in the world.
^

The "Ranger."—The next ship built here for the Colonial government was
"the Ranger," launched in 1777, and immediately given to the command of

John Paul Jones, and with her he attacked and captured the "Drake," a

British vessel of greater power.
The "America."—In 1776 the keel of the "America" was laid at Badger's

Island, the only ship of the line which the Government at that time completed,

and in 1782 this ship was given by Congress to France to replace the "Mag-
nifique," one of her men-of-war, recently lost in the harbor of Boston. This
ship was captured by the British in 1794, and her name changed to the "Im-
petueux," and long regarded as one of the most valuable and beautiful vessels

in the British navy, and yet her builder, Mr. Hackett, of Portsmouth, had
never seen a ship-of-the-line. For a long time after the war little was done
in the navy, but in 1798 the frigate "Crescent" was built, then the sloop-of-

war "Portsmouth," next the "Scammell," and then the "Congress." It was
not till 1800, the principal island, on which the buildings of the navy yard
are erected, was purchased by the Government and the various provisions neces-

sary for a naval station actively begun. The buildings are on an island on
the opposite side of the river.

LIST OF VESSELS OF WAR BUILT AT THIS STATION

Built for the Royal Navy.—1690, frigate Falkland, 54 guns; 1696, frigate

Bedford, 32 guns; 1749, frigate America, 60 guns.
Built for the Colonial Navy, from 1775 to 1800.— 1775, frigate Raleigh,

22 guns; 1776, sloop Ranger, 18 guns; 1778, frigate Crescent, 32 guns; 1799,
frigate Congress, 38 guns; 1776, ship-of-line America, 74 guns; 1797, sloop
Portsmouth, 24 guns; 1798, schooner Scammell, 14 guns.

Built for the Navy of the United States.—1814, ship Washington, 74
guns; 1817, ship Alabama (changed to New Hampshire, launched 1864), 74
guns; 1820, schooner Porpoise, 11 guns; 1820, frigate Santee (launched
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1855), 44 guns; 1827, sloop Concord, 24 guns; 1839, sloop Preble, 20 guns;
1841, frigate Congress, 50 guns ; 1842, sloop Saratoga, 24 guns ; 1843, sloop
Portsmouth, 24 guns; 1848, steam frigate Saranac, 11 guns; 1855, lightship
for Nantucket; 1857, sloop Jamestown, 24 guns; 1857, steam sloop Mohican,
•9 guns; 1864, ironclad Passaconaway, 4 guns; 1864, tug Port Fire; 1864, Blue
Light; 1864, ironclad Agamenticus, 4 guns; 1864, sloop of war Piscataqua, 15
guns; 1864, sloop of war Minnetonka, 15 guns; 1864, sloop of war Illinois,

15 guns; 1861, steam sloop Ossipee, 9 guns; 1861, steam sloop Kearsarge, g
guns; 1861, steam sloop Sebago, 9 guns; 1861, steam sloop Mahaska, 9 guns;
1862, steam sloop Sacramento, 10 guns; 1862, steam sloop Sonoma, 10 guns;
1862, steam sloop Connemaugh, 10 guns; 1S63, steam sloop Sas-
sacus, 10 guns; 1863, steam frigate Franklin, 60 guns; 1863, steam sloop

Patuxent, 9 guns; 1863, steam sloop Nipsic, 9 guns; 1863, steam sloop Shaw-
mut, 10 guns; 1863, steam sloop Dacota, 10 gtms; 1864, steam sloop Contoo-
cook, 15 guns; 1865, steam sloop Benecia, 11 guns; 1869, steam sloop Monon-
gahela, 10 guns; 1873, steam sloop Marion, 10 guns; 1873, steam sloop En-
terprise, 7 guns; 1874, steam sloop Essex, 7 guns.

In 1 861 the famous sloop-of-war "Kearsage" was built on the railway,

her keel being laid on the 3rd of May, and the vessel launched through the

dock on the 5th of October following and sailed with many Portsmouth
sailors on board on February 5, 1862. She sank the confederate cruiser Ala-

bama on June 16, 1864, after that privateer had destroyed 386 vessels be-

longing to United States citizens.

A floating dry dock, built by contract m 1848-51, cost, with its basin and

the railway at its head, $1,282,000.

In 1866, Seavey's Island was bought of twenty-eight owners, the govern-

ment paying therefor $105,000 for the 105 acres included in the purchase.

The new granite dry dock occupies the channel that formerly lay between

Dennet and Seavey Islands. The contract was let to John Pierce of New
York City for the sum of $1,070,000. The dock's inside length is 750 feet

and width 130 feet; and it is 39 feet from coping to floor of dock. In its

•construction there are 20,500 cubic yards of cut granite. It required 18,000

cubic yards of concrete, using 43,000 barrels of Portland cement (400 lbs. to

the barrel). 166,000 cubic yards of rock was blasted and hauled away, the

entire foundation being a quarry. The first stone was laid May 21, 1901, in

the presence of Rear Admiral Read, Lieutenant Gregory, C. E. and Lee Tread-

well, C. E., the superintendent for the contractor. An article on the dock

and Henderson's Point was published in the Granite Monthly February, 1904,

written by T. P. Sullivan, the inspector of granite.

Spanish Prisoners.—On July 9, 1908, the U. S. S. St. Louis arrived in

port with 702 Spanish prisoners from the destroyed Spanish fleet at Santiago,

and the U. S. S. Harvard on July 15 brought 963 additional. They were

landed and placed in hastily constructed barracks on Seavey's Island and

guarded by 228 U. S. Marines. They were given U. S. Navy uniforms and

rations, and their improvement was rapid. Great was the surprise when the

time came on September 28, 1908, to send them back to Spain on the Steamer

City of Rome, to find it was hard to drive them away from the prison, so

well had they been clothed, fed and treated. Many of them could be seen
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staggering under the packs of booty they had been accumulating during their

stay, proud of the consciousness of having more possessions than they ever

had before.

Destruction of Henderson's Point:—The contract to destroy Henderson's

Point was awarded in August of 1902. At that time an appropriation of

$750,000 for the work was made by Congress. The contract called for the

removal of 220,000 cubic yards of rock and 50,000 feet of earth. After the

company removed 220,000 feet and more remained, the government recognized

that the estimate was incorrect and subsequently allowed the company ad-

ditional funds. By that contract the company was to take away a point that

protruded into the Piscataqua River 540 feet, that formed an angle with a

700-feet base line and which would give a depth of thirty-five feet at mean
low water, sufficient to take the biggest ship afloat when the water in the river

is at its lowest point.

The work of removing the point was begun with clearing away the sur-

face. A cofferdam was then constructed along the inside edge of the outer

surface of the rocky point. A railway was built and soon the company was
digging out from the shore to the point, leaving a shell of rock, supported

by a cofferdam as the outer wall of a thirty-five foot deep well that was
hundreds of feet long and wide.

It was in the course of this work that several important features of en-

gineering were tried and found true. When it was determined that the outer

wall of the point would be removed with one blast the company began to drill

horizontal lift holes in which to place the dynamite. Some of the holes were
eighty-two feet deep. The first drill placed was six inches wide and three

feet long. When that drill had gone to its greatest depth the horseshoers

employed moulded a six-foot drill that would exactly fit the lowest depth or

striking point of the preceding drill. Each new piece of drill that went into

a hole was three feet longer than the preceding drill and each was reconstructed

to fit the individual hole. Twenty-seven, separate drills were used in some
of the lead holes and a force of thirty-five blacksmiths was rushed to keep the

work moving. The holes were six inches wide at the top and one and three-

fourth inches wide at their lowest extremity. Several of the steel drills were
eighty-five feet long.

It is certain that fifty tons of dynamite were used at the single explosion

July, 1905. More would have been used if the government would have per-

mitted. In addition to the fifty tons at the single explosion about 150 other
tons of dynamite were used. The gross cost of the dynamite alone was about
$75,000. Two hundred lift holes were filled with dynamite at the time of the
explosion and each was connected in a series of wires so that no bad section

of the material would cause the- entire stock to fail to explode. All of these
were connected by electric wires under the personal supervision of Chief
Electrician Thomas F. Flanagan. The explosion, the greatest ever' planned in
modern times, was a success and contrary to expectations no damage resulted
to people or property. There was a loud sound, and, according to the officer

in charge of the measuring instruments, the water went into the air 73 feet,

and the debris to the height of 170 feet. When the water and debris dropped
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back into the river a tidal wave lo feet high headed for the New Castle shore.
It was estimated 35,000 people witnessed the explosion.

After the blast the principal difficulty was encountered. For more than
a year the company used big dredgers and heavy scows in clearing the basin
of the river. The high tide repeatedly caused the dredges to drag their moor-
ings and float away. It was then found necessary to have light-draught
dredges constructed for the special use. The force of the tide is so great that
a stretch of wire 1,000 feet long had to be replaced every three months. The
contract was completed in 191 2.

The Treaty of Portsmouth.—The envoys appointed by the governments
of Russia and Japan arrived at the Navy Yard on August 8, 1905, and were
met at the Portsmouth Bridge by the Governor of New Hampshire and his

staff, and escorted by the State Militia to the county courthouse on State
Street, and from thence they were taken in automobiles to their quarters at

the Wentworth House in New Castle. Each day the envoys held their ses-

sions in the new storage building at the Navy Yard. The members of the
conference consisted of Witte, Rosen, Navokoff, Plancon, Korostovetz,

Comora, Takahina, Otchiai, Adatci and Sato. The Treaty was signed Sep-
tember 5, 1905. On a bronze tablet in the Conference Building is the follow-

ing inscription

:

"In this building, at the invitation of Theodore Roosevelt,

President of the United States, was held the Peace Con-
ference between the Envoys of Russia and Japan, and Sep-

tember 5, 1905, at 3 :47 P. M., was signed The Treaty of

Portsmouth, which ended the war between th^ two
empires."

Navy Yard Commandants.—The following is a list of the commandants

of the navy yard at this place from 1812 to 1914:

Captain Isaac Hull, 1812; Captain Thos. Macdonough, 181 5; Captain

Charles Morris, 1818; Captain W. M. Crane, 1823; Captain C. G. Ridgeley,

1825; Captain J. O. Creighton, 1826; Captain J. D. Henley, 1828; Captain

W. M. Crane, 1832; Captain John D. Sloat, 1840; Captain George W. Storer,

1843; Captain Daniel Turner, 1846; Captain Thomas W. Wyman, 1849;

Captain Joseph Smoot, 1852; Captain John T. Newton, 1855; Captain John

Pope, 1857; Commodore G. F. Pearson, i860; Commodore T. Bailey, 1864;

Commodore Joseph Lanman,, 1867; Commodore John A. Winslow,

1869; Commodore A. M. Pennock, 1870; Commodore J. C. Howell, 1872;

Commodore A. Bryson, 1874; Commodore Earl English, 1876; Commodore

John Guest, 1877; Commodore J. C. Beaumont, 1879; Commodore Clark H.

Wells, 1881-1884; Commodore Philip C. Johnson, 1884-1887; Captain Robert

F. Bradford, 1887-1889; Commodore Joseph D. Skerrett, 1889-1890; Rear

Admiral Charles C. Carpenter—As Captain, 1890-1894; as Rear Admiral,

1898; Captain Montgomery Sicard, 1894; Captain Allen V. Reed, 1894- 1896;

Rear A.dmiral George C. Remey—As Captain, 1896-1898; as Rear Admiral,

1898-1900; Rear Admiral Bartlett J. Cromwell, 1900-1901; Rear Admiral

John J. Read, 1901-1903; Rear Admiral Caspar F. Goodrich, 1903-1904;
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Rear Admiral William W. Mead, 1904-1907; Rear Admiral George A. Bick-

nell, 1907-1908; Rear Admiral Edwin K. Moore, 1908-1909; Captain Frank

A. Wilner, 1909-1911; Captain Charles C. Rogers, 1911-1914.

List of officers now on duty at the navy yard:

Commandant's Office.—C. C. Rogers, Captain, Commandant Navy Yard
and First Naval District, Aid to Commandant; W. McDowell, Lieut. Com-
mander, Inspection Officer; O. T. Hurdle, Chief Boatswain, Assistant to In-

spection Officer; M. J. Lenney, Machinist, Assistant to Inspection Officer; P.

H. Bierce, Boatswain, Assistant to Inspection Officer; H. V. C. Wetmore,

Carpenter, Assistant to Inspection Officer.

Captain of Yard's Office.—H. A. Field, Captain, Captain of Yard; W.
Derrington, Chief Boatswain, Assistant to Captain of Yard; J. C. Lindberg,

Chief Boatswain, Assistant to Captain of Yard; Ed. Sweeney, Boatswain,

Assistant to Captain of Yard.

Hidl Division.—L. S. Adams, Naval Constructor, Construction Officer;

E. C. Hamner, Jr., Naval Constructor, Assistant to Construction Officer; L.

W Townsend, Lieutenant, Assistant to Construction Officer; F. Muller, Chief

Boatswain, Assistant to Construction Officer; F. M. Smitlj, Carpenter, As-
sistant to Construction Officer.

Public Works Department.—L. F. Bellinger, Civil Engineer, Public Works
Officer; E. W. Craig, Chief Carpenter, Assistant to Public Works Officer.

'Machinery Division.—F. W. Bartlett, Ca;ptain, Engineer Officer; F. L.

Sheffield, Lieut. Commander, Inside Superintendent; I. E. Bass, Lieut. Com-
mander, Outside Superintendent; R. E. Cassidy, Lieutenant (J. G.) Shop
Superintendent; L. J. Gulliver, Lieutenant (J. G.) Electric and Ordnance
Officer, Power Plant Superintendent ; C. H. Hosung, Chief Machinist, Inspec-

tions and Requisitions; C. R. Johnson, Chief Machinist, Assistant to Shop
Superintendent, Yard Craft and Service; Joseph Chamberlain, Gunner, As-
sistant to Electrical and Ordnance Stores.

Yard Dispensary.—B. L. Wright, Surgeon, Medical Officer in Command

;

L. H. Wheeler, P. A. Surgeon, Medical Officer Dispensary; P. G. White, A. A.
Dental Surgeon.

Naval Hospital.—B. L. Wright, Surgeon, Medical Officer in Command;
F. M. Bogan, Surgeon; Medical Officer at Hospital; L. H. Wheeler, P. A.
Surgeon, Medical Officer Dispensary; Chas. E. Reynolds, Chief Pharmacist,
Assistant to Medical Officer.

General Store.—F. T. Arms, Pay Inspector, General Storekeeper; J. F.
Flynn, Pay Clerk, Chief Clerk.

Navy Pay Office:—E. D. Ryan, Pay Inspector, Purchasing Pay Officer,

Portsmouth, N. H.



CHAPTER XVII

ATKINSON

Early, History—Ecclesiastical History—Educational—Atkinson Academy—
Military Record—Public Library

Atkinson is situated in latitude 42° 51', longitude 71° 8', and is about four
miles in length and three in breadth, containing 6,800 acres, and is

bounded north by Hampstead, east by Plaistow, south by Haverhill, Mass.,

and west by Salem and Derry. It is thirty-six miles from Concord and thirty-

six miles from Boston, on the Boston and Maine Railroad. Daily stage

to village two miles.

It originally was a part of Haverhill, which was settled in 1640. It com-
prises a portion of the territory conveyed to the inhabitants of Pentucket

(now Haverhill) by the Indians Passaquo and Saggahew, with the consent

of their chief P'assaconnaway, by their deed now in existence, dated November
15, 1642.

No settlement was made till eighty-five years later, when, in 1727 or '28,

Benjamin Richards, of Rochester, N. H., Nathaniel, Jonathan, and Edmund
Page and John Dow, from Haverhill, moved into the present limits of the

town. When the dividing line between New Hampshire and Massachusetts

was settled, Atkinson, then, a part of Plaistow, was assigned to New Hamp-
shire.

Plaistow was incorporated February 28, 1749. Atkinson was separated

from Plaistow August 31, 1767, and incorporated by the Legislature Septem-

ber 3rd of the same year.

The increase of population from the first settlement of the town was

rapid, and in 1775, eight years after the incorporation of the town, it num-

bered' 575, more thaii the average from that time to the present. The popula-

tion by the census of 19 10 was 440.

The soil is of an excellent quality, yielding large returns for the labor

spent upon it, and the town has long been noted for its superior fruit.

The location of the town is very high, commartding a view of the spires

of sixteen villages and of many mountains on every side around it. The air

is dry and pure, and Doctor Bowditch, the distinguished physician, has lorig

recommended it as one of the most favorable resorts in New Hampshire

for those afflicted with pulmonary complaints.

In the Revolution, which occurred so soon after the incorporation of the

town, the people of Atkinson showed themselves truly patriotic. This they

213



214 HISTORY OF ROCKINGHAM COUNTY

did by spirited resolutions and by furnishing men and money for the army.

Every man in Atkinson signed the association test.

Mr. Nathaniel Cogswell, who had been a merchant thirty or forty years

in the adjoining Town of Haverhill, and had moved into Atkinson in 1766,

alone gave eight sons to the service, besides loaning money to the town to

be expended in bounty and military equipments, the greater part of which

money, by the depreciation of currency, he lost. These eight sons performed

more than thirty-eight years of service, a greater amount of service, it is

believed, than was rendered by any other family in the country.

They all survived the Revolution and settled in life, and were the Hon.

Thomas Cogswell, of Gilmanton; Hon. Amos Cogswell, of Dover; Capt.

Nathaniel P. Cogswell, of Atkinson; Moses Cogswell, Esq., of Canterbury;

Dr. William Cogswell, of Atkinson; John Cogswell, Esq., of Landaff; Dr.

Joseph Cogswell, of Yarmouth; and Mr. Ebenezer Cogswell, of Wiscos-

set, Me. Gen. Nathaniel Peabody, by the important services he rendered to the

country in this crisis of affairs, was a host.

In all the wars in which our country has been engaged Atkinson has been

prompt to do its whole duty. In the War of 1812 she sent quite a number of

men to guard the forts along the coast, and Capt. William Page, commander
of a company of cavalry, in response to a requisition from the governor,

tendered the services of this entire company. Forty residents of Atkinson

served in the War of the Rebellion, very few towns in New Hampshire fur-

nishing so large a number in proportion to their population.

Ecclesiastical History.—The reasons assigned by the petitioners for a

separation from the Town of Plaistow were "that by reason of the great

distance of their dwellings from the meeting-house they undergo many and
great difficulties in attending the worship of Almighty God there, and that the

said meeting-house is not large enough to accommodate more than half of

the inhabitants of said town."

Before the erection of the church services were held at the house of Mr.
Nathaniel Cogswell. The first meeting-house w^s built in 1768-69, and
remained until 1845.

The town extended a call to Mr. Stephen Peabody, February 26, 1772,
and voted to give him "160 pounds lawful money as a settlement, upon con-

dition that the salary begin £66 ly. and ^d. lawful money the first year, and
add on 40 shillings per year till it amount to 80 pounds per year." They also

voted to give him "ten cords of wood per year as long as he carry on the

work of the ministry in Atkinson." Mr. Peabody accepted, and was ordained
November 25, 1772, at which time the church was organized at the house of
Mr. Samuel Little.

The covenant of the church adopted at its organization was evangelical.

Mr. Peabody continued pastor of the church until his decease.

After the death of Mr. Peabody the pulpit was supplied by the following
gentlemen: Jacob Cummings, from 1822 till 1824; Stephen Farley, from
1824 till 1832; Luke A. Spofif'ord (Ins.), from 1832 till 1834; Samuel H.
Tolman (Ins.), from 1835 till 1839; Samuel Pierce (Ord.), from 1843 till

1844; Jesse Page, 1845 till 1869; Charles F. Morse (Ins.), 1872 till 1875;
Charles T. Melvin, 1876 till 1880; Ezra B. Pike, 1880 till 1882; John O.
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Barrows, 1882 till 1885; James Alexander, 1886; Augustus C. Swain, 1887
till 1892; Geo. Hale Scott, 1893 till 1907; Edgar Warren, 1907 till 1910; R.
Albert Goodwin, 1910 till 1914.

In March, 1819, three months previous to the death of Mr. Peabody, the
town "voted to let the Universalists have the privilege of using the meeting-
house the present year their proportion of Sundays, according to the taxation."

This vote was repeated in subsequent years.

Deeming it expedient, on account of the inconvenience which attended the

worship of God in connection with those of other denominations, the church
and orthodox part of the community formed, February 19, 1834, a society

for the support of Christian institutions, called the "Congregational Society

in Atkinson." During the year 1835 a meeting-house was erected by this

new society from subscriptions by themselves and others. It stands on land

given for this purpose by Joseph B. Cogswell.

In 1845, Mrs. Judith Cogswell, widow of Dr. William Cogswell, gave to

the Orthodox Congregational Church and Society a bell weighing 1,300

pounds. A fine parsonage was erected in 1872. The meeting-house was
remodeled in 1879 at an expense exceeding its original cost.

In 1872, Francis Cogswell, George Cogswell, Nathaniel Cogswell, and

Jesse Page gave to the Congregational Church a thousand dollars each,

"The interest to be expended, under its direction, for the support of preach-,

ing and sustaining the gospel ministry" ; and Joseph B. Cogswell, another

brother, a similar amount for the support of preaching and repairs on the

house of worship. Donations to the preaching fund have also been made by

John Pettengill and Eliza W. Noyes.

It may be well to remark that the singing in the church has always

been by a volunteer choir. To one family, children of Mr. Henry Noyes,

has the church been especially indebted. Four sisters of this family sat

side by side for more than forty years preceding 1865, and several brothers

nearly as long, and the husband of one of the four sisters sang in the choir

more than fifty years, a great part of the time as the leader.

A Universalist Society was incorporated June 18, 1818, by the name of

the Universalist Society of Atkinson and Hampstead. The old society was

given up, and the present one formed in 1839, and is known by the name

of the A^tkinson Universalist Society. The society erected a meeting-house

in 1842.

For the years 1843 and 1844 the Rev. Josiah Gilman resided in the town,

and supplied the pulpit half the time. Since then the society has had preach-

ing only occasionally.

Education.—Tht tzrXy settlers seem to have been people of intelligence,

and one of their first thoughts was the education of their children. March

29, 1774, according to the records of the town, it was voted to hire a school-

master eight months the ensuing year, an unusual length of school for so

small a population at that early period. January 30, 1775, the town was

divided into three school districts and subsequently into six; the present

number is five. The people, however, were soon dissatisfied with the advan-

tages of the common district schools, and in 1788 erected a suitable build-

ing and established Atkinson Academy, which is entitled to an honorable
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place among the educational institutions of New England from its antiquity

and usefulness.

The first four academies of New Hampshire were Phillips, at Exeter,

incorporated 1781 ; New Ipswich, incorporated 1789; Chesterfield, incor-

porated 1790; and Atkinson, incorporated February 17, 179 1. As the one at

Atkinson, however, went into operation several years before its incorpora-

tion, it is really the second in the state in point of age. The origin of the

academy is due mainly to the efforts of three men,—Hon. Dr. and Gen.
Nathaniel Peabody, Rev. Stephen Peabody, and Dr. William Cogswell.

The first academy building, one story in height, was erected in the center

of the town, where the road to Salem diverges from the main street. It was
burned in 1802 and rebuilt in 1803.

When first established the academy, through the scarcity of such insti-

tutions, soon gained an enviable reputation, and was largely patronized from
a distance, fitting young men for college, and giving instruction in the higher
English branches. It early became a mixed school, when but little attention

had been paid to female education, and has so continued to the present
time, being the first academy, according to Rev. Dr. Foil, himself one of
the pupils, where the sexes were educated together in the higher branches.

It is interesting to note, in comparison with the present educational
expenses, how small were the charges of the school in its early history. The
tuition for the first two years was only 6s. for a quarter of twelve weeks;
then 9^.; in 1797, $2.00; in 1805, $3.00; in 1839 it was raised to $4.00;
in 1854 it was $4.80. Board at first was 4^. 6d., including lodging and wash-
ing. Then for many years it was 6s. ; in 1830 it was ys. 6d. for the whole
week, including washing and lodging, and 6s. for those who spent the Sab-
bath at their homes; in 1850 from $1.50 to $2.00 per week, including room-
rent and washing.

Very many have enjoyed its privileges who would otherwise have secured
no instruction beyond that of the common district schools. To the town
where it is located it has been of priceless value.

Among the many pupils of the old academy are not a few who have
attained eminence. There may be mentioned the names of Levi Woodbury,
noted m youth as in manhood for his untiring industry; Governor Kent'
of Maine

;
Jonathan and Joseph Cilley; President Brown, of Dartmouth

College; Gen. James Wilson ;> Judge White, of Salem; President Hale of
Hobart College; Benjamm Greenleaf, author of many mathematical works-Edmund R. Peaslee, LL. D., the distinguished medical professor and prac-
titioner, of New York City; Judge Greenleaf Clarke, of the Supreme Court
Minnesota. To these should be added, besides others previously mentioned'
a large number of clergymen of great usefulness

Grace Fletcher, the first wife of Daniel Webster, was educated here, and
has been described by her schoolmates as a pale, modest, retiring girl

The following have been principals of the academy M H Neal DHardy Samuel Moody, S. Dinsmore, S. P. Webster, John' Vose, M'oses
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Dodge, J. W. Spaulding, N. Barrows, W. E. Buntin, B. H. Weston, E. C.
Allen, M. P. White, J. V. Hazen, C. D. Tenney, B. H. Weston, T. B. Rice,
H. N. Dunham, A. P. Averill, O. B. Lord, W. H. Thompson. Oscar E.
Gibbs is the present principal.

MISCELLANEOUS MATTERS

The first house in the town was built by Benjamin Richards, at the end
of the lane leading from the main street, a little north of the burying-ground.
In this same house Lieut. Ezekiel Belknap died, January 5, 1836, aged one
hundred years and forty days. He was a soldier of the old French war,
afterwards an officer in the Revolutionary war, and was present at the execu-
tion of Andre.

MILITARY RECORD, 186 1 -65

Edward B. Murray, Co. C, 3d Regiment; enlisted December 23, 1861

;

discharged July 20, 1865.

James Carroll, Co. P., 3d Regiment; enlisted December 6, 1864.

Jacob Van Dunran, Co. C, 4th Regiment; enlisted December 9, 1863.

George W. Heath, Co. E, 4th Regiment; enlisted September 18, 1861

;

re-enhsted February 25, 1864; discharged January 27, 1865.

Edmund F. McNeil, Co. H, 4th Regiment; enhsted September 18, 1861;
re-enlisted January i, 1864, and promoted to ist sergeant; killed August
16, 1864.

John E. Austin, corporal Co. H, ist Regiment; enlisted May 3, 1861

;

discharged August 9, 1861; corporal Co. H, 4th Regiment; enlisted Sep-

tember 18, 1861
;
promoted to ist sergeant February 20, 1864; discharged

August 23, 1865.

George Hopper, Co. G, 5th Regiment; enlisted August 17, 1864; dis-

charged June 28, 1865. '

John Mulligan, Co. G, 5th Regiment; enlisted August 29, 1864.

John Conley, Co. H, 5th Regiment; enlisted August 13, 1864.

John Henrys, , 5th Regiment; enlisted August 9, 1863.

Hairry Blake, Co. H, 5th Regiment; enhsted August 13, 1864; promoted

to corporal April 18, 1865 ; discharged June 28, 1865.

Henry Hall, Co. C, 7tli Regiment; enlisted January 3, 1865; discharged

July 20, 1865.

John Smith, Co. C, 7th Regiment; enhsted January 3, 1865; discharged

July 20, 1865.

Wilham Lovell, Co. C, 7th Regiment; enlisted September 12, 1864; died

at Jones' Landing, Va., date unknown.

Andrew Mack, Co. K, 7th Regiment; enlisted September 12, 1864; pro-

moted to corporal July 3, 1865 ; discharged July 20, 1865.

Frederick W. Sleeper, Co. C, 7th Regiment; enlisted November 20, 1861

;

re-enHsted February 28, 1864; discharged July 20, 1865.

James Richmond, Co. H, 9th Regiment; enlisted December 9, 1863.

Mamuel Silver, Co. K, 9th Regiment; enhsted December 9, 1863.
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Andrew Coleman, Co. K, 9th Regiment; enlisted December 9, 1863.

Lafayette Tebbetts, Co. C, lOth Regiment; enlisted August 25, 1864;

discharged June 3, 1865.

James Harper, Co. G, loth Regiment; enlisted October 29, 1863; date

of discharge unknown.
Lorenzo Frost, Co. K, 15th Regiment; enlisted October 16, 1862; dis-

charged August 13, 1863.

Frank P. Ireson, Co. K, isth Regiment; enlisted October 16, 1862; dis-

charged August 13, 1863.

A. Noyse, Co. K, isth Regiment; enlisted October 16, 1862; died July

24, 1863.

Charles G. Perkins, Co. K, isth Regiment; enlisted October 16, 1862;

discharged August 13, 1863.

Orrin F. Richards, Co. K, 15th Regiment; enlisted October 16, 1862;

discharged August 13, 1863.

Arthur L. Merrick, Co. K, 15th Regiment; enlisted October 16, 1862,

sergeant; discharged August 13, 1863.

Robert King, Co. A, 17th Regiment; enlisted December 10, 1862; pro-

moted to corporal; discharged April 16, 1863.

J. H. Smith, , 17th Regiment; enlisted February ?|., 1863; date of

discharge unknown.
Patrick Mack, Co. C, ist Cavalry; enlisted March 31, 1864.

John Roberts, Co. C, ist Cavaliy; enlisted March 31, 1864.

Ebenezer Buck, V. R. C. ; enlisted November 10, 1863 ; date of discharge

unknown.
Patrick Dunn, ; enlisted July 29, 1864; date of discharge unknown.
Patrick K. Norton, ; enlisted July 3, 1863; date of discharge

unknown.
Philip G. Lord, ; enlisted July 3, 1863; date of discharge unknown.
Andrew M. Dunning, ; enlisted July 3, 1863; date of discharge

unknown. ^

Joseph Vedo, ; enlisted July 3, 1863; date of discharge unknown.
George Hughes, ; enlisted August 29, 1864; date of discharge

unknown.
Marcus M. Merrick, Co. H, ist Regiment; enlisted May 3, 1861 ; dis-

charged August 9, 1 861.

Gilman Noyes, Co. H, ist Regiment; enlisted May 3, 1861 ; discharged
August 9, 1 861.

David O. Clarke, sergeant Co. K, 5th Regiment; enlisted October 12,

1861 ; discharged March 16, 1863.

Joseph A. Carlton, Co. K, 5th Regiment; enlisted October 12, 1861 ; dis-

charged February 7, 1863.

James Hahir, Co. G, loth Regiment; enlisted December 29, 1863;
transferred 2d N. H. Regiment, June 21, 1865.

John C. Ryan, Co. K, 5th Regiment; enlisted October 12, 1861 ; dis-
charged January 7, 1863.

Samuel B. Mason, sergeant Co. H, 4th Regiment; enlisted September 18,
1861 : discharged September 27, 1864.
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Byron Noyes, sergeant Co. H, 4th Regiment; enlisted September 18, 1861

;

discharged September 27, 1864.
Nathaniel G. Scott, marine; enhsted March 15, 1864; date of discharge

unknown.
Lorin Heath, marine; enlisted August 11, 1864; date of discharge un-

known.
The Atkinson Public Library was founded by the State in July, 1894.

It has 1953 volumes. Alice Gilbert is librarian.

Atkinson Grange, P. of H. and I. O. U. R. M. are the societies.



CHAPTER XVIII

AUBURN

Geographical—Topographical—First Settlers—Ecclesiastical—First Congre-

gational Church—Methodist Episcopal Church—Civil and Military History
—Petition for Incorporation—"West Chester"—The Opposition—The

Town Incorporated—The First Town-Meeting—Military History—Public

Library.

Auburn lies in the western part of the county, and is bounded as follows

:

On the north by Candia and Hoopsett, on the east by Chester, on the south by

Derry and Londonderry, and on the west by Hillsborough and Merrimack
counties. The surface is broken but the soil is fertile. The population is 637.

Lake Massabesic, the largest body of water in Rockingham County, is

rapidly gaining in popular favor, and is one of the most enchanting summer
resorts within the bounds of the "Granite State." The first settler in Auburn
was John Smith.

For the early history of Auburn see Chester.

First Congregational Church.—For some reason it was deemed expedient

to dissolve the Presbyterian parish and church, and organize a Congregational

one. Accordingly, agreeably to an act passed July 3, 1827, "The Second
Congregational Society in Chester" was organized June 11, 1842, and a code
of by-laws adopted, one article of which was that all moneys should be raised

by voluntary subscription. The condition of membership was signing the by-

laws and paying $1 annually. On the ist day of January, 1843, sixteen

members of the Presbyterian Church adopted articles of faith and a covenant,

and were organized into a church by the Rev. Samuel Ordway, and assumed
the name of The Second Congregational Church in Chester. After the town
of Auburn was incorporated, in 1845, the name of the society and church was
altered to the First in Auburn. Rev. Samuel Ordway remained until 1846.
Subsequent pastors have been James Holmes, Josiah L. Jones, J. S. Guy,
Charles E. Houghton, Theodore C. Pratt, 1882-92; W. B. T. Smith, 1894-7:
A. V. Fisher, 1898-99; Albert E. Hall, 1899-04; Albert M. Farr, student!

1905-6; E. T. Hurd, 1906-7; O. W. Gord, 1907-8; Frank E. Rand, 1908;
B. L. Hess, 1909-13.

The Methodist Episcopal Church.—Methodism began to make its appear-
ance in what is now Auburn about the year 1800. The first Methodist sermon
believed to have been preached in Chester was in 1807 by Rev. George Picker-
ing. Upon the erection of the new schoolhouse in 1827, on the site of the
present one near the bridge across the Blanchard mill-pond, the Methodists
had services in it until it failed to accommodate the rapidly increasing congre-
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gation, and in 1836 a house of worship was erected. Among the ministers
who had labored here are mentioned the names of Revs. Fales, Quimby,
Stearns, Smith, Joseph Scott, Marsh, Spencer, Dr. Ferrest, H. B. Copp, R. G.
Donaldson, A. Folsom, Nathaniel L. Chase, Jarvis Adams, James Adams,
Henry V. Hartwells, Joseph W. Bisby, Isaac G. Price, Simon B. Heath,
Frederick E. Whertwell, Henry B. Copp, Nelson M. Bailey, A. R. Lunt. Rev.
T. W. Presby has been assigned for 19 14 for Auburn and Chester.

Civil History.—A petition by John Clark and others having been presented
to the Legislature in 1844 to have the Town of Chester divided, the west part
to be named "West Chester," and an order of notice having been served on
the town, there was a committee, consisting of John White, Jacob Chase, David
Currier, Stephen Palmer, Abel G. Quigg, and James Brown, chosen to report

a line for the division at an adjournment. The question was taken by ayes
and noes whether the meeting would consent to a division provided the com-
mittee should report a satisfactory line: ayes, 148; noes, 83. There seem
to have been two reports, and the one made by that part of the committee
from the westerly part of the town was adopted : ayes, 210; noes, 59.

There was a strong opposition from individuals in the west part, headed
by Jesse Patten and Pike Chase, a remonstrance sent in and counsel employed
before the committee, but the petitioners prevailed, and the act passed June 23,

1845. Samuel D. Bell, of Manchester, Nathaniel Parker and William Choate,

of Derry, were named in the act to divide the property and debts. Auburn
was to pay $2.26, and Chester $4.02, of state tax.

The first meeting of Auburn was notified by John Clark, David Currier,

and Stephen Palmer, and holden July 28th, and officers chosen at an adjourn-

ment.'

Auburn was incorporated June 25, 1845. It was originally that part of

Chester known as "Long Meadow."

MILITARY HISTORY, 1861-65

First Regiment, Three Months.—Mustered in May, 1861. Co. C, Amos
W. Brown.

Second Regiment, Three Years.'—Mustered June, 1861. Co. C, John

Chase, promoted corporal ; wounded, at Gettysburg. Co. C, John Davis, pro-

moted corporal. Co. C, Hazen Davis, Jr., wounded slightly July, 1863. Co.

C, Edwin Plummer, wounded slightly July, 1863. Co. C, Alfred J. Sanborn,

discharged for disability July, 1861 ; re-enlisted November, 1864. Co. D, John

D. Wood, recruited September, 1861 ; died in hospital November, 1862. Co.

F, Felix C. Hackney, recruit, died October, 1865.

Third Regiment, Three Years.—Mustered August, 1861. Co. A, John C.

Hagan, appointed wagoner; mustered out August, 1864; since died. Co. H,

Lanson Blake, re-enlisted. Co. H, Alonzo D. Emery, discharged December,

1861. Co. H, Leroy McDufifee, promoted sergeant; re-enlisted January, 1864.

Fourth Regiment, Three Years.—Mustered September, 1861. Co. C,

Henry C. Griffin, promoted corporal; re-enlisted February, 1864; wounded;

captured at Drury's Bluff; died in Libby Prison September 10, 1864. Co. E,

Ebenezer S. Emory, discharged for disability October, 1862. Co. E, Carlton
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C. Richardson, re-enlisted January, 1864. Co. G, William Gunston, re-enlisted

February, 1864; killed at Drury's Bluff May 16, 1864. Co. G, Amos W.
Brown, re-enlisted February, 1864. Co. K, Thomas B. Platts, re-enlisted

February, 1864.

Fifth Regiment, Three Years.—Mustered October, 1861. Co. C, Isaac

Boxall, recruit. Co. F, John Whitehouse, recruit. Co. F, Thomas Darty.

recruit. Co. F, Murtz Sullivan, recruit.

Sixth Regiment, Three Years.—Mustered November, 1861. Co. I, Fred-

erick Shaeffer, recruit.

Seventh Regiment, Three Years.—Mustered October, 1861. Co. A, Thorn-

ton Hazen, wounded at Fort Wagner July, 1863 ; died of wounds August 29,

1863. Co. I, Otis F. Butrick, discharged for disability August, 1862. Co. H,
John Walton, recruit.

Eighth Regiment, Three Years.—Mustered December, 1861. Co. D,

Frank C. Wood, discharged for disability at Camp Parapet, La., July, 1862.

Ninth Regiment, Three Years.—Mustered July, 1862. Co. A, Eben Dean,

died at Washington December, 1862. Co. A, George W. Goodwin. Co. A,
Moses Reed, died at Richmond, Ky., April, 1863. Co. A, Alonzo D. Emery,
transferred to Battery E, U. S. Artillery, September, 1862. Co. A, John D.
Neller, recruit, December, 1863; captured; died in rebel prison at Salisbury,

N. C, February, 1865. Co. A, James R. Preston, transferred to Sixth New
Hampshire Volunteers, June, 1865. Co. B, Charles F. Shaw, discharged for

disability at Fredericksburg, Va., January 15, 1863. Co. K, Charles Delos,

recruited December, 1863; deserted January, 1864.

Tenth Regiment, Three Years.—Mustered August, 1862. Co. A, Albert
Plummer, hospital steward; promoted assistant surgeon January 3, 1865. Co.
A, Lucian Holmes, corporal, promoted sergeant ; captured at Fair Oaks, Va.,
October, 1864; died in rebel prison at Salisbury, January 4, 1865. Co. A,
John Y. Demeritt, died at Washington January 5, 1863. Co. A, Jacob P.

Buswell. Co. A, Charles H. Buswell, transferred to U. S. Signal Corps.
Co. A, Joseph L. Davis, died of wounds received June 3, 1864. Co. A, Charles
H. Grant, promoted to corporal; captured at Fair Oaks, Va., October, 1864;
died in rebel prison at Salisbuiy February 14, 1865. Co. A, Edward M.
Melvin, discharged for disability December, 1864. Co. A, Henry C. Moore,
wounded Jime, 1864; died at De Camp Hospital, New York, September 8,
1864. Co. A, George B. Sanford. Co. H, Franklin Shannon, died of wounds
June 16, 1864. Co. A, Charles Pingree, promoted to second lieutenant of Co.
I, 23d U. S. Col. Vols. ; killed before Petersburg July 3, 1864.

Eleventh Regiment, Three Years.—Mustered August, 1862. Co. B, John
Cole, recruited December, 1863. Co. K, William Clark, recruited December
1863.

Twelfth Regiment, Three Years.—Mustered August, 1862. Co. I, Felix
C. Hackney, recruited December, 1863. Co. E, James Krotzer, recruited
December, 1863. Co. H, James Murray, recruited December, 1863; killed at
Cold Harbor June, 1864. Co. E, William Moll, retired Decemter, 1863;
deserted November, 1864. Co. H, Oliver Kinker, recruited December, 1863';
transferred to Second New Hampshire Volunteers.
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Fourteenth Regiment, Three Fern's.—Mustered September, 1862. Co. D,
Stephen C. Coult.

Fifteenth Regiment, Nine Months.—Mustered October, 1862. Co. E,
Moses B. Davis. Co. E, Daniel C. Abbott. Co. E, Willis H. Brown. Co. E,
Jesse Woods, died. Co. E, Frank C. Woods, discharged for disability ; died
at Auburn. Co. E, Jonathan Ballou, mustered out August, 1863.

Eighteenth Regiment.'—Mustered September, 1864. Co. H, Alexander
M. Ballou. Co. H, Jonathan Ballou. Co. K, Sylvester E. Emery. Co. K,
Carlton Emery. Co. K, Alfred D. Emery. Co. K, Alonzo D. Emery. Co. K,
George A. Wood.

First Regiment Cavalry.—Mustered December, 1861. Troop L, John S.

Coffin, re-enlisted January, 1864. Troop I, Warren J. Davis, captured June,
1864; paroled March, 1865. Troop K, Chester C. Smith, discharged June,
1862.

First Light Battery, Three Years.—Mustered September, 1861. David H.
Bean, bugler, re-enlisted December, 1863. Robinson Brown, bugler. James
M. Buswell. John H. Goodwin, dropped from rolls October, 1864. James
M. Preston. William Preston. Benjamin S. Stewart, recruited December,
1863. Hugh B. Cochran, drafted.

First Regiment Heavy Artillery.—Mustered September, 1864. Co. C,

Edwin Coleman. Co. C, George Coult. Co. C, George E. Edmunds. Co. C,

Benjamin Eaton. Co. C, Jacob Lufkin. Co. C, Henry M. Preston. Co. C,

Stephen Pingree. Co. G, Charles H. Lyman, discharged for disability Jan-
uary, 1865. Co. K, Joseph P. Brown. Co. K, William G. Brown. Co. K,
Dennis Donovan. Co. K, Luther Preston. Co. K, Harrison Prescott. Co. K,
Robert T. Plummer. Co. K, Simon G. Prescott. Co. K, Benjamin F. Sher-

burne. Co. K, John E. White. Co. M, George C. Kimball.

Second Regiment Sharpshooters.—Mustered November, 1861. Samuel F.

Murry, first lieutenant, second lieutenant, promoted to captain September,

1863. Co. F, Alfred J. Sanborn, wounded May, 1864; mustered out Novem-
ber, 1864.

Those who Furnished Volunteer Substitutes.—Wells C. Underhill, Andrew
F. Fox, Daniel Webster, Harrison Burnham, Joseph Underbill.

Drafted Men.—Evander G. Preston, John N. Claflin, George W. Hall,

Alexander M. Philip, W. I. Gilbert, Benjamin D. Emery, Edward O: Prescott,

Charles H. Pattent, Charles H. Merrill.

Substitutes for Drafted Men.—August Shaffer, James McKew, Edward
Haley, William Warren, Henry Cole, Isaac Powell, Patrick O'Niel, Charles

Bond, Charles A. Varnham.
Commutation fee of $300 paid by Arthur Dinsmore.

GriMn Library and Museum.—In 1885 S. S. Griffin erected a building to

be used as a library and museum and in 1892 gave it and its contents to the

town. The books now number about one thousand six hundred. The museum

has an interesting collection of Indian relics and many articles relating to the

early history of the town.

Massabesic is the title of the Grange.



CHAPTER XIX

BRENTWOOD

Geographical—Topographical—Early Inhabitants—Documentary History—
Mceting-House—Ecclesiastical History—Congregational Church—Baptist

Church—Milita/ry History—Public Library.

The town of Brentwood lies near the center of the county, and is bounded

as follows : On the north by Epping, on the east by Exeter, on the south by

Kingston, and on the west by Fremont. The population in 1910 was 759.

The surface of the town- is broken, and the soil is fertile and well adapted

to^he raising of grass and grain. It is watered by Exeter, Little, and Deer

Rivers. There are desposits of iron ore in this town.

Early InJiabitants.—The following is a list of early inhabitants, as shown

by a document among the State records under date July 11, 1743. It re-

lates to the formation of the parish, and is as follows

:

"Brentwood. July ii, 1743.

"We the Subscribers Do hereby signifie that we Realy Expected and also

Desired to stand by the Act of the General Cotirt in mal<ing of us a Parish

But yet we perceive that the honble Corte have bin Enfonned by Sundry

Parsons that the major Part of the Parish are Dissatisfy'd in what is done

in that afair this is to Shew it is not so.

"John Roberds, Joseph Leivett, Thomas Gorden, John Marsh, Rebord

Young. Edward Stevens, Daniel Giles, Israel Smith, John Been, Nicholas

Gorden, John Folsham, Ithial Smith, Moses Fifield, David Bean, Samuel

Roberds, Samuel Jones, Charles Young, Benja Vesey, Jeremiah Bean, Biley

Harvey, John Giles,' Benja Roberds, John Roberds, David Smith, Jonathan

Smith, John Smith, Josiah Moody, Zackiriah Jude, Jeremiah Row, Jedediah

Prescott, James Robenson, Daniel Tilton, John James, Nathel Folsham, James
Dudley jun, Joseph Gose, Benja Scribner, Ebenezer Hutchinson, Elisha

Sanborn, James Young, Benja Fifield, Bridget Smith, Thomas Scritchet,

Abraham Smith, Gorg Roberds, James Dudley, Joel Judkins, Roberd Brown,
Joseph Atkinson, Jacob Smith, Jabez Clough, James Gloyd, Nicholas Doliof,

Alexander Roberds, William Granby, Daniel Sanborn, Jona Roberson, Wil-

Ham Smith, Jona Tailer, Nathl Prescott, Jona Cram, Joseph Giles, Henery
Marsh, Job Kenistone, John Mudgit."
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"Petition of a number of the Inhabitants of Brintwood, praying to be set off

as a parish.

"To his Excellency Benning Wentworth Esqr Governor & Commander in

chief in and over his Majestys Province of New Hampshire the honorable
his Majesty's Council & House of Representatives in General Assembly
conven'd 12th day of June 1764.
"The Petition of us the Subscribers humbly sheweth that whereas we who

are of the Parish of Brintwood in said Province are exposed by being at a
great distance from Meeting for the public worship of God Therefore pray
your Honers to take our Case into your wise Consideration and set us off

as a Parish with all Parish privileges one half of the aforesaid Parish of

Brintwood for quantity on the westerly end, Beginning at the northwesterly

Corner of said Parish running easterly on Epping Line so far as to contain

one half of the length of said Line. Then beginning at the South westerly

Corner of said Parish running Easterly on Kingston Line one half of the

Length of the said South Line then to run a Straight Line across said Parish

of Brintwood so as to contain full one half, of the Land of said Brintwood
agreeable to a Vote of said Parish reference hereto being had may make fully

appear. And your Petitioners in duty bound Shall ever pray

"John Taylor, Joshua Kimball, Benjn Kimball, Jonathan Brown, Jo-

seph Hoyt, Jonathan Ring, James Tucker, Daniel Brown, John Hoyt, Abel

Morrill, John French, John Glidden, Israel Smith, Robert Glidden, Ephraim

Brown, Benjamin Cram, Abraham Sanborn, Elias Swain, Jonathan Hoyt,

Benjamin Hoyt, Reuben Hoyt, John Prescott Lovren, Zacheus Clough, John
Kirnball, Nathan Kimball, James Merrill, James Merrill Jun, John Kenison,

Nathan Brown, Enoch Brown, John Hoyt Jun, Samuel Hoyt, Joseph Taylor,

Daniel Kimball, Samuel Clough, John Clough, David Kimball, Richard

Clough, David Hoyt, Samuel Moody, Clement Moody, Nathaniel Whittier,

Nathaniel Whittier Jun, Benjamin Clough.

"Province of New Hamps. In the House of Representatives June 14th 1764.

This petition being read

"Voted That the prayer thereof be Granted & that the petitioners have

leave to bring In a Bill accordingly.
"A. Clarkson Clerk

"In Council June 15th 1764

Read and Concurred

T. Atkinson Sec

"At a Parish Meeting held at the meeting house in Brintwood the fifteenth

Day of May 1764 .

"Voted Deacon Jeremiah Bean moderator of said meetmg at the same

meeting it was Put to Vote to see if the Parish would maintain Two ministers

in said Parish & it Past in the Negative

"Voted the Inhabitants of the Westerly End of the Parish be set off_ to

be a Parish by themselves that is to come one half the way Down on Epping

Line & Run such a Point a cross to Kingston Line as to contain one half ye

Land in Sd Parish
Elisha Sanborn Clerk

"A copy Examd."
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Congregational Church.—Brentwood was originally a part of Exeter, and

was incorporated June 26, 1742. Previous to this a meeting house had been

erected in what is now the easterly part of Brentwood. The first pastor of

the Congregational Church in Brentwood was Rev. Nathaniel Trask, from

Lexington, Mass. He came to Brentwood in 1747. A church was organized

in 1748, and Mr. Trask was ordained December 12, 1748. There was a

meeting house built near the center of the town in 1750, where the present

Congregational meeting house now stands. A church was organized at the

Centre July 12th, O. S., or July 23, N. S., 1751. These two churches united

in one, and Rev. Mr. Trask was installed pastor of this united church and
minister of the town, January 7, O. S., or January 18, N. S., 1756. Mr.
Trask was dismissed from his pastoral charge July 30, 1787, on account of

inability to preach, arising from a disorder in his head. Rev. Ebenezer Flint,

from Methuen, Mass., was the second pastor of this church, ordained May
27, 1801.

On the 2 1 St of July, 181 3, Rev. Chester Colton, from Hartford, Conn.,

commenced his labors here, and was ordained pastor of this church January

25, 181 5. The meeting house, which was built in 1750, was taken down and
a new one built on the same spot in 181 5. The Congregational parsonage
house was also built in 181 5. The Sabbath school was organized in the

spring of 181 7, and Thomas S. Robinson was the first superintendent. Mr.
Colton secured to himself the warmest attachment of his people, and his

labors were greatly blessed. He was dismissed at his own request, on account
of inflammation of the eyes, March 16, 1825. The fourth pastor of this

church was Rev. Luke A. Spofford, from Gilmanton, N. H., installed Feb-
ruary 22, 1826. Mr. Spofford asked and received a dismissal, April i, 1829.

After the dismissal of Mr. Spofford this people enjoyed the labors of
Rev. Jonathan Ward, from Plymouth, N. H., as acting pastor, until the
autumn of 1833. The fifth pastor of this church was Rev. Francis Welch,
from Hampstead, N. H. He was ordained December 4, 1833. He was
dismissed October 4, 1837. The sixth pastor of this church was Rev. John
Gunnison, from New Market, N. H., who began to preach here jn October,

1837, and was installed June 12, 1837. He was dismissed June 8, 1841. The
seventh pastor of this church was Rev. James Boutwell, from Lyndeborough,
N. H. Mr. Boutwell commenced his labors here July 11, 1841, and was
ordained November 4, 1841.

In 1847 the interior of the meeting house that was built in 1815 was
remodeled. When this meeting house was first built the audience room was
two stories high ; the gallery was high three ways round the room ; the pulpit
was so exceedingly high as to tire the necks and eyes of those who sat nearest
the pulpit to look at the minister ; the pews were square ; the seats that kind
that had hinges, and of course must be turned up when the congregation rose
for prayers. The pews in the audience room are long, the pulpit low, the
gallery small, exclusively for the choir. November 11, 1847, this meeting
house was rededicated to the worship of God, and Rev. Mr. Boutwell preached
the dedicatory sermon from Exod. xx. 24. Mr. Boutwell sustained the pas-
toral office among this people for more than ten years. Rev. Josiah M.
Stearns, from New Ipswich, N. H., supplied the pulpit as acting pastor from
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September 26, 1852, to June 12, 1853, when his useful life terminated in
death, aged thirty-four years.

The eighth pastor of this church was Rev. Charles Dame, from South
Berwick, Me., installed May 17, 1754. Through the efforts of Mr. Dame,
a bell was purchased and put in the belfry of the meeting house, April 18,

1855, and also a chandelier, which was put in the meeting house June 27,
1855. Rev. Mr. Dame was. dismissed November 12, 1856.

The ninth pastor of this church was Rev. Hugh McLeod, a native of Nova
Scotia, came from Springfield, Ohio, to Brentwood, and commenced his
labors here December 13, 1857, and was installed February 17, 1859. His
labors were greatly blessed. The reason he gave for asking a dismission was
that he had a call from the Christian Commission to go and labor in the
United States service. He was dismissed October 16, 1^5. Rev Nathaniel
Lassell, from Amesbury, Mass., was the acting pastor from July 29, 1866,
to August 29, 1869. Rev. William C. Jackson, a native of Madison, N. H.,
commenced his labors here July lo, 1870, and he was succeeded after serving
twelve years by Rev. E. B. Pike, 1882-1886; Herbert G. Mauk, 1886-1888;
Benjamin A. Dean, 1888-1893; Ferdinand J. Ward, 1893-1894; Henry H.
Colburn, 1894-1901 ; Amasa C. Fay, 1901-1906; Ernest L. Rand, 1906-1907;
Finis E. Delzell, 1907—

.

Baptist Church.—A meeting house had been erected in the northwest part

of the town previous to 1768. May 2, 1771, a church was organized of thir-

teen members as follows : William Eastman, Stephen Sleeper, Levi Mor-
rill, Edward Smith, Stephen Butler, Alerdo Carter, John Folsom, Jeremiah
Ward, Ellis Towle, Martha Marston, Molly Morrill, Abigail French, and
Ehzabeth Sleeper.

Levi Morrill was chosen clerk, and Stephen Sleeper deacon. Dr. Samuel
Shepard was called May 23d to take charge of this church and its branches

at Stratham and Nottingham, and he was ordained at Stratham the last Wed-
nesday of September of that year. Dr. Shepard's pastorate extended over a

period of forty-four years, when he died November 4, 181 5, aged seventy-

six years, four months, and thirteen days, and was buried only a short dis-

tance from the place where he had preached so long.

After Dr. Shepard's death the pulpit was supplied by Rev. Jonathan

Thyng, Benjamin Pottle, Henry Veasey, Reuben Bell and Elder Cheiiy. Rev.

Samuel Cook commenced his labors in Brentwood June 3, 1827. In 1828 the

old wooden meeting house was taken down and a new brick one er(^cted, but

not exactly on the same spot, the new one being on the north side of the road

directly opposite from the old site. The new brick church was dedicated

November 4, 1828. The first anniversary of the Portsmouth Baplist Asso-

ciation was held at the new Baptist meeting house in Brentwood, ( )ctober 7

and 8, 1829. The parsonage house was built in 1832. Mr. Cook was dis-

missed May I, 1835.

Rev.. James W. Poland was publicly recognized as pastor of th is church

May 11, 1836. Mr. Poland was dismissed in October, 1838, on account of

ill health. In April, 1839, Rev. John Holbrook was obtained as his successor,

Bro. Horace Eaton, a recent graduate of New Hampton Institution, sup

plied the desk a while in 1841.
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In April, 1842, Rev. Abel Philbrick became pastor, and the next year

the Portsmouth Baptist Association held its fifteenth anniversary with this

church.

In October, 1844, Rev. A. M. Swain was the pastor, remaining until 1849.

He was succeeded by Rev. J. H. Learned. Much to the regret of his people,

Bro. Learned was obliged, on account of ill health, to close his labors with

this church in the spring of 1854. In 1855, Rev. A. M. Swain was again

called to minister to this people. He preached his farewell sermon October

24, 1858. In the spring of 1859, Rev. Wilham H. Jones was settled here

as the pastor of this church. He closed his labors in February, 1861. June

27, 1 861, Leonard B. Hatch was installed pastor, and labored there very

acceptably for two years, when he resigned, preaching here for the last time

May 31, 1863. Jesse M. Coburn was the next pastor, coming here sorrie

time in 1863, remaining until July i, 1866. Rev. H. G. Hubbard was his

successor ; was here for two years, and preached his farewell sermon Novem-
ber 8, 1868.

During the next year somewhat extensive repairs were made on the inside

of the church building, and on their completion, in August, 1869, the Rev.
Charles D. Swett received and accepted a call to become pastor of this

church. He remained here four years. During his ministry the church
celebrated their centennial, he preaching a sermon on the occasion. He de-

livefed this sermon October 19, 1871, the church being 100 years

old February 2d previous.

In October, 1873, Rev. J. H. Learned received and accepted a call to be-
come pastor again for the second time, which position he held for three years,

and resigned again in the fall of 1876 on account of ill health. December
10, 1876, E. L. Scott accepted a call to this church, and was ordained here
March 6, 1877, and closed his labors October 14, 1877. Rev. C. H. Newhall
succeeded him, and was pastor for three years, when he resigned. October
31, 1880, Rev. George Ober was given a very unanimous call to become pastor
of this old church and accepted; he began his labors February 6, 1881, and
remained until 1884. He was succeeded by Rev. Geo. A. Glinesbill, 1890;
Rev. Geo. W. Ellison, one year; Rev. J. W. Higgins, 1891-99; Rev. Bernard
Christopher, 1899-1901 ; Rev. J. A. Bailey, 1902-1904; Rev. Geo. W. Nicker-
son, 1905-07; Rev. J. D. Matthews, 1907-12; Rev. C. W. Sables, 1912-14.

Military Record.—The following is a list of those who enlisted from this

town during the late rebellion

:

Joseph Geebo, Co. C, 5th Regiment; enlisted August 23, 1864; discharged
June 28, 1865.

Thomas Morrison, -, irth Regiment; enHsted December 23, 1863.
Allen Turkey, Co. H, 5th Regiment; enlisted September 7, 1864; dis-

charged June 28, 1865.

Reuben C. Gaines,
, nth Regiment; enlisted December 19, 1863.

William M. Loecke, Co. C, 6th Regiment; enlisted November 27, 1861

;

re-enlisted December 27, 1863, and credited to town of Chester.
James W. Mclntire, Co. C, 6th Regiment; enlisted November 27, 1861

;

discharged March 4, 1862.
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William H. Hook, Co. A, 9th Regiment; enlisted August 28, 1862; dis-
charged April 27, 1863.

Daniel Riley, Co. C, 6th Regiment; enlisted November 27, 1861; killed
August 29, 1862.

Charles A. Glidden, Co. A, nth Regiment; enlisted August 28, 1862; dis-
charged June 4, 1865.

Freeman Stockman, Co. C, 6th Regiment; enlisted November 27, 1861;
discharged May 18, 1863. >

Nathaniel B. Collins, ist Sergeant Co. A, nth Regiment; enlisted August
28, 1862; discharged June 4, 1865.

John S. Rowell, Sergeant Co. C, 6th Regiment; enlisted November 27,
1861 ; re-enhsted and promoted ist Lieutenant December 24, 1863; promoted
Captain January 7, 1865; discharged July 17, 1865.

Isaac N. Morse, Corporal Co. C, 6th Regiment; enlisted November 27,
1861 ; discharged March 4, 1862.

John W. Clarke, Co. H, 7th Regiment; enlisted April 13, 1864; absent,
sick, July 20, 1865 ; no discharge furnished.

James W. Marshall, Co. B, 7th Regiment; enlisted November 18, 1861;
re-enhsted and promoted to Sergeant February 27, 1864; discharged July 28,

1864.

Bernard McElroy, Co. A, 7th Regiment; enlisted October 29, 1861 ; re-

enlisted February 29, 1864; discharged July 20, 1865.

John Cadigan, Co. D, 8th Regiment; enlisted August 17, 1864; not offi-

cially accounted for.

Frank Howard, Co. C, 9th Regiment; enlisted August 24, 1864.

Benjamin F. LaBue, Corporal Co. A, nth Regiment; enlisted August
28, 1862; discharged June 4, 1865

Elbridge C. Brackett, Co. A, nth Regiment; enlisted August 28, 1862;

promoted to Corporal; discharged June 4, 1865.

George W. Brackett, Co. A, nth Regiment; enlisted August 28, 1862;

discharged June 4, 1865.

John L. Oilman, Co. A, nth Regiment; enlisted August 28, 1862; dis-

charged for disability December 13, 1862.

Joshua W. Lane, Co. A, nth Regiment; enlisted August 28, 1862; dis-

charged June 4, 1865.

Edward Nickett, Co. A, nth Regiment; enlisted August 28, 1862; pro-

moted to Corporal; transferred to Inv. Corps September i, 1863.

Dudley H. Robinson, Co. A, nth Regiment; enhsted August 28, 1862;

died January 9, 1863.

Jonathan W. Robertson, Co. A, nth Regiment; enlisted August 28, 1862;

promoted to Sergeant; discharged June 4, 1865.

George O. Sanborn, Co. A, nth Regiment; enlisted August 28, 1862; pro-

moted to Sergeant; discharged June 4, 1865.

Charles G. Thing, Co. A, nth Regiment; enlisted August 28, 1862; died

January 31, 1863.

Herman W. Veazey, Co. A, nth Regiment; enlisted August 28, 1862;

transferred to Vet. Res. Corps; discharged June 28, 1865.
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George A. Miles, Co. A, nth Regiment; enlisted August 28, 1862; trans-

ferred to Vet. Res. Corps; discharged August 28, 1865.

John F. Worthen, Co. A, nth Regiment; enlisted August 28, 1862; trans-

ferred to Battalion E, ist U. S. A., October 14, 1862.

Charles Davis, Co. A, nth Regiment; enlisted August 28, 1862; trans-

ferred to Vet. Res. Corps, September 30, 1863.

John P. Bean, Co. C, nth Regiment; enlisted August 28, 1862; discharged

June 4, 1865.

John N. Kimball, Co. I, nth Regiment; enlisted September 2, 1862; dis-

charged March 27, 1863.

Marcena W. Lane, Co. I, nth Regiment; enlisted September 2, 1862; dis-

charged June 4, 1865.

John Campbell, Co. A, nth Regiment; enlisted July 29, 1864; transferred

to 6th N. H. Volunteers June i, 1865.

George Sawyer, Co. G, nth Regiment; enlisted December 19, 1863; trans-

ferred to 6th N. H. Volunteers June i, 1865; discharged July 17, 1865.
Oliver Thomas, 14th Regiment; enlisted August 5, 1864; not officially

accounted for.

James H. Robinson, Corporal, Co. E, 15th Regiment; enlisted October

9, 1862; discharged August 13, 1863.

George R. Russell, Sergeant, Co. E, 15th Regiment; enlisted October 9,

1862; discharged August 13, 1863.

Josiah Morris, Sergeant, Co. E, 15th Regiment; enlisted October 9, 1862;
discharged August 13, 1863.

Lorenzo D. Cate, Co. E, 15th Regiment; enlisted October 9, 1862; dis-

charged August 13, 1863.

Frank A. Colby, Co. E, 15th Regiment; enlisted October 9, 1862; died,

date unknown.
Frank W. Gould, Co. E, 15th Regiment; enlisted October 9, 1862; dis-

charged August 13, 1863.

James F. Hazeltine, Co. E, 15th Regiment; enlisted October 9, 1862; dis-

charged August 13, 1863.

Edward Hemmel, Co. E, 15th Regiment; enlisted October 9, 1862; dis-
charged August 13, 1863.

George B. Lane, Co. E, 15th Regiment; enlisted October 17, 1862; dis-
charged August 13, 1863.

Lewis W. Sinclair, Co. E, isth Regiment; enlisted October 9, 1862; died
July 25, 1863.

Marcus M. Tuttle, Co. E, rsth Regiment; enlisted October 15, 1862; de-
serted, date unknown.

Mark Carr, Co. A, ist Cavalry; enlisted April 14, 1864; promoted to
Sergeant; discharged March 20, 1865, on account of wounds.

Joseph W. Chase, Co. B, ist Cavalry; enlisted March 24, 1864; cap-
tain June 29, 1864; no discharge given.

George Young, Co. B, ist Cavalry; enlisted April 14, 1864; deserted
April 17, 1864.

David E. Brown, Co. C, ist Cavalry; enlisted April 5 1864- discharged
July 15, 1865.
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Horace S. Flanders, ist Co. H. Artillery; enlisted July 22, 1863; dis-

charged September 11, 1865.

John H. Carr, ist U. S. S. S., Co. E, Corporal; enlisted September 9,
1861; promoted to Sergeant January 29, 1863; September 20, 1863.

Charles O. Copp, Co. C, nth Regiment; enhsted August 21, 1862; pro-
moted to Corporal May i, 1865; discharged June 4, 1865.

Andrew Jackson, , U. S. C. T. ; enlisted August 24, 1864; no record
here of him.

William Burrows, enlisted August 23, 1864; company and regiment un-
known.

John J. Stallard, enlisted August 23, 1864; company and regiment un-

known.
John E. Dunbar, enlisted August 10, 1864; company and regiment un-

known.
James Miller, enlisted August 11, 1864; cornpany and regiment unknown.
Simon Brown, enlisted August 13, 1864; company and regiment unknown.
Thomas Morrison, enlisted September i, 1863; company and regiment un-

known.
James Tracey, enlisted January 4, 1865 ; company and regiment un-

known.
William Desell, Co. A, 5th Regiment; enlisted August 26, 1864; dis-

charged June 28, 1865.

William Barrows, Co. H, 5th Regiment; enhsted August 23, 1864

deserted, gained from desertion; discharged June 14, 1863.

E. B. W. Stevens, Co. I, 5th Regiment; enhsted September 18, 1862

killed July 2, 1863.

Jonathan S. Rowe, Co. I, 5th Regiment; enlisted September 18, 1862

missing December 13, 1862.

James Maloney, Co. F, 2d Regiment; enlisted October 5, 1864; deserted

February 4, 1865.

William Fisher, Co. I, 2d Regiment; enlisted December 2, 1863; deserted

February 3, 1864.

Ambrose E. Rowell, Co. B, 3d Regimen! ; enhsted February 22, 1864;

promoted to Sergeant; discharged July 20, i.%5.

George W. Bean, Co. B, 7th Regiment; enlisted December 17, 1861
;
pro-

moted to Corporal June 12, 1862; Sergeant December 22, 1864; discharged

July 20, 1865.

George A. Robinson, Co. B, 7th Regiment; enhsted September 17, 1862;

discharged June 28, 1865.
,. , ^ , 00^

Charles Hall, Co. 'B, nth Regiment; enhsted December 18, 1863.

Nat Wolf, Co. H, nth Regiment; enlisted December 18, 1863.

James McKee, nth Regiment; enlisted December 19, 1863.

Andrew P. White, nth Regiment; enhsted December 19, 1863.

Henry Harkins, nth Regiment; enlisted August 19, 1864.

John F Brown, Co. I, nth Regiment; enlisted February 14, 1865; trans-

ferred to 6th N. H. Volunteers; discharged July 17, 1865.

Louis Douche, Co. K, ist Cavalry; enlisted IStarch 8, 1865; discharged

July 15, 1865.



234 HISTORY OF ROCKINGHAM COUNTY

John F. Dudley, Co. E, 2d Regiment; enlisted June 3, 1861
;
promoted

to Sergeant August i, 1862; discharged June 21, 1864.

Freeman Stockman, Co. C, 6th Regiment; enlisted November 27, 1861

;

discharged May 18, 1863.

John W. Clark, Co. H, 7th Regiment; enlisted April 13, 1864; absent

sick July 20, 1865; no discharge furnished.

Josiah Norris, Sergeant, Co.'E, 15th Regiment; enlisted October 9, 1862;
discharged August 13, 1863.

E. B. Pike is the physician.

The Grange is the Keeneboro.
The first suggestion for a public library was made in a Grange meeting

early in 1893. A private association library decided to disband and present
their books to the town and this was done on May i, 1893. In 1902 the

ladies of Brentwood held a fair and presented the town with nearly a hundred
volumes. Mrs. Mabel G. Snyder is librarian. There are over 1,500 volumes
in the library.



CHAPTER XX

CANDIA

Geographical—Topographical—Names of Early Settlers—Bounds of the
Town—First Town Meeting—Officers Elected-—Documentary History—

-

Ecclesiastical History—Educational—Military History—Public Library.

The Town of Candia lies in the western part of the county, and is bounded
as follows: On the north by Deerfield; on the east by Raymond; on the
south by Chester and Auburn; and on the west by Merrimac County. The
surface of the town is elevated, and the soil hard of cultivation. Population,

993-
The Town of Candia was settled about 1743. Among the pioneers were

Daniel McClune, William Turner, Benjamin Smith, Winthrop Wells, John,
Theophilus, and Jacob Sargent, Dr. Samuel Moore, Enoch Rowell, and Obede-
dom Hull. WilHam Turner purchased his lot in 1741, and there is a tradition

that his daughter Sarah was the first white child bom in the town.

A petition was presented to the General Assembly, dated March 22, 1763,
praying to be set off as a distinct parish, signed by the following persons, who
probably constituted most of the voters in town : Benjamin Bachelder, Samuel
Moores, Jonathan Hills, Samuel Towle, Nicklus Smith, Jonathan Towle,

Nathl Ingalis, Theophilus Clough, John Karr, Thomas Chretchet, Samuel
Eastman, John Clay, Moses Baker, Theop. Sargent, Stephen Webster, Joseph

Smith, Jeremiah Bean, Zebedee Berry, Phineas Towle, William Turner, Win-
throp Wells, Abraham Fitts, Sherburn Rowe, Asel Quimby, Oilman Dudley,

Zachariah Clifford, Enoch Colby, Moses Smart, Nathl Emerson, John Sargent;

Jonathan Bean, Benj. Smith, James McClure, Stephen Palmer, Jacob Sargent,

Ichabod Robie, Elisha Bean, David Hills.

The prayer was granted and a charter given, dated December 17, 1763.

The boundaries were as follows :

"Beginning at the North East Corner of said Parish, on the Line of the

Township of Nottingham at a Hemlock tree, at the head of the Old Hundred-

acre Lotts ; then runs South twenty Nine Degrees West, joining to said lotts

as they are Entered on the Proprietors' Records, about four miles to a stake

and stones ; then West North West to a Maple Tree, being the North East

bounds of the Lott Number forty-three, in the Second part of the Second

Division, and continuing the same course by to\yerhill pond to a stake and

stones, what completes five miles and a half upon this course; then North

Twenty Nine Degrees East to a Pitch Pine, which is the South West Boundary

of the Eighty acre lott in the Third Division^ Number one hundred twenty-

235
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three; then North twenty Nine Degrees East to Nottingham Line, and then

on that Line to the Hemlock Tree first mentioned."

Samuel Emerson, Esq., was appointed to call the first meeting. The
meeting was holden March 13, 1764.

Moderator, Dr. Samuel Moores.

Parish Clerk, Dr. Samuel Moores.

Constable, Winthrop Wells.

Selectmen, Lieut. Benjamin Bachelder, John Sargent, Jeremiah Bean.

Tythingman, John Clay.

Surveyors of Highways, Lieut. Samuel Towl, Moses Baker, Elisha Bean,

Zebedee Berry.

Fence-Viewers, Matthew Ramsey, Stephen Webster.

Hawards, Stephen Palmer, Moses Smart.

Deer Inspectors, Theophilus Clough, Jonathan Bean.

Committee to Examine the Selectmen's Accompts, Stephen Webster,

Walter Robie, Nathaniel Emerson.
On the first leaf of the old records is the following:

"A Parish Book of Records, No. i. Kept by Samuel Moores, Esq., from
the Incorporation of said Parish up to October, 1793, and at his Decease
succeeded by Samuel Moores, Jr., and kept until March, 1798; and then by
Walter Robie, Esq., until March, 1806; and then by Richard Emerson until

the month of October, 1806, when he Deceased; and then by John Lane until

March, 1820; and then by Peter Eaton until March, 1831 ; and then by Fred-
erick Fitts until March, 1832; and then by S. A. Sargent until March, 1836;
and then by Dr. Samuel Sargent until February, 1840."

The old book closed in 1807.

The selectmen the first year charge: "Paid Asahel Quimby for a con-
stable's staff, £4." This was old tenor, equal to about sixty-seven cents. The
staff in 1882 was in possession of Edmund Hills, E^q. It is of hard wood,
about eighteen inches long, and an inch and a half in diameter, stained black,

with a pewter ferule about three inches long on one end. It was a badge of
office.

The town was formerly called Charmingfare, the first visitors being so
well pleased with its site as a place of residence. It received its present name
in honor of Gov. Benning Wentworth, who was once a prisoner on the Isle

of Candia in the Mediterranean Sea.

Building the Meeting-House.—At a meeting of the parish, held September
8, 1766,

"Voted, to build a meeting House.
"Voted, that the meeting house Shall be set on or near the North west

corner of the Parsonage lot, so called.

"Voted, that the meeting house frame Shall be Begun upon the 22 Day
of this instant September

; John Clay, Walter Robie, Esq., Benja. Cass, Moses
Baker, Jonathan Bean, Nathl. Emerson, and Abraham Fitts, a Committee."

They voted to raise sixty pounds, to be paid in work at two shillings and
sixpence per day for common hands, or in lumber, and to hire workmen etc.,
the frame to be completed by the last day of October. If any did not i^y in
work or lumber the constable was to collect it in money. The house was to
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be forty-five feet wide and fifty-five feet long. Five pounds lawful money
was voted to be raised, to be used by the committee, if needed.

At a meeting, October 20, 1766.
"Voted, that the Selectmen shall Assess a Sufficient Sum to finsh the

meeting house Fraim.
"Voted, That there Be Provided for Raising Supper, Codfish, Potatoes,

and Butter."

At a meeting, February 5, 1767, it was voted to sell the pew-ground for
the wall pews, and William Baker, Dr. Samuel Moores, and William Turner
were chosen a committee to sell it, and take care that the frame be boarded,
shingled, and underpinned. The pew-ground was sold February 19, 1767.

Sej^tember 17, 1767, it was voted "to sell the ground for six more pews
behind the men's and women's seats, in order to finish the outside of the
meeting-house this fall as far as said pew-ground will go." It was sold
October i, 1767. The purchase was to be paid in merchantable pine boards
at eighteen shillings per thousand and shingles at seven shillings per thousand,
by the first day of June. The second sale, the same articles at the market
price.

November 23, 1767, it was voted "that the meeting-house shall be glazed
this fall, as soon as may be conveniently done by way of assessment," and
liberty was given to cut timber on the parsonage and school lots to make
red-oak hogshead staves to defray the expense, "to be three feet eight inches

long, and delivered at the meeting-house by the tenth day of February next."

August 28, 1769, voted that the meeting-house committee build the men's
and women's seats in the meeting-house.

June 15, 1773, voted that there shall be a pulpit build in six months. Jona-
than Bagley dissented.

February 21, 1775, it was voted to sell ground for pews in the gallery

to the highest bidder, and the finishing the meeting-house to the lowest bidder.

March 9, 1778, "Voted that the Seats Shall be made in the Galleries, and
the Brest work lined this season."

July 21, 1783, it was voted "that ye Brest work and seats in the Galleries

in the meeting house be Built the Present Year." The committee "Shall Build

a pew in the front Galleries, from Pillar to Pillar, for the use of Singers."

March 29,. 1796, the question was taken about building a steeple and porch,

and negatived, fifty-two to fifty-nine, but a vote was passed to give up the

stairway and sell it for pew-ground, to go towards building a steeple and

porch, provided a sufficient number of men can be found to buiH the rest of

the steeple and porch. They were built.

March 9, 1802, it was voted to raise one hundred and twenty-five dollars

to be annexed to what is subscribed towards purchasing a bell. It seems that

Maj. Sarnuel Moore had purchased a weathercock of Mr. Jones, of Newbury-

port, and had failed to pay him ; in 1802 the town voted to pay him.

The old house was burned January 25, 1828, and the present one built

the same year.

Hiring and Settling Ministers.—In the selectmen's account for 1764 is

an item, "Paid John Clay for boarding the minister, £4."

1765. "Paid Mr. Gilman for preaching fourteen sabbaths £14. Theo-
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philus Sargent going to Exeter after a minister, 5^. Lieut. Bachelder, going

to Hampton after a minister, 4.^. Theo. Clough, for going after a minister,

1766. Mr. Oilman, preaching twelve Sabbaths. Mr. Hillard, preaching

four Sabbaths. There were some Presbyterians in the parish who probably

asked not to be rated, and it was voted, "Concerning those persons that call

themselves Presbyterians, past in the negative."

1767. John Clay, Ichabod Robie, and Moses Baker were chosen a com-
mittee to hire a minister, and Mr. Webster was paid for fifteen Sabbaths, £18.

1768. The former committee was re-elected, and £20 voted to hire

preaching, and Mr. Oilman paid for fifteen and Mr. Hall two Sabbaths. Mr.
Clay is paid for boarding Mr. Hall and his horse two weeks, and Johh Clay,

Esquire Robie, Moses Baker, Ichabod Robie, and Abraham Pitts are paid for

going after ministers.

June 8, 1768. "Voted, that there Shall be a minister Settled as soon as

may be Conveniently done.

"Voted, that the Comte that is appointed to hire Preaching, shall appoint

a day of Fasting and Prayer, in order to the Calling of a Gospel minister,

and hire a minister upon probation or trial.

"Voted, that the Parish have Pitched upon Mr. Tristram Oilman aS a
minister, that the Committee shall hire upon trial in order to for settlement."

November 26, 1770, it was voted "to give Mr. David Jewett a call to the
work of the ministry amongst us, and to give him £50, lawful, the first year,

and add £5 per year until it amounts to £65 per year, and that to be his

stated salary, with the income of the parsonage; to finish the house, build a
barn, and dig a well as soon as can conveniently be done." Mr. Jewett's
answer was in the afifirmative, and is upon the records.

February 5, 1771, it was voted that he be ordained the first Wednesday
of September next.

February 8, .1775, "Voted that the Parish Desires mr. Jewett to ask a
Dismission from this People of the Pastoral Care and Charge he has taken
upon him."

A committee was at the same time chosen to treat with Mr. Jewett. Money
had depreciated in value, and in consequence, probably, Mr. Jewett asked for
more salary.

May 27, 1779, "Voted unanimously not to make any addition to mr.
Jewett's Salary for the Present year."

"Voted, to Chuse a Committee of seven to Confer with mr. Jewett, and
see what he will take as to his Civil Contract with this People, and ask a
Dismission by way of a Council from the Pastoral Care and Charge he had
taken upon him."

Mr. Jewett probably made a communication, for June 10,
"Voted, not to act any thing upon the paper or letter Subscribed to the

moderator of this, and Signed by mr. Jewet, and read at this meeting."
Another committee was chosen and empowered to settle with Mr. Jewett

as to the civil contract.

March 6^ 1780, a vote was taken respecting making Mr. Jewett satisfaction
by making up his salary. Negatived, forty-four to eighteen.
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It appears that Mr. Jewett had made a proposition in writing to submit
the matters in controversy to a mutual council of five statesmen. The parish
chose the latter, and raised a committee of five to give and take bonds. The
referees were chosen, but a part of them declined to attend, and Judge Weare
advised another trial for settlement. Mr. Jewett made a long communication,
and the parish voted to comply with his proposals. The currency had depre-
ciated, and Mr. Jewett had built wall on the parsonage, which he claimed pay
for. He was dismissed.

January 7, 1782, it was voted to employ the Rev. Mr. Prince for the
term of six or seven years "to preach amongst us." He was to have the use
of the parsonage, and a hired hand six months in each year. He was blind.

He preached seven years.

July 12, 1790, it was voted, seventy-six to twelve, to give the Rev. Jesse
Remington a call, and give him the use of the parsonage and sixty pounds
lawful money, and draw him twenty cords of wood yearly, with the privilege

of cutting on the parsonage what should be sufficient in addition to keep his

fires. He was ordained October 20, 1790; died March 3, 181 5.

Rev. Isaac Jones was ordained February 7, 181 6; dismissed May 12, 181 8.

Rev. Abraham Wheeler was installed January 13, 1819; dismissed October
29, 1832.

Rev. Charles P. Russell, ordained December 25, 1833 ; dismissed May 26,

1841.

Rev. William Murdoch, ordained December i, 1841 ; dismissed July 5,

r854.

Rev. William T. Herrick, installed July 5, 1854; dismissed July 2, 1858.

Rev. E. N. Hidden, installed November 2, 1859; dismissed December 31,

1864.

October 10, 1865, a call was extended to Rev. Lauren Armsby, formerly

of Chester.

Rev. William C. Reade served one year, and Albert B. Peabody six years.

The present pastor is James Fox Scott.

In 1909 the church held a celebration and reunion of thirteen surviving

members, ten of whom were still united with this church, who were received

into the church sixty years before by the Rev. William Murdock. They were

the survivors of a class of sixty young people received at the May communion

1849. AH were about eighty years of age and over. Only three are living

now.
Union or Free Will Society and Church.—There was quite an interest in

rehgion near the mountain in Nottingham in 1799, which extended into the

neighboring towns, and in 1802 a church was organized, the members living

in Nottingham, Deerfield, Candia, and Raymond. There was another revival

in 1810, and another in 181 5. Moses Bean, a son of Reuben Bean, of Candia.

was ordained at Deerfield, 1810. The first marriage solemnized by him on

record is May i, 1810. He built the meeting-house at the village about i8i5,

after the revival. In 1818 the church was divided, the brothers and sisters in

Deerfield and Nottingham forming one church, and those in Candia, and

Raymond forming another, but giving to every individual liberty to belong to
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the church he or she desired. They entered into covenant and constituted a

church, which is signed in behalf of the church by Jeremiah Fullonton.

There is a catalogue dated 1821 (although some were added later), con-

taining about two hundred and twenty names, some belonging to Deerfield

and some to Epping. In the record of a church meeting, August, 1820, it is

said that five were baptized and "above one hundred spoke in meeting." At
a church meeting May 24, 1824, it was agreed to divide the church by the

town line, and those near the line have liberty to join which church they

should desire. Samuel Dudley was chosen deacon, and William Turner, clerk.

September 9, 1830, agreed to a new covenant, and sixty-three names are

appended.

The new meeting-house was built in 1847. The basement and vestry cost

$400, and the superstructure cost $1,500. The following are among the

preachers employed

:

Previous to the division the name of Elder David Harriman is frequently

found. Elder Moses Bean was the son of Reuben Bean, and grandson of

David Bean, and seems to have been in a sense the father of the church, as he
built the first meeting-house, and it was voted November 17, 1824, "to receive

Elder Moses Bean as pastor of this church." November 15, 1830, Elder Bean
resigned and Edler J. Knowles was called ; dismissed, and Elder B. S. Manson
chosen; dismissed April 4, 1839, and Elder S. P. Fumald chosen; dismissed,

and Elder S. Whitney chosen.

Methodist Episcopal Church and Society.—Moses Colby came from Hawke
(Danville), in 1806, and purchased the John Sargent place. He was the first

Methodist in Candia, and his children have ever been efficient supporters of
that denomination. Others moved into town or became Methodists and
retained their connection with or joined the churches of Hawke, Poplin, and
Sandown. When the church was organized at Chester, now Auburn, they
generally united with that and constituted a class.

A society and church were formed in Candia in 1859, and they then
erected a place of worship, with a stone basement for a vestry, at the expense
of $1500. They have been regularly supplied with a Conference preacher:
Henry Nutter, Lorenzo Draper, James Adams, N. H. Chase, James Adams,
Silas Green, E. J. M. Bradford and R. E. Thompson.

Schools.—At a meeting April 4, 1764, "Voted fioo, old tenor, to Hire
Schooling." The selectmen paid Dr. Moore for keeping school, £40. In
1765, £200 was voted and paid Daniel Row for keeping school; £9 3^. 6rf. to
Zachariah Clifford or his wife for keeping school. In 1766 they voted to raise
£250, old tenor, or £12 los. lawful money, equal thereto, to hire schooling.
They paid Master Haselton for keeping school one month, £2; paid Isaac
Clifford's wife for keeping school, six weeks and one day, 17^.; Zachariah
Clifford's wife, 12s.; Mr. Bowen, for keeping school, £1 i6s. gd.

Money is paid that year to the south quarter, to the southeast quarter, to
the center quarter, to the west quarter, and to the northeast quarter. In 1767
Master Shaw is paid for keeping school in the south quarter. Esquire Moore
and Nathaniel Emerson in the center quarter; and Israel Gilman's wife in
the northeast quarter. There was a Paul Jewett who kept school several years •

also Richard Clifford's wife, Samuel Buswell, and Ezekiel Worthen In
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1773 a motion was made to hire a grammar school master (that is, one to
teach the languages)

; negatived.
"And likewise it is voted that ye Parish Does Except [accept] of a Read-

ing and writing School this Present year, and that Each Quarter Respectively
shall have the Liberty to Choose there own School master upon ye Proviso the
major Part of Each Quarter Shall be agreed in one Person within the Space
of ten Days from this Date, and make application to the Selectmen to Employ
him."

In 1744, Abraham Pitts, Master Forsaith, Master Otis, Mrs. Hazzard,
Mrs. Rendall, and Mrs. Cram are teachers.

In 1778, f8o lawful was raised for schooling.

In 1782, paper money being nearly worthless, it was voted to raise one
hundred silver dollars for schooling.

The division of Candia into thirteen school districts was made in 1844,
but it does not appear by the records what proportion of money each district

has had.

Candia has made liberal expenditures for schools.

Votes passed by the Parish of Candia respecting the Revolutionary War.—
July 18, 1774, Abraham Pitts was chosen to meet at Exeter on the 21st to

join in the choice of delegates to the General Congress.

January 3, 1775, Lieut. Moses Baker was chosen to represent the parish

in a meeting at Exeter on the 25th instant.

Walter Robie, Esq., Capt. Nathaniel Emerson, Dr. Samuel Moore, Mr.
Benjamin Cass, and Mr. Jacob Worthen were chosen a committee to inspect

all persons who do not conform to the advice of the late General Congress.

"Voted, to buy a barrel of powder, flints, and lead, answerable thereto as

a Parish stock.

"Voted, Capt. Emerson, Lieut. Baker, and Ens. Dean Desire all the males

in Candia, from sixteen to sixty years old, to meet at Some Convenient time

at the meeting-house in Candia, in order for viewing Avith arms and ammu-
nition.

"Voted, that the People, as above mentioned, shall meet at the meeting-

house in Candia this day fortnight, at one of the Clock in the afternoon."

February 21, 1775

—

"Voted, that the Parish Do Confirm ye Transactions of the last meeting

and approve of what the Committee of Inspection have Drawn up, Relating

to ye affairs of the Present Day, and made an addition to ye Committee of

inspection of four Persons, (Viz.) Dea. Nathl Burpee, Mr. Abrm. Fitts, Lieut.

Moses Baker, and mr. Ichabod Robie."

May II, 1775, Dr. Samuel Moore was chosen to represent the parish in

the Provincial Congress, to be held at Exeter, May 17th.

June 14, 1775, Capt. Nathaniel Emerson, Lieut. Moses Baker, and

Dr. Samuel Moores were chosen a committee to consult with the several

officers, towns, parishes, or committees out of the same what way or manner

shall be thought best to regulate the militia in this regiment according to the

direction of Congress.

April 3, 1777, ten dollars each year was voted to each of those eighteen
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persons who had enlisted for three years, and a committee chosen to collect the

money (if any) which had been subscribed.

At an adjournment April 8th ten dollars to each was added to the above.

A committee was also chosen to inquire and see how much time and money

each person has expended in supporting the war since the Concord fight. The

committee reported as follows, which was accepted:

"Concord men, is. per day and extra charges.

"8 months men,- with Lieut. Emerson, 4 dollars each.

"8 months men, with Lieut. Dustin, 2 dollars each.

"Winter Hill men, with Capt. Baker, i dollar each.

"i year's men to York 8 dollars; those to Delaware, 2 dollars each.

"Ty—men, 13% dollars each.

"New York men last fall, 2 dollars each.

"Joseph Bean to Canada, 20 dollars."

May 19, 1777, Moses Baker, Walter Robie, Abraham Fitts, I. Rowe, and
Benjamin Cass were chosen a committee to affix and settle the prices of

goods and articles in the parish of Candia, in pursuance of an act in addition

to the regulation act. (See in the History of Chester for 1779, pp. 142, 143.)

January 19, 1778, a committee was appointed to procure "our quota of

Continental soldiers for three years or during the war, and at an adjournment
in February another committee of five was chosen to make further trial.

April 20th, the committee was instructed to make further trial, and hire

money and pursue the business without loss of time.

August 3, 1778, a committee was chosen to make inquiries respecting the

families of those in the Continental service for three years, and supply them
with the necessaries of life;

August 19, 1779, it was voted to adopt measures similar to the town of
Portsmouth, and use the utmost of our power in reducing the prices of the
necessaries of life,, and gain the credit of our currency. Captain Sargent and
John Clifford were chosen delegates to attend a convention at Concord.

October 26, 1 779, it was voted to comply with the prices that the late con-
vention stated, and a committee of seven was chosen to state prices upon
articles which the convention did not, and to carry the same into execution.

July 4, 1780, a committee was chosen to hire twelve soldiers by way of a
parish tax. A committee was also chosen to make an average of what every
person had done in the war since it commenced.

July 10, 1780, a committee was chosen to assist the selectmen in pro-
curing our quota of beef for the Continental army.

November 14, 1781, it was voted that the selectmen make a tax in Indian
corn to pay the six and three-months' men. There had been several votes
passed respecting raising soldiers, which had proved ineffectual.

June 17, 1782, it was voted to divide the parish into as many classes as
will supply the deficiency, and if any class or person refuse to pay their pro-
portion for hiring a soldier they shall pay double, to be assessed by the select-
men. For list of men who served in the Revolution see Chester.

Military Record, 1861-65.—The following enlisted prior to any bounty
being paid by the town: J. Lane Fitts, Stephen Dearborn (killed at James
Island), George Emerson (killed at Fredericksburg), Wells C. Haines
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(wounded at Bull Run, taken prisoner, and died at Richmond), John G. Bur-
beck, David Bedee, William Bedee, Richard B. Brown. John Brennard, Francis
Fifield, Edmund J. Langley, Lewis B. Carr, Edwin J. Godfrey, George W.
Clay, Rufus Ward, Henry Buzzell, Lorenzo Fifield, William Norton, Richard
Norton, Lucien Carr, Charles Turner, Horace Dearborn, Albert Harlow,
Chester C. Smith, J. Henry Worthen, John Sullivan, Stephen Fifield, William
Robinson, James Gannon, George Robinson, William Daniels, George A.
Turner, Guilford Batchelder, E. Morrill, David R. Daniels (died in army),
David Dudley (died in Maryland), John Hall, William Roberts, Charles
B. Carr, E. Matthews, Charles Robinson, David Norton, Jr., Henry Norton
and Reuben Batchelder.

The following is a list of names of those who received a bounty of $300
each at the time Capt. W. R. Patten enlisted his company. Here is the
receipt

:

"We severally acknowledge to have received from the town of Candia the
sums set to our names, agreeable to the vote of the town passed August 14th,

1862, to encourage volunteer enlistments into the service of the United States
for the term of three years." William R. Patten (captain), William Clark
(sickened in the army, returned to Concord and died), Robert Clark, Ansell
Emerson, R. Baxter Brown (ist lieut.), Henry W. Rowe, Lewellyn Wallace
(died in army), Charles R. Rowe, George W. Hartford, Edwin Haines,
Frank Sovaine, Edward B. Robinson, Thomas C. Runnells, Oliver Haynes,
George Mead (died). Dexter Read, Woodbury Hartford, Joel P Bean
(returned, died), Jesse D. Bean, N. F. Brown, Daniel Brown, Jr. (died),

E. W. Foss, C. R. Stacy, Charles E. Wason, Manson M. Bricket, Levi Barker,

Jr., Frederick F. Emerson, Charles M. Lane, Nathaniel Hardy (died),

Charles C. Page, Leonard F. Dearborn, George W. Griffin, Heman O.
Mathews, Charles C. Brown, E. F. Brown (died), N. J. Dearborn, Rufus
Ward, Ezekiel Shurtleff, John H. Harrison, Thomas J. Morrill, Joseph L.

Gleason, Albert M. Morrill, Augustus B. Gile, James H. Morrill, Charles A.

Jones, Hiram G. Gleason, George C. Fifield, Asa E. Buswell, John A. Gile,

Daniel C. Davis, Woodbury D. Dearborn, Reuben H. Dunn, George W.
Brown, Jr. and William Collins.

The following is a list of volunteers for nine months, who were paid a

bounty of $150 each: Levi Barker, Andrew J. Mead, Daniel B. Langley,

Edward P. Lane, died at New Orleans, Henry T. Eaton, Walter W. Bean,

Franklin Clay, John H. Bean, Samuel C. Nay, P. Gerrish Robinson, Daniel

Hall, died at New Orleans, Frederick Clay, Joseph Avery, George W. Taylor,

Charles W. Holt and John A. Haines.

List of volunteers under the call of October 17, 1863 : Patrick Donnelly,

Augustus Archer, Charles Smith, Edward Black, John Wilson, John Brown,
Horace Colburn, Nelson Hurd, Carl Neagle, George Smith, George C. Brown,

John Nelson, Martin Rapee, Frederick McPherson, James Webber and Charles

Fifield.

Substitutes for drafted men: James O'Donnell, Cariz Fitzrun, James
Sullivan, Thomas Marks, John Stevens and James Han.

The above were paid $300 each by the town.

The following is a list of those enlisted in 1864 who were paid a bounty
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of $400 : James Thomas, James Wright, George Bower, Charles Dearborn,

William Robinson, Alexander White, Nicholas Johnson, Willie F. Eaton, A.

Frank Patten, Reuben H. Fitts, Thomas Harvey, Edward Bailor, Malcolm

McKinna, George A. Turner, Richard Howard, Robert Field, Cyrus W.
Truel, John H. Brown, Orlando Brown and Samuel C. Nay.

The foirowing enlisted under the vote to pay $600 bounty: John C.

Fifield, Lewis H. Gate, George L. Merrifield, Lewis D. Moore, John H.

Mears, Orestes J. Bean, William G. Fitts, John L. Quimby, Samuel L. Carr

and Frank G. Bursiel.

The following is a list of substitutes furnished by enrolled men, to each

of which the town paid a bounty of $300: Joseph B. Quimby, Thomas
Smith, John Logan, Frank Rogers, James Cheney, James Green, Edmund
Boyle, Charles Fuller, John Curdines, Frank Stanton, James Webb, William

H. Williams, John Haynes and Jacob Shenan.

Candia had in the early years several semi-public libraries. In 1791 the

Candia Social Library; in 1795 the Female Library; in 1824 a library asso-

ciation which lasted till 1850; then in 1858 the Farmers' and Mechanics'

Library prospered for a while and finally gave their books to the Smyth Public

Library, which was founded in 1888, by ex-Governor Frederick Smyth of

Manchester, a native of Candia. He supported it liberally and at his death

left a legacy of $5,000, the interest to be used for the purchase of books.

E. E. Paige is the librarian. The library has over three thousand books.

Samuel Walter Foss, the well-known poet and librarian, was bom in

Candia, January i, 1859. At his graduation at the Portsmouth High School,

July 12, 1877, he was awarded a Haven medal and was the class poet.

He died February 26, 191 1.

The lawyer is C. F. Flanders and the physicians are A. M. Foster and H.
P. Bobinson. The societies are : Candia Grange P. of H. ; Leola Lodge,
I. O. O. F. ; Wenona Rebecca Lodge ; Rockingham Lodge, A. F. and A. M.

;

Adah Chapter, E. O. S. ; Fraternity Commandery, U. O. G. C. ; D. B.
Dudley Post, G. A. R. ; D. B. Dudley Relief Corps.
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CHESTER
Geographical—Proprietors—Early Votes—Petition for Grant of the Tozvn-^

The Royal Charter—-Names of Original Grantees—Pioneer Mills—
Pioneer Schools—Civil and Military—Public Library—Eccleciastical
History.

Chester lies in the western part of the county and is bounded as follows

:

On the north by Candia and Raymond, on the east by Fremont and Sandown,
on the south by Sandown and Derry, and on the west by Auburn. Population
in 19 lo, 818.

This town was granted to a number of residents of the towns of Ports-

mouth and Hampton. They were known as "The Society for Settling the

Chestnut Country," as this section was then called.

At a meeting of the proprietors, held October 15, 181 9, the following

votes were passed

:

"ist. Voted, That Capt. Henry Sherburne be Moderator.
"2dly, Voted, That Joseph Tilton be Clerk of the Society.

"3dly, Voted, That Capt. Henry Sherburne be Receiver.

"4thly, Voted, That Joseph Tilton, Ichabod Robie, Caleb Tole, Clement
Hughes, Capt. Henry Sherburne, Eph, Dennet and Jacob Stanyon, be a Com-
mittee to manage the affairs of the Society; And That the sd Committee Shall

have power to Call meetings of the Society as often as they Shall Think
Necessary, and to act in all other matters that they Shall Think proper for

the good of the whole Society.

"5thly, Voted, That Ichabod Robie, Jacob Stanyan, Caleb Tole & Michael

Whidden be a Committee to Lay out the Lotts.

"6thly, Voted, That all priviledges of Streams shall be Reserved for ye

Use of the Society.

"7thly, Voted, That the Number of the Society for the settling Shall not

Exceed ninety persons.

"8thly, Voted, That the Committee shall have power to admit Such as

they Shall Think proper till the aforeSd number of ninety be Completed.

"gthly, Voted, That Three men Shall be kept upon the spot at the charge

of the Society."

At a meeting of the Society for Settling the Chestnut Country, held at

Hampton, the. 20th of December, 1719.

"Voted, That in case of a warr with the Indians before the Three years

Limited for the Settling of the Chestnut Country be Expired, the Same Time

of Three years shall be allowed after a conclusion of a Peace with the Indians

for the sd settlement."

245
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"At the Same Time the Proprirs drew their home Lotts."

Petition for the Grant.—The petition for the grant for a township in "ye

Chestnutt Country" was presented "to his Excellency Samuel Shute, Esq.,

Cap. Genii & Commandr in Chief in and over His Majesty's Province of New
Hampshire, &c., and the Honble the Council, now sitting in Council at Ports-

mouth," September 24, 1719, and was signed by the following persons:

Thomas Phipps, Henry Sherburne, Joseph Pierce, Benjamin Gambling,

Thomas Packer, Joseph Sherburne, Joseph Tilton, Clement Hughes, Nathaniel

Batchelder, Jr., Samuel Plaisted, John Cram, Eleazer Russell, Philemon

Blake, Samuel Hart, Jacob Stanyan, Ephraim Dennett, Robert Row, Sr.,

John Preston, David Tilton, Benjamin Sanborn, Reuben Sanborn, Joseph

Sanborn, John Morrison, James Prescott, Samuel Blake, Jr., Jonathan Pres-

cott, Jr., Nathaniel Healey, Richard Sanborn, Nathaniel Sanborn, Richard

Clifford, Joseph Batchelder, George Veazi, Jr., John Sealy, Jonathan San-

born, Jethro Tilton, Nathan Longfellow, Ichabod Robie, Samuel Sanborn,

Edward Sanborn, Jacob Green, John Prescott, Jr., Henry Dyea, Zachariah

Clifford, Benjamin Field, Joseph Bajtchelder, Jr., Sherburne Tilton, Samuel
Blake, Sr., Benjamin Fogg, Edward Gilman, Joseph Love, John Searll, Jacob
Gilman, William Godfree, Joseph Young, Nehemiah Leavitt, Ephraim Hoit,

John Morrison, Abraham Sanborn, Samuel Elkins, Israel Blake, Robert Wade,
Jr., William Healey, Jeremiah Sanborn, Charles Stuart, Daniel lilton, Enoch
Sanborn, Thomas Veazi, Daniel Lovering, Joshua Prescott, Ebenezer Lover-
ing, John Cass, Jonathan Robinson, Daniel Ladd, Reuben Smith, Abner
Herriman, Thomas Veazi, Jr., Samuel Prescott, Nathaniel Stevens, Jr.,

Nathaniel Bachelder, Sr., James Leavit, John Ladd, William Stevens,

Porchth., Oliver Smith, Jonathan Plummer, Edward Fifield, John Smith,
John Gilman, Jr., Benjamin Tole, John Knqwles, Caleb Tole, Samuel Veazi,
Abraham Drake, Benjamin Veazi, Samuel Smith, Thomas Veazi, Jr., Thomas
Garton, Nicholas Norris, James Purckins, John Norris, Jacob Moulton,
Nicholas Seavy, Jonathan Nason, Thomas Rollins, Elisha Smith, Joseph
Lorrane, Jonathan Dearborn, John Roberts, Thomas Leavitt, Moses Norris,
Sr., James Fogg.

The Royal Charter.—The charter of the town was dated May 8, 1722,
as follows

:

[Province Seal.]

"George by the Grace of God of Great Britain, France, and Ireland, King,
Defendr of the Faith, etc.

:

"To all People to whom these presents Shall come. Greeting. Know ye
That we of our Especial Knowledge and meer motion, for the due en-
couragement of Settling a new plantation, by and with the advice of our
Council, have given and granted and by these prsents as farr as in us lies do
give and Grant, in Equall Shares unto Sundry of our beloved Subjects, whose
names are Entered in a Schedule hereunto annexed, That Inhabit or Shall
Inhabit within the said Grant within our Province of New Hamps, all That
Tract of Land within the following bounds : (Viz. to begin at Exeter South-
erly Corner bounds and from thence run upon a West and by North point
two miles along Kingston northerly Line to Kingston North Corner bounds,
then upon a South point three miles along Kingston head Line to Kingston



AND REPRESENTATIVE CITIZENS 247

South Corner bounds, then upon a West Northwest point Ten miles into
the country. Then to begin again at the aforesaid Exeter Southwardly Corner
bounds and run seven miles upon Exeter head Line upon a Northeast point
half a point rnore Northerly, Then fourteen miles into the Country upon a
west Northwest point to the river Merrimack, and from thence upon a Straight
Line to the End of the aforesd Ten-Mile line ; and that the same be a Town
Corphrated by the name of Chester to the persons aforesd, for ever To have
and to hold the said Land, to the Grantees and their Heirs and assigns forever,

and to Such as*>ciates as they Shall admit upon the Following Conditions

:

"i. That Every proprietor build a Dwelling House within Three years

and Settle a Familley Therein, breack up Three acres of Ground and plant

or Sow ye same within four years, and pay his proportion of the Town
Charge when and so often as Occasion shall require the same.

"2. That a meeting House be built for the Public worship of God within

the said Term of four years.

"3. That upon default of any particular Proprietor in Complying with

the Conditions of this Charter upon his part. Such Delinquent proprietor

Shall forfeit his Share to the other Proprietors, which Shall be Disposed

according to ye major vote of the Said Comoners at a Legall meeting.

"4thly. That a Proprietor's Share be reserved for a Parsonage; another

for the first minister of the Gospell ; another for the Benefit of a School.

"Provided nevertheless that the Peace with the Indians Continue during

the aforesaid Term of Three years; but if it should so happen a warr with

the Indians Should commence before the Expiration of the aforesd Term of

Three years, the aforesaid Term of three years Shall be allowed to the

Proprietors after the Expiration of the warr for the performance of the

aforesaid Conditions, Rendering and paying therefor to us, our Heirs and

Successors, or Such other officer or officers as shall be appointed to receive

the same. The annual quit rent of acknowledgemt of one pound of Good

merchble Hemp in the said Town on the Twentieth of December yearly for-

ever ; reserving also unto us, our Heirs and Successors, all mast Trees grow-

ing on said Land—according to acts of Parliament in that behalf made and

provided, and for the better order, Rule, and Government of the said Town
we do by these prsents Grant for us, our Heirs, and Successors, unto the

said men & Inhabitants, or those that shall Inhabit the Said Town, That

yearly & every year upon the last Thursday in march forever, they shall meet

to Elect and Chuse by the major part of them Constables, Selectmen, and all

other Town officers, according to the Laws and usage of our aforsd Province,

for the year ensuing, with Such Power, priviledges and authority as other

Town officers within our aforesaid Province have and Enjoy.

"In Wittness whereof we have Caused the seal of our Said Province to be

hereunto annexed. Wittness, Samll Shute, Esqr, our Governour & Com-

mandr-in-Chief of our Said Province, at our Town of Portsmouth the 8th

day of may in the Eighth year of our reign, annoq. Domini 1722.

"By His Excellency's Comand
"wth advice of the Council. "Samll Shute.

"R. Waldron, Cler. Con."
"Province N. Hampe, May loth, 1722.
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"His Excellency the Governr and the Honble Lieut. Governr and Council

Entered associate with the within persons, (viz.)

—

"His Excellency a Farm of five Hundred acres and a home Lott.

"The Lieut Governr the same.

"Samll Penhallow, Esqr, a proprietor's Share; Mark Huhkmg, Esqr, a

proprietor's Share; George Jaffrey, Esqr, a proprietor's Share ;
Shada Wal-

ton, Esqr, a proprietor's Share; Richd Wibird, Esqr, a proprietors Share;

Thos Packer, Esqr, a proprietor's Share; Thos Westbrook, Esqr, a proprie-

tor's Share. •

"A True Copy of Chester Charter and the Schedule annexed to it.

"Compared Pr Richd Waldron, Cler. Con."

THE ORIGINAL GRANTEES OF CHESTER

Philemon Blake, James Boyd, Abraham Brown, George Brownell,

Nathaniel Bachelder, Sr., Jonathan Brown, Moses Blake, Samuel Blake,

Josiah Batchelder, Nathaniel Bachelder, Jr., Joseph Batchelder, Jacob Bas-

ford, John Calfe, Amos Cass, Richard Clifford, Zachariah Clifford, Jonathan

Clough, Rev. Theophilus Cotton, John Cram, William Crosswait, Cutts and

Akerman, William Daniels, Thomas Dean, Jonathan Dearborn, Ebenezer

Dearborn, Ephraim Dennet, Abraham Drake, Nathaniel Drake, Ebenezer

Eastman, Edward Emerson, Jonathan Emerson, James Failes, Rev. Ebenezer

Flagg, James Fogg,' Benoni Fogg, Robert Ford, Benjamin Gambling, Esq.,

Jacob Garland, Jacob Gilman, Maj. John Gilman, Edward Gilman, William

Godfrey, Ephraim Guile, Richard Haseltine, William Healey, Rev. Moses

Hale, Clement Hughes, Col. Mark Hunking, Samuel Ingalls, George Jaffrey,

Esq., John Jaquish, Richard Jaquish, Stephen Johnson, Capt. Richard

Kent, Jonathan Kimball, Thomas Leavitt, John Littlehale, Ebenezer Loverell,

Samuel Marston, Capt. Archibald McPhedris, Clement Messervy, Luther

Morgan, Col. Thomas Packer, Samuel Page, John Packer, Parsonage lots,

Samuel Penhallow, Esq., James Perkins, Thomas Phipps, Esq., Capt. Joshua

Pierce, Capt. Thomas Pierce, George Pierce, Jonathan Plummer, John Pres-

cutt, John Prescutt, Jr., James Prescutt, Samuel Prescutt, Ichabod Roby, Rev.

Nathaniel Rogers, Robert Row, Eleazer Russell, Capt. William Rymes,

Joseph Sanborn, Nathaniel Sanborn, Benjamin Sanborn, Reuben Sanborn,

John Sanborn, Enoch Sanborn, Edward Sanborn, Capt. Jonathan Sanborn,

Jerry Sanborn, School lots, John Shackford, Samuel Shackford, Capt. Henry
Sherburne, Samuel Sherburne, Capt. Joseph Sherburne, Dea. Samuel
Shaw, John Silly, Rev. Thomas Simms, Thomas Silver, Susannah Small,

Thomas Smith, Benjamin Smith, Elisha Smith, Samuel Smith, Capt. Henry
Sloper, Jacob Stanian, Stephen Sweat, Capt. Joseph Tilton, David Tilton,

Jethro Tilton, Samuel Thompson, Philip Towle, Benjamin Towle, Caleb

Towle, Col. Shadrack Walton, Col. Peter Weare, Nathan Webster, Stephen
Webster, Capt. Ebenezer Wentworth, Benning Wentworth, John Wentworth,
Esq., Michael Whidden, Thomas Whiting, William. White, Capt. Richard
Wibird, Capt. Joshua Wingate, Col. Thomas Westbrook, Henry Works,
Joseph Young.
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Pioneer Mills.—The first reference to mills found on the proprietors'
records is under date January ii, 1720-21, viz. :

At a general meeting of the proprietors of "Checher," held at Hampton
the nth day of January, 1720-21,

"Voted, To CoUo Packer, Collo Wiar, Caleb Towle, and Samll Ingalls,

the whole Priviledge upon the upper Falls of the great Brook forever, to
build a Saw mill or mills on, and also ten acres of Land Gratis, on Each Side
sd falls for the sd mills Conveniency, with Condition That the sd mills shall

be fitt to Cutt boards in a Twelvemonth from this Time ; and that they Shall
Saw at halves the Proprs. Loggs, So much as they shall have occasion for
Building. And those props, that Shall have Occasion to buy boards shall

be Supplyed with So many as they Shall have occasion for, at the Rate of
thirty shillings per Thousand at the mill. And if the making a pond or
ponds for sd mill damnifies any of the proprs., the society shall make good
the damages."

At a meeting at Hampton, March 16, 1720-21,

"Voted, That the four persons to whom the Stream is granted, Shall give

each a bond of Fifty pounds to the Committee, to perform the Conditions of

sd Grant, and if any of them Refuse to do it, the Committee is Impowered to

admitt others."

At a meeting of the committee, September 29, 1721,

"Voted, That the proprietors of the upper Falls on the great Brook have
the priviledge of the Lower falls also, for their further Incouragent, to build

a mill according to a vote of the Society, at a publick meeting held Jan.

nth, 1720-21, and in consideration of which Additional Privilege they are to

build a Grist mill as Soon as the Town will need it."

James Basford at one time owned most of the mill. In 1731 he sold

Ebenezer Dearborn one-fourth of the "old saw-mill." In 1732 he sold to

William Wilson one-eighth of the "old saw-mill." In 1734 he had some
difficulty with the proprietors about the mill, and they voted to have a

reference.

In 1735 Ebenezer Dearborn deeded to his sons, Ebenezer, Jr., Benjamin,

Thomas, and Michael, one-fourth of the "old saw-mill."

In 1743, in consideration of twenty-two pounds, bills of credit, Ebenezer

Dearborn, Ebenezer Dearborn, Jr., Thomas Dearborn, and Michael Dear-

born convey to Thomas Wells four-sixths of the "old saw-mill."

We know little more about the mill or its owners until about 1780, when

Hugh Tolford, Jacob Wells, Captain Clough, Moses Haselton, John Haselton,

Benjamin Haselton rebuilt it. It was rebuilt once after that, and again in

1848.

Jonathan Blunt had a saw-mill previous to 1730.

At a meeting March 7, 1730, it was

"Voted, That there be encouragement given for building a Grist mill on

the middle falls of the Grate Brook, that is to John Aiken's, and fourteen or

fifteen acres of land to the Eastward of sd falls, as convenient as can be had

of common land, provided sd Aiken build a sufficient Grist mill by this time

twelvemonth, and keep sd mill in good Repair from time to time, and at all

times hereafter."
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This was probably the first grist-mill in the town.

Pioneer Schools.—The first reference to schools is under date January 25,

17202 1, viz. :

At a meeting of the committee, January 25, 172021, viz. :

"Voted, That whereas the number of proprietors is Con . . and no
provision made for a School Master, That the next proprietor that Shall

Forfeit his Lott, the Same Shall be appropriated for a School."

"This provision was made after the first grant of the land, but before the

charter, and there was hardly a permanent settler there."

The next we find on the records is at an adjourned meeting, April 7, 1737

:

"Voted, To Rais thirty Pounds to Hier a Schoolmaster this present

year."

"Voted, That the Selectmen shall Remove the said schoolmaster to the

several Parts of the town as shall be Conveniant."

Though there is no evidence that anything had been done by the town,

it is hardly to be supposed that nothing had been done to educate the children

for about eighteen years. The schools were held at private houses, and al-

though removed to different parts, all the children in town might follow the

master into the several quarters.

At an adjourned meeting, November 2, 1738,
"Voted, That their Shall be twenty Pounds Raised to Support a School

in this town."
At an adjourned meeting April 8, 1740,
"Voted, That their Shall be a School maintained in the town this year

throughout; Partly by School masters, and Partly by School dames, as the
Selectment Shall Judge best for the town."

In the warning, March 9, 1721, is an article

"To act what may appear needful about building a School house or
houses."

"Put to Vote, Whether to build a School house in the Senter of the town
or no. Passed in the negative."

At the annual meeting, March 125, 1742,
"Voted, That there shall be a school Keept in this town the year through

out, and that the Select men Shall Remove the Said School into the Severall
Quarters of said town, so that they Shall have their Equal Proportion of the
Same, according to what Rates they Pay."

They probably refused to build a school house in the Centre, because the
school might be kept there all of the time.

In the warning for a meeting, March 29, 1744, is an article

"To see if the town will build a School house or housen, or to act and
do any thing about Keeping a School, or Schools, or building a house or
housen, as Shall appear mose for the benefit and advantage of the town.

"Voted to Build School Housen. >

"Voted, That a Committee shall be Chosen to Divide the town into Sev-
erall Parts, in order to acomodate School Housen.

"Voted, That Capt. Samll Ingalls, Benjamin Hills, Insin Jacob Sargent,
William Haley and andrew Crage, Shall be the Comitte.

In the warning for the annual meeting, March 28, 1745, is an article
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"To See if the town will Except of the return of the Committee that was
chosen to Divide the town into parts for the Conveniancy of building School
housen; or act and do anything that shall be thought needful and nessecery

about a school or schools, and a school-house or housen."

At an adjurnment of the meeting, April 4,

"Voted, that the Committee's Return that was Chosen to Divide the

town into parts, In order to accomedate School housen, be Excepted.

"The Persons vinder named Decents against the foregoing Vote,

John Robie, Samll Bartlet, Jonathan Blunt, Jonathan Moulton, Robert Runells,

Enoch Colby, David Crage, Isaac Foss, Page Bachelder, Benjamin Bachelder,

- Samll Powell, Francis Towl, Ebenezer Dearborn, Junr., Benjamin Hills."

"We have no means of knowing to a certainty into how many parts the

town was divided, or their boundaries, but there probably were but three

;

for if there had been one at the Centre, John Robie, Jonathan Blunt, and

Ebenezer Dearborn, Jr., who lived near the Centre, and Benjamin Bachelder

and Robert Runnels, who lived within about half a mile up the street, and

others—Jonathan' Moulton, Enoch Colby, and Samuel Bartlett—^within a

mile below, would not have dissented. I have conversed with people wha

remembered the three. One stood on John Sanborn's, opposite Moses Web-

ster's home lot, No. 21, one at Walnut Hill, not far from Robert Shirley's,

and the third at the Long Meadows, between Samuel Aiken's (Charies C.

Grant's) and David Witherspoon's (the Hardy place). Mrs. Whittier,

daughter of Samuel Aiken, recollects this house, or of hearing her parents

tell about it."

—

Chase.

In 1746 the selectmen charge:

f s. d.

Paid unto master Wood 66 o o

Paid unto Decn Ebenezer Derbon, for boarding 1990
Paid unto Insd Jacob Sargent, for hording ye

master 4 10 o

Paid unto Abel Morse, for hording ye master. . 5 12 o

Paid unto John Haiseltine, for hording the

master 811 o

Paid unto Andrew Crag, for hording the master 820
Paid to Capt. Morse, for three days, horse and

man, for going after a Coolmaster 115 o

1847. Master Wood is paid 80 o o

and Dea. Dearborn, John Haseltine, and An-

drew Craige, for boarding 80 o o

.1748. Master Wood is hired again at 44 o o

and Capt. Blunt, Joseph Calf and Dea. Dear-

born boarded.

John Robie is paid for bringing up the master,

time and expenses 2 o o

Master Wood, it seems, lived somewhere down country, and is probably

the one who was afterwards Doctor George Wood.
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f s. d.

1749. Paid Doctor Samuel Moores, for schooling. . 108 O o

Paid to the Long meadow Quarter for Schooling 31 o o

The Long Meadows had one-quarter of the money paid to them. Doctor

Moores is said by Eaton ("History of Candia," page 91) to have come from

Hampstead. He settled at Candia Corner.
£ s. d.

1750. Paid to mr Henry Herring, for Schooling 112 00
Paid to mr John Hickey, for Schooling 88 o O

Paid to mr Samuel Moores, for Schooling 40 o o

for a journey to newbury after a Schoolmaster 2 00
for time and exi>ence hireing Schoolmaster 3 6 o

1751. Paid to mr John Hickey, for Schooling 104 o o

Paid to mr James Dresler, for Schooling 27 10 o

Paid to mr nehemiah mc neal, for schooling 32 o o

Paid to Nathaniel Blaisdell, for hording the masters. . . 15 00
for three Days, man and horse, after a Schoolmaster.

.

4 10 o

for one day of a man and two horses, bringing up the

mastei: from Bradford 2 o o

for time and Expense hireing Schoolmasters i 100
for time and expense making up with Schoolmasters'. . 100

In 1752, Master McNeil is paid £154. Deacon Haselton, Andrew Craig,

Enoch Colby, Peter Dearborn, Mr. Carr, Deacon Dearborn, Mr. Knowles,

and Mr. Basford are paid for boarding. It seems that this year, though

they had no school house, they had a school in the north part.

In 1753, Mr. Haselton and Mr. McNeale were the masters, and Deacon
Dearborn, Mr. Craige, Jacob Chase, and John Knowles boarded.

In 1754, "master Heseltine, master mcfarson, and master mcneal, at the

Longmeadows," were masters, and Deacon Dearborn, Jacob Chase, and

Thomas Haseltine boarded.

In 1755, "Paid to mr. Hessard, for teaching school, £132; To mr. Boies,

for teaching school, £28."

The Presbyterian Church.—irv most of. the towns of New England the

congregation of the church was co-existent with the settlement of the town.

So it was in Chester, but, unlike most other towns, the church here was of

the Presbyterian order instead of the Congregational, which in the province

history of this country might have been truly styled the "State" church.

The first pastor was Rev. Marks Hall, from 173034. Subsequent pastors

were as follows: John Wilson, from 1734-79; Rev. Mr. Clark, supply; T.

Howe, A. S. Stickney, Hutchinson, Pickle, James Davis, D. Aman, David
McGregore, Z. Colby, William Harlow, Clement Parker, Abel Manning,
Benjamin Sargent, and Rev. Samuel Ordway. In 1843, Mr. Ordway organ-
ized the Second Congregational Church of Chester (now Auburn), and the

Presbyterian Church of Chester dissolved and passed into history.

In 1728 the following votes were passed by the town concerning the

building of a church, etc.

:

"Voted, That there shall be a meeting house built' according to these
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Dimensions
: Imprs, fifty foot in length, and thirty-five foot wide & twenty

foot post, and finish it completely, both inside & outside, to ye turning- of
ye key, and set upon ye place appointed and before voted.

"Voted, That a Committee be chosen to agree wth ye Carpenter or Car-
penters to build a Meeting house according to ye Dimensions before men-
tioned, and that Dr. Edmond Toppin, & Saml Ingalls & Nathaniel Heally,
be ye Committee to agree wth ye Carpenters in ye behalf of ye proprs of
Chester.

"Voted, That there shall be Raised forty shillings in Money on Every
full proprs share in Chester to be paid unto ye town treasurer (Jacob Sar-
gent is chosen), at ye next proprs meeting towards ye building of a meet-
ing house in Chester to be drawn out by the Committee as there shall be
Occasion; viz.. Dr. Edmond Toppin and Samll Ingalls & Nathaniel Haley,
a Committee.

"Voted, That there shall be Raised twenty Shillings in money on Every
full proprs lott in Chester for ye paying the town Debts, to be paid unto

ye Constable for ye town's use at ye next proprs Meeting in Chester."

The Congregational Church.—The meeting which called Rev. Ebenezer
Flagg, the first pastor of this church, was held June 23, 1736. He accepted

the call, and remained pastor until 1793. His successors in the pastoral office

have been as follows : Rev. Mr. Bradstreet, Leonard, Jewett, Joel R. Arnold,

Jonathan Clement, L. Armsby, H. O. Howland, J. L. Tomlinson, and Rev.

Charles Tenney.
Mr. Tenney's pastorate closed in October, 1888. His successor is Rev.

J. G. Robertson who was installed July 30, 1889, having graduated from

Williams College in 1886 and Yale Divinity School in 1889. On July i, 1914,

he will complete his 25th year of service.

The Baptist Church.—Although there were individuals who were Bap-

tists in Chester, and might have been occasional preaching, there was no

organized church until 181 9, when a church was organized by the Rev. Wil-

liam Taylor, of Concord, consisting of sixteen members, of whom Capt.

Pearson Richardson, Walter Morse, Jacob Green, and Timothy Smith, of

Sandown, were prominent. Col. Stephen Clay and Josiah Chase united after-

wards, and were active members. Walter Morse and Josiah Chase were the

deacons. They worshiped in Captain Richardson's hall until 1823, when a

meeting-house was built on the west side of the Haverhill road.

They had for preachers, besides Mr. Taylor, Rev. Josiah Davis, of

Methuen, and the Rev. Duncan Dunbar, a Scotchman, afterwards of New
York City. Gibbon Williams was installed ; George Kallock and John Upton

were ordained pastors. A difficulty arose about a preacher, a part of the

society believing him to be corrupt and a part adhering to him, which for a

time disorganized the church and society, and they had no preaching, and

their early records were lost and the meeting-house went to decay.

At a meeting of the Portsmouth Association, held at Newton, 1845, a

committee, consisting of Brethren Ayres, of Dover; Gilbert,^ of Northwood;

Wheeler, of Plaistow ; and Swain, of Brentwood, were appomted to visit the

church in Chester and attempt to settle their difficulties. The committee met

the church January 13, 1846, and recon^mended to disband the existing church
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and organize a new one, which was acLordingly done, and a church of fifteen

members was formed and William Bell chosen deacon and clerk. The old

church was sold and a new building was erected near the town-house and
dedicated August 29, 1861.

Among the ministers who have officiated for this church are mentioned
the names of H. W. Day, Andrew Mitchel, Horace Eaton, Joshua Clement,

J. W. Merrill, and Daniel Gage. The present pastor is Rev. Thomas J. Cate.

The Methodist Episcopal Church.—There was a church organized in 1851
by Rev. Elisha Adams, the presiding elder for Dover District, and Rev.

James M. Young, a member of the New Hampshire Conference, supplying.

The same summer a church edifice was erected near the south line of No.
36, 2d P., 2d D., on the road from Chester to Candia. It was built under
the direction of Joseph Smith, Amos Southwick, Samuel M. Edwards, John
Maynard, Isaac L. Seavey, and Simon Haselton, and dedicated in October.
It cost about one thousand dollars.

The following are the names of the preachers who have administered to

the church and society : James M. Young, Charles U. Dunning, George M.
Hamlin, Jesse Brown, Henry Nutter, C. Henry Newell, Edwin S. Chase,
Charles W. Harkins, Joseph T. Hand, John Keogan, True Whittier, Ezekiel
Stickney, Abraham Folsom, Silas Higgin, James Stedman, James G. Price,

Josiah Higgin, William H. Stewart and Edward May. Rev. J. W. Presby has
been assigned for 1914 for Chester and Auburn.

Chester was incorporated May 8, 1722, under the name of Chester, and
included within its bounds, in addition to its present territory, the present
towns of Candia, Raymond, Auburn, and portions of Derry and Hooksett.

Town Officers chosen at the first meeting under the charter of the Town
of Chester, held the 28th day of March, 1723:

Thomas Phipps, Esq., moderator; Clement Hughes, clerk; Samuel Ingalls,
Clement Hughes, Caleb Tole, selectmen; Zaccheus Clifford, constable; Capt.
Thomas Phipps, Maj. John Gilman, Col. Peter Wiar, or any two of them be
a committee to receive and allow the accounts; Benjamin Smith, Clement
Messarvy, Samuel Ingalls, surveyors of highways.

At Exeter, March 31, 1 726.—Clement Hughes, moderator; Clement
Hughes, clerk; John Sanborn, Clement Hughes, Robert Smith, selectmen;
James Whiting, constable; Samuel Ingalls, Thomas Smith, James Whiting,
lot-layers; Samuel Ingalls, surveyor of highways.

1727.—This and all future meetings were held at Chester.

MILITARY HISTORY

"The first military law passed in New Hampshire was in 1718. All the
means of knowing about the military organization in Chester is the titles
prefixed to the names of the inhabitants. The first found on our records was
in 1 73 1. Samuel Ingalls has the title of captain, Ebenezer Dearborn of lieu-
tenant, and Jacob Sargent of ensign, which is probably nearly as early as
there was any military organization. Thomas Smith is lieutenant in lyT,-?-
John Talford is captain, and Thomas Wells lieutenant in 1744; Abel Morse
is captain in 1746, and Thomas Wells in 1748; Thomas Craige'is lieutenant
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James Varnum is ensign, and Robert Calfe sergeant in 1749; Enoch Colby
IS also ensign, and Eben Dearborn, Jr., sergeant, in 1749; Silvanus Smith,
lieutenant m 1752, Samuel Robie in 1753, and Benaiah Colby in 1756, and
Jonathan Blunt captain the same year. John Lane was appointed cornet
of the Ninth Troop of the First Regiment of cavalry, commanded by Col.
John Downing, September 17, 1754, by Benning Wentworth; John Tolford
is major, and Andrew Jack lieutenant in 1757; James Shirley is captain,
and James Quentan ensign in 1759. Henry Hall is ensign in 1761, Samuel
Robie captain in 1764, Robert Wilson lieutenant in 1765, Captain Underbill,
Lieut. Joseph Basford and Ensign Joseph True in 1765; Oliver Morse and
Henry Moore lieutenants, and Samuel Hazelton cornet in 1766; Richard
Emery major in 1769; Andrew Jack captain in 1770; Joseph True captain.
Lieutenant Witherspoon in 1775 ; Major French (Jabez), 1774; Hugh Shirley,

1775; David Witherspoon captain, and James Dunlap lieutenant in 1766.
Stephen Dearborn ,had a commission of captain under the king. May 3,

1767, and under Congress, September 5, 1775; major, March 25, 1785; lieu-

tenant-colonel, April 5, 1793; resigned September 18, 1800.

"A militia law was passed September 19, 1776, enrolling in train-bands

all able-bodied men from sixteen to fifty years of age; exempting nearly all

officers, ministers, Quakers, negroes, Indians, and mulattoes; each company
to be mustered eight times a year.

"Then there was to be an 'alarm list,' composed of all male persons

from sixteen to sixty-five years of age not included in the train-band, with
some exceptions, if of sufficient ability, to be inspected twice a year. The
captains of the 'alarm list' by custom had a brevet title of colonel. There
was to be a military watch kept by those belonging to the train-band and
alarm list, under the direction of the commissioned officers of the town.

"In looking over the rolls of the men in the French and Ind\an wars from

1745 to 1760, in the 'Adjutant-General's Report' (vol. ii.), 1866, I find the

following Chester names, although it is not certain that they were all Chester

men, and some Chester men may have been overlooked

:

"In the winter of 1745-46, Capt. John Goffe had a company of thirty-

seven men scouting the woods on snow-shoes, of which Samuel Brown was

a sergeant; under Jeremiah Clough, Henry Irvine; under Andrew Todd
scouting at Canterbury, 1746, Archibald Miller, Adam Wilson, William

McMaster, John Grimes, and James Wilson. Adam Wilson and Archibald

Miller afterwards lived in Chester, but probably went from Londonderry.

"Capt. Daniel Ladd's company, at Canterbury, 1746: Enoch Rowel,

Zebedee Berry, Paul Healey, Samuel Moore, and John Nutt ; William Presson

and Henry Ervine, July to December, 1746; Samuel Moore again in 1747.

Daniel Foster (hved near Martin's Ferry) was in Eastman's company. Under

Moses Foster at Suncock, John Moore, John Carr. John Webster was

lieutenant in John Goffe's scouting party in 1748; he might have been Colonel

Webster, of Chester. He was afterwards captain, and raised a scout of

twenty rnen, and none of them Chester men; it is probable that he was not

the man. In what way these men were raised, whether by voluntary enlist-

ment or impressment, or both, I do not know.

"It has been seen that in 1747 the town voted to petition the governor
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and council 'to stop, and save any more men being sent out of the town

into the service, and to have a suitable number of men kept in the service

in our own town.' In 1748 there were petitions sent from different parts of

the town to the captains, and by John Tolford and Thomas Wells to the

governor and council for men ; but probably Chester never had any direct aid.

"In the expedition against the French forts, Du Quesne, Niagara, and

Crown Point, in the winter of 1755, New Hampshire furnished a regiment

of 600 men, under Col. Joseph Blanchard, in which the following Chester

names appear : Joseph Morril, Daniel Martin, Caleb Dalton, Robert Gordon,

John Shackford, Nathan Morse, Samuel Towle, Samuel Emerson (son of

Samuel Emerson, Esq., died at Albany, November 17, 1755), Robert Ken-
nedy, John Rowe, John Craig, Samuel Dudley, James Eaton, John Hall,

clerk (might have been the first town clerk of Derryfield), Ithiel Gordon,

James Fulerton, Samuel Dalton, Reuben Towl, Curtis Bean, John Dalton,

Jonas Clay, William Aiken, Robert Witherspoon, William Wilson, Daniel

Wilson, James Aiken, John Gage, Nathaniel Etherage.

"For the expedition against Crown Point in 1756, New Hampshire raised

a regiment of 700 men, under the command of Col. Nathaniel Meserve, of
Portsmouth, in the roll of which the following Chester names appear : Jesse
McFarland, William McMaster, John Nutt, Robert Gordon, Francis Towle,
Joseph Dudley, John McClellan, Benj. Fuller, William Baker, Gideon Rowel,
Benj. Bachelder, James Shirley.

"In 1757 New Hampshire furnished a regiment of 500 men for the Crown
Point expedition. Chester names: Robert Kennedy, Hugh Quinton, John.
Carr, Samuel Towle (sergeant), Paul Healey (corporal), Benjamin Bach-
elder, Edmund Elliott, Ebenezer Eaton, Samuel Hazelton, Amos Merril,
Jonathan Towle, Stephen Dearborn.

"The Sixth Company was commanded by Richard Emery. Richard
Emery, of Chester, married Mary Blunt, 1765, and is styled major in Chester
records in 1767. The Kennedys might have been Goffstown men, and the
Chester Daltons did not spell their names Daulton.

"In August, 1757, a reinforcement was sent to Charleston No. 4, which
served until November. Timothy Foss, David Webster, David Hill, Samuel
Dalton, Isaiah Rowe, Benj. Fuller and Samuel Brown are Chester names.

"There was a company sent in 1757 to garrison Fort William and Henry.
Chester names : Benjamin Libley, Stephen Marden and Nathaniel Rand.

"In 1758 another regiment was sent to Crown Point, in which Samuel
Towle is second lieutenant, and several Chester names before mentioned, and
James Clay, Benj. Currier, Nath'l Wood, Hugh Quinton, Thomas Wason,
John Mills, Joseph Linn, Matthew Templeton, Hugh Shirley, Robert' McKin-
ley, Oliver Morse, second lieutenant of the Eighth Company, Joshua Pres-
cott, Ezekiel Morse and John Quimby.

"In 1760 a regiment was raised to invade Canada. John GofiPee was
colonel, and Richard Emory, probably of Chester,^ major. Hugh Quinton
David Weatherspoon, James Graham, Archibald McDufifee, Robert McKinley'
James Quinton, Hugh Shirley, Robert Wasson, James Weatherspoon, Samuel
Haseltine, David Webster, Jacob Basford (died), Ebenezer Basford, Jonas
Clay, David Craige, Jonathan Emerson (son of Samuel Emerson, Esq., died
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at Crown Point, November- 7, 1760), John Gage, Samuel Ingalls, John
Karr, John Seavey, Titus Wells, Jacob Griffin, Stephen Webster, John Mills,
Jacob Quimby, Nathaniel Maxfield, and Nathaniel Rand were from Chester.

"Besides the foregoing found on the rolls, it is said that Matthew, son
of Samuel Gault, was an officer, and died at Cape Breton, 1759. His will
was proved August, 1759. William Otterson, the grandfather of the Hook-
sett Ottersons, is said to have been in the army and drowned in crossing
Lake Champlain in 1760. It hag also been said that Abraham Morse was
in the French war, and that Elijah Pillsbury was before Quebec when Wolfe
was killed. He probably enlisted at Newbury. Wells Chase went from New-
bury a campaign under Governor Shirley to Norridgewock in 1754, and
was in the battle of Ticonderoga in 1758. Archibald McDuffee was in the
French war. The king issued a proclamation, dated February 19, 1754,
offering certain bounties in land to such officers and soldiers as should enter
his service against the French; and another proclamation, dated October 7,

1763, ordering the land for the New England States to be laid off in the
State of Virginia, about one hundred miles above the mouth of the Ohio River.
In 1816, James Miltimore, of Windham, came along and procured powers of
attorney from the Chester soldiers, among whom were Wells Chase, Robert
McKinley, Matthew Templeton, and Archibald McDuffee, empowering him
to recover and sell the lands, and gave bonds back to pay them one-half of
all that he should receive. I think nothing further was heard about it.

"The news of the battle of Lexington spread with amazing rapidity.

Nathaniel Emerson received the news at midnight at Candia, and aroused the

people, and drummer David Hill beat up for recruits, and Moses Dustin is

said to have been the first to fall in, and he served through the war. They
soon raised a squad, which soon started for the scene of the war. Probably
more than half the able-bodied men started, with such arms as they had and
with such conveyance as was at hand, and went to Cambridge, the head-

quarters of the army. A portion of the men enlisted, and the rest returned

home. So far as the action of the Town of Chester is concerned, by votes in

town-meeting, it has been given in the history of those years. The army
rolls, and other papers relating to the war, are contained in eleven large

volumes in the adjutant-general's office. The matter is very voluminous

and difficult to arrange, and I know of no better way than to give the rolls

containing Chester men, always including Candia and Raymond, designating

the respective towns, Chester A, Candia B, and Raymond C, so far as prac-

ticable, I will also supply any seeming deficiencies by documents or tradi-

tion."—Chase.

"According to the report of the adjutant-general, 1866, vol. ii.. New
Hampshire had three regiments in 1775, the first commanded by John Stark,

the second by Enoch Poor, the third by James Reid. Stark's and Reid's

were stationed at Medford, and were at Bunker Hill ; and Colonel Poor re-

mained on duty at home. The Tenth Company of the Third Regiment was

commanded by Hezekiah Hutchins, and Amos Emerson, of Chester, was lieu-

tenant; and the names of David Currier, Josiah Morse, Peter Severance,

Thomas Wilson, and Samuel Moore appear on the roll. Capt. David Shaw
savs that William Gross, his mother's half-brother, was in the Bunker Hill
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battle, under Emerson. There were two other men known to be in the battle

whose names I have not found,—Caleb Hall, who went down at the time of

Lexington battle and enlisted, and Dea. John Hills, of Candia,
.
who, while

lying behind the rail fence stuffed with hay, had a ball strike his foot,

which he picked up, and not fitting his gun, he brought it home. There is a

letter from Parker Morse to Deacon Hills extant, directed to him as belonging

to Hutchins' company at Mystic. Some of the men who went down at that

time and stayed might have enlisted in Massachusetts regiments before the

New Hampshire ones were organized.

"Chester—Hezekiah Hutchins' Company.—Simon Merril, A; William

Shannon
;
Joseph Smith, A ; Saml. Brown, A

;
James Gross, A ; Peter Sever-

ance, A; Saml. Morse; Reuben Sanborn, A; Josiah Morse, Jr., A; Joseph

Spillad, A; David Currier, A; Thomas Wilson, B; John Lane, Jr., A; John
Tucker, C

;
John Lane, 3d, C ; Simon Norton, A

; James Randal, C ; William

Randal, C.

"Those from Chester are marked A, Candia B, and Raymond C, and the

uncertain are left unmarked.
"In the selectmen's accounts for the year 1776 there are the following

items charged:

"Paid Joseph Linn, Hugh Cromby, Andrew Aiken, John Vance, Alex-

ander Wetherspoon, Timothy Lunt, Jeams Craft their wages for service done
at Medford.

"Paid Joseph Louge, Samuel Webster, and Benj. Long for service done at

Medford.
"In 1775 there is a charge for pork sent to Cambridge, £6 js. ^d.

"Paid to Maj. Jabez French money that we hired to support the dele-

gates that went to Philadelphia, £9 Ss. 6d.

"There are also charges for blankets, and for numbering the people.

"Philip Tilton, captain, Jacob Webster, lieutenant, both of Raymond, and
John Tilton, second Heutenant, of Sandown, were the officers of the Third
Company, Second Regiment, June 12, 1775, and Caleb Richardson's name is

on the roll.

"There is a pay-roll of Capt. Nathan Brown's company, David Gilman's
regiment, April 10, 1776, in which are Chester names: Nathaniel Blasdel,

James McFarland, John Shannon, John Lane, Reuben Hall, Zachariah Butter-
field, Jacob Lane, William Shannon, Theophilus Lovereign, of Ra3Tnond,
Hugh Crombie, James Aiken.

"July, 1776. A roll of Capt, Joseph Dearborn's company. No. 6. in Colonel
Wyman's regiment, in the Continental service against Canada, as mustered
and paid by John Dudley, Esq., muster-master and paymaster of said
company

:

"Joseph Dearborn, captain, A; David Wetherspoon, lieutenant. A; Mat-
thias Haines, private, C ; William Leatch, A ; Samuel Webster, A

;
Jeremiah

Richardson, A; Jeremiah Towle, A; Thomas Wells, A; Samuel Dinsmore,
A, died

; Anthony Towle, A ; Gideon Currier, A
; John Knowles, A ; Richard

Payne; Joseph Knowles, Jr., A; Josiah Wells, A; John Roberts, C; Thomas
Wason, B; John Wason; Nathan Lane, C, died September 26; Israel Griffin;
Benjamin Cass, B; John Prescott- Moses Hills, A; Peter Moores, B; Joshua
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Moores, B; Enoch Colby, B; Jacob Clifford, B; Obadiah Hall, A; Benjamin
Hall, A or B

; James Aiken, A
; James Bell

;
Joseph Linn, A ; Hugh McDuffee,

A; Moses McFarland, A; John McClellan, A; David Taylor; Joseph Hills,

Jr., A ;
Ezekiel Morse, C

; John Batchelder
; John Leavitt, C ; Ezekiel Knowles,

B; James Wilson, A; James McFarland, A; John Vance, A; Ebenezer CoUins;
Asa Dearborn, A.

"Each private received ten pounds, four shillings, and nine pence; sum
total, six hundred and twenty pounds, nineteen shillings, and three pence.
Extra wages: paid four sergeants, viz., William Leatch, Enoch Rowel, B,
Caleb Morril, and Moses Sanborn, A, eigh't shillings; four corporals, viz.,

Anthony Towle, A. Benaiah Colby, A, Ezekiel Knowles, B, and Asa Heath, at

four shillings each ; David Hill, B, drummer, four shiUings.

"Muster and pay-rool of men in Capt. Samuel McConnel's company. Col.

David Oilman's regiment, raised out of the regiment commanded by Col. John
Webster to reinforce the Continental army at New York, and mustered and
paid by Col. John Webster, December, 1776: •

"Ezekiel Worthen, lieutenant, A ; Ichabod Robie, sergeant, B
;
John Clark,

corporal, B; Timothy Jewel, private; Abraham Brown; Josiah Forsaith. A;
Paul Eaton, B; Amos Knowles, B; John Clay, B; David Underbill, A;
Isaac Blasdel, A; Nathaniel Blasdel, A; Eliphalet Gordon, C; Peter Sever-
ance, A ; Daniel Moody, C ; Dearborn Heath, A.

"Muster and pay-roll of men raised in Colonel Thornton's and Colonel

Webster's regiment, to serve in Captain Runnels' company. Col. Thomas
Tasker's regiment, September 26, 1 776. This company was raised from the

Londonderry and Chester regiments. Men from Londonderry marked L, as

far as known:
"Daniel Runnels, captain, L; Samuel Haselton, lieutenant. A; Samuel

Buswell, ensign, B ; Ichabod Robie, B ; James Sharley, A
;
Jeremiah Conner,

A ; Caleb Smith, C ; Oilman Dudley, C
;
John Berry, A

;
Jonathan Dearborn,

A; Nicholas Oilman, C; Derbon Heth, A; WilHam Anderson, B; Moses
Turner, B ; William Wilson, B ; William Moore, A ; Samuel Pierce, A

; Joseph

Presby, A; WiUiam Wilson, A; Simon Towle, A; Jonathan Underbill, A;
Jacob Hills, A ; Henry Campbell, L

;
James Mooreland, L

;
John Morrison, L

;

John Cochran, L; Thomas Wilson, L; Oeorge Orr, L; Joseph Caldwell, L;

David Morrison, B
;
John Ferguson, L ; William Moore, A

;
John Clifford, C

;

John Sargent, C ; Peter Haselton, A ; Alexander ; Shirley, A ; Daniel Whitcher,

C; Thomas Archibald, L; Thomas Wallace, L; James Cambel, L; Samuel

Hart; Benjamin Haseltine, A; John Colby, C; James Richardson; Robert

Wason, B; Bracket Towle,, A; John Shirley, A; David Mills, A; Samuel

Morse, L; James Hazard, A; Samuel Dunlap; Josiah Dearborn, A; Samuel

Thompson, L; Pierce. Cage, L; Richard Hall; Zibah Kimball, L; John Wil-

liams, L ; John McOown, L ; John Tarbox, L
;
James Sprague, L ; Abiel Cross,

L; Arthur Darrah, L; Peter Robinson.; Samuel Spear; Robert Morrisson,

L ; John Hughes, L ; William Layers, L
;
Jonathan Holmes, L

;
John Stuart,

L; James Ferguson, L; Joseph Hobbs, L; Andrew Robertson, L; John

Turner; Humphrey Holt, L; Nathan Plummer, L; Samuel Tasker, L; Robert

Wilson,' B; Robert Bold, L; Mathew Dickey, L; Elijah Town, L; Stephen

Donald, L.—September 26, 1776, by John Webster.
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"Chester and Londonderry probably belonged to one regiment up to

1775-
In Raymond records, June 15, 1775,
"Voted, To impower John Dudley, Esq., with some other persons, to

nominate suitable persons for field officers for the regiment that did belong to

Colonel Thornton's regiment.

"Voted, unanimously. That they are willing that the said regiment should

be divided into two regiments.

"Pay-roll of Capt. Stephen Dearborn's company, Thomas Stickney's regi-

ment, in. General Stark's brigade, which company marched from Chester, in

the state of New Hampshire, and joined the Northern Continental army,

1777, from July 19th to September i8th:

"Stephen Dearborn, captain. A; Ezekiel Lane, Heutenant, C, killed; John
Lane, Jr., 2d lieutenant, A, advanced to ist lieutenant, August 16; Robert
Wilson, ensign, A, advanced to 2d lieutenant, August 16; Andrew Aiken,

sergeant, A, advanced to ensfgn August 16; Nathaniel Maxfield, B; Ichabod
Robie, B; Ebenezer Dearborn, A; David Currier, A; Joseph Brown, A; Josiah
Gordon, A; Sherburne Dearborn, A; Robert Dinsmore, A; Joseph Cass, ser-

geant, B ; Bracket Towie, sergeant, A ; Thomas Dearborn, sergeant, B

;

John Underbill, sergeant. A; advanced to sergeant August 16; Benjamin
Fellows, corporal; Levi Swain, corporal, C; David Underbill, corporal. A;
Robert Rowe, private. A; advanced to corporal August 16; Israel Clifford,

private, B; Nathaniel Griffin, A; Joseph Peavey; John Gammet, B; Daniel
Allen, A; John Blake; Moses Leavit, C; Moses Webster, Jr., A; Josiah Hall,

A; David Perkins; Benjamin Smith, B; Enoch Osgood, C; Samuel Robie, A;
Simon Towie, A ; Anthony Clifford, B

; John Patten, A
; James McFarland,

A
; James Presby, A

;
Joseph White, A ; Stephen Fogg, C ; Jacob Chase, A

;

Samuel Hills, A; William Towie; Jacob Elliot, A; James Richardson, A;
David Patten, A ; Moses Webster, A ; Benjamin Haseltine, A ; Isaac Blasdel,
A; Sinkler Fox; William Pattredge Fox; Jonathan Bachelor; Daniel Todd,
C ; Amos Kimball, A

; Joseph Rollins ; Samuel Fogg, C ; Samuel Moore, B

;

Samuel Dearborn, B; Amos Knowles, B; James Libbey, B; Benjamin Eaton,
B ; Benjamin Wodley, B ; Philip Morse, C ; Robert Wilson, Jr. ; Oliver Smith,
B ; Elisha Thomas ; Enoch Colby, B

; John Bagley, B
;
John Clay, B ; Moses

Emerson, B; Benjamin Fuller, A; John Knowles, A; William Brown, A;
Wilkes West, A; Thomas Wilson, B; Benjamin Packard; John Moore, B,
died August 21; John Elliott, drummer. A; David Hall, A.

"This regiment served in the battle of Bennington, August i6th.
"Pay-roll of Capt. Moses Baker's company of volunteers, who marched

from Candia, in the State of New Hampshire, and joined the Northern Conti-
nental army at Saratoga, September, 1777.

"Entered September 27th, discharged November 3d.
"Moses Baker, captain, B ; Abraham Fitts, lieutenant, B

; Jonathan Bagley,
ensign, B; Isaiah Row, sergeant, B; Joseph Clifford, sergeant, B; Sewall
Brown, private, B; Jonathan Ring, B; John Sargent, B; Nathaniel Burpee,
B; Jacob Clifford, B; Benjamin Hubbart, B; Richard Clough, B; Stephen
Palmer, B; Enoch Rowell, B; James Hazard, A; Silas Cammet, B; Samuel
Bagley, B; John Hills, B; Jesse Eaton, B; Benjamin Whitcher, C; Nathan
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Fitts, A; Samuel Haselton, A; John Dearborn, A; Josiah Flagg, A; Edward
Robie, A ; Moses Haselton, A ; Stephen Hill, A.

"Pay-roll of Capt. Joseph Dearborn's company; in Col. Moses Nichols'
regiment; marched to Rhode Island; entered August 5th, discharged 28th
plus 2 days' travel home.

"Joseph Darbon, captain. A; Benj. Cass, lieutenant, B; Jacob Worthen,
ensign, B; Jabesh Hoit, sergeant, A; Benj. Bachelder, ^sergeant, B; Samuel
Runel, sergeant; Ephraim Fitts, corporal, A; Zebulon Winslow, corporal, B;
Aaron Brown, corporal, B; Benj. True, private, A; Benj. Currier, A; John
Lane, A; James Whitten, C; William Mills, A; Asa Dearborn, A; John Emer-
son, A; Benj. Haselton, A; Joseph Knowles, A; James Pierce, A; Robert
Runnels, A; Wilks West, A; John Wilson, A; Caleb Hall, B; Philip Morse.
C ; Obed Edom Hall, B

;
Jonathan Camet, B ; Silas Camet, B ; Walter Clay,

B ; Henry Clark, B
; Joseph Bean, B ; Amos Knowles, B ; Enoch Colby, B

;

Caleb Brown, B; Thomas Wilson, B; OHver Smith, B; Burleigh Smith, B;
WilHam Shannon, B; Sewel Brown, B; Jonathan Pilsbury, B.

".A-llowance for forty horses at £10 each.

"In the summer of 1778 a brigade was sent from New Hampshire to
Rhode Island.

"There was a company attached to Colonel Peabpdy's regiment, of which
Daniel Reynols, of Londonderry, was captain. Bracket Towle first lieutenant,

and Jacob Elliott second lieutenant, a portion of which was from Chester.

Entered service June i, 1778, discharged January i, 1779:
"William Moore, corporal, A; James Hazzard, corporal. A; Jacob Lane,

corporal, C; Samuel Robie, drummer, A; Dearborn Heath, Aj Isaac Blasdel,

A; Samuel Robie, Jr., A; Moses Webster; Samuel Shannon, A; Paul Healey,

A
;
Jethro Colby, B ; Thomas Shannon, B

; John Shannon, B ; Nath. Griffin,

A; Isaac Colby, killed August 27; Thomas Morse, C.

"In James Aiken's company for Rhode Island, 1778, Thomas Shirley,

James Otterson, Samuel Davis, and Benj. True went to Rhode Island in

Captain Marston's company, 1777.

"In the early part of the war the soldiers were mainly citizens, and enlisted

for short terms, and many of them appear on several rolls, and with a degree

of accuracy can be assigned to their respective towns, but later many strangers

were enlisted, who, when their names appear on a roll, cannot be assigned

to any town with any certainty. There are recruits credited to the towns,

some without any mention of what companies they were assigned to or what

service engaged in.

"Credited to Chester, 1777.—Michael Lamey, Captain Richard's company;

James Russ (killed), Isaac Farewell's company; Barthow Stevens and Saml

Dolten, Ebenzr Fry's company; Stephen Lovekin, Jonathn Forsaith (died)

and John Lane, Blodgett's company; Josiah Hills (died), Saml Hoyt, Reuben

Hall, John Berry (killed), Ebenezr Berry, James Akin, John McClennen,

Jeremh Towle, James Akin, Jr., and Wilm White, Emerson's company; Enos

Jewell, Robertson's company; Tlios Wells, Carr's company; Wilm Furnell,

McClary's company; Benjin Akin, Emerson's company; Saml Wells and

Peter Wells, Morrill's company; Wilm Moore, Robertson's company; Jonathn
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Karr, Fry's company ; Daniel Shirly, Henry True and Saml Akin, Emerson's

company; John Vance, Fry's company.

"Recruits Sent by Colonel Webster, July /j, 1779.—Thomas Whittaker,

residence, Chester ; \\ ent for Chester ; Reuben Sticknee, residence, Raymond

;

went for Chester ; Timothy Clay, residence, Candia ; went for Chester ; Samuel
Nay, residence, R; went for Chester; Timothy Ingalls, residence, Chester;

went for Chester
;
Jacob Elliott, residence, Chester ; went for Chester ; Phineas

Bean, residence, Candia; went for Candia; Joseph Marston, residence, Deer-

field; went for Candia; Josiah Tucker, residence, Nottingham; went for

Raymond.
"Recruits Sent by Chester.—Thomas Wells, Saml Hoit, George Cooper,

Enos Jewell, Samuel Wells, Jeremiah Griffin, enlisted for war. Given up to

Meredith: Peter Wells, enlisted for war; Wm Garrison and Richd Flood,

enlisted for three years. Lived in Raymond : Stephen Keyes, enlisted for

three years. Lived in Plymouth : Valentine Sargent, enlisted for three years.

Lived in Londonderry : Joseph Davis, Samuel Richardson and George Mans-
field, enlisted for three years ; Saml Houston, enlisted for six months. Lived
in Bedford : Moses Webster, Saml Robie, Reuben Tole and Danl Parker,

enlisted for six months.

"Troops Raised in 17.69 for Service in Rhode Island.—Thomas Whittaker,
Reuben Stickney (Raymond, enlisted for Chester), Timothy Clay, Samuel
Nay (Raymond, for Chesfer), Timothy Ingalls, Jacob Elliott,

Hardy (July 28, 1779, two months), Dearborn Heath (July 28, 1779,
two months )

.

"July I, 1780.—Jonathan Wilson, William Moore, Benjamin True, Saml
Walker, John Knowles, John Brown, Robert Runnels, Isaac Blasdell, Moses
Webster, John Aiken, James Russ, Jona. Burrow (sergeant), Chas Hanson,
Jedediah Knock, Saml Akens, Barnard Merrill, Jona Rankin, Phineas Stevens
(Tamworth hired him first), Daniel Shirley, Samuel Wells, Samuel Holt,
William Moore, Stephen Lufkin, Robert Hastins, Reuben Hall, Geo. Cooper,
James Aken (died), Jeremiah Towle, Henry True, John McClennen, Jona.
Knock, Abiel Stevens (Tamworth hired him first).

"Captain Livermore's Co., Third Regiment.—Thos. Shronder (died),
James Thompson, Josiah Wells (died), Thomas Wells, William White
(died), John Barry, Ebenr Barry, John Lane, William Furnal, Saml Dalton,
Jona. Fors)rth, John Vance and Bartho Stevens.

"July I, 7757.—Parker Morse (sergeant), Robert Shark, Daniel Sharle,
William Moer, Joseph Brown, John Spiller, Benj. True, Jr., Caleb Richard-
son, Gilbord Morse, Theoder Morse, Wm Garrison (mustered, but claimed
by Massachusetts), Richd Flood, Stephen Keyes, Valentine Sergent, Jos.
Davis, Saml Richardson, Saml Houston (six months), Moses Webster (six
months), Saml Robie (six months), Reuben Tole (six months), Danl Parker
(six months), Geo. Mansfield (three years), Thomas Wells, Saml Hoit, Geo.
Cooper, Enos Jewell (Southampton), Peter Wells, Joseph Davis, Valentine
Sargent (Londonderry).

"August 25, 7757.—Thomas Wells (war), Samuel Hoit (war), Joseph
Davis, Saml Richardson, George Cooper (war), Enos Jewell (war), Jere.
Griffin (war, given up to Meredith), Peter Mills (three years), William Gar
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rison (three years), Richard Flood (Raymond), Stephen Keyes (Ports-
mouth), Valentme Sargent (Londonderry), Geo. Mansfield, Saml Houston
(Bedford, six months), Moses Webster, Saml Robie, Reuben Tole, Daniel
Parker, Charles Mann and Jonathan Conant.

"April 12, ij82.—]o\iXi Worth, Reuben Stickney, Joseph Tucker, Daniel
Clay, Abraham Brown, Edw Hamilton, Moses Basford, Thomas DoUof,
Ebenr Currier, William Batchelder, William Hall, Daniel Doyne, Robt H.
Hill and Andrew Nelson.

"There is a history' of the First New Hampshire Regiment, by Frederic
Kidder, 1868, containing a roll of the enlisted men who served between
January, 1777, and January, 1782, which contains the names of John Knook
and David Shirley, of Chester, and of Thomas Capron, of Candia, not on the
foregoing list.

"The foregoing is a list of the soldiers furnished by Chester, as correct
as can be conveniently made from the army rolls ; bttt those cover so much
ground, and so many strange names occur, which are not assigned to any
particular town, that it is probably very incomplete. There are names of men
on the town accounts to whom bounties were paid, .and the names of others
to whom notes were paid, probably for bounties, without being so designated,
which mostly, if nqt all, are included in the foregoing rolls, so that it was not
thought best to spend the time in collecting and space in the history to print it.

"Great exertion had to be used to raise men. The town was divided into

classes, according to the nmnber of men to be raised, and one or more men
assigned to each class, which they were required to raise. The town was also

classed to raise beef and corn for the army, and also to support the soldiers'

families.

"The following specimen of the requisitions was found among the papers

of Col. Stephen Dearborn

:

" 'To Capt. Stephen Dearborn and Robert Rowe : Agreeably to an
act of the General Court and a vote of the town, the following persons who are

named, with the amount of their ratable estate, are to procure an able-

bodied, effective man for the Continental service three years, or during the

war, to be ready to be mustered in on or before the loth day of May next,

or pay the fine agreeable to law and the vote of the town. You are desired to

notify each one in this list to meet and prescribe such method as they shall

think proper in order to procure sd man.
" 'Chester, April 29, 1782.

" 'Jabez Hoit,
" 'Stephen Morse,
" 'Joseph Blanchard,

" 'Selectman of Chester.

£ s. d.

"'David Richardson... i 9 i Lieut. John Lane 2 17 7

Joseph Carr 3 6 10 Jona. Norton 2 10 11

Ezekiel H. Kelley 10 o Simon Norton 12 o

Widow Ann Carr 9 3 Joseph Norton 2 18 8



12 I

14 4
i6 6

3 o
i8 5
2 8
17 2

14 2
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£ J. rf.

Jona. Berry 2 14 5 Caleb Hall i

Jeremiah Griffin i 6 o Jona. Emery i

Robert Rowe i 16 2 Samuel White

Samuel Murray i 13 6 Stickney

Barnard Bricket 2 10 i Moody Chase i

John Clark i 7 o Wells 2

Abraham Morse 12 o Jere. Underbill i

Capt. Stephen Dearborn 2 14 o Nathl Wood i

"The following are recruits furnished by Candia, as found on various

muster-rolls, and as found in the adjutant-general's office:

"'^777- John Magoon, Stevens Bailey, Jonathan Green, Isaac Morse, John
Colby, Eleazer Quimby, John Taylor.

"1778. Nehemiah Leavitt, John Kent, Asa Pierce, John Mitchell, Ebenr

Williams, William Wilkins, Henry Gotham, Nat. Wadley, David Bagley, Wm
Patten, Daniel Libbie, John Caldwell, John Loveren, John Kent, James Tiel,

Thomas Capron, James Jeel, James Bragdon, David Hill, Robt Holland,

Jonas Perry, Henry Kimball, Joseph Gilman, Humphrey Hunt.

"1779. David Libbie, John Caldwell, Michael Poor, John Anderson, John
Loverin, John Kent, Phineas Bean, Joseph- Marston, John Grattan (two
months).

"1780. Benjamin Eaton, Samuel Clay, Edward Currier, Samuel Shan-
non, John Eaton, Alexr Eaton.

"1781. Col. John Webster certifies that he sent forward the following

four men for Candia, when there .ought to have been five : John Wasson,
Jonathan Davis, Nathaniel Underbill, Thomas Anderson.

"1782. Jona. Morris, Peter Cammet, Ebenr Eaton, Moses Norris, John
Moore, Benja. Sanborn, Jason Hazard.

"Recruits Furnished by Raymond.—Captain Mark's Company, Colonel

Long's Regiment.—Benj. Fox, James FuUington, Ezekiel Holman.
"Col. Nathan Hale's Regiment.—Wm Tole, David Batchelder, Jona Ful-

lonton, Jos FuUongton, Theor Lovering, Ithiel Gorden.

"Captain Wait's Company, Colonel Stark's Regiment.—Richard Robinson.

"Captain Powell's Company, Col. Nathan Hale's Regiment.—^William

Towle, Joseph FuUington, Ithiel Gordon, junr., Eliphalet Gorden, Amos
D. Leavitt, Aaron Sanborn, James Hersey, John Lane, Caleb Gilman, Thomas
Taylor, Joseph Jewel.

"1779. Hezekiah Pollard, John. Moore, James Libbey, James Mack,
James Delap, Josiah Tucker, from Nottingham, enlisted for Ra)miond

; Jona-
than Fullerton, Rowell's Co.; John Fox, for two months; Benj. Whittier,

enlisted for Kingston; Thomas Dolloflf, enlisted for Kingston; Jos. DoUoff
Leavitt, enlisted for Kingston.

"1780. Wm Pat. Prescott, Timothy Jewell, Smith Cram, Richard Flood.
"1781. Elipht Gordon, James Libbey, of Candia, Theor Loverin, Elijah

Pollard, Ezekl Pollard, Barton Pollard, Hezekh Pollard, Richd Robinson,
Capt. Boston's Company; Nat. Richardson, Wm. Towle, James Wells, John
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Moore, of Chester; James Dunlap, of Massachusetts State; Ithiel Gordon,
EHpht Gordon, Theor Lovrin, Joseph Fullerton, William Towle.

"The following is a list of soldiers who enlisted in the army from Chester
in the war of 1812, furnished by Josiah Forsaith:

"Josiah Forsaith, died August 18, 1868; Jonathan Currier, died at Sack-
ett's Harbor; David Dolbier, of Raymond; Josiah Sanborn, discharged at

Concord; Bradbury Moody Carr, died at Concord; John Colby, died at

French Mills; Abner Blasdel, said to have deserted; Ebenezer Blasdel, died
at Acworth; Samuel Davis, died at Concord; Joseph Neal; John Crawford,
died at Nottingham in 1866, aged eighty; Josiah Moore, died in 1821;
Henry Moore, killed in battle; Moses Underbill, Jr.; Benjamin Currier, Jr.;

Nathan Webster; John Dunlap, died in 1867; Nath'l Griffin; William Griffin,

died in the army.
"From Raymond.—Amos Davies, killed at French Mills; Theophilus

Stephens, died.

"Drafted Men.—There was a draft made of men to defend Portsmouth
Harbor. The following is the roll of a company which served from May 24
to July 4, 1814, and were from the Seventeenth Regiment. Those from
Chester are marked A ; Candia, B ; Raymond, C ; Allentown, D

:

"George Evans, captain, D ; Samuel Aiken, Jr., lieutenant, A ; Noah Week,
ensign. A; William Stanwood, sergeant. A; Jonathan Morrill, sergeant. A;
Samuel W. Evans, sergeant, D; Reuben Bean, sergeant, B; True C. Graves,

corporal; John Dinsmore, corporal. A; Moses Dudley, corporal, B; James
Wilcomb, corporal, A ; Moses Crichet, musician, B ; Moses Chase, musician, A.

"Privates.—Josiah Anderson, B; Andrew Bimtin, A; John Brown, 3d;

David Brown, 3d, Jona. S. Brown, Ebenezer Brown, Jonathan Ball, A;

Joseph Calfe, A; Zacheus Colby, A; Jonathan Cass, B; Jeremiah Chandler,

Samuel Clark, Joseph Cressy, A; James Dinsmoor, A; Benjamin Edgerly,

Nathan French, David Glidden, C ; William Greenough, A ; Phineas Haley, C

;

Henry Hall, A
; John Johnson, A ; Amos Kimball, A

;
John Lane, C ; Thomas

Leonard, John Mars, Charles Marston, A; Moses C. Magoon, C; Richard

Morse, Supply Morse, Nath. Martin, Thomas Montgomery, A; Peter Niel,

A; Nathan Poor, C; Jacob Randall, A; Richard Robie, B; Wadley Richard-

son, B
;
John P. Rowell, A ; Orlando Spofford, A

;
John Seavey, A ; Richard

Straw, Jona. H. Shaw, Henry Thatcher, C ; Elisha Towle, C ; Samuel Thomp-

son, Daniel Towle, C; Enoch Worthen, B; John Wilson, 3d, A; Stephen

Worthen, Jr., A; Abram. Smith, Edmund Richardson.

"The' following is a roll of the company of Capt. Samuel Collins, of

Deerfield, which served three months from September 12, 1814:

"Moses Hezelton, 3d, lieutenant. A; Henry Osgood, ensign, C; Jonathan

Cass, sergeant, B; James Severance, sergeant. A; Josiah Whicher, corporal,

B • John Brown, Jr., corporal, C
;
James C. Rand, corporal, A.

'

"Privates.—Sc^mrts, Bachelder, B; Ebenezer Brown, C; John Brown, A;

Joseph Clififord, B; Nehemiah Clay, A; Joseph Chase, Jr., A; Daniel Carr, A;

Henry Clififord, C; Richard Currier, B; Gilman D. Cass, B; Jonathan Emer-

son B; David Emerson, A; James P. French, B; Reuben Gale, B;' Phineas

Healey B • Peter M. Mills, A ; Henry Morse, C ;
Samuel Roberts, C ; Daniel

Robey,'C;'john Towle, B; Haly True, C; Daniel McDufifee, A.

IB
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"The following is a roll of the company of Capt. Samuel Aiken, Jr., of

Chester, which served sixty days from September 26, 1814:

"Samuel Aiken, Jr., captain, A; Joseph Hubbard, first lieutenant, B;

Wm. Stanwood, ensign. A; Jabez Crooker, sergeant and clerk, A; William

Turner, sergeant, B
;
Jonathan Morrill, sergeant, A ; Abel Read, sergeant, B

;

Jeremiah Chandler, sergeant, C; William Aiken, sergeant. A; Samuel Lane,

corporal, A; Francis Folsom, corporal, C; Benjamin Rowe, corporal, B;

James Wilcomb, corporal, A ; Nathan Brown, musician, C ; Richard Eaton, B

;

Gilman Lovering, C.

"Privates.—Orlando Spofford, A; John Hall, A; Benjamin Mills, A;
William Greenough, A; John Davis, A; Ebenezer Wilcomb, A; David Mor-
rill, A; David Murry, A; John Shirley, A; Samuel Lane, Jr., A; Josiah

Turner, B; Daniel Taylor, B; Gilman Richardson, B; Isaiah Lane, B; John
Clark, B ; Willis Patten, B ; Moses Patten, B

;
John Colby, B

;
John Butler, A

;

Benjamin Preston, A; Daniel Ball, A; John Dolby, A; Robert Wilson, A;
William Dearborn, A; Jeremiah Rand, Jr., A; L. H. Seavy, A; Jonathan
Norton, A; Theodore Jewett, A; Robert Mills, A; Nathan Webster, A;
John Seavey, A

;
John Wilson, A ; Henry West, A ; David Leach, A

;
James

Calfe, A; Israel Blake, A; Reuben Dinsmore, A; Stephen J. Worthen, Jr., A;
Mead R. Underbill, A; John Chase, A; Matthew Dickey, A; Jonathan Wil-
liams; Samuel Thompson, A; John Hosden, A; Joseph Brown, A; John A.
Otterson, A; Joshua Martin, Jr., A; Jeremiah Brown, B; Parker Hills, B;
Benjamin Eaton, B; Moses Stephens, B; Sewall Brown, B; John Moore, B;
Moses Critchet, B; Biley Smith, B; Sargent French, B; James Wilson, B;
Aaron Rowe, B; William Eaton, B; Jonathan Robey; Nathan Thorne,
B; Joseph Rand, B; Samuel Moody, C; David Qifford, C; David Gill, C;
David Brown, Jr., C. ; Supply Morse, C; Moses Healey, C; Daniel Scribner,

C
;
James Dudley, Jr., C

;
Jonathan Holman, C ; Isaiah Cram, C ; Nathaniel

Towle, C; David Robie, C; John Smith, C."

A ROLL OF MEN SENT INTO THE ARMY FROM CHESTER DURING
THE REBELLION, 1861-65

Second Regiment, Mustered Into U. S. Service June JO, 1861—Three
Years.—Company C, Andrew Nichols, wounded at Gettysburg; died in An-
dersonville June, 1864. Company C, Charles J. Rand, discharged for dis-
ability. Company E, Arthur T. Leonard, corporal, discharged for disability.

Company E, George S. Brown, promoted to corporal. Company E, Aaron
Everet, discharged for disability. Company E, Joseph Everet, discharged
for disability.

Recruits.—Company I, William Broard, transferred to navy; Company I,

Frank Donaghue ; Company K, James Farrel ; Company I
; James McGuire,

wounded June 3, 1864; Company I, Frank Strickland; Company A, John
E. Hartwell, enlisted September, 1865, mustered out December, 1865'.

Third Regiment—Three Years.—Company B, Converse B. Weymouth,
wounded severely; discharged for disability January, 1865. Company d[
John S. Blasdel, re-enlisted veteran; discharged for disability 1865.

Fourth Regiment—Three Years.—Company C, Orrin T. Dodge, re-en-
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listed February, 1864. Company I, Franklin A. Brown, corporal, discharged
for disability July, 1862 ; Company I, Charles M. Ordway, re-enlisted Feb-
ruary, 1864. Company K, Stickney S. Gale, sergeant, re-enlisted February,
1864.

Fifth Regiment—Three Years.—Company K, Joseph Bronilland, received
December, 1863; killed at Petersburg June, 1864. Company H, Jacob Pol-
latscheck, received December, 1863. Company C, James Rogers, received
August, 1863. Company C, Joseph Trickey, received December, 1863;
wounded June, 1864; died August, 1864, at Alexandria, Va.

Sixth Regiment—T^ee, Years.—Company D, James Farrel, received

November, 1863 ; deserted Camp Nelson, Ky., December, 1863. Company C.

Henry Scott, received May, 1864. Company E, Thomas J. Wilson, received

November, 1863. Company C, William M. Locke, re-enlisted December,

1863; promoted to corporal; discharged for disability August, 1864. Com-
pany C, William Smith, received May, 1864; discharged for disability Sep-
tember, 1864.

Seventh Regiment—Three Years.—Company A, Henry O. Davis, re-

enlisted February, 1864; promoted to corporal; wounded severely October,

1864; discharged for disability December, 1864.

Eighth Regim^ent—Three Years.—Company A, James M. M. Elliott,

.nustered November, 1861 ; discharged May, 1862. Company F, Joseph

Everett, corporal, December, 1861
;
promoted to first sergeant; killed Port

Hudson, May, 1863. Company F, Charles H. Kent, mustered in December,

1861 ; transferred to Veteran Reserve Corps May, 1864. Company F, Sam-
uel C. McDufifee, rnustered in December, 1861 ; discharged for disability

December, 1863. Company F, John Robinson, mustered in December, 1861

;

discharged for disability February, 1863.

Ninth Regiment—Three Years.—Company A, James A. Cole, mustered

in July 3, 1862. Company B, Charles F. Shaw, mustered in July 3, 1862;

discharged for disability Fredericksburg, January, 1863.

Eleventh Regiment—Three Years.—Company I, John Underbill, ser-

geant, September, 1862; wounded December, 1862; discharged March, 1863.

Company I, Daniel S. West, corporal, September, 1862; wounded severely

May, 1864. Company I, William E. C. Cooledge, September, 1862. Com-

pany.I, James M. M. Elliott, September, 1862. Company I, Warren J. Hills,

September, 1862; missing in action July, 1864. Company I, Dudley J. Mar-

ston, September, 1862; wounded December, 1862. Company I, Cyrus E.

Roberts, September, 1862; transferred to I. C. September, 1863. Com-

pany I, Edmund T. Roby, September, 1862; deserted June, 1864. Company

I, Thomas O. Reynolds, September, 1862; wounded December, 1862. Com-

pany I, Sewell W. Tenney, September, 1862; wounded December, 1862;

discharged April, 1863. Company I, Nathaniel West, Jr., September, 1862.

Fourteenth Regiment—Three Yecers.—Franklin C. Weeks, assistant sur-

geon, September, 1862 ; discharged for disability March, 1864. Company F,

Charles A. Clark, received January, 1864.
„^ , ^ ^^ „, ,

Fifteenth Regiment^Nine Months (October, i56^;.—Company K, Wal-

lace T. Larkin, second lieutenant, November, 1862; discharged to accept

promotion August, 1863. Company 'K, Luther C. Stevens, sergeant. Com-
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pany K, Alfred F. B. Edwards, corporal. Company K, John A. Hazleton,

corporal. Company K, Marston L. Brown. Company K, Milton S. Brown,
discharged for disability July, 1863. Company K, Henry N. Brown. Com-
pany K, Emerson Childs. Company K, David F. Clay. Company K, John
S. Currier, discharged for disability July, 1863. Company K, David C.

French. Company K, Matthew Forsaith. Company K, George M. D. Mead.
Company K, Samuel V. Osgood. Company K, Benjamin F. Spofiford. Com-
pany K, John W. West, 2d.

Eighteenth Regiment—Three Years.—Silas F. Leamard, major, July,

1865; not mustered; mustered out as captain July, 1865. Company D,
William S. Greenough, captain, commissioned September, 1864. Company
D, John Underbill, second lieutenant, commissioned September, 1864. Com-
pany D, Albert F. B. Edwards, corp., September, 1864; promoted to sergeant.

Company D, Perley C. Ingalls, wagoner, September, 1864. Company D,
Richard H. Currier. Company D, Samuel V. Osgood, promoted to corporal.

Company D, George S. Smith, promoted to corporal. Company D, Francis

Savoie. Company D, Aaron D. Sergent, discharged for disability. Com-
pany D, Isaac F. Underbill, promoted to corporal. Company D, Albert Har
son, discharged for disability at City Point, October, 1864. Company H,
Silas F. I^earnard, captain, commissioned February, 1865; promoted to major
July, 1865. Conapany H, Cyrus S. Dolloff, sergeant. Company H, Augustus
P. Greenough, sergeant. Company H, John T. Lovitt, corporal. Company
H, Joseph R. Morse, musician. Company H, Ephraim Nichols, wagoner.
Company H, Samuel S. Adams, promoted to corporal. Company H, Willard
E. Coburn. Company H, Albert B. Goldsmith, discharged for disability at

Concord, N. H., February, 1865. Company H, Henry H. Hook, discharged
for disability at Concord, N. H., February, 1865. Company H, Richard C.
Lawrence, promoted to corporal. Company H.Fred. D. Morse. Company
H, William B. Robie. Company H, William H. Underbill. Company H,
Benjamin F. Underhill.

Heavy Artillery.—James P. Batchelder, mustered August, 1863; dis-

charged for disability March, 1864. Company C, Joseph W. Chase, mustered
September, 1864. Company K, Charles P. Abbott, appointed artificer, Sep-
tember, 1864. Company K, Jacob J. Elliott, September, 1864. Company K,
John W. Hazeltine, September, 1864. Company K, George H. McDuffee,
September, 1864. Company K, Charles F. True, September, 1864. Com-
pany K, George F. Tebbetts. Company K, Elbridge Wason. Company K,
Clement A. West. Company K, George W. Wilcomb. Company K, Charles
H. West. Company K, John W. West, 2d.

Sharpshooter.—Silas W. Tenney, mustered November, 1861.
"The foregoing list is made from the report of the adjutant-general.

There has been a list made by Miss Noyes, of Chester, which she calls the
'Roll of Honor,' which does not contain the names of a number of foreign
recruits credited to Chester, and contains the following names not in the
foregoing list:

Louis Bell, John Bell, Henry Beals, William Brown, Mark Carr, Perley
Chase, Joseph Dane, Charles A. Dearborn, David J. Dearborn, Lloyd G.
Gale, James Gerah, Nelson Gillingham, Jesse Hall, Joseph W. Hazelton,
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Kinniston, Cyrus F. Marston, Benjamin F. Morse, Frank Morse,
Daniel Osgood, Samuel S. Parker, Curtis B. Robinson, Charles B. Robie,
Edward I. Robie, Joseph S. Rowell, D. Leroy Sanborn, Page R. Smith,
Alphonso P. R. Smith, John P. Spofford, Frederick Spollett, Charles L.

Seavey, Daniel A. Webster, Robert Wason, Frank C. Wood, Charles C.
Willey, Charles S. Wells, Charles H. Weymouth.

The Chester Free Public Library was founded in 1894. In 1895 a build-

ing was purchased and remodeled for the purpose of containing the books,
which were then housed in a grocery store. When completed the Ladies'

Social Library Association of Chester turned over to the town 900 volumes
and closed their circulating library. The number of volumes at present in the

Public Library exceed eleven hundred. Miss Elizabeth M. Fitts is the

librarian.

The societies are : Chester Grange, P. of H. ; Bell Post, G. A. R.

;

Woman's Relief Corps
; Jr. O. U. A. M.

J. S. Roberts is the physician.

See chapter "Bench and Bar," for biographies of John Porter, Arthur
Livermore, Samuel D. Bell, David Pillsbury and Samuel Bell.

Gen. Louis Bell, of the Fourth New Hampshire Regiment, was born

in Chester March 8, 1837. He was mortally wounded on January 15, 1865,

when leading his brigade at the attack on Fort Fisher.



CHAPTER XXII

DANVILLE

Geography—Topography—Petition for Parish—Documentary History—
Ecclesiastical History—Military Record—Public Library

Danville lies near the centre of the county, and is bounded as follows:

On the north by Fremont, on the east by Kingston, on the south by Kingston

and Hampstead, and on the west by Sandown.
This town originally formed a part of Kingston (see Chapter XXXVII.)

It was incorporated as a separate parish February 20, 1760. The following

is a copy of the petition for a new parish, which was presented to the governor

and council January 2, 1760:

"To His Excellency Benning Wentworth, Esq., Captain General, Governor
& Commander-in-Chief in & over His Majestys Province of New Hamp-
shire, The Honourable His Majestys Council And House of Representa-

tives in General Assembly Convened, the Second Day of January, 1760.

"The Petition of Sundry of the Inhabitants of that Part of Kingston in

Said Province adjoining on the Parish of Sandown, Humbly shews,

"That whereas Providence hath placed us at a great Distance from any
place of stated public Worship in Town & so render our Attendance thereon

very difficult & our Families often impracticable : We have built a meeting
House among us to accommodate ourselves & Families, That we & they
might more conveniently attend the public Worship of God & with more
ease & comfort enjoy the Word & ordinances necessary for Salvation, And
being disirous at our own cost & charge to maintain the Worship of God
among us, We petitioned The Town to Set us off to be a Parish Separate
from them, But they (as we apprehend) not regarding our diflficult Circum-
stances have unreasonably denied our Request: Wherefore We humbly
pray that we may be sett off & incorporated into a Parish distinct from them
in the following manner, vizt, bounding Westerly on Sandown East Line,
thence to extend Easterly, carrying the whole Breadth of the Town till it

comes half way between our new meeting house & the old meeting house in

Town, And that we may be discharged from paying to the ministry & the
School in the other part of the Town & enjoy the f>owers & priviledges of
other Parishes.

"And your Petitioners as in Duty bound shall ever Pray, &c.
"Samuell Webster, John March, Obediah Elkins, Jonathan French, Israel

Dimond, William Clifford, Daniel Brown, Henry Morrill, Anans Camell,
Jonathan Sanborn, Benjamin Webster, Thomas Welch, Joshua Webster,

272



AND REPRESENTATIVE CITIZENS 273

Samuel March, Jeremiah Quimby, Joseph Sweat, John March, Jr., Ezra
Tucker, John Paige, Samuel Quimbe, Elias Rano, Nathan Jones, Ezra Jones,
Jonathan Blake, Malachi Daves, Stephen Barnard, John Quimby, Thomas
Eliot Colby, Elisha Clough, Benjamin Selly, Joseph Brown, WilHam Brusel ?

Dyer Hook, Humphrey Hook, Joseph Worth, Elisha Bachelder, Jacob Hook,
Edward Eastman, Jr., Reuben Bachelder, Samuel Sargent, David Tilton,
Aron Quimby, Jeremiah Flanders, Ephraim Paige, Moses Quimby, Henray
Hunt, John Collins, David Quimby, Benjamin Darling, Joseph Clififord,

Joshua Webster, Jr., Benjamin Webster, Jr., Paul Pressey, William Selley,
John Sanborn, Jr., Thomas Wadley, WiUiam Morey, Thomas Eastman.

"In Council, Jan. i6th, 1760.
"The within Petition read & ordered to be sent down to the Honble

Assembly.

"Theodore Atkinson^ Secy.
"In Council, Jany. 17th, 1760.
"Read & Concurrd.

"Theodr Atkinson, Secry.
"Province of \ In the house of Representatives Feby 19th, 1760.

New Hampshire j This petition having been read. The parties on Each
side appear'd by themselves & attorneys & after being

fully heard thereon, Voted, that the prayer thereof be granted So far as to

be agreeable to the minutes on the Back of the plan & that the petitioners

have liberty to bring a Bill accordingly.

"A- Clarkson^ Gierke.

"In Council, Feby 20th, 1760.

"Read & Concurred.

"Theodore Atkinson, Secry."

The first settlements within the bounds of this town were made in about

the year 1735, by Jonathan Sanborn, Jacob Hook, and others. Among the

prominent old families whose ancestors can be traced back more than one
hundred years as residents are mentioned those of Page, Fowle, Blake, San-

born, Spofford, Elkins, French, Dimond, Colby, Teksbury, Quimby, Collins,

Bradley, Eaton, Eastman, and Currier.

Methodist Episcopal Church.—It is impossible to ascertain the date of

organization of this church, as there are no early records in existence. It

was, however, doubtless organized prior to or about the year 1800, as Mr.

John Collins, who had been a member fifty-four years, said he has known of

its existence seventy-five years. The society formerly worshiped in the old

meeting-house, now the town house. It subsequently occupied the Free-Will

Baptist and Union churches one-fourth of the time.

The Free-Will Baptist Church was organized June 17, 1820. Until 1841

the service of preaching was rendered chiefly by itinerant ministers. From
that year the pastors have been Revs. Joseph Fullonton, W. P. Merrill,

J. Kimball, J. Blore, P. S. Burbank, M. W. Burlingame, M. Cole, P. S. Bur-

bank a second time, and J. A. Lowell. In the year 1832 the church and

society erected their house of worship in the southern part of the town.

Previous to that year the church had worshiped chiefly in private houses.

Rev. A. C. Keith is the present minister and the Free Baptist is the only
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church in Danville that has a settled minister.

The Universaiist Church.—The Universalist Church in this town was

organized in May, 1850. The first sociefy of the kind here was organized

May 2, 1832, the town at that time being known as "Hawke." This first,

society, having neglected to hold a meeting in 1849, ceased to exist, and the

present one began the year following. Preaching was had regularly except

during one year (1858), when Rev. J. H. Shepherd supplied the pulpit

every eighth Sunday.
Congregational Church.—It is not known when a church originated here,

but it is supposed to have been previous to the settlement of a pastor.

The first pastor was Rev. John Page, who was ordained December 21,

1763, and remained until his death, January 29, 1783.

Military Record.—The following is a list of those who enlisted from

this town during the late Rebellion, furnished by Adjutant-General Ayling:

Josiah T. Blaisdell, Company B, 3d Regiment; enlisted August 22, 1861;

discharged August 23, 1864. Samuel C. Blaisdell, Company B, 3d Regi-

ment; enhsted August 22, 1861 ; discharged August 23, 1864. Harris C.

Hall, Company B, 3d Regiment; enlisted August 22, 1861 ; re-enlisted Feb-

ruary 22, 1864; died June 18, 1864. Ephraim C. Currier, ist lieutenant

Company K, 4th Regiment; enlisted September 20, 1861
;
promoted to cap-

tain January 17, 1862; died August 12, 1862. Charles R. Wright, Company
H, 4th Regiment; enlisted December 26, 1863; discharged June 13, 1865.

John H. Sargent, Company K, 5th Regiment; enlisted October 12, 1861.

John P. Spofiford, Company K, 5th Regiment; enhsted October 12, 1861

;

died of disease July 20, 1862. James Holding, 5th Regiment; enlisted

August 19, 1864; supposed to have deserted en route to regiment. Sewell

Eastman, Company B, 5th Regiment; enlisted August 11, 1863; discharged

June 28, 1865. Charles Bruce, Company F, 5th Regiment; enlisted August

9, 1864; deserted October 12, 1864. John Roarke, 5th Regiment; enlisted

August 18, 1864; supposed to have deserted en route to regiment. David
B. Currier, ist lieutenant Company B, 7th Regiment; enlisted November i,

1861 ; resigned April 28, 1862. Theodore Burke, Company I, 7th Regiment;
enlisted December 29, 1863; discharged July 18, 1865. Thomas Bluer,

Company I, 7th Regiment; enlisted December 29, 1863; absent, sick, July 20,

1865; no discharge furnished. David Nichols, Company B, 7th Regiment;
enlisted November i, 1861 ; re-enlisted February 28, 1864; deserted May 20,

1864; gained from desertion June 5, 1864; absent, sick, July 20, 1865; no
discharge furnished. Calvin B. Griffin, Company H, 8th Regiment; enlisted

December 20, 1861 ; discharged April 10, 1862. Charles N. Godfrey, Com-
pany G, nth Regiment; enlisted December 19, 1863; died July 19, 1864.
Michael Maloney, Company K, nth Regiment; enlisted December 22, 1863;
transferred to 6th Regiment June i, 1865 ; discharged July 17, 1865. Charles
Williams, Company C, nth Regiment; enlisted August 21, 1862; discharged
June 6, 1865. Alonzo Ferrin, Company E, nth Regiment; enlisted August
29, 1862; discharged March 16, 1863. Peter Stacy, Company G, nth Regi-
ment; enlisted December 23, 1863; died May i, 1864. Bernard Brady,
Company K, 12th Regiment; enlisted December 17, 1863; transferred to
U. S. N. April 29, 1864. William Murphy, Company K, 12th Regiment;
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enlisted December 17, 1863. George W. March, Company D, 14th Regi-
ment; enlisted September 23, 1862; discharged December 3, 1864. Albe O.
Buzzell, Company K, isth Regiment; enlisted October 16, 1862; discharged
August 13, 1863. Hiram French, Company K, 15th Regiment; enlisted
October 16, 1862; discharged August 13, 1863. Charles W. Griffin, cor-
poral Company K, 15th Regiment; enlisted October 16, 1862; discharged
August 13, 1863. Lendon C. Buzzell, Company K, 15th Regiment; enlisted
October 16, 1862; discharged August 13, 1863. Moses Griffin, Company K,
15th Regiment; enlisted October 16, 1862; discharged August 13, 1863.
Obadiah Q. Johnson, Company K, 15th Regiment; enHsted October 16, 1862;
discharged August 13, 1863. James M. Ladd, Company K, iSth Regiment;
enlisted October 16, 1862; discharged January 20, 1863. Josiah T. Ladd,
Company K, 15th Regiment; enlisted October 21, 1862. John Matthew,
Company K, 15th Regiment; enlisted October 31, 1862. Lewis G. Tucker,
Company K, 15th Regiment; enlisted October 29, 1862; discharged August
13, 1863. Lendon C. Buzzell, Company C, i8th Regiment; enlisted Sep-
tember 13, 1864; discharged June 10, 1865. Franklin P. Woods, Company
D, 18th Regiment; enlisted (September 13, 1864; promoted to corporal;

discharged June 10, 1865. Thomas Cobridge, Company L, ist Cavalry;
enlisted August 11, 1863; discharged July 15, 1865. Andrew B. Clifford,

Company I, ist Cavalry; enlisted March 28, 1865; discharged July 15, 1865.

Joseph Avery, Company I, ist Cavalry; enlisted March 28, 1865; discharged

July 15, 1865. William Wills, enlisted August 16, 1864; organization and
other facts unknown. Patrick Kelley, marine; enlisted August 6, 1864; no
record at this office. Daniel Lang, marine; enlisted August 13, 1864; no
record at this office. Thomas Kelley, marine; enlisted August 5, 1864; no
record at this office. William McCrillis; enlisted August 17, 1864; organiza-

tion and other facts unknown. Hugh McClark; enlisted August 13, 1864;
organization and other facts unknown. Hans P. S. Peterson, enlisted August

27, 1864; organization and other facts unknown. James Holden, enlisted

August 19, 1864; organization and other facts unknown. Fred. M. Daniel-

son, enlisted August 30, 1864; organization and other facts unknown.

The Danville Ptiblic Library was started with 130 books on its shelves

in 1892 in a room in the town hall, and in 1906 had increased to 1,152 vol-

umes, and to 1,800 in 19 1
3. P. F. Collins is the librarian. To accommodate

North Danville, cards are left and books are sent to the postoffice in that

village.

The societies are: Danville Grange, P. of H. ; Woman's Relief Corps;

Rockingham Lodge, A. O. U. W.



CHAPTER XXIII

DEERFIELD

Geographical—Topographical—Petition for Parish Incorporation—First

Town-Meeting—The Revolution—Ecclesiastical—The Deer/ield Academy
—Early Families—Delegates to Provincial Congress—Public Library.

Deerfield lies in the northwestern part of the county, and is bounded as

follows: On the north by Northwood, on the east by Nottingham, on the

south by Raymond and Candia, and on the west by Merrimac County. The
population is 917.

The territory embraced within the bounds of the present town of Deer-

field originally comprised a portion of Nottingham. The first petition for the

organization of a separate parish was presented in 1756, but was not granted.

In 1765 the inhabitants again petitioned for separation from the parent town
and the prayer was granted, and ,the new parish took the name of Deerfield.

Incorporation.—The act of incorporation bears the date January 8, 1766,

and is signed by Gov. Benning Wentworth. The petition was signed by the

following persons : "Samll Leavitt, Obadiah Marston, Thos Simpson, Eliph-

elet Griffeen, Abraham True, Isaac Shepard, Samuel Tilton, Peter Batch-

elder, Robert Cram, Patten Simpson, Nathaniel Batchelder, Jr., Thomas
Brown, John Batchelder, Moses Thomson, Samll Hoyt, Peter Leavitt,

Ephraim Pettingell, Eliphelet Marston, Theo Griffin, Reuben Marston, Ben-
jamin Cotton, Josiah Smith, Samuel Elkins, Jude Allen, John cram, Samuel
Kelley, Wadleigh cram, Samll Leavit, Junr, Samuel Marston, Reuben Brown,
Nathan Griffeen, Reuben Marston, Theophilus Griffin, Junr, Samuel Winslow,
Nathaniel Meloon, Benjamin Page, Daniel Page, Samuel Perkins, Josiah
Chase, Moses Chase, John Gile, nemiah cram, Joseph Graves, Jedediah Pres-

cutt, David Batchelder, Josiah Prescutt, Samuel Pulsfer, Josiah Sanbon,
Thomas Robie, William Sanbon, Joseph Mason, John mason, Jeremiah Eas-
man, Owen Runnels, Daniel West, Benjamin hilyard, Benjamin Beachelder,
israel Clifford, John Robinson, Joseph Roberd, Joshua Young, Jeremiah
Glidden, Joseph pidkins, Ricard Gliden, Andrew Glidden, John Young, Jona-
than Glidden, Jonathan Hill, Daniel Lad, John Lad, Nathaniel Smith, Benja-
min Folsom, Moss Thirston, Jeremiah Foslom, Moses Clough, Increse
Batcheler, Benjamin Batchelder, nathan Batcheler, Josiah Sawyer, Samuel
marston.

The First TownrMeeting.—The first legal meeting was held at the house
of Samuel Leavitt on Thursday, the 30th day of January, 1766; Wadleigh
Cram wa.s chosen moderator; Thomas Simpson, Esq., parish clerk; Samuel
Leavitt, .John Robinson, Eliphalet Grififin, selectmen ; Benjamin Batchelder,
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constable; John Gile, Jacob Longfellow, Daniel Ladd, Obediah Marston, and
Nathaniel Maloon, surveyors of highways; Jonathan Glidden and Samuel
Tilton, assessors; Abram True and Jeremiah Eastman, auditors; Jedediab
Prescott, Jeremiah Eastman, Samuel Tilton, Benjamin Folsom, Thomas
Burleigh, Capt. Samuel Leavitt, Thomas Simpson were chosen "a Committee
to look out for a Suitable Place to Sett a meeting-house upon and a Return
att the next anual Meeting from under the major part of their hands and the
Same to be received or Rejected by the Parish as they Shall think proper."

Fifteen pounds lawful money were voted to be "assessed to defray parish
charges."

The first annual meeting was held "at the house of Wadleigh Crams,"
March i8, 1766, when John Robinson was chosen moderator; Thomas Simp-
son, parish clerk ; and the same men for selectmen at last year ; Dr. Jonathan
Hill and Jeremiah Eastman were chosen auditors.

A new committee was raised for locating the meeting-house. "Voted
Jno Robinson, Abram True, Eliphalet Eastman, Samuel Winslow, Nehemiah
Cram be a Committee to Look out a Suitable place for to Sett a meeting-house
on and Look out where the Roads will best accommodate to Come to Said
Meeting-house."

The first money voted to be raised for preaching the gospel was fifteen

pounds, on the 15th day of December, 1766. At the same time it was voted,
"That Capt. John Dudley be the Person to Look out for Some Suitable to

supply the Parish of Deerfield with Preaching So far as the money above voted
shall Extend."

The Revolution.—Deerfield was active in its opposition to British oppres-

sion, contributed liberally in men and money. It appears that men from Deer-
field gallantly fought at Lexington and in Rhode Island, and wherever New
England men were found struggling for liberty. The names of eighteen

persons from this town who died in the Revolution are preserved. For names
of Deerfield soldiers that served in the Revolution see Northwood and Not-
tingham. It is believed that Maj. John Simpson fired the. first gun upon the

British with fatal result in that immortal battle at Bunker Hill. It was a

premature discharge of his musket, but one that was immediately followed

by a general engagement. Major Simpson died October 28, 1825. Joseph
Mills, an officer in Colonel Cilley's regiment during the Revolution, was
?ifterwards an efficient magistrate and a worthy representative. He died in

June, 1809, aged sixty years. Hon. Richard Jenness, who acted so important

a part in the early history of this town, died July 4, 1819, aged seventy-three

years, greatly respected as a magistrate, representative, senator, and judge of

the Common Pleas Court.

One hundred and thirty-nine of the inhabitants subscribed to the follow-

ing declaration and fourteen refused: "We, the Subscribers, do hereby

solemnly engage and promise that we will to the utmost of our power, at

the risk of our lives and fortunes, with arms oppose the hostile proceedings

of the British Fleets and Armies against the United American Colonies."

Ecclesiastical.—The first religious services in the town were held by the

Congregationalists, and the first settled pastor was Rev. Timothy Upham,
who officiated in that office from 1772 until his death in 181 1. His successors
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have been as follows : Rev. Nathaniel Wells, 1812-41 ; Rev. Ephraim Nelson,

1841-49; Rev. William A. Patten, 1850^52; (for three years the pulpit was

supplied by Rev. W. A. Forbes and E. F. Abbott) ;
Rev. U. W^ Condit, 1855-

64 ; Rev. Lyman White succeeded the second ministry of Mr. Patton, com-

mencing his labors in 1874. Rev. Mr. White graduated from Dartmouth m
1846; at'Andover in 1849; preached at Epping five years, at Easton (Mass.)

seven years, at Phillipston (Mass.) eight years, at Pembroke (N. H.) four

years and a half. Mr. White was pastor tiir October, 1882. His successors

have been as follows: J. A. Kingsbury, 1884-7; Frank Mansfield, 1888-9;

O. M. Lord, 1891-3; Tilton C. H. Bouton, 1894-6; J. G. Emerson, January,

1897 to March, 1907, illness; Sam'l Bell, 1897-1900; Geo. F. Bradford. 1900-

4; J. F. Babb, 1909-13; Chalmers Holbrook, June, 1913, present pastor.

There is a Baptist Church here but has been closed since the coming of

Mr. Babb in 1909, many of the people feeling that it was better to support one

well than starve two.

Baptist Church.—This church was organized in 1770 with fourteen mem-
bers. The first pastor was Elifelet Smith. It was disbanded in 1787. A
branch of the Brentwood Church was organized soon after, which subse-

quently became extinct, and in 1816 (September 12th) the "First Baptist

Church of Deerfield" was organized.

The first house of worship occupied by the Baptists was built 1770, and

located about one mile and a half southeast of the center of the town. In

1822 it was removed to the center and occupied in connection with the Free-

will Baptists, and was called the "Union Meeting-House." The Baptists

completed and dedicated their sanctuary in October, 1834.

Among those who have occupied the pastoral office are mentioned Revs.

James Barnaby, Isaac Merring, Bela Wilcox, Igaac Sanger, O. O. Stearns,

Noah Hooper, James N. Chase, L. C. Stevens, Edward T. Lyford, Oliver

Ayer, Henry O. Walker, etc.

Free-Will Baptist Church.—This church was organized in 1799. They
worshiped many years in the Union meeting-house, which was burned in 1839,

and rebuilt in 1840 by the Free-Will Baptist people alone, and is occupied by
,

them now. This house is pleasantly located at the center of the town, midway
between the Congregational and Calvin Baptist churches.

Among those who have labored as pastors of this church are John Kimball,

S. B. Dyer, I. S. Davis, G. D. Garland, P. S. Burbank, C. S. Smith, Aaron
Ayer, Ezra Turtle, G. S. Hill, Ira Emery and E. Blake.

The Deerfield Academy.—The families that settled here and on lands con-
tiguous were to an unusual degree possessed of wealth and intellectual cul-

ture ; and besides caring fo'r the district school, they supported a high school,

which for many years was known as the academy, founded about 1798 by
Joseph Mills, Esq., Col. Joseph Hilton, Gen. Benjamin Butler, Maj. Isaac
Shepard, and Andrew Freeze, Esq. It was a flourishing school in its day.
Phineas Howe, a young lawyer at the Parade, was its first preceptor, and
continued at its head until about 1812. Mr. Jewett, Nathan T. Hilton, and
"Master James Husey" were the most prominent successors of Mr. Howe.

This academy building was ultimately sold to the Parade school district,

and destroyed by fire about 1842.
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Attorneys.—Among the attorneys who have practiced here were David
Frank, Edmund Toppem, Phineas Howe, Moody Kent, Josiah Butler, Jason
Merrill,, N. P. Hoar, D. Steele, Jr., F. H. Davis, Josiah Houghton, Ira St.

Clair, Nathaniel Dearborn and H. G. Cilley

In addition to the above, Francis D. Randall, of Deerfield, was register

of deeds from. 1834 to 1840.

Richard Jenness was judge of Court of Common Pleas from 1809 to 1813.

Dudley Freese was judge of Court of Common Pleas from 1832 to 1842.

Benjamin Jenness was sheriff from 1830 to 1835. He was son of Judge
Richard Jenness.

Peter Chadwick was clerk of the Court of Common Pleas from 181 7 to

1834, and clerk of the Superior Court from 1829 to 1837.

Peter Sanborn was for several years state treasurer.

Physicians.—The physicians of Deerfield have been Edmund Chadwick,
Thomas Brown, Stephen Brown, John Hidden, Dr. Young, and Dr. G. H.
Towle.

Early Families.—Among the early families are mentioned those of

Batchelder, Bean, Brown, Butler, Cate, Chadwick, Chase, Churchill, Cilley,

Collins, Cram, Currier, Dearborn, Eastman, Freese, French, Furnald, Ger-

rish, Gilman, Grifhn, Haines, Hilton, Hoag, James, Jenness, Maloon, Marston,

Mills, Moore, Page, Prescott, Rand, Sanborn, Sawyer, Simpson, Smith,

Stevens, G. H. Towle, Thompson, Tilton, True, Veasey, Weare, Whittier,

White and Woodman.
Delegates to Provincial Congress.—The following is a list of delegates

to Provincial Congress from 1774 to 1788, inclusive:

1774, January 25.—Capt. Daniel Moore, Moses Marshal, deputies to meet

at Eiceter to choose delegates to represent the province at Philadelphia.

1775, May 8.—Simon Marston, Timothy Upham, delegates to Provincial

Congress at Exeter.

1775, December 12.—Jeremiah Eastman, representative for parishes of

Deerfield and Northwood to a Congress to be held at Exeter, December

21, 1775-

1776, December 2.—Jeremiah Eastman, representative for Deerfield and

Northwood, at Exeter, third Wednesday, December.

1777, December 11.—Jeremiah Eastman, representative for Deerfield and

Northwood, at Exeter.

1778, May 28.—Simon Marston, Richard Jenness, delegates at convention

to be holden at Concord, June loth next, to frame and lay a permanent form

of government.

1778, December i.—Jeremiah Eastman, representative to Congress at

Exeter, for one year.

1779, November 30.—Jeremiah Eastman, representative to Congress at

Exeter, for one year.

1780, December 5.—Simon Marston, representative to Congress at Exeter,

for one year.

1 781, December 4.—Jeremiah Eastman, representative for Deerfield and

Northwood.
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1782, May 13.—Joseph , Dr. Edmund Chadwick, delegates to Con-

vention at Concord on the first Wednesday in June to frame a constitution.

1783, December i.—Jeremiah Eastman, representative to General Assem-

bly, Concord, first Wednesday in December next.

1784.—^Jeremiah Easton, representative to General Assembly, Concord,

third Wednesday in June.

1785.—Moses Barnard, representative to General Assembly, Concord.

1786.—Moses Barnard, representative to General Assembly, Concord.

1787.—Voted not to send.

1788, January 14.—Dr. Edmund Chadwick, delegate to Exeter, February
13th, agreeably to request of General Assembly.

1788, March 18.—Richard Jenness, representative General Assembly at

Concord.
The Philbrick-James Library at Deerfield was established December 18,

1880. It is a free public library, although it did not receive state aid. It is

located in the town house and has over four thousand volumes on Its shelves.

It is soon to move into a new building of its own to cost about eight thousand
dollars. The first donors were Hon. Frederick P. James of New York, a

native of the town and Hon. John D. Philbrick also a native of Deerfield who
soon after left a large amount and the library was named the Philbrick-

.James. Carroll E.' Legro is the librarian.

The Societies are the Jere E. Chadwick Post, G. A. R. ; Woman's Relief

Corps; Union Lodge, I. O. O. F. ; Silver Lake Rebekah Lodge; Deerfield
Grange, P. of H. ; Progressive Grange, P. of H. For eminent lawyers, see
Bench and Bar Chapter.



CHAPTER XXIV

DERRY

Geographical—The Academies—The Banks—Derry Fair—Military Record—
ijoth Anniversary—The Press—Public Library—Ecclesiastical History.

As the territory of Derry formed a large and important part of "Nut-
field," or Old Londonderry, its history, down to the time when division became
a necessity, is to be found in connection with that town. Derry was incor-

porated July 2, 1827. Prior to that time the town-meetings had been held

alternately at the East and West Parish Meeting-houses with equal division

of the offices. It was found, however, that the large size of the town made
it very inconvenient to attend the town-meetings. The East Parish therefore

called for a division, the West opposed it ; but after a short, sharp, but decisive,

contest the New Hampshire Legislature divided the town. In the autumn of

1827 a meeting was held, officers were chosen, and the new town put upon its

course. The basis of division gave to Derry three-fifths of the valuation

of the old town and three-fifths of the population. The number of inhabit-

ants in Derry at that time was about twenty-two hundred. The population

by the 1910 census was 5,123. It is the largest town in Rockingham County.

It is an hour's ride by train from Boston and many of its residents com-

mute daily. The distance from Manchtester is twenty minutes. There are ten

trains to Boston daily, and trolley connections are with East Derry, Beaver

Lake, Chester, Londonderry, Manchester, Nashua, and by the two latter

points with practically all New England.

The principal industry is the manufacture of shoes. For years, in fact,

since the town first began to develop more than a generation ago, it has been

a shoe town, known as such far and wide. At present there are five big

shops with 1,800 employes and nearly seven acres of floor space.

There are turned out every working day more than twenty thousand pairs

of shoes from the Derry shops. Assuming that every man, woman and child

gets a new pair of shoes every three months, the shops of Derry would be able

to keep shod four states the size of New Hampshire.

Street railway service is by the Derry and Chester Street Railway, which

is one of the smallest independent railways in the country. It operates only

between Derry Village, East Derry, Beaver Lake and terminates in Chester.

The public school system is strictly up to state standards. The schools

were among the first to be graded years ago, and the development of the

system recently has been under the earful supervision of ^ superintendent

of schools. Instead of a high school the town has Pinkerton Academy, one
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of the oldest and best known private institutions of higher education in the

state.

While Pinkerton Academy is governed by private trustees, the town has

an arrangement with the board whereby any graduate of the common schools

of Derry may attend the academy just as soon ap he or she would an ordinary

high school. The tuition.fees are paid by the town.

Pinkerton Academy.—Pinkerton Academy has been in successful opera-

tion since 1815, the year following its incorporation. It was named for Maj.
John Pinkerton and Elder James Pinkerton, "old-time merchants of London-
derry," who gave an endowment sufficient to assure the permanence of the

school during the first seventy years of its existence. >

John M. Pinkerton, a son of one of the original founders, at his death in

1881 left a munificent bequest which became available in 1886 and enabled
the trustees to increase the facilities in respect to buildings, apparatus and
number of instructors, and to provide for an enlarged and advanced form
of work.

The Pinkerton Memorial Tablets placed in 1906 in the outer vestibule

of the main building were designed by Daniel Chestpr French and the inscrip-

tions arranged by President Charles W. Eliot of Harvard University read
as follows

:

"In memory of Maj. John Pinkerton, 1736-1816, and Elder James Pinker-
ton, 1 747- 1 829, old-time country merchants of Londonderry, whose far-
sighted beneficence in 1814 made this institution.

"In memory of John Morrison Pinkerton, 1818-81, a native of London-
derry, Alumnus of Yale and lawyer in Boston, whose generous bequest in
188 1 strengthened the good work begun here by his uncle and father."

The act of incorporation was secured by the name of the Pinkerton
Academy in Londonderry. This name was afterward changed to Pinkerton
Academy.

The trustees named and appointed by the act of incorporation were "the
Rev. William Morrison, John Pinkerton, Jr., Esquire, John Burnham,
Esquire, Isaac Thom, Esquire, Deacon James Pinkerton, Rev. Edward L.
Parker, John Porter, Esquire, Alanson Tucker, Esquire, and Dr. Robert
Bartley, all of said Londonderry."

The first president was Elder or Deacon (for he was called by both titles)
James Pinkerton, the younger of the original founders, then followed, in
1819, Rev. Edward L. Parker, the minister of the East Parish. In 1822,
Rev. Daniel Dana, then minister of the West Parish, and afterwards presi-
dent of Dartmouth College. Doctor Dana was succeeded in 1826 by Hon
William M. Richardson, of Chester, long the chief justice of the Supreme
Court of New Hampshire. Rev. John H. Church, D. D., of Pelham, became
president in 1838, and Rev. Edward L. Parker, the second time, in 1840On the decease of Mr. Parker, in 1850, John Porter, Esq., of Derry "an
eminent jurist," was chosen his successor. In 1858, Samuel H Taylor
LL. p., of Andover, Mass.; in 1871, John M. Pinkerton, Esq., of Boston'
and m 1881, Rev. Ebenezer G. Parsons, of Derry, were successively elected
to the office on the demise of their predecessors.

The first preceptor was Samuel Burnham, Esq., who had been teacher of
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a classical school many years in the Upper or East Village. Mr. Burnham
resigned in 1818. Mr. Weston B. Adams was preceptor one year, and was
followed by the most renowned of the teachers who have successively filled

this chair, Abel Fletcher Hildreth. Mr. Hildreth was born in 1793, fitted for
college at Phillips' Exeter Academy, and graduated at Harvard in 181 8. He
entered upon his duties as preceptor of the academy in October, 1819, and
resigned in 1846. He died in Somerville, Mass., October 6, 1864, aged
seventy-one years.

Space is not allowed to give the honored names of gentlemen who have
successively and nobly filled the offices of president, trustees and preceptor in

this school, nor of the long list of students who have received their earlier

education here. Several thousands is their number. Very many of them
have been greatly useful in the different walks of life; a large proportion of
them have been eminent in the professions or pursuits in which they have
engaged. One hundred and thirty of them are included in the roll of honor
reported at the semi-centennial anniversary, which gives the names of former
members of the school who served in the late war, and of whom many laid

down their lives for their country.

Pinkerton Academy was originally a mixed school. This arrangement
continued until the opening of the Adams Female Academy in the Upper Vil-

lage, now East Derry. It was then changed into a boys' school, and remained
such till 1853, when it was again opened to both sexes.

The semi-centennial anniversary of this institution was celebrated Sep-

tember 12, 1866, by special services commemorative of its founding, history,

and influence. The citizens of Derry and Londonderry engaged in it with

zeal. A great crowd of the members and friends were present, including a

number of those who were members of the school in its earliest years.

In 1881 a princely bequest of $200,000 was made to the funds of the

academy by John Morrison Pinkerton, Esq., of Boston, son of the younger

of the original founders, a trustee since 1850, and president from 1871 until

his death.

The academy has had a long and honorable record as a college prepara-

tory school. It sends yearly a large number of its graduates directly to posi-

tions of usefulness in the world.

In September, 1909, several new courses have been added and old ones

strengthened. While continuing to fit for any college, the academy now
attempts to serve as well the needs of those pupils who cannot go to college

by providing courses intimately related with the life of the home, the farm,

the office and the shop. However, the necessity for a broad, general education

is not forgotten in this more specialized work. The academy is not, and

never will be, a trade school. Equal opportunities are provided for all students

in the pursuit of knowledge of an essentially cultural nature, such as Latin,

English literature, history and modern languages.

As set forth in the act of incorporation, the academy was established "for

the purpose of promoting piety and virtue and for the education of the youth

in the liberal arts and sciences of languages." While it is not sectarian, it

is truly Christian. It is not forgotten that character is more than scholarship,

that "life is the highest of arts," that education means knowing how to live so
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as not to fail of life's great end. Daily chapel exercises are so conducted as

to furnish an incentive to scholarly ideals, true manliness and to purity of

character.

The present trustees are: Rev. Robert W. Haskins, Reading, Mass.;

Rev. John P. Newell, Litchfield; George L. Clark, Esq., Worcester, Mass.;

John C. Chase, Esq., Derry; Frank N! Parsons, LL. D., Franklin; Greenleaf

K. Bartlett, Esq., Boston, Mass. ; Perley L. Home, A. M., Honolulu, T. H.

;

Rev. Charles L. Merriam, Newton, Mass. ; Charles W. Abbott Esq., Derry.

Ofificers: Rev. John P. Newell, president; John C. Chase, secretary; Fred-

erick J. Shepard, treasurer. John J. Marrinan, B. S., principal; George W.
Bingham, A. M., principal emeritus.

The library is given more than the usual prominence in the school plan. It

has been brought to a high state of efficiency as a working library, numbering

over six thousand volumes of reference materials and general literature, to

which additions are made systematically according to the needs of the school.

It is kept open a large part of each day, and constant recourse is had to its

shelves in every department of work. Under the instructor in charge, not

only is reading encouraged, but direction and instruction are given in the right

use of books. The library room, large and well lighted, has recently gained in

attractiveness, together with the other rooms of the building, by numerous
accessions in art, reproductions of famous paintings and casts from the antique.

The main building was opened for school use September 5, 1887. Its

arrangements for lighting, heating and ventilation are first class and no pains

are spared to secure the safety, convenience, health and comfort of students

and teachers. In this building are the chapel, library, laboratories, office and
five large, well-lighted and well-furnished recitation rooms. The basement
contains the lavatories, coat rooms, heating apparatus, storage room and work-
shop.

The old building, dating back to 181 5, having been repaired and re-ar-

ranged, is now devoted to the departments of domestic science and agriculture.

In Hildreth Hall, non-resident students are domiciled under the immediate
charge of one of the faculty. It is named for Abel F. Hildreth, preceptor of

the school from 1819 to 1846, a man of strong Christian character, who con-

tributed much to the earlier successes of the school. Two hundred and eleven

students were enrolled in 191 3.

Adams Female Academy.—This is the first academy in New Hampshire
that received incorporation from the Legislature as an institution for the

education of young ladies alone. They had been allowed the privileges of the
Pinkerton Academy for a few years after its establishment, but when a change
was made allowing only males to attend the school the citizens thought best
to have an academy where their daughters as well could get a suitable educa-
tion. Hence the origin of the Adams Female Academy. A classical school
had been taught for several years previous in a building erected about 1793,
on the East Parish Meeting-house common, near the cemetery. The first

teacher in this school was Z. S. Moor, subsequently president of Williams and
Amherst colleges. His successor was Samuel Burnham, a noted teacher in his
day, who held the position more than twenty years. In 181 4 a new and larger
academy was built on the site of the old one, then gone to decay.
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In 1823, upon receiving a bequest of $4,000 from the estate of Jacob
Adams, the school was incorporated by the name of the "Adams Female
Academy." The next year it went into operation under charge of Miss Zilpah
P. Grant, assisted by Miss Mary Lyon. After three years' continuance with
the school, during which it enjoyed great prosperity, they resigned. Follow-
ing are the names of the successive teachers : Charles P. Gale, ten years

; John
Kelley, three years; Miss Laura W. Dwight, three years. In the winter of
1841-2 extensive repairs were made upon the building. The next teacher was
Edward P. Parker, who had charge of the school four years. He was suc-

ceeded by Miss Mary E. Taylor, afterwards the wife of Governor H. Fair-
banks, of Vermont; Rev. E. T. Rowe, Henry S. Parker, N. E. Gage, Miss E.
C. Bubier, A. J. Marshall, Jennie M. Bartlett and Mary A. Hoyt.

In i860. Miss Emma L. Taylor took charge of the school. She held the
position seventeen years and was succeeded by Miss E. F. Billings, Miss Carrie
Clark and Mrs. David S. Clark. The academy celebrated its semi-centennial

on July I, 1873. The academy is leased by the town of Derry for one of its

district grammar schools. The building remains unchanged in outside appear-

ance and the inside is practically the same as it has always been.

B.-VNKS

In 1829 a bank was incorporated in the town by the name of Derry Bank.
Alanson Tucker was chosen president, and James Thom, cashier. They were
chiefly instrumental in its organization, and held their positions respectively as

president and cashier until the expiration of the charter in 1849. Mr. Tucker
was born in Bridgewater, Mass., January 25, 1777, and died at Derry, June 16,

1863. He was for about seventeen years a successful merchant in Boston,

Mass. He retired from business at middle life, came to Derry, then London-
derry, with an ample fortune, and purchased the historic Livermore-Prentice-

Derby estate, upon which he resided for a time. Subsequently he built the

large mansion where he passed the closing years of his life. James Thom,
bom in Londonderry, August 14, 1785, was the son of Doctor Isaac and Persis

(Sargent) Thom. He graduated at Dartmouth in 1805, studied law, and prac-

ticed his profession in his native town until chosen cashier of the bank. He
served as captain for a short time of a company during the last war with
England. He possessed fine conversational powers, a social disposition, and
had large influence in town. He died November 27, 1852.

Derry National Bank was chartered in 1864 with $60,000 capital. The
first cashier was David Currier, from Chester, N. H., who was succeeded by
his son, George C. Currier, John P. Newell, and Fred Johnston Shepard. The
present officers are : F. J. Shepard, president

; J. B. Bartlett, cashier. Direc-

tors : F. J. Sheppard, J. B. Bartlett, V. H. Moody, H. Alexander, G. K. Bart-

lett, W. H. Benson and Chas. Bartlett. The surplus and profits, $15,870 and

deposits, $265,770.
The First National Bank was established in 1906. Its capital is $25,000,

surplus and profits $4,100 and deposits $63,460. President, F. N. Young;
cashier, J. H. Weston; directors, C. G, Emerson, L. M. Packer, J. G. Mac-
Murphy, E. N. Whitney, F. N. Young and E. L. Davis.
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Derry Savings Bank was incorporated in 1903. It has total resources of

$142,252. Volney H. Moody is president and F. J. Sheppard, treasurer.

The NutHeld Savings Bank was incorporated in 1905. It has total resources

of $73,464. John C. Chase is president and J. G. MacMurphy is treasurer.

Cemetery.—The old part is on land laid out to Rev. James McGregore.

It was the first land in the old town used for burial purposes, and has date

very near the first settlement. There were deaths shortly after the settlers set

foot upon the soil, and nothing is known of other places of burial. Three

additions have been made, one in 1826 and another about 1845, and in 1852

a cemetery association was formed, and land purchased on the western side of

the old yard. The new part occupies all the ground between the resting-place

of the fathers and the highway. No more beautiful repose for the dead can

anywhere be found. All that art, money, and taste can command has been

summoned to the task of fitting a place

"Where the long concourse from the neighboring town,

With funeral pace, and slow, can enter in.

To lay the loved in tranquil silence down.
No more to suffer, and no more to sin."

It is, however, to the middle part of this cemetery that the steps of the

antiquary are directed. Here he will find much to gratify his taste and stimu-

late his peculiar lines of thought. The curiously-carved stones with the quaint

inscriptions carry him back to the "good old times" so much celebrated in story

and in song. Let us pause for a moment at the grave of John Wight, whose
wit and skill as a maker of headstones for his contemporaries have survived the

rough discipline of one hundred and seven years. His stone, a single one,

with two heads for man and wife, with a dividing line down the middle,

evidently the work of his own hands, stands very near the entrance of the

cemetery, "Here lies the body of John Wight, who died December 3, 1775,
aged seventy-two years." He lived on what is now the Thomas Bradford
place, where he plied his calling as a gravestone cutter. The traditions of the
town delight to recall the sharp repartee he made to Dr. Matthew Thornton
a few months after the doctor came to Londonderry. It is well known that
Thornton had an endowment of wit that often cropped out. Riding up one
morning on horseback to the shop of Wight, who was busily engaged on a
stone, the doctor accosted him, "Good-morning, Mr. Wight, I suppose you
quarry out your headstones, and finish them so far as to cut the words 'In

memory of,' and then wait till some one dies, when you complete it with the
appropriate name." "Well," replied Wight, "that used to be me practis till

one Doctor Thornton come to town, but now when I hear that he has called
upon any one I just keep right on." Many of the grantees of the town are
buried in this cemetery, and the first six ministers of the East Parish lie among
the people to whom they ministered. Rev. David McGregor, the first minister
of the West Parish, found also his last resting-place here. Very few of the
stones furnish any history of the sleepers who lie beneath. The inscription
on the stone placed to the memory of the wife of John Barr very nearly fixes
the date of the emigration of the Barr family : "Here lies the body of Jean
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Barr, who died November ii, 1737, in the sixty-sixth year of her age, who
lived seventeen years in this land." On the east side of the old part of the
cemetery is a stone inscribed as follows

:

"Here lyeth the

Body of the Revend
Mr. James Morton
Minister of Glasg
ows daughter Gr

izel. She died June
22, 1746."

PostoKces.—The first postofifice was established September 30, 1795, and
Dr. Isaac Thorn appointed postmaster. He kept the office in the house taken
down by Hon. William H. Shepard, at the time he built his house; February
20, 181 7, the office was removed to Derry Lower Village, on the turnpike and
Daniel Wiltmore was appointed postmaster.

PostoMce at Derry Depot.—The first postoffice "set up" at this place was
on the i8th of September, 1854, Samuel H. Quincy, postmaster. The office

was discontinued February 6, 1855, but restored November 5, i860, and the
Hon. James Priest appointed postmaster. He kept the office at the depot of
the Manchester and Lawrence Railroad. July 21, 1869, it was removed across
the road to the store of Henry E. Eastman, who was postmaster until the
appointment of George S. Rollins, June 2, 1876.

East Derry PostoMce.—This office was established, and Frank W. Parker
appointed postmaster, April 7, 1870.

Derry Fair.—This in its day was a matter of great importance to the

people, and until it fell into, abuse was of much service before stores had been

"set up" for the public accommodation. It had its origin in the charter, which
granted the "privilege every Wednesday in the week forever to enjoy a

market for the selling and buying of goods, etc." Also two fairs annually, one

in the spring and the other in the autumn. It does not appear that much
account was ever mad© of these privileges except the last, which was held on

the 8th day of October annually, unless that day fell on Sunday, in which case

the fair began on Monday, the 9th. Many are the sayings and doings told of

Derry Fair. Beside the usual accompaniments of such gatherings, horse-racing

was the favorite pastime. The fair was continued until about 1834 or 1835,

when it was transferred to the tavern stand of Capt. Reuben White, in the

north part of Londonderry, he claiming a right to hold a fair under the pro-

visions of the charter. Nothing but evil resulting from it, the citizens of Lon-

donderry procured a repeal of that part of the town's charter relating to the

matter, and "Derry Fair" passed into history.

Derry East Village.—This place, for many years the most important part

of the old township, has never lost the beauty of its immediate situation or its

surroundings, although business has sought more convenient localities. From

here the eye takes in a prospect that won the admiration of General Lafayette

at his visit in 1824. The view extends from Kearsarge on the north, and

sweeping over the vally of the Merrimac, includes the lesser summits of the



290 HISTORY OF ROCKINGHAM COUNTY

Unconoonocks in Goffstown, the historic Jo English hill in New Boston, and

the loftier heights of the Temple and Peterborough Mountains, to the Wachu-
sett, in Massachusetts, on the south. It is here we find the town hall, the

Taylor Library, the first church on the hill, and the burial-place of the old and

later generations ; and around here cluster many of the memories and tradi-

tions of the fathers. The beauty of the place and the high character of the

people invite the stranger from abroad during the summer months.

Derry Village.—There were but few houses in this village prior to the

incorporation of the Londonderry turnpike in 1804, and but little business was
transacted. The turnpike was built soon after the charter was granted, and

immediately thereafter stores were erected and various kinds of business gravi-

tated there, so that in a few years the village became a center of considerable

importance. Jonathan Bell, son of Hon. John Bell, had some years before

kept a store in a building which then stood in, front of the Thornton house.

In 1806, James and Peter Patterson, of the West Parish, built a store in which
they traded a few years. They were succeeded by Peter Patterson and Capt.

William Choate, and they again by the Nesmiths—Thomas, John and Colonel

James. This store was the residence of Mrs. William Butterfield. No store in

its day was better known that that of Adams & Redfield, built about 1810.

A very large and profitable trade was carried on by them for several years.

As an illustration how modern ways have supplanted the old, it may be stated

that all of their heavy goods, such as salt, molasses and rum, were brought
from Boston to Lowell by way of the Middlesex Canal, and thence up the

Merrimac River by boat to a landing below Thornton's Ferry, and thence

across the sands and through the woods of Litchfield ten miles to the store.

Col. Samuel Adams was a man of note in his day. He was born in Newbury,
Mass., April 2, 1779, came to Londonderry with his father when quite young,
and died there September 12, 1861. The village has always enjoyed the

services of the physician and the lawyer. In the" past generations Dr. Matthew
Thornton, a hundred years gone by, and in later years Dr. Luther V. Bell held

high prominence. Dr. James H. Crombie and Dr. David S. Clark are now
in successful practice. Hon. John Porter, born in Bridgewater, Mass., Feb-
ruary 26, 1776, a graduate of Dartmouth in 1803, a resident of Derry from
1806 till his death, December 4, 1857, held high rank as a counselor-at-law.

He was many years a member of the House of Representatives, and in 1827-8
he served on the commission that revised the laws of New Hampshire. 'Hon.
David A. Gregg, nearly a lifelong resident of the village, was held in high
esteem as a lawyer and a citizen.

Derry Depot.—Before the construction of the Londonderry turnpike the
business center of the town was on the hill in the East Parish. There were the
leading hotels and stores, and there the postoffice. If any of the townspeople
were unfortunate enough to need a physician, a lawyer, or a sheriff, all these
were to be found within the limits of what is now East Derry Village. But
the turnpike changed all this, and the lower village became the center. In
like' manner measurably has business been diverted to Derry Depot by the
building of the Manchester and Lawrence Railroad, which opened November
13, 1849. The land occupied by the western part of the village was laid out
in 1722 "to John McClurg, Elizabeth Wilson, and Mary, her daughter";
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other portions to William Ayres, James Alexander, and John Goffe. At the
time the railroad went into operation there was but one house between the
dwelling of Alfred Boyd, on the east, and that of Jonathan (now John)
Holmes, on the west, near the brook.

In due time after the cars commenced running, Benjamin Eastman, a resi-

dent of East Derry, and a man of remarkable capacity for business, erected a
hotel and the large store of L. H. & W. S. Pillsbury, which were destroyed
by fire, August 19, 1882. Mr. Eastman also built the extensive shoe manu-
factory of Col. W. S. Pillsbury. August 19, 1882, a fire in the heart of the

village destroyed property to the amount of about severity-five thousand dollars.

The buildings burned were the hotel of A. B. Smith, in which the fire began,

the store owned by A. P. Hardy and W. S! Pillsbury, the store of Smith &
Rollins, the depot of the Manchester and Lawrence Railroad, and several other

places of business. Several houses were burned, and fourteen families made
homeless.

The Milk Business.—This is carried on by H. P. Hood & Sons, is extensive,

and is the source of much prosperity to Derry, Londonderry, and Windham.

MILITARY

Mexican War.—There were two Derry men in this war : John G. Bond
and Hiram Rowell. The former, whose health was broken down in the

service, died at Concord, N. H., in 1876.

Derry in the Rebellion, 1861-65.—TThis town, like most New Hampshire

towns, promptly responded to the call of the United States Government for

troops, and all through the unhappy contest contributed its full share of means

and men. The first year of the war about thirty men volunteered in the service

of the United States. In August, 1862, the town sent ten men, paying each

$200 bounty. Under the draft of August 11, 1863, Derry paid each of the

drafted men $300. October 17, 1863, twenty-two men were enlisted, costing

the town $13,276. February, 1864, thirteen volunteers were paid $2,502, and

three were drafted, who received $900. July 18, 1864, nineteen three years'

men were "put in," at the cost of $11,400, one two years' man, $600, and

thirteen one year men, at an expense of $6,000. December 19, 1864, the towi^

paid $7,350 for seventeen enlisted men, making in all 114 men, at the aggre-

gate cost of $48,828.
. .. TT , • ^. ,

Roll of men who enlisted : In the First Regiment New Hampshire Volunr

teer Infantry, three months' men. Colonel Tappan, were Melvin Chase and

Frank A Flint, who were mustered in May 2, 1861, and mustered out August

9, 1861; Marian P. Clark and William J. Bassett, mustered in May 3, 1861,

and out August 9, 1861.
.x , • , tt ^

Fourth Regiment, Col. Louis Bell: Nathaniel H. Brown, captain, com-

missioned September 20, 1 861 ; resigned October 6, 1862. Joh^ Christie,

George W Carr, Albion K. Goodwin, George S. Greenough, Joseph Johnson,

Louis Londean, Horace Tilton, Horace F. Abbott, Joseph Anderson, Patrick

Colbert Thomas Grimes, James Kane, John G. Oates, Robert Wellington, John

S. Lovering, Charles M. Ordway, and George E. Fitch, captured at Drury s

Bluff, May 16, 1864; A. D. W. Emerson.
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Fifth Regiment, Colonel Cross : William W. Cook, major, commissioned

September 24, 1861 ; resigned July 17, 1862. Edwin Brickett, died of disease

June 2, 1864. Isaac L. Gardner, wounded June 17, 1864. John Otto. Nehe-

miah Robinson, wounded June 3, 1864. *

Sixth Regiment, Colonel Griffin : Isaiah A. Dustin, honorably discharged

May 17, 1864. George E. Upton, first lieutenant, killed near Petersburg, Va.,

July 30, 1864. Charles Bodwell. Benjamin D. Foster, killed at Bull Run,

Va., August 29, 1862. Issachar O. Foster, wounded June 24, 1864. Dwight
E. Hale, Charles Black, Daniel Drew, John W. Law, Charles Miller, and

James Flanders.

Seventh Regiment, Colonel Abbott: William, A. Hill, first lieutenant,

wounded June 18, 1864. Thomas Simington.

Eighth Regiment, Colonel Fearing: Thomas S. Dustin, died at Baton
Rouge, La., January 19, 1863. Stephen Mills, Warren P. Home, George
McKenny. James W. Novell, died at Baton Rouge, La., April 14, '1863.

George F. Boyd, Matthew Senter, J. D. Morse.

Ninth Regiment, Colonel Fellows : George W. Randall, Charles Laroni,

Alexander Morrison, Lafayette Deeker, John H. McGibbon, Nelson Foster.

Tenth Regiment, Colonel Donohoe: J. T. G. Dinsmore, Jr. David H.
Adams, died at Falmouth, Va., January 18, 1863. Decatur McCarter.

Eleventh Regiment, Colonel Harriman: J. Charles Currier, captain;

Henry G. Dillenback, Charles L. Reynolds, Charles R. Rogers, Edward
Armond, James Blake, J. C. Barron, Thomas McGuire, J. McGovern, James
Parker, Michael Sorhew.

Twelfth Regiment, Colonel Potter : . Robert W. McMurphy, Adam Debas,
F. Markhoff, Andrew J. Goodwin.

Thirteenth Regiment, Colonel Stevens : Col. Aaron F. Stevens was born
in Derry. He was commissioned colonel August 26, 1862, having served as

major in the first N. H. Regiment. He was wounded June i, 1864, and
again, severely, September 29, 1864. Marcellus C. Shattuck, Tenny Major,
John H. Parker.

Seventeenth Regiment, Colonel Kent : George O. Everett.

Eighteenth Regiment : John Bowley, George E. Merill, William Marshall,

George Reed, Edgar H. Shepard. The last named was son of Hon. W. H.
Shepard, of Derry. He died at Concord, N. H., March 6, 1865.

New Hampshire Battalion, First Regiment New England Cavalry, Major
Nelson : William A. McMurphy, Charles B. Radcliff, E. L. Currier.

First Regiment New Hampshire Cavalry, Colonel Thompson: N. H.
Brown, captain of Troop F; Henry Forger, Samuel Harvey^ John Smith,
Thomas Tyrie, Warren E. Clark, Alfred Clifton, Frederick Davis, James
Evans, Frank A. Lincoln, John H. LoW, Henry M. Moulton, John R. Moulton,
Daniel Shattuck, George B. Tuttle, C. F. Whidden, and John E. Webster.

First Regiment New Hampshire Volunteer Heavy Artillery, Colonel Long

:

Daniel Owens, Francis Owens, George Major, Jeremiah Garvin, Charles
Aldrich, James E. Morrill, Nathan Morse, George R. Barker, Theodore Dins-
moore, W. K. Hayes, Charles A. Nowell, H. A. G. Storer, Kimball J. Wilson,
Charles T. Wheeler.
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There were several men from Derry who served in the war, but their names
are unknown to the writer.

Enrollment of Derry, April 30, 1865, 155; total of quota under all calls

for men from July, 1863, 95 ; total credits by enrollment and draft, 102 ; sur-

plus, 7.

Mr. Daniel G. George, a resident of Derry, enjoys the honor of being
the man who pulled the lanyard of the torpedo that destroyed the rebel boat
"Albemarle" during the late war. He has received $10,000 from the United
States Government as a reward for his bravery. He has also a beautiful

medal, the gift of Government, in acknowledgment of his services.

Londonderry Celebration.—June 10, 1869, 150 years from the settlement

of the town, a vast concourse of people from all parts of the country assembled

on the plains a few rods east of Derry Depot, and celebrated the occasion with
feasting, speech and song. Many thousands of the citizens of Old London-
derry and other towns in the vicinity assembled in a large tent, raised for the

purpose, and listened to speeches from some of the eminent men of the day.

Hon. George W. Patterson, of Westfield, N. Y., a native of the town, presided,

and Hon. Charles H. Bell, of Exeter, N. H., made the leading address. He
was followed by Hon. James W. Patterson, of Hanover, N. H., Horace
Greeley, Dr. S. H. Taylor, Hon. E. H. Derby, Gen. Aaron F. Stevens, Rev.

C. M. Dinsmore, and Hon. A. H. Cragin.

A little after noon the vast assembly was provided with a generous enter-

tainment by the ladies of Derry, Londonderry, and Windham.
It was an occasion of rare enjoyment to all who participated in the serv-

ices of the day.

A compilation of the exercises was made by R. C. Mack in a volume of

124 pages.

Newspapers and Printing.—A printing office was "set up" many years ago

by Isaiah Thomas or his brother on Doak's Plains, now Boyd's Plains, a little

east of Derry Depot. How long he was there or just where his office was

situated is not known. In the summer of 1876, Charles Bartlett opened a

printing office in Derry village, and uniting with this the sale of books and

stationery, he has carried on a successful business since. In connection with

N. C. Bartlett, in 1880, he commenced the publishment of the Derry News.

At the end of the year Mr. N. C. Bartlett retired, leaving the control of the

paper to Mr. Charles Bartlett, who in April, 1882, enlarged it to a twenty-four-

column folio. The paper is a success, and is much appreciated by the citizens

of Derry and Londonderry and former residents of both towns. E. P. Trow-

bridge is the present publisher of the Derry News and of tht Enterprise, the

weekly edition. ,• , , r o
First Library.—A few of the leadmg people m town a little before 1800

established a Hbrary of several hundred volumes. It was kept at first at the

house of Capt. James Aiken, otherwise known as Deacon Aiken, in the Aiken's

Range Derry When the village began to assume importance the books were

removed to the Thornton House, and Maj. Peter Patterson served as librarian.

They were mostly of an historical and religious character, were well read,

and were kept together till the division of the town in 1827, when they were

divided among the stockholders. John Porter, Esq., for those who lived in the
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new town, and Robert Mack, for Londonderry, made the division. The. rule

they adopted was to give the interested parties each a pile of books of about

equal size. A few volumes of that old library are yet to be found in various

families in both towns.

The Lihra/ry.—Upon the death of Miss Harriet Taylor the town secured

from her estate $ 1,000 to found a library. It went into operation February

23, 1878, with about one thousand volumes. The library now contains 6,986

volumes. C. Louise Bachelder is the librarian. At a recent town meeting it

was voted to rebuild the Adams Memorial buildings, which formerly housed

it. This building of brick and stone was given to the town years ago, and
this winter burned down. It will be reconstructed in 1914 fully as beautiful

as it was before and suitable quarters will be arranged in it for the library,

the court, the town offices and an auditorium.

Masonry.—St. Mark's Lodge of Free and Accepted Masons, No. 44. This

lodgewas-chartered June 14, 1826.

Odd-Fellowship.—Echo Lodge. April 17, 1879, a lodge of Odd-Fellows
by the above name was instituted in Derry. The initial meeting numbered
nineteen persons, eight being charter members and eleven by admission. The
first officers were Henry S. Warner, noble grand; R. ,R. Merrick, vice grand;
F. A. Cross, secretary; Charles L. Cutler, treasurer.

Grand Army.—George E. Upton Post, No. 45. This post is named after

Lieut. George E. Upton, who enhsted as a private November 28, 1861, in Com-
pany G, Sixth New Hampshire Volunteers, and was promoted to first lieu-

tenant October 30, 1863, and was killed near Petersburg, Va., July 30, 1864.
The post was chartered September 4, 1879. Following are the names of

the charter members : David S. Clark, James H. Crombie, Charles H. Cum-
mings, Isaiah A. Dustin, James Evans, Charles F. Fields, Isaac N. Hunt,
Francis Owens, A. A. Pressey, George Richards, C. M. Tilton, George B.

Tuttle, Henry C. Vining, Caleb F. Whidden, and Amos M. Young.
Nut-field Grange, No. 57.—The Patrons of Husbandry organized Sep-

tember 23, 1874, a grange, to which the appropriate name of "Nutfield" was
given. The first Master was W. O. Noyes.

Societies : Derryfield Lodge, A. O. U. W. Beaver Colony Pilgrim Fathers

;

Rockingham Lodge, K. of P.; Rathbone Division, U. R. K. of P.; Mystic
Encampment, I. O. O. F. ; Mizpah Rebekah Lodge; Wesley B. Knight Post;
Geo. E Upton Post, G A. R. ; W. B. Knight and G. E. Upton Relief Corps

;

Ivanhoe Temple, No. i ; Molly Reid Chapter of the Daughters of the American
Revolution; Bell Chapter, A. F. & A. M. ; Ransford Chapter, O. E. S. ; Derry
W. C. T. U. ; Honesty Lodge, N. E. O. P. ; Court Nutfield, F. of A. ; Golden
Cross, Woman's Club ; Nutfield Dramatic Co. ; Red Men ; West Derry Grange,
P. of H.; Eagles; Knight's of Malta; Knight's of America; Noeskateta Coun-
cil, Daughters of Pocahontas; Owls.

The physicians are : G. H. Berkley, C. E. Newell, T. B. Perkins, S. T.
Cogswell and L. G. Dearborn.

Lawyers
: G. K. & B. T. Bartlett, J. G. Crawford, E. B. Weston, H. L.

Grinnell, Jr. See Bench and Bar chapter.

Public Requests in Derry.—This town has enjoyed a larger share of public
bequests than falls to the lot of most towns. As early as 1722 the hard-
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pressed settlers were generously aided by gentlemen of Portsmouth in the
building of their church. In 1815, Maj. John Pinkerton endowed the Pinker-
ton Academy with a fund of $12,000, and his brother. Deacon James Pinker-
ton, added $1,500 to this amount. Mr. Jacob Adams, who died in 1823, by
his will devised about four thousand dollars to the Adams Female Academy.
Mr. Adams also donated $800 to the East Church in Derry, to aid in pur-

chasing a bell for that meeting house. The late Mrs. Abby C. McGregor left

the sum of $1,000 to the Adams Female Academy. In 1870, Richard Melvin
gave the First Congregational Society a fund of $1,000. Dr. Sylvanus Brown
bequeathed about seven thousand dollars to the town, the yearly income of

which 'is to be expended in the purchase of flannel for the destitute people of

the town as the selectmen for the time being shall designate. Doctor Brown
also left $500, the annual interest to be used in "picking the small stones from
the public highways." He devised likewise a small sum to remain at interest

until 1919, at which time the whole shall be used in payment for "nuts and
cider" for all persons present at the celebration of the two hundreth anni-

versary of the town's settlement. Hon. E. H. Derby, of Boston, an eloquent

and sincere friend of the town, gave to Pinkerton Academy $1,000 for a

library. The academy also received about five hundred dollars from various

persons at its semi-centennial in 1878. Miss Harriet Taylor, daughter of

Deacon James Taylor, formerly an honored citizen of Derry, bequeathed in

1876 $1,000 to found a public library in town. The elegant clock in the

steeple of the East Derry Church, whose two broad faces may be seen far and

wide, was placed there by her generous bounty. Mrs. Philip Nowell left

$2,000 to the town, to be expended in the erection of a town hall. She also

gave $500 to the Cemetery Association, and the same sum for the benefit of the

old part of the cemetery, and also $1 ,000 to the Adams Female Academy. The

late David Bassett left $3,000 to repair the East Derry Church. But the most

munificent bequest is that of $200,000 to the Pinkerton Academy by the late

John M. Pinkerton.

RELIGIOUS

First Meeting House.—From the town records the initial steps towards

the erection of a house of worship appear to have been in a vote taken in gen-

eral town meeting, June 3, 1720: "The Town voated that there shall be

a small house built that may be convenient for the inhabitants to meet m
for the worship of God, & that it shall be built as sune as it can with con-

veniency; allso that the house shall be built as near the center of the one

hundred & five lots as can be with convenience." A few days later a location

was agreed upon. It was "voated that the meeting-house shall be built withm

seven rods of a black stake set up either upon or near unto Mr. McGregor's

lott
" The matter rested till the January following, when the town voated

that a meeting-house shall be built as speedily as may be, & that the said

house shall be so feet in length, forty-five feet broad, and so high as may be

conveneant for one set of galeryes." The galleries of this house were reached

by steps or stairs built on the outside, at the side or end. 1728, Voted that the

stairs to go up to our galleries for the meeting-house shall be brought to the
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inside, & that there shall be windows struke out in the north side, one on each

side of the pulpit." It appears from this that steps to reach the galleries were

on the north side of the house, and that the pulpit faced the south. The
difficulty arising from inability to procure the necessary materials delayed the

work, and two years elapsed before the house was finished and ready for

occupancy. Its location was between the present church in East Derry and the

leading highway through the village, a little nearer the church than the road.

This house answered the purpose of the parish till 1769, when a new one, the

present edifice, sixty-five by forty-five feet, was built. The high and massive

steeple, with its immense timbers used at that time, made the erection of

churches an affair of great importance, especially the raising. To accom-

plish this ropes and machinery were brought from afar, the most resolute and

energetic men were summoned to the task, and often several days were needed

to get the building ready for the boards. It is no wonder that "four 100 weight

of cheas, 2000 Bisket, 3 bad of Rhum, & 5 barl of Syder" were used at the

raising of the first church. Matthew Thornton, Moses Barnet, and James
Wallace were the building committee.

This house was enlarged in 1824, by cutting it through the middle, moving
the eastern end twenty-four feet, and finishing between the parts. "In 1845
it was thoroughly remodeled as to internal construction, and so arranged as to

afford not only a large and spacious church, but also a Town Hall, a vestry, a

room for the session, a room for the Parish Library, and other uses."

Ministers of the East Parish.—Rev. James McGregor. The character of

most of our early New England towns was largely due to the influence of the

clergy. With rare exceptions this influence was on the side of everything

conducive to the spiritual and material interests of the people. In the long

and arduous labors of the settlers in subduing the wilderness, and establishing

their communities on a basis of order and good government ; in their resolute

and heroic conflicts with "principalities and powers, with things present and
things to come," the clergy of New England were always at the front doing
battle for the right. Pre-eminently may this be said of the McGregors, father

and son, of Londonderry, the former the Rev. James McGregor, first minister

of the East Parish, and Rev. David McGregor, first pastor of the West Parish.

No people ever enjoyed wiser or better counselors. The former assumed
charge of his society, as there was no Presb3rtery in New England to formally

install him in office. He continued in charge till his death, March 5, 1729.
Doctor Belknap gives him the character of a "wise, affectionate, and faithful

guide to his people both in civil and religious matters."

Rev. Mr. Parker says, "From traditional remarks, as well as from some
few manuscripts of his which have been preserved, we are led to consider
him a man of distinguished talents both natural and acquired. He evidently
possessed a vigorous mind, and was strictly evangelical in his doctrinal views."

Rev. Matthew Qark succeeded to the pastoral office in the First Church
immediately after the death of Mr. McGregor. Although never installed over
the people, he is usually enrolled among the ministers of that parish. He died

January 25, 1735, aged seventy-six years, having had charge of the church
aboiit six years. Notwithstanding his brief term of service, more is known
of him at the present day than is known of his predecessor and his first and
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second successors, although their united pastorates amount to about sixty-five
years. Scarcely a word of their sayings or a line of their writings have come
down to us, but those of Matthew Clark still live in the memories of the
people, and are common in the literature of the day. This is due partly to his
wit and the eccentricity of his character, and partly to the military renown that
attaches to his name as an officer in the famous siege of Londonderry 1688-9.
So many anecdotes are credited to him that it is difficult to find a new one.
Preaching one day he read the words of Peter with the subjoined commentary

:

"Master, we have forsaken all and followed thee." "Poor boasting Peter! ye
left a' did ye ? and what had ye to leave but a crazy auld boat and a wheen of
rotten nets ?"

Rev. Mr. Parker sums up his character as follows : "He was sound in the
faith, decided and independent in his sentiments, and fearless in defense of
what he judged to be correct in doctrine and practice."

Rev. Thomas Thompson.^—The freeholders and inhabitants of London-
derry "Voted, November 3, 1732, that the Rev. Mr. McBride, of Bellemory,

Ireland, and Mr. Robert Boyer, of Londonderry, are chosen commissioners to

prefer our call for a minister in Ireland," and the same day "Voted to pur-

chase Hugh Craige's half lot for said minister, and to bestow 100 acres of land

upon him." Robert Boyer, Esq., went to Ireland, and returned in October,

1733, bringing with him Rev. Thomas Thompson, who was cheerfully received

and accepted by the people. He died September 22, 1738, after a short but

successful ministry of five years, leaving a widow and one son, for whose
education the town voted a gratuity of seventy pounds.

Rev. William Davidson.—He was installed in 1739. Rev. Mr. Parker

briefly sketches his life : "He was a man of very amiable character, possessing

a peculiarly mild, friendly, and benevolent disposition. He did not excel as

a theologian or as a public speaker. He was supposed to be inclined to Armin-

ianism, yet as a pastor he was diligent and affectionate." He left two sons

and two daughters. John, the eldest son, became a loyalist, and was pro-

scribed and banished by the act of the New Hampshire Legislature, November

19, 1778. Both sons removed to Nova Scotia at the commencement of the

Revolution. Mr. Davidson's daugheer Ann married Rev. Solomon Moor, of

New Boston, N. H.
Rev. Jonathan Brown.—After a vacancy of four years, Mr. Brown, in

1795, was installed by the London Presbytery over the East Parish. This

action of the Presbytery proved unwise, as it led to dissention in the parish,

which resulted in the formation of a Congregational society two or three years

after. The seceding part maintained a feeble existence about twelve years,

worshiping in the lower hall of Dr. Isaac Thorn's tavern. In 1809 it came

back to the Presbyterian fold. Mr. Brown was dismissed in 1804, and died in

February, 1808, aged eighty years.

Rev. Edward Lutwyche Parker was named for the loyalist, Edward Gold-

stone Lutwyche, of Merrimac, N. H., whose estate was confiscated and sold to

Hon. Matthew Thornton. He was ordained September 12, 1810, and died

suddenly while pastor of the church, July 14, 1850. Mr. Parker was the

author of the valuable history of the town, published in 185 1 by his son,

Edward P. Parker. He was succeeded June 18, 185 1, by Revs. J. W. Wellman,
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E. N. Hidden, L. S. Parker, David Bremmer, E. S. Huntress, John G. Harris,

and Frederick I. Kelley, the present pastor.

The Meeting House of the First Congregational Church was erected in

1837, on a fine eminence overlooking Derry village. It cost about thirty-five

hundred dollars. In 1872 $3,700 were expended in repairs. The society has a

parsonage purchased in 1881 at a cost of $2,300.

Ministers of the Central Congregational Church.—This church was con-

stituted August 3, 1837, and consisted of forty members from the Presbyterian

society in Derry and twenty-three from the Presbyterian Church in London-
derry.

Their first pastor was Rev. PJiny B. Day, a graduate of Amherst and
Andover. He was ordained October 4, 1837, and dismissed June 9, 1851.
His successors are as follows : Rev. Ebenezer G. Parsons, who graduated at

Bowdoin and Bangor, was installed October i, 1851, and dismissed October

7, 1869; Rev. Robert W. Haskins, a graduate of the New York University
and Andover, ordained November 19, 1872, and dismissed October 15, 1878;
Rev. Daniel W. Richardson, 1880-5; R^v. Hiram B. Putnam, 1885-1901

;

Rev. Charles L. Merriam, 1902-10; Rev. Charles F. Robinson, 1911-13.
During Rev. Mr. Merriam's pastorate new social rooms were acquired at

an expense of $4,000.
The seventy-fifth anniversary of the founding of the Central Congrega-

tional Church was commemorated August 4, 1912.

Methodist Church and Ministers.—A Methodist Episcopal Chur.ch was
organized in Derry August 6, 1834. October 25, 1834, notice was published
of the formal organization of a society. It was signed by Caleb Dustin, John
Taylor, Gilman Dinsmore, and William S. Follansbee; Mr. Dinsmore, clerk.
The society held services at first for a short time at the houses of its members,
but soon occupied the "Brick Schoolhouse" at the lower end of the village.'

The church prospered, and more and better accommodations being needed in

1836 a meeting house was erected. Following is a partial roll of clergymen
of this church and society: Philo Bronson, James McCane, Samuel Hoyt,
William H. Brewster, Michael Quimby, Jonathan Hazelton, S. S. Matthews,'
James Adams, G. W. T. Rogers, F. Q. Barrows, James Palmer, Isaac S. Cush-
man, Charles Smith, Hamlin, Parkhurst, John W. Adams, Lorenzo
Draper, Rufus Tilton, E. Lewis, N. G. Cheney, W. P. Ray, W. W.H. Pills-
bury, James Noyes, Elihu Scott, W. B. Osgood,

J. W. Dearborn, A. E. Higgins
A. B. Carter, S. C, Farnham, N. Alger, W. W. Smith, O. A. Farley, Frederic
C. Pillsbury and C. W. Martin. The present pastor. Rev. G. w! Farmer
was assigned^ to Derry Village and St. Luke's at the April conference.

St. Luke's Methodist Church was established as a mission in i88s and
organized as a church February 12, 1888, with Rev. Wm. Ramsden pastor
till April, 1889; C. W. Taylor, 1889-92 ; Daniel Onstott, 1892-4- W A Mayo'
1^4-5; H. E. Allen, 1895-9; J- H. Trow, 1899-1900; D. C. Babcock, 1900-4;'
Wm. Thompson, 1904-6; H. F. Quimby, 1906-9; C. W. Martin, 1900-12-
G. W. Farmer, 19 12- 14.

'

St. Thomas Aquinas Catholic Church of Derry, N. H.—Mass was held for
the first time in Derry at the home of John Duffy in 1869 by the Rev John
O'Brien. Rev. William McDonald afterwards visited the town occasionally
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and held services. In 1885 it became a mission of the Cathedral parish. In
1888 It was organized as an independent parish by the Rev. William J. O'Con-
nor. Father O'Connor was instrumental in building the church and it was
dedicated by Bishop Bradley in November, 1889, under the patronage of St.
Thomas Aquinas. Rev. Daniel J. Dunn, the present pastor, came to the church
in i8g6. He has been a very faithful and earnest priest for his parish. Under
his care the church property has been greatly improved and the membership of
the parish largely increased. Rev. E. N. Durette is the curate of the parish and
proves an able assistant to Father Dunn. Rev. G. E. Haslem is the pastor of
the Episcopal Mission.

First Baptist Church of Derry was organized October 10, 1880, with four-
teen members, including Rev. A. S. Stowell and wife. Their place of worship
was in Smith's hall until the great fire of August 19, 1882, afterwards in a
schoolhouse, and then in a building erected for temporary use by three or four
brethren. In the spring of 1884 their fine edifice on the corner of Broadway
and Crystal Avenue was erected and dedicated. Rev. Alfred S. Stowell was
ordained November 17, 1880, and was pastor for nine years. Rev. J. H.
Nichols served from December, 1889, to April, 19 10. Their present pastor,

Rev. Irving J. Enslin, began in December, 1910.

Episcopal Church.—The Episcopal church in Derry was erected in 190S, and the
Rectory two years later. The cost of the buildings was about $8,000.00. In the year 1890 there
were weekly afternoon services, consisting of evening prayer, sermon and music, main-
tained in a private house, from March i6th to October 12th, inclusive. These services were
given by the Rev. Jesse G. MacMurphy, who was born in Derry and had returned to his

•native town after living in Wisconsin many years.- In the year iBpg, services were begun
in this town that have continued every Sunday since without interruption. On the 6th day
of August, 1899, the Rev. Edward M. Parker, the present bishop of New Hampshire, and the

Rev. William Northey Jones, had canvassed the town and called together the scattering

communicants of the church for that evening. And as that was a festival day in the calendar,

the society soon adopted the name, "The Church of the Transfiguration." The Rev. Wendell
Phillips Elkins had charge of the services for about a year, and was followed by the Rev.
Donald Brown. Two services were now held each Sunday and the Rev. Jesse G. MacMurphy
assisted and supplemented the work as warden and priest. The Rev. John Gregson followed
in the charge of the church, being here one Sunday in each month, the Rev. Jesse G. Mac-
Murphy officiating in his absence. These clergymen served Derry in this way for about two
years each. Then the society came under the charge of the Rev. James C. Flanders, who
also was assisted by the Rev. Jesse G. MacMurphy. During his time the church edifice was
erected and the services transferred to the new .quarters. The present rector, the Rev. George
Haslam, came to the society in 1907. Rev. Jesse G. MacMurphy either officiated in the church
at Derry, or went to one of the other towns for Sunday services. The organization of the

church is as follows : Rev. George Haslam, rector ; Rev. Jesse G. MacMurphy, assistant

(also assistant warden); Louis M. Packer, junior warden; S. Howard Bell, treasurer;

J. Frank Stewart, clerk.

There is a vested choir of men and boys ; also an efficient Women's Guild, of which
Mrs. George Haslam is president, Mrs. J. G. MacMurphy, secretary, and Miss Susie Dugan,
treasurer. There is also a Junior Guild, of which Miss May Bond is president. Miss Ida

Stewart, secretary and Miss I. Hanscom, treasurer. The Sunday school is also organized with

officers and teachers. There is a Boys' Club, of which the Rector is president and the

Assistant, vice president.



CHAPTER XXV

EAST KINGSTON

Early History—First Settlers—The Churches—Military Record—Public

Library

Early History, etc.—T\it. charter of Kingston was granted by the Pro-

vincial Assembly, under the administration of Lieut.-Gov. John Usher,

August 6, 1694, embracing a tract of land commencing seven miles west of

the meeting-house in Hampton, which is the line between East Kingston

and Kensington and extending ten miles west and by north into the country.

Its breadth was four miles north from Shapley's line, the present boundary

between East Kingston and South Hampton. This line was represented

in the charter as three miles north of Merrimac River, though it was really

nearer five miles. This territory comprised what now constitutes East

Kingston, Danville, Sandown, and the larger part of Kingston. In 1738
fifty-three persons in the Town of Kingston united in a petition to the Greneral

Assembly to be set off into a separate parish. The petitioners were Jeremy,

Ebenezer, John, Thomas, and Andrew Webster, Nathan, Phinehas, Josiah;

and Ebenezer Batchelder, Ichabod, Caleb, and Theophilus Clough, William

and Abraham Smith, Jacob Gale, William Whickee, Benjamin Morrill, Joseph

Greele, James Tappan, Isaac Godfrey, and Josiah Tilton.

Of the remaining thirty-two there is not one of whom anything is known,
or whose known descendants live in the town. Of most of them their names
are not recognized by the present generation. They prayed to be set off

"into a separate parish, with their families and possessions, to enjoy all the

rights and privileges that other parishes have and do by law enjoy." The
reason they assigned for wishing to be incorporated into a distinct parish

were "their great distance from the place of public worship in the said

town of Kingston, and attending on the same; have built a meeting-house in

that part of the town where they live convenient for themselves and their

families, and being desirous of having a gospel ministry among them," they

pray "to be exempted from paying taxes for the support of schools and the

ministry to the said Town of Kingston after the year 1738, and to choose
their own parish officers and assess and collect taxes." These privileges

were all granted in their charter, "provided the said petitioners maintain an
authorized minister of the gospel among them." The parish was incorporated
November 17, 1738. Jeremy Webster was authorized to call the first meet-
ing, which he did, and an organization was effected January 10, 1738-39.
Joseph Greele was chosen moderator, and Jeremy Webster, clerk. A call

was then extended to the Rev. Peter Coffin to settle with them as their

minister, which was accepted August 31, 1739.

300
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By an act of the Provincial Council in August, 1740, the boundaries
between the East Parish of Kingston and the Town of Kingston were estab-
lished as follows: "Midway between the meeting-houses of Kingston and
the East Parish in a straight line a stone was set up on the highway called
Salisbury road. . . .

"From said stone north by compass to Exeter line, and from, the stone
aforesaid south to the path going from Kingston to Amesbury by the way
of Trickling Fall ; there a beech-tree was marked, not knowing the bounds
of Salisbury or Amesbury." The boundaries of East Kingston are north by
Kingston and Exeter, east by Kensington, south by South Hampton and
Newton, and west by Kingston. Whoever is inclined to look at the coimty
rnap will see that the town is in the form of a parallelogram, the longest
sides being from north to south. From the northwest angle is a large area
taken off and atta;;hed to Kingston. This is known as "Exeter road." The
question is raised how this portion came to remain as Kingston, as the
boundary according to the act would be on the north by Brentwood, leaving
this territory in the East Parish. In the act authorizing the running of the
boundary line in 1740, any person so disposed was allowed to poll off to the

Town of Kingston.

Forty-three persons availed themselves of this provision. Among these

were a number of narhes of persons well known in the district at the present

time, such as Eastman, French, Sanborn, Long, and Judkins. These persons

not wishing to be included in the new parish, and having polled off to the

Town of Kingston, the line was drawn as it now exists for general convenience.^

Since that time a number of efforts have been made to restore the bound-
aries as originally enacted.

In 1795 it was proposed "to build a new meeting-house twenty rods north

of Capt. John Currier's, on the road to Exeter." The town voted "they were
wilhng to receive all who had polled off." Nothing came from it.

In 1826 the reannexation of Exeter road to this town, so as to restore

the original parish Hoes, was again agitated, and the town voted "to receive

the inhabitants of Kingston, on Exeter road, so called, into the Town of

East Kingston, as by their .petition, and the order of the Legislature thereon

for a day of hearing." Many were anxious to be reannexed, and others in

this town were desirous they should be; but some influential men were so

decidedly, not to say violently, in opposition to the project that it failed,

and the "day of hearing" had no favorable result. No propositions of the

kind have since been made.

Misunderstandings arose between the two parishes in relation to the

parsonage, maintaining the poor, and various other matters. The conten-

tions were such as came near bringing on a lawsuit; but wiser counsels pre-

vailed, and it was decided "that each parish must maintain their own poor

and support their own schools." But such were their remaining and continued

difficulties, and so far were they from a settlement, that the town voted, in

1750, "that we are willing the Rev. Mr. Coffin request the Rev. Mr. Secombe

that the parsonage land be divided between them, and in case such division

cannot be obtained peaceably, we will support the Rev. Mr. Secombe to obtain
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such division." No lawsuit followed, but after long controversy and strife

the whole matter of parsonage was settled in March, 1761, in articles of

agreement, drawn up by committees from each of the towns of Kingston,

East Kingston, Hawke, and Sandown. Thus it was twenty-two years before

this controversy was concluded. Mr. Coffin continued here as the minister

of the town thirty-three years. In 1772 he was dismissed after much con-

tention. That there was great fault on both sides the impartial reader at

this time, more than a century afterwards, can have ho doubt.

The salary of Mr. Coffin for the first nine years after his settlement in

1739 was an average of forty-five pounds. New England currency, annually,

or the equivalent of $1 50. To this was added the use of the parsonage, twenty-

five cords of wood, and other perquisites. In 1748 it was 320 pounds, old

tenor, which at that time was worth not far from fifty cents on the pound
silver money. In 1760 he received sixty pounds lawful money, or $2CX).

A pound lawful money was. twenty shillings New England currency, equal

to three and one-third dollars. At the close of his ministry in 1772, he was
receiving seventy pounds. To these sums add an acre of land given him on
which to build a house, one hundred pounds to aid him in building the house,

assistance in building the barn, wood supplied by the parish from the par-

sonage wood lot, with some other gifts and allowances, and sixty pounds
when he was dismissed in payment of constructive services, with various other

allowances amounting to fifty pounds, and we have a pretty correct idea of his

income for the thirty-three years he was their minister. These payments
were generally made in paper money, but there seem to have been reasonable
efforts to pay him in a fair circulating currency.

Soon after the dismission of Mr. Coffin there was an effort to obtain

a successor. The town voted in .October, 1772, to call and settle a minister,

with a salary of eighty pounds and the use of the parsonage. A number of
candidates were tried, but upon none of them could there be an agreement
for settlement.

With the opening scenes of the Revolution the attention of the people was
turned somewhat from ecclesiastical to political duties. In patriotism East
Kingston was not behind her sister towns. A committee was chosen to meet
committees from other towns in Exeter, July 9, 1774, in convention, to choose
delegates to represent this province in a congress proposed to be held by dele-
gates from the several colonies and provinces in North America, and agreed
"That they will pay their part of the expenses and charges in sending dele-
gates, and will draw the money out of the Parish Treasury." 1775, May
8th, a committee was chosen to meet at Exeter on the 17th inst., with delegates
from the several towns of this province, "who, when met with the other dele-
gates shall be fully empowered and authorized to pursue such- measures
as may be judged most expedient to preserve and restore the rights of this and
the other colonies, and that such deputies shall be empowered to act in behalf
of themselves and their constituents." They also voted at this meeting "to
raise thirteen men, called 'minute-men,' who shall be ready at any sufficient
alarm for the defense of the colonies, 'each man when called for to join with
the army of observation.' " They were to be provided with a "coat and
blanket, arms, ammunition, and provisions, and paid for their services from
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the town treasury." A "Committee of Safety" of nine persons was chosen,
which was continued through the war, though its members were a number
of times changed. It embraced during its existence most of the principal
citizens.

1776. Eight men were rafsed for the expedition against Canada. Meas-
ures were taken to raise money to pay bounties to these men, and also to pay
their expenses. 1777, May 21st, a vote was passed to enlist a sufficient num-
ber of men as cheap as they can to fill the quota, and tax the parish . . .

to raise the money and pay the same. It was also voted "that every one in
this parish must get himself ready and properly equipped for military service,

both alarm and training-band, by next Monday, and then stand ready to march
at a minute's warning." Also voted "supplies and preparations for an
invasion."

1778. Voted supplies liberally and preparations in expectation of an
invasion, as the "Committee of Safety have received advice, and for the men
to be ready at a moment's warning."

1779. April 19th, voted "To give a bounty of $1,500 each to three
men to enlist in the service." This, of course, was in depreciated paper cur-

rency. Nearly as large sums were given afterwards in a number of instances.

1780. Great exertions were made to raise and pay soldiers, to whom
large bounties were given in addition to their wages.

1 781. The town voted "we are willing to raise our proportion of soldiers

for the Continental army;" chose a "committee to raise men to fill the

quota."

"The book containing the plan of government having been read and dis-

cussed, it was voted to receive it, under certain Hmitations."

1783. Approved of the plan of government and voted for its continuance.

We have now given extracts from the records of specimens of the spirit

and action of the people. Through the war public meetings were held fre-

quently, and at different hours of the day and evening. They often adjourned

to a day not far distant without especial business, but looking for something

to occur which would require concerted action and a vote of the town.

The quotas were promptly filled, though sometimes at enormous prices.

Military preparations continued long after the close of the War of the

Revolution, and soldiers styled "minute-men" were always in readiness.

1812. It was voted "To make up to each soldier $15 per month, with what

Government allows." At this date the war had broken out usually termed

the War of 1812-14, or "last war with Great Britain," and our people were

found prepared for it. In 1813-15 committees were chosen to look after the

drafted men, to hire men to fill the quotas, to serve for the defense of the

state. The calls of the Government were promptly answered and the quotas

of the town always filled.

In 18 18 it was "voted to sell the parsonage, invest the money, and lay

out the interest annually in preaching."

The "Toleration Act," passed by the Legislature of New Hampshire, July,

1819, provides that "no person shall be compelled to join or support any

congregation, church, or religious society without his express consent first had

and obtained." . . "And any person may, if connected with a society,
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by leaving a written notice with the clerk of the society, be exempted from
any future expenses." This act ended all controversy in relation to taxing

the people to support a ministry. Thereafter every society attended to their

own affairs. There has occasionally, ' and of late, been a little agitation and
a slight ripple of feeling in relation to the disposition of the parsonage money;
but nothing has ever resulted from it, and probably never will.

1830. The meeting-house, which had stood ninety-two years, was torn

down, and the town-house erected in its place. It was finished with pews.

The house was completed, the pews sold at auction, and' titles given May 2,

183 1. It was to be occupied by the town whenever needed for town purposes;

at all other times, and on Sabbaths, by the several religious societies such a
proportion of the time as they owned pews. The selectmen decided annually

what Sabbaths each society should occupy the house during the ensuing

year.

1837. On a petition of twenty legal voters a town-meeting was held July
1st at the town-house, which was called to order by one of the selectmen,

when John Philbrick was chosen clerk pro tern., and Charles Sanborn was
chosen moderator. It was then, on motion, "Vdted, That no one has a right

to hold abolition or anti-slavery meetings in the town hall or other public

buildings belonging to said town." A division of the house being called for,

seventeen were for opening the house and forty-seven were against it. Voted,
"That the town authorize the selectmen, or any freeholder in the town, to

clear the public buildings in said town of any person or persons delivering

or attempting to deliver any abolition lectures or addresses, and at the expense
of said town." We do not think any arrests were made under this town
authority, and we do not know what attempts were made to hold meetings
or lecture on slavery for a number of years thereafter in any of the public
buildings. Still, the legality of this whole proceeding has been well doubted.

In 1847, March 9th, at the annual meeting it was voted, "That the vote
passed July i, 1837, relative to the using of the public buildings to hold aboli-

tion or anti-slavery lectures or addresses in, be reconsidered." Since that time
the town-house has been open for public meetings without regard to the
political complexion of the speakers or their friends.

1859. By votes of the town the rights of individuals to the pews in the
town-house were purchased and taken away, and movable settees substituted.

When the Civil war broke out there was much party feeling, but no lack
of patriotism.

At a town-meeting called May 9, 1861, it was voted to authorize the select-
men to hire $1,000 to pay soldiers.

October loth. Voted to adopt the act passed at the last June session
of the Legislature, chapter 2480, entitled "An act authorizing cities and
towns to aid the families of volunteers, and for other purposes," and that the
selectmen carry this vote into effect.

1862. August i8th, the selectmen were authorized to hire $5,000 to pay
volunteer citizens, $300 each. August 21st, the selectmen were' authorized
"to pay the bounty of $300 to as large a number of volunteers as may be
sufficient to cover all quotas called for by the President."

1863. August i2th, voted, that the selectmen be authorized to hire such
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sum of money as may be necessary to pay each drafted man the sum of
$300. August 15th, voted, "That the town raise and pay to every inhabi-
tant thereof who have been or shall be drafted or conscripted to serve in the
army of the United States under the present draft, or to the substitute of such
drafted or conscripted inhabitant, the sum of $300 bounty."

1864. June 13th, voted, that the selectmen be authorized to pay a bounty
of $100 to each person who has entered into the service of the United States,

and has not been paid a town bounty since May, 1863. July 20th, the select-

men were authorized to borrow $5,000, and from the same to pay
each volunteer or substitute who may be accepted and mustered into the mili-

tary service of the United States . . . such sums as they may find neces-

sary or deem expedient, not exceeding the limit prescribed by law.

There went from this town forty-five volunteers and eleven substitutes,

making the whole number fifty-six.

The surface of the town is moderately uneven. The soil is of a good
quality, and well adapted to the cultivation of farm and garden products, and
to grasses and all kinds of grain. It produces large crops of Indian corn,

barley, oats, potatoes, and esculent roots.

The Boston and Maine Railroad runs through the town from a point in

Kingston near the southwest part of East Kingston to the extreme northeast,

where it enters Exeter. From the station-house, near the center of the town

:

Boston is distant forty-five and three fourths miles by the railroad, forty

miles by the carriage-road as usually traveled, and thirty-five miles south

five degrees west in a direct line.

Portland is distant sixty-nine and three-fourths miles by the railroad,

eighty miles by the carriage-road, and sixty-two miles north thirty-seven

degree east in a direct line.

Powow River flows through the southwest part of the town, having its

source in the ponds of Kingston. The cutting of ice in the river is quite an

item of business for the very cold weather. The making of brick is by the

New England Brick Company.
First Settlers.—It has generally been supposed that William and Abraham

Smith settled here when there were no others within the limits of the present

town. Every gazetteer and history which refers to the subject states that they

were the first settlers or among the earliest settlers. On the contrary, William

Smith, the elder of the brothers, was born in 1703, and it is a tradition of the

family that he came here to live in 1724, when he was twenty-one years

old. We do not think any two men were first settlers. They came as colonists

from Hampton to Kingston, in companies. So far as can now be ascertained,

the earHest were Ebenezer Webster (i), Ebenezer Stevens (i), John Swett,

Nathaniel Sanborn, and'Capt. John Webster.

The south part of the town and a part of the main road emigrated from

Salisbury and Amesbury. The Greeleys and the Frenches early made a settle-

ment. Edward French and Abraham Brown located or purchased lands, but

personally never settled on them. They were obtained for their children.

The Curriers and Blaisdells secured lands at the Falls, and moved in as early

as they thought it prudent to do so on account of the Indians. It is claimed

that Ralph Blaisdell was the first who crossed Powow River from the south
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for a settlement, and that the old cellar and well are yet to be seen where the

road was straightened, near the Goodrich and Webster places. The mill-

grant was laid out March 15, 17 10. This is the earliest date of records we
have found. The deed of the French place is dated June 16,. 17 10. Benoni

Clough purchased the Caleb Webster place in 1715. A part of the Brown
place, with improvements thereon, was purchased in 1716. The first land was

laid off by the lot-layers, hence no person obtaining land by deed was the

first settler or owner of that land.

Capt. John Webster was made a freeman in 1705, and some years later

had land assigned him by the lot-layers on the north road, where his son,

Jeremy Webster, lived.

The homestead of Ebenezer Webster ( i ), one of the grantees of Kingston,

which was also the homestead of Ebenezer Webster (2), where Ebenezer

Webster (3), who was the father of Hons. Daniel and Ezekiel Webster,

was born, was located earlier than either we have named. This place is

situated on a moderate eminence on the north side of the Salisbury road or

highway leading to Kingston. It is less than a mile west of the railroad

station, and half a mile east of the boundary line of Kingston. For a time it

was owned by Capt. John Currier, and was set off to his widow as a part of

her thirds. It is known by the family as Old Orchard.

Congregationalists.—We learn from the first church book "That the Gen-
eral Court of New Hampshire did, by their act of 17th November, 1738, erect

a new parish in the easterly part of the Town of Kingstown, by the name of the

East Parish in Kingstown."
The inhabitants of said parish, after solemn seeking to God for direction,

. . . having the pastors of the neighboring churches join with them, and
preach . . . according to the direction of the province law in such cases,

assembled on the 17th July, 1739, in a parish meeting legally warned, to make
choice of some person to be set over them in the work of the ministry, and
voting as usual in such cases, they did with the utmost unanimity make choice

of and call Peter Coffin, A. M., of Exeter, unto said ministerial employment
among them, who after seasonable deliberation did, on the 31st of August
following, return answer with acceptance of their call.

During the thirty-three years of Mr. Coffin's pastorate there were 6gi
baptisms, or an annual average of twenty-one. There was rarely over forty

or less than four in any one year, generally somewhere midway between these

extremes, decreasing in some measure towards the last of his pastorate.

1744, March 28th, it was voted, "That there shall be a tankard full of
wine, that shall be left, given to the pastor after every sacrament."

These tankards of wine yielded bitter fruit in the end. It stung "as an
adder."

In 1746, Ebenezer Sleeper and Obadiah Elkins and their wives were
charged with absenting themselves from, meetings and communions, and
"going to Exeter and other places to Separate meetings," thus violating their
church covenant. Susannah Morril, "Separatist," Sarah Sleeper, who found
it more profitable to attend Separate meetings, and others were charged,
examined, and suspended, but all these were eventually restored, and dismissed
to more congenial church relations.
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Their defense was, in the language of Sleeper, "That the preachers they
heard preach at the Separate meetings at Exeter opened the Scriptures more
to their understanding, and they profited more by their preaching than they
could by the preaching at home ; that God had met and blessed them, and they
were not sensible of having done wrong." This was the character of the
defense of all.

It is a fair supposition that the preaching of Whitefield was the occasion
of the Separate meetings in Exeter and other places. The doctrines of the
"New Lights" were more satisfactory to spiritual minds than the meetings at

home.
"The failure to settle a minister after the dismission of Mr. Coffin in 1772

was not entirely due to the low state of religion in the place, but to the same
causes which unsettled many ministers and which prevented many from
settling. The agitation produced by the political state of the country at the

commencement of the Revolutionary war called off the attention of men from
the subject of religion to other duties, and the drafts of men and of money
for the prosecution of the war left the people in many parishes unable to

contribute for the support of public worship, so that many preachers, dependent
on their salaries for support, werr '^liged for the time to engage in other

occupations.

For over a quarter of a century exertions were made to support and
sustain Congregationalist sentiments, doctrines, and usages. The last of those

who supplied the pulpit regularly was the Rev. Nathaniel Kennedy. He
preached and resided in the town some time, we are unable to determine

how long. He removed to Philadelphia about 181 7.

Methodists.—The first preacher of the Methodist Episcopal Church in

New England was Jesse Lee, a Virginian, who, in 1789, preached in the

State of Connecticut, in Lynn, Mass., and on Boston Common.
The first sennon by a Methodist in New Hampshire was preached by him

in Portsmouth, July, 1791. The first society was organized at Chesterfield,

in the southwest part of the state, in the latter part of 1795. It is not easy

to ascertain when the first sermon was preached here or the first class was
formed. We are inclined to the opinion that there was preaching earlier than

1799, but that no society was formed before 1802. In that year Thomas
Rawlin and Orin Fairbanks were stationed here and in Poplin. Then fol-

lowed a long list of circuit preachers. In 1820 Eleazer Steele and in 1824

Amos Binney and others until 1842, when a commodious house w^s erected,

and James M. Young was stationed preacher, and various preachers had short

terms until 1857. Then for seventeen years the conference did not station

preachers here.

In November, 1879, the church was reorganized. In 1880 and 1881 Rev.

Fred E. White was in charge and in 1882 Rev. Alexander McGregor. Rev.

E. May has been assigned as pastor for 1914.

The Baptists.—The Baptists were first known in this town some time

between 1750 and 1776. The first Baptist Church in New Hampshire was

organized in Newton in 1755, and it is probable that some of its members

resided in East Kingston. Seven persons, viz. : Jonathan Blasdell, Henry

Blasdell, Samuel Carter, Philip Rowell, Abraham Brown, Edmund Pillsbury,
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and Sarah Graves, were freed from paying minister tax to the town for the

year 1776 and thereafter, they being Quakers, churchmen, and Baptists.

In the winter of 1781, Abraham, Brown took his family on an ox-sled to

meeting at the old Philip Morrill house, beyond the Falls, where probably a

portion of the worshipers yvere from South Hampton and Newton. Mr.

Brown died in February, 1781. The Sabbath previously he attended meeting

at Little River, in North Hampton. On his way homeward he was assaulted

in the woods, causing a bruise which he carried to his grave the following

week. He died on Thursday, at the age of thirty-five years. He evidently was

a teacher among his brethren, though not an ordained preacher.

His widow kept open house for public worship and the hospitable enter-

tainment of preachers and others.

Dr. Samuel Shepard, who was born in Salisbury, Mass., in 1739, was
ordained at Stratham in 1771, and had settled in Brentwood, where a church

was formed the same year, which a number of persons from East Kingston

joined. Dr. Shepard often preached and baptized at East Kingston and neigh-

boring towns accessible to the Baptists of this place. He had the care of the

young and struggling churches in this vicinity, and fully earned the title of

bishop among them. "In this town and South Hampton there were many
converted during the summer of 1792."

Thomas Nichols, of Harvard, Mass., preached here and in various towns
in the vicinity. "He was a faithful man, but of slender constitution, whose
zeal went beyond his strength in his labors."

Rev. John Peak, a native of Walpole, N. H., removed to Deerfield in 1793,
preaching not only there but in this and other towns. In 1795 Mr. Peak settled

in Newton, and continued to preach frequently and baptize in East Kingston.

In 1797 the town "voted that the Baptists should have a portion of the

parsonage money, and lay it out as they see fit, and have the meeting-house

when not occupied." For many years from this there were contentions among
the several denominations in regard to their rights in the meeting-house and
to the parsonage, sometimes one and then another party prevailing. In 181

2

the Controversy was partially settled by "allowing the several denominations
their proportionate share of the meeting-house and of the parsonage money,
and refraining from raising money by tax to support preaching."

Benjamin Paul, a mulatto, preached for a time.

After the removal of Elder Peak from this vicinity, the death of Dr.
Shepard and others, the Baptists had meetings less frequently.

Mrs. Corliss died January 13, 1858, in the sixty-eighth year of her age.

Mr. Corliss died April 5, 1859, aged eighty-one years. Since their time
there has been little effort made to advance the Baptist cause. In 1876, Rev.
James Graham came to this place ; an interest was awakened, several persons
were hopefully converted, and others reclaimed from a backsliding state under
his ministry; but he and his friends thought it not profitable to the cause of
God to build up a separate denominational interest.

Other ministers who have labored here, and of whom honorable mention
should be made, are Revs. Ferdinand Ellis, Samuel Cook, John Newton
Browne, Timothy P. Ropes, and James A. Boswell.

Adventists.—In the autumn of 1839, William Miller gave a course of lee-
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tiires in Exeter, which attracted unusual attention. Many from this place
went to hear, and were interested. Other public speakers who had embraced
Mr. Miller's views lectured in the place, among them the eloquent Rev. Charles
Fitch, In 1841 a camp-meeting was held here, which, attracted a large crowd.

Many exaggerated reports were circulated concerning this and other
kindred gatherings. That this meeting did not partake of the obnoxious
qualities charged against them appears by the following account, written by
John G. Whittier, one of the most enlightened and impartial observers

:

"On my way eastward," says Whittier, "I spent an hour or two at a camp-
ground of the Second Adventists in East Kingston. The spot was well

chosen. A tall growth of pine and hemlock threw its melancholy shadow
over the multitude, who were arranged on rough seats of boards and logs.

Several hundreds, perhaps a thousand, people were present and more were
rapidly coming. Drawn about in a circle, forming a background of snowy
whiteness to the dark masses of men and foliage, were the white tents, and
back of them the provision-stalls and cook-shops. When I reached the ground
a hymn, the words of which I could not distinguish, was pealing through the

dim aisles of the forest. I know nothing of music, having neither ear nor
taste for it, but I could readily see that it had its effect upon the multitude

before me, kindling to higher intensity their already excited enthusiasm. The
preachers were placed in a rude pulpit of rough boards, carpeted only by
the dead forest leaves and flowers, and tasseled not with silk and velvet, but

with the green boughs of the sombre hemlocks around it. One of them
followed the music in an earnest exhortation on the duty of preparing for the

great event. Occasionally he was really eloquent, and his description of the

last clay had all the terrible distinctness of Annell's painting of the 'End O'f

the World.' Suspended from the front of the rude pulpit were twO' broad

sheets of canvas, upon one of which was the figure of a man, the head of gold,

the breast and arms of silver, the belly and sides of brass, the legs of iron,

and feet of clay,—the dream of Nebuchadnezzar. On the other were depicted

the wonders of the Apocalyptic vision,—the beasts, the dragons, the scarlet

woman seen by the Seer of Patmos,—oriental types and figures and mystic

symbols, translated into staring Yankee realities exhibited like the beasts of a

traveling menagerie. One horrible image, with its hideous heads and scaly

caudal extremity, reminded me of the tremendous line of Milton, who, in

speaking of the same evil dragon, describes him as 'swingeing the scaly horrors

of his folded 'tail.' To an imaginative mind the scene was full of novel-

interest. The white circle of tents, the dim wood arches, the upturned, earnest

faces, the loud voices of the speakers, burdened with the awful symbolic

language of the Bible, the smoke from the fires, rising like incense from forest

altars, carried one back to the days of primitive worship, when the groves

were God's first temples."

From this meeting an influence went out into all the surrounding country.

It was a season of aveakening and religious zeal, even with those who did not

embrace these peculiar views. At this time the believers in Advent doctrines

were numerous, and there were many conversions from the world, as well as

proselytes from the churches.

From 1841 to 1,846 there was a continued interest, and a large number of
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persons professed to submit themselves to God. Not only in these years, but

afterwards in 1847 and 1854, very many were earnest and sincere in looking

for'the coming of the Lord "in the clouds of heaven." They have as yet been

disappointed, but still cling to the hope very firmly, with Scotland's fairest

poet, that

"The morn will come, nay. He himself.

Brighter than morn's best ray,

Shall come to bid the night depart,

And bring at last the day."

In July, i860. Rev. James White, of Portsmouth, preached here, and in

the following November moved his family into the town. He stayed nearly

two years, and in a letter said, "Forty persons were converted." "Most of the

people were favorable."

The Universalists.—We cannot ascertain when the Universalists first came

to this town. Revs. Sebastian L. Streeter and Hosea Ballou were early

preachers here, and the earliest of which we have certain knowledge. Mr.

Streeter commenced his pastorate in Portsmouth in 181 5, and closed it in

1824. During this time he occasionally preached here. His "home" or stop-

ping-place was with Esquire Edward Greeley, who died November 5, 1817.

From the above and traditional accounts our conclusion is that it was not far

from 1814.

A lady, born in 1806, remembers well Esquire Greeley and Mr. Streeter,

and thinks we are as nearly correct in the time as can be ascertained, unless

there are records somewhere to which we have not access.

Rev. E. H. Lake with his family resided in town a number of years, but

preached here only a part of the time.

One-fourth of the inhabitants are strongly attached to Universalist doc-

trines and usages, and are not favorably disposed to what are usually termed
"evangelical views," though they claim that theirs are the most evangelicaj of

any that are promulgated.

There is now a singular apathy existing with them in relation to meetings.

They have had but a few for a number of years last past. Several families

attend service on the Sabbath in Kingston, where is a prosperous society. The
ministers who preached here after Messrs. Streeter and Ballou were: Revs.

Russell Streeter, Charles Spear, Thomas G. Famsworth, Thomas Whittemore,
James Shrigley, S. S. Fletcher, Calvin Damon, Willard Spaulding, Henry
Jewell, Nathan R. Wright, J. P. Greenwood, J. J. Locke, and Edwin J. Lake.
Most of these were men of ability and accomplishments, who were active and
fervent in their labors. None of them preached for a great length of time.

They have never had a permanent settled pastor.

The Christians have had for many years an influence and a few adherents.

As early as 1792, Rev. Elias Smith, then a Baptist, preached here and baptized.

Gradually he separated from the Baptists, and with others started a new party
called Christians. After this he preached here and in other towns in this

vicinity. He possessed superior talents and was a great favorite with his

friends, but was unstable in his doctrinal views. Others who have preached
here acceptably are: Revs. Henry Rottle, John Harriman, Elijah .Shaw,



AND REPRESENTATIVE CITIZENS 313

Julius C. Blodgett, Henry Plummer, Simeon Swett, Edwin Burnham, and
Daniel P. Pike. But more than any other was Rev. Samuel E. Brown, whose
home was here for many years, and who labored without fee or reward.

The Free-Will Baptists have had preaching here in past years, but no
membership, as they at once coalesced with the Christians. The Rev. Benja-
min Femald, who had labored in places not very far distant, came here in

1856 and preached from two to three years, including the years 1857 and
1858, to good congregations and general acceptance. He preached to a Union
congregation, and made no efforts to build up his or any other denomination.
A nuniber of other Free-Will Baptist preachers have officiated here.

Military Record.—The following is a list of the soldiers of East Kingston
in the War of the Rebellion

:

John A. James, Co. I, 2d Regiment; enlisted November 30, 1863; pro-
moted to corporal January i, 1865; discharged December 19, 1865.

Daniel McNichols, Co. K, 2d Regiment; enlisted November 17, 1863;
transferred to U. S. N. April 29, 1864.

George H. Myron, Co. I, 2d Regiment; enlisted December 2, 1863; pro-
moted to corporal July i, 1864; to sergeant May i, 1865; discharged Decem-
ber 19, 1865.

Thomas H. Campbell, Co. H, 5th Regiment; enlisted December 10, 1863;
transferred to U. S. N. April 22, 1864.

Henry Dodge, Co. K, 5th Regiment ; enlisted December 7, 1863 ; missing

June 3, 1864.

Edward Colcord, Co. C, 6th Regiment; enhsted December 10, i86r ; dis-

charged June 24, 1862.

George H. Marsh, Co. C, 6th Regiment; enlisted November 27, 1861

;

re-enlisted corporal December 26, 1863; promoted to sergeant; absent, sick,

since June 3, 1,864 ; no discharge furnished.

Elvin Marsh, Co. C, 6th Regiment; enlisted November 27, 1861 ; killed

August 29, 1862.

Ebenezer K. Mardin, Co. C, 6th Regiment; enlisted November 27, 1861

;

discharged June 24, 1862.

Daniel P. Pierce, Co. C, 6th Regiment; enlisted November 27, 1861 ; dis-

charged August 29, 1862.

John A. Webster, Co. C, 6th Regiment; enlisted November 27, 1861;

re-enlisted December 23, 1863; captured May 28, 1864.

William Carter, Co. C, 6th Regiment; enlisted September 3, 1862; trans-

ferred to V. R. C. July I, 1863.

Thomas C. Goodrich, Co. C, 6th Regiment; enhsted September 3, 1862;

promoted to sergeant; discharged June 4, 1865.

John G. Colcord, Co. I, 6th Regiment; enlisted 'December 20, 1863; pro-

moted to corporal; discharged May 27, 1865.

Evander A. Goodrich, 6th Regiment; enhsted December 20, 1863; trans-

ferred to V. R. C. January 20, 1865 ; discharged September 3, 1865.

Henry McCabe, Co. D, 7th Regiment; enlisted November 16, 1864.

Manuel Marks, Co. C, 7th Regiment; enlisted January 3, 1865 ; discharged

July 20, 1865.
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John San Francis, Co. D, 7th Regiment; enlisted November 16, 1864;

discharged July 20, 1865.

Franklin Cass, Co. B, 7th Regiment; enlisted September 10, 1862; dis-

charged June 26, 1865.

Sylvester W. Bartlett, Co. B, 8th Regiment; enlisted December 20, 1861;

promoted to corporal May i, 1863; killed June 14, 1863.

David D. Lawrence, Co. B, 8th Regiment; enlisted December 20, 1861;

died May 27, 1863.

Alonzo L. Tappan, Co. B, 8th Regiment; enlisted December 20, 1861

;

discharged July 5, 1862.

Smith N. Welsh, Co. B, 8th Regiment; enlisted January 4, 1864; dis-

charged October 28, 1865.

James M. Tappan, corporal Co. A, 9th Regiment; enlisted July 3, 1862;

died November i, 1862.

Benjamin D. James, Co. A, 9th Regiment; enlisted July 8, 1862; dis-

charged April 30, 1863.

Charles H. Webster, Co. A, 9th Regiment; enHsted July 10, 1862.

John Hill, Co. I, loth Regiment; enlisted August 11, 1863.

James McDonald, Co. I, loth Regiment; enlisted August 11, 1863; trans-

ferred to 2d Regiment June 21, 1865; discharged December 19, 1865.

Alexander McDonald, Co. K, loth Regiment; enlisted August 11, 1863;
discharged February 22, 1864.

George W. Davis, Co. I, loth Regiment; enlisted August 11, 1863.
Peter Frigwirg, Co. D, loth Regiment; enlisted August 11, 1863; trans-

ferred to 2d Regiment June 21, 1865.

Calvin B. Magoon, sergeant Co. I, nth Regiment; enlisted September 3,
1862; died May 17, 1864.

Jacob M. Phillips, corporal Co. I, nth Regiment; enlisted September 3,

1862 ; discharged April 22, 1864.

Charles M. Burleigh, Co. I, nth Regiment; enlisted September 3, 1862;
promoted to corporal; discharged June 4, 1865.

John W. Nichols, mustered Co. I, nth Regiment; enlisted September 2,

1862 ; discharged in general hospital ; authority and date unknown.
Gilman N. Dow, Co. I, nth Regiment; enlisted September 3, 1862; dis-

charged January 13, 1863. •

Kingsley L. Hale, Co. I, nth Regiment; enlisted September 3, 1862; dis-
charged June 4, 1865.

Nathaniel Swett, Co. I, nth Regiment; enlisted September 3, 1862; died
January 11, 1863.

George Swett, Co. I, nth Regiment; enlisted September 3, 1862; dis-
charged June 3, 1865. •

Charles Crocker, 12th Regiment; enlisted December 8, 1863; supposed to
have deserted en route to regiment.

John Rossengrist, Co. C, 12th Regiment; enHsted December 12, 1863;
transferred to 2d Regiment June 21, 1865.

Jacob Anderson, Co. I, 12th Regiment; enlisted December 8, 1863; trans-
ferred to U. S. navy April 29, 1864.

Philip Smith, Co. D, 13th Regiment; enHsted August n, 1863.
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Henry H. Titcomb, Co. D, 14th Regiment; enlisted September 23, 1862;
promoted to corporal October 31, 1864; discharged July 8, 1865.

William Miller, Co. F, 14th Regiment; enlisted August 11, 1863.
Joseph Terry, Co. E, 14th Regiment; enlisted July 28, 1864; discharged

July 8, 1865.

Charles E. Batchelder, sergeant Co. A, H. Artillery; promoted to ist ser-

geant October 26, 1854; discharged September 11, 1865.
William F. Currier, Co. A, H. Artillery; enlisted July 18, 1863; dis-

charged September 11, 1865.'

Amos M. Batchelder, Co. A, H. Artillery; enlisted February 19, 1864;
discharged September 11, 1865.

Charles C. Marsh, Co. A, H. Artillery; enlisted July 18, 1863; discharged
September 11, 1865.

George W. Marden, Co. A, H. Artillery; enlisted February 19, 1864;
discharged September 11, 1865.

Daniel P. Pierce, Co. A, H. Artillery; enlisted July 18, 1863; discharged
August 7, 1865.

Charles T. C. Pierce, Co. A, H. Artillery; enlisted August 10, 1863; dis-

charged September 11, 1865.

Andrew J. York, Co. A, H. Artillery; enlisted July 22, 1863; discharged

September 11, 1865.

James R. Gray, sergeant Co. E, H. Artillery; enlisted September 5, 1864;
discharged June 15, 1865.

Warren Balch, Co. E, H. Artillery; enlisted September 5, 1864; discharged

June 15, 1865.

Adoniram J. Sawyer, sergeant Co. G, H. Artillery; enlisted Sept,ember 6,

1864; discharged June 15, 1865.

George B. Kendall, Co. D, H. Artillery; enlisted September 4, 1864; dis-

charged June 15, 1865.

Edwin S. Sweatt, Co. E, H. Artillery; enlisted September 5, 1864; dis-

charged June 15, 1865.

Isaac H. Heath, Co. E, U. S. S. S. ; enlisted September 9, 1861 ; discharged

April I, 1863.

Lewis B. Morrill, Co. C, 6th Regiment; enlisted November 27, 1861

;

drowned at Big Black River, Miss., July 22, 1863.

Edward Colcord, Veteran Reserve Corps; enlisted December 2, 1863; date

of discharge unknown now.

Charles Freeman, U. S. C. T. ; enlisted January 3, 1865 ; date of discharge

unknown now.
Edward Davis, U. S. C. T. ; enlisted December 30, 1864; date of dis-

charge luiknown.

Henry H. Titcomb.

Amos F. Varney, sergeant Co. G, i8th Regiment; enlisted November 16,

1864: reduced to ranks March 13, 1865; discharged July 29, 1865.

Frank Clark, enlisted July 28, 1864, three years; credited to town; no

further record given.

David Roberts, enlisted July 29, 1864, three years; credited to town;

no further record given.




























































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































































